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PPREFACKE.

It was at the request o’ Raja Binaya Krishna,
a descendant of Maharaju Nubkissen’s, that 1
undertook to write this book.  The materials were
obtained by the efforts and at the expense of the
Raja, and he has also borne the cost of printing and
publication.

The Hon'ble Sir John Woodburn, as Member in
charge ol the Honie Department of the Government
of India, gave permission to search the old records
in the Library of hiz Office. Mr. (now, Siv Willianm)
Cuningham, Secretary to the Foreign Department,
wave, at the request of the Hon'ble Sir A. E. Miller,
access to the records in the Library of his Oftice. The
Hon'ble Mr., H. J. S. Cotton allowed a search iu
the records of the Bengal Office.  Messts. Grimley,
Bolton and N. K. Bose granted permission to search
the papers in the offiee of the Board of Revenue,
Lower Provinces.  Rajn Rajendra Narayan Deb
Bahadur offered help by lending papers and books
from his library. Dr. Murison rendered valuable
services by supplying copies of papers that he found
by w diligent search in the British Musewm and
the Library of the India Office. To the memory
of Raja Rajendra Narayan and Mr. N. K. Bose
w grateful tribute is offered; and Raja Binaya
Krishna and myselfl tender our warmest acknowledg-
ments to the other gentlemen for the help they
have given.



PREFACE. vi

For all opinions expressed in the book and for
defects of style and arrangement none is respon-
sible except myself. No portion of the work has
been touched by any hand but mine,

In the spelling of Indian names I have followed
the custom of leading Bnglish writers and not any
principles of transliteration. The subject of these
Memoirs appears to have been in the habit of
signing his name as * Nubkissen.,” In contem-
porary documents hois - gencrally geferred to as
Nubkissen, Nobkissen or Nobokissen,  There is
Ligh authority also for writing * Nuncomar.”

The Index has heen compiled by my son-in-law,

Ashu Tosh Deb, M, A.

N. N. GHOSE.

Tur © Ispiax Narion ™ Querren,
Calcutta, September 25, 1901,



CONTENTS.

CIAPTER
I Axersrey axD I'eiie A8D Prace oF BirTi
a7

11 Banry Tark—Seepviess to rie Codrany, 1750-175

TI ey The Barrne or Prassey oo CLive's

DrEeArTirRE Frow Inbra, [737-1767 .
IV AovaxeEmeNT iy Lave vero 17700
Vo ACQUISITION 0F SooTANUTEY '
V1 Nexcoaan . . . . .
VIT Nuscowat o His Truan
VTTE Lasr Davs orF Procbre Sezaovesme .
N MaArARAIA NUBKINSSEN N ROCIETY
X Norpes AXD QUERIES

NI ONUBKISSEN aN{rne JoNaniss CoNguusT

Frsan

TALIF.

1

4

23

49

103
121
137

169






MEMOIRS

O

MAHARAJAH NUBKISSEN BAHADUR.

CHADTER T,
Axcksrry And T axp PLack or Dinrn.

Te it i true that the world does not know its greatest
men, it is true no less that men do not invariably know their
hest fricndds or their greatest benetactors, Lt is probably as
triue now as it was in the days-of' Macanlay that scarcely “one
in ten, even among  English gentlemen of highly enltivated
minds, ean well who won the battle of Buxar, who perpetrated
the massactes of Patua, whether Sajuh Dowlah ruled in
Oude or in Travancore, or whether Holkar was a Hindu or
a Mussulman Prince.”” The great Reviewer regretied that
the ordinary Englishman was o little “curious to know how
a handful of his connfeymen, separated tfrom their home by
an mmense ocean, subjugnfed in the conrse of a few years,
one of the wreatest empires in the world,”  There is little
veason to wonder, therelore; that! Fuglishmen have even
loxs information and cariosity about, thoze silent and secret,
hecause guict and unambitions workers, especially i they
are  of another  complexion awd  denizens of  another
clime, who furnished the ideas and suggested the steps
that led to the establishment of England™s great  empire
in the eust, It they know so litde of the achievements of
Clive and Mastings, what can they know of the cornsels of
Nubkissen, —-the plans he made, the information he gave, the

protection he rendered; the dangers he braved or warned
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against, the light he threw on the designs of Muhomedan
rulers, the intricacies e unravelled, the peace he maintained,
the possibilities of empire that he saw and revealed to a
body of merchants, bold and adventurous no doubt, but
apparently not yet alive to the grandenr of the prospect before
them? The formal Historles are as a rule silent nbout
Nubkissen, or else they retail trivial gossip.  Governor Verelst,
an unimpeachable authority on the atfairs of his own times,
does justice in a general way to Nubkissen’s services.

“ Nubkissen is a Native Hindo who had been extremely zealous
in the English canse during the troubles preceding Meer Jaffer’s
elevation to the Subahdaree. When the wap broke out with Meer
“Cossiin, he attended Major Adams and continned with that commander
till the Snbahdar was driven out of the Provinees. His address and
attachment to the English recommended him to Lord Clive, who
made him Banian to the Committee, in which he continued three
years, likewise of Mrv. Verelst’s career.”

And Lord Thurlow referred to him in the following
terms, addressing the House of Lords during the irial of
Warren Hastings :

“Nubkissen was the Persian preceptor of Mr. Hastings »o far
back as the year 1750, when they were both young men, and that he
was indebted for his elevation, his present high rank and great
fortune, solely to his early cpmmcti(m with Mr. Hastings, daring
whose administration he only stood inferior in point of emoluments
or political consequence to Mahomed Reza Cawn.”

Unfortunately, historians have not thought (it to indicate
the specific character of his services or to show the nature
and sources of his “political consequence.”  Mill makes no
reference to him ; Orme does not mention him ; his name
is absent from the payes of Sir John Malcolm. An acute
observer of Indian life has said with truth :

“ As Europeans have ever received credit for work really done by
natives, it is more than probable that many diplomatic results which
go by others’ name were really attained by Navakrishna.”

1tis scarcely possible for a writer to-day, especially where
he has little opportumf) of access to old and official records,
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to supply the gap which historians have left, DBut it he
cannot unearth political facts buried in ancient and possibly
secret records, he may dissipate some at least of the fictions
that time and authority have come to associate with a
great nume. He may also throw some light on the social and
personal history of a distinguished historic character. The
attempt that is made in these pages has no other than the
wodest purpose of piccing together the available facts, politi-
cal and private, of Muharajuh Nubkissen’s career, of calling
attention to the sort of evidenee on which certain current
ideas in rogard gto his work and character depend, and of
presenting a sketch af the man and his times, which shall be,
as far as distanee of time und the changed lights and shadows
of society will allow, real and fuithful.

As regards the ancestry of Nubkissen, the one original
document that it iz possible to discover is a manuseript
entitled “ An Account of the Iate Maharajah  Nubkissen
Bahadoor, equired by and Jelivered to A. Stirling, Esq.,
Persian Seoretary to GGovernment, on the 30th April 18257
This was written either by-Raja Sir Radhakanta Deva Buha-
dur, K.COS.L, or by some other person or persons at his
instance and under his gaidanec. 1t is obviously bused on
family teadition ; possibly it embodies also the traditional
gossip of socicty, How mueh of it is absolute historical
truth it is dificalt to say, but there is no reason to reject
it except where it is manifestly improbable,  selt-contra-
dictory, ov in conflict with ascertained facts, 1t is certainly
the basis of as much as relates to Maharajuh Nubkissen
in the Ravid Sketeh of the Lite o/ Ryju Radhakanta
Deva Bahadoor, ssith some Notices of his Aneestors, by the
fiditoys of the Raja’s Sabdakalpudroma (1859). I chis
country family history Is most generally preseved in the
form of tradition ; and ordinarvily such legends are reliable,
A man trarsmits to his son the story of the fumily just as he

. .
learut it from his father, Any errors that he muay deliberatety
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or curelessly commit are liable to be corrected by the
elders of his society, for a man’s family history is often
known to many persons besides himself,  This Aecount is the
earliest record of the origin of the family of the Sovabazar
Rjas. Tt has all the appearance of a carefully nscertained
and honestly accepted narrative ; and it must be presnmed
to have baen prepaced with o due sense of responsibility as
it had to be delivered to Government in rvesponse to a
requisition. Thirty-four years after its submission to Govern
ment, the editors of the Sabdukalpadrme --an encyelopadia
of Sanskrit learning-—took the responsibility of publishing
the Rapid Sketeh, which, for its notice of Nubkissen, was
wholly indebted to the. Acconnt.

The ¢ founder ™ol the familv, in the sense in which
that word is understood by tha ghatalas —genealogists or
hercalds,—ihat is, the earlicst meiber of it who received a
definite  soeial vecognition, was Sribari Deva, the twenty-
“ourth in ascent from Nubkissen. He was settled in a
village named Kidnsond near Moorshedabad, Several of
his descendants eame to-be ‘men of wealth and position,
but it is not necessary here to- mention any of them until
we come to Devidas  Mujmooadar, cighteenth in descent,
who was appointed Kanungoe of Pergunna Mooragacha,
in the district of 24-Pergunnas, whoere he came to reside,
Rukmini Kanta, one of the sons o Devidas, settled in
Panchagram, and was appointed by Mahabat Jang, Nawab of
Moorshedabad, manager of the estate of Keshulb Ham Ray
Chaudhuri, the minor Zemindar of Pergunua Mooragacha,
Rukmini Kanta Vyavaharta, for 2o he was called, was sue-
ceeded in the management of the estate by his eldest son
Rameswara,  Ramechurn, the second son of Rameswara, pro-
ceeded to Moorshedabad, introduced himsell to the Roy-Royan
Chain Roy, and offered to inerease the revenue of Pergunua
Mooragucha to Bs. 50,000, He was appointed Ohdadur, or

Revenue farnrer, for that pereunna, e quitted his abode in
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Pergunna Mooragacha and built o house at - Govindpore in
Calentta where, having left his family, he proceeded to Moor-
shedabac and presented himselt to Nawab Mahabat Jung and
the Roy-Royan,  Ie was appoin-ed Salt Agent and Uollector
of  Hijli, Tumlook, Muhishadul, and some other places,
He appears to have acquicted himselt with great evedit, for
the Navah afterwards appointed him Dewan of ihe Pro-
vinee of Cattack., The Subahdar of the Province, Maniruddin
Khan, wnd Dewan Rawm Churn, were sent by the Nawal
with a considerable foree to oppose a Mahratta incursion.
On their way from Midnapore to Cuttack they were canght
at a disadvantage, and the Dewan, though he fought hravely,
at Jast fell overpowered,  Dewan- Ram Churn et three
fufant wons, says the deeownt i and his property was lost to
the family by the death of Fakhar Tojjar, a wealthy merchant
of Hugl ly, in whose custody it had heen kept,

Nubxgissen was the youngest of the three =ous, They
could not all have bheen literally infunts at the time of their
father’s death, but they wmust all have been young, and
Nubkissen was in all probability an intant.  His  eldest
hrother was Ram Sunder, and his next eldor was Manick
Chunder. Dewan Ram Chorne hadd ot probably had time to
ac quive any landed property.  He had huily only a house in
Caleutts, and ax he had separated from his velatives and was
living iy Calcutta only with his wife and little children,
whom again he had to leave whenever he had to proceed on
business, it ix very likely that he had loft his personal estate
with ons or more friends whom he trusted.  And that estute
was linlle to be lost to the family either by the death of any
of those friends, or by his own death, A trast of whieh no
Hving person was aware might he botrayed with impunity.
Ram Churn’s widow, who, aceording to a certain tradition,
ame from the family of the Boses of Sarisa, appears to huve
had sorie little property in her possession with which she was
able to maintain and edueate her children and 1o huild anew
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house in Govindpore, her former residence having been
encroached on by the river, When Ram Sunder became fit
for business he at first did the duaties of Ameen or Supervisor
of Punchcote, commonly called Puchet, and some other
places, and supported his family (which is to be understood
in a Hindu sense) for some years.

The place of Nubkissen’s birth is uncertain, Tt is not
possible to ascertain whether he was born at Mooragacha

> that was left in the

and was n member of “the family’
honse in Caleutta when his father proceeded to Moorshedabuul,
or he was born in that house itself afters the family had
migrated there.  Govindpore, it muaye be added, was the
site of the present Fort William, the lines of which were
traced by Clive in 1758, The probability is that as Ram
Churn held his two last appointments after his removal to
(iovindpore, the youngest of his ©infant sons” was born
there. The appointments too conld not have been held for
any length of time. If Nubkissen was actually born ut
Giovindpore there is a fitness in the deeree of destiny that
rearcd a bulwark of England’s empire in the east on the
very soil that received the child that was eventually to help
in laying the foundations of that empire.  What a discovery
it would be that would identify the place of Nubkissen’s
birth as the very spot where the corner-stone of the Fort
was laid !

The date of Nubkissen’s birth is even more uncertain
than the place. The Acconnt desceribes him as **a youth
atfending sehool ” in 1756 when he is said to have been
appointed Munshi to the Fast India Company. The Repid
Sketeh represents him in more precise terms as a  youth of
16”7 in that year, These statements have to be rejected,
for one tact which stands on high aunthority and is least
open to question is  that Nubkissen was the Persian
preceptor of Mr. Hastings as far back as 1750 when he
wust have left school and could not certainly be a boy of
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ten. Lord Chancellor Thurlow was, in the language of
Macaulay, ““the most conspicuous champion of Warren
Hastings.” It cannot be presumed that the veteran lawyer
spoke without book.  The statement as to Nubkissen must
have been part of his instructions which in the last
resort had come from Hastings himself. In view of this
well attested fact, the supposition that Nubkissen was born
in 1740 cannot be entertained.  When was he born then ?
It is impossible to say. A writer ina Caleut'n magazine
“assumed” that he was born about the year 1732, The sume
date i3 given, upen grounds that are not stated, by a writer
in the Hindoo Patriot newspaper,! who wrote prohably at the
bidding or under the snpervision of the well-known scholar
and antiqnarian, Dr. Rajendra Tala Mitra,  Let the year of
Nubkissen’s birth then be assumed to he 1732, the year in
which Warren Hastings saw the light. George IL had then
reigned for five years; the Bast India Company, whose Charter
had been renewed two years betore and who now for the first
time began to make wp annual accounts, was a body of
merchants with no political power or ambition ; Clive (born
September 29, 1725) was a rowdy boy of seven at Hope Hall.

1Qct. 31, 1887,







CHAPTENR 1L
Barny Live—8unvicks o e CodMpaNy, 17H0-1757.

Tue first event in Nubkissen’s life, of which anything
is known, i3 his appointment as Persian tutor to Warren
IMastings,  On the 8th of October 1750, eight young men for
the Civil Service arrived at Caleutta, Warren Hastings was
one of them, and shortly after his arrival, before the close of
the year, his tutor was appointed. The writer of a trenchant
critique on ihe Rapid Sketeh, who refuses to believe any [act
not recorded in any published history by a European or a
Mahomedan writer, gives himself the liberty to spocnlate on
the way in which Nubkissen got his first appointment,
Nubkissen, hie tells us, was waiting for a vessel to arrive,
and as soon as the cight young men landed in Calcutta,
the expectant Bengalee yoath was retained as a tutor for
Hastings.  His account is circumstantial :—

“While le was yet within his teens, his father probably died,
and he was reareld up with his other (1) brothers by his needy mother.
He picked up some knowledge of the Persian, then the fashionable
study and the Court language, in his village, which he greatly in-
creased by self-culture. The BEnglish settlement at Chutanutty was
the nearest town. As he began to grow up towards manhood and as
the responsibilities of life began daily to press upon him, he no deubt
used to repait to it often in guest of employment from its many
native merchants and shakebs. In those days, when ships visited
Bengal at lonyg intervals, the avrival of one from Europe was anxious-
ly expected by numerous people. Some of the Company’s servants
expected promotion, others feared degradation. Young cadets, who
had ruined themsolves by pillaws and harems, expected a dull letter
from their parents, which they were sure not to read, aud a—remit-
tance. Native Baniung, who had successively sqnipped newly arrived
Eunropeans, expected fresh batches. Without any deflinite expectation
Navakrishna, with the imagination of an youthful Oriental, could
bardly have failed, as he remarked these vessels come one by one, to
picture to himself that in one of these was to cowe *the shalib who
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was destined to make his forbune, If he did indulge in such a fancy
he was not deceived,”

It the writer was n youthful Oriental at the time he
reviewed the Rapid Sketeh, his imagination beats cven
Nubkissen’s, In the absence of an account with any proten-
sions to nuthenticity, the safest course is to be silont with
regard to the oceasion and causes of the appointment,

Nubkissen’s next appointment was that of Meounsheo to
the East India Company,  The circumstances of this appoint-
ment, as given in the Aecount, are definite enough,  In conse-
quence of the tyrannieal conduct of Nabob Scrajuddowluh,
Raja Rajbullabha (who was a Vaidya by “easte, of Daiea)
flod from Moorshedabad and took refige at Caleutta. The
Nabob issned a perwannah to Me. Drake, then Governor of
Caleutta, directing him ' to seize and send the Raja to him.,
Mr. Drake refused to seize and sond him, and stated that if
the Nabeb had any demands against him, he would make the
Raja pay immediately on being informed of the particalars.
Tho Nabob, incensed at thig answer, addressed to him avother
perwannah threatening him that it he did not forthwith
deliver up the Raja he would send his troops to seize the Raja
and drive the English out of Bengal.  Mr. Drake, who had
not sufficient force to repel an attack, was thrown into
perplexity, but Raja Rajbullabha assured him of the sympathy
of the Sirdars, with whom evidently he had been in communi-
eation, The Ministers and Sirdars of the Nabob, or at least
several of them, joined together and sent a Persian letter
trom  Moorshedabad to Mr. Drake by a messenger, who
delivered it to Mr, Drake with the instruction that it was a
letter which contained important seercts and should not be
placed iu the hands of a Mahiomedan, but must be read and
explained by a Hindu., Mr, Drake, without showing that
letter to the Company’s Moonshee, Tajuddin, ordered his men
to look for a Hindu Moonshee,  On that day Nubkissen had

gone to Burggbazar in Cualeutta, when one of Mr, Dinke’s



Mananaian NoprisseN DBaganur, 11

men ascertaining that he was acquainied with the Tersian
langnage took him to Mr. Drake. Nubkissen read and
explained the letter, and wrote out, under instructions of
course, an answer to it,  He acquitted himself so well, that
the Government being pleased with him appointed him to
the office of Moonshee of the Bast India Company, and
granted him a palankeen with bearers for his conveyunce and
200 rupees for his outfit,

There is nothing improbable in this account, and having
rogard to the quarter from which it comes it may very well
be accepted, Nubkissen beeame Moonshee of the Kast India
Company in 1756. , He had already been for six years
Persian tutor to Mr. Warren Hustings ; and it is probable
that Mr. Drake required his services as interpreter of the
letter after he had ascertained the fact of his being a trusted
employé of Hastings. That Nubkissen should have been
in Burrabazar just at the time when Drake’s men were look-
ing for a Hindu of his qualifications and should have been
invited to accompany them to their master, may seem, from a
cerlain point of view, extraordinary. But it has to be re-
membered that accidents do happen, and have often been the
making of great men. The combination of circumstances
was, to the anxious youth, no doubt accidental, or, more
truly, providential, but there was really nothing extraordinary
in the fact that he was in a particolar place at a particular
time and happened to meet particular men. What to Nub-
kissen was a lucky accident, happened in the ordinary course
of things and had nothing of a sudden or surprising character
in it. There is no doubt that Nubkissen did become the
Moonshee of the East India Company. He was Moonshee
also to Hastings, and afterwards to Lord Clive.

Authentic history gives incidental corroboration of the
circumstances, except only as regards one comparatively
trivial matter of detail. We have it on the authority of Sir
John Malcolm that one of the excuses which Serajuddowlah
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made for a quarrel with the English was that they had
given protection to one of his subjects who had fled with great
treasure,

“ The person the Nabob alluded to was Kishendass, the son of the
Inte Dewan [Raja Rajbullabha) of the Nabob of Dacea, who visited
Caleutta on his way to Juggernath ; and as he was strongly recom-
mended to Mr. Drake, the President of Calcutta, by Mr, Watts, the
Chief of Cossimbazar, on account of services rendered by his family to
the Company, he was treated with kindness and attention, !

The person of this subject, the Nabob was informed, should
be reserved for his pleasure ; and proof was offered that the
treasurc he was supposed to have fled withdnd no existence,
There is other evidence to show that dt was not Raja Raj-
bullabha but his son that took refuge in Caleutta.

Orme gives a detailed account of the circumstances which
Serajuddowlah wanted to make out as constituting a causa
bells.

“ A Gentoo, named Rajabullub, had succeeded ITossein Cooley
Khan in the post of Duan or Prime Minister to Newagis [Governor
of Dacea] . . . doubtful of the event of the impending contest he Qe-
termined to place his family and treasures out of the reach of danger ;
and not deeming them in safety at Dacea, where they Lad remained
for some time, he ordered his son Kissendass to remove them from
that city, under pretence of going a pilgrimage to the Pagoda of Jug-
gernath, on the coast of Orixa.” *

Kissendass left Dacca with several loaded boats, but
instead of going through the channels at the bottom of the
Delta, proceeded along the Ganges to the Jelingeer rivor,
through which he entered the Hugli.,  His father, who was
at Moorshedabad, requested Mr. Watts, the English Chief
at Cossimbazar, to secure for him protection under the
presidency of Caleutta for a few days. Mr. Watts had
reasons to oblige the Dewan and advised the presidency to
comply with the request. His letter to the presidency on

Y The Life of Robert, Lovd Clive [1836], Vol. I, p. 147.

* History of the Military Transactions of the British Nation in Industan,
Vol 1L, Bee i, p. 49,
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this subject had scarcely arrived in Caleutta before the boats
of Kissendass appeared in sight. The President, Mr, Drake,
was not in town, but the rest of the Council admitted
Kissendass into Caleutta. The fact of the admission was
soon known at Moorshedabad. 1t wounded the pride of
Serajuddowlah and exasperated his mind.

“ Burajuddowlah, immediately after the death of Allaverdy, was
proclaimed, and prepared to attack the widow of Newagis Mahomed.
Nut more than one or two days after Lis accession, he wrote a letter
to the President of Calcutta, ordering him to deliver up Kissendas,

]

with his treasures,
There is satdsfactory evidence also of the existence
of u confederncy off Serajuddowlah’s officers which wuas
in communication with the Council at Calenttn, History
does not pursue to any great length the correspondence
between the Nabob and Mr. Drake, but the course of
events showed conclusively that Mr. Drake’s answers counld
uot have been accommeodating.  If then history confirms the
Account so far, and, for the rest, is silent, there is no reason
to presume against the acearacy of its narrative as a whole,
Nubkissen did good service to the Company almost
from the wmoment of his appointment ag its Moonshee. The
linglish Government, expelled from Caleutta in 1756, was
accommodated on board a schooner near the pestiferous
shores of Fulta, They reccived, however, as tho Rev, J.
Long assures us, regular and important information respect-
ing the movements at Moorshedabad throngh Warren
Hastings, then Commercial Agent there, It is not too much to
assume that Hastings’s own informant was Nubkissen, The
same wriler gives us more direct information as to the
serviees rendered by the invaluable Moonshee,  He tells us
in another passage and referring to a later date (1757), that
when the English, having quitted the Fort, remained for
geveral months on board a ship at Fulta, some of the

v Lhid, p. 538, B,
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provisions were supplied by Nubkissen at the risk of his life,
for the Nabob had prohibited, under penalty of death,
any one supplying the English.! “This led to Warren
Hastings taking Nobokissen as his Moonshee and the sub-
sequent elevation of his family,” which probably means
that Nubkissen, who had so long been only Persian tutor
to Hastings, came now to be trusted with higher and more
regponsible functions. The same writer observes elsewhere :

“ Nabakissen came forward in Clive's time. Living in an obscure
village, Panchgay, near Diamond Harbour, he supplied the Wnglish
refugees there with provisions in spite of the prohibition of the Nabob
and he brought them valuable information relating to the Nalob's
movements,” ?

Tt is easy to see that as early as 1756, that is almost
immediately after his connection with the Company, Nubkissen
had definitely cast in his lob with the Hnglish.  He was not
merely doing the routine duties of 2 Moonshee and was
certainly not mindtul of his personal and immediate interests,
He supplied material information to the Company of the
Nabob’s movements at Moorshodabad, and supplied provision
to them at the risk of his own life at a time when their prospects
wero of the darkest and their power of the feeblost. He was
not keeping np appearancos or playing fast and loose with his
masters. No loyalty to the Company could be docper than
that of Nubkissen’s, for it commenced in the honr of their

" distross and despair. A disaster to the Company would have
been death to Nubkissen, but with characteristic courage and
sincerity he faced that prospect.

The Account describes in a somewhat circumstantial
way a service rendered by Nubkissen in 1757, shortly

! Selections from Unpublished Records of Government. Pp. 75 and 93,
The fact is stated almost in the same words in W. I, Carey’s The¢ Govd Old
Days of Honowrable John Company. (Printed at the Argus Press, Simla,
1882). Vol. L, p. 41,

2 DPeeps into Sovial Life in Calew'ta a Century ago, By the Rev, J,
Long. p. 17.



Mawararan NupkrsseNn BAnapur. 13

before the battle of Plassey. Scrajuddowlah carried out his
threat and attacked Caleatta with a grand army in 1756,
The English had only a small force and made no resistance,
The Goovernor and many other English gentlemen went to
Madras. Now was enacted the tragedy of the Black Hole.
The Nabob having taken Caleutta, named it Alinagar and
appointed one Ruja Manick Chunder as its Governor. e
then returned to Moorshedabad,  Mr. Drake and the other
Members of Council having arrived at Madras, brought
Colonel Ulive on board one of Admiral Watson’s ships, who
landed with his fopce at Fulta within six months and took the
forts of Budge-Budge, Tana, Magooa and Aligar, defeated
the Nabob’s army and surprised Raju Manick Chunder, who
was then amusing himself at nawfeles. The Raja fled to
Moorshedabad and the Tinglish  took possession of Calcutta
in Japuary 1757, when Nubkissen waited upon Colonel Clive
and resumed his office. = When Serajuddowlah made pre-
parations for a sccond attack on Calcutta, he encamped in
Amir Chand’'s garden, now culled Halsibag. Colonel Clive
deputed Nubkissen and an Engincer to  obtain  infor-
mation in regard to the particulars of the Nabob’s en-
campment under the pretence of making proposals of peace
and offering presents to the Nabob. They brought with
them a detailad account of tho situation. Clive marched his
forses up to the Nabob’s camp at the end of the night and
blew up his tent and those of his Sirdars by the first fire
from bis eannon,  The Nabob, however, had already removed
to another tent and he remained unhurt. Clive followed his
enemy to Plassey, where a decisive battle was fought, There
is nothing improbable in this story. The published historics
make no reference to 1, and their silence is not to be
wondered at. A deputation of the sort just deseribed and the
kind of information it elicited, are not the things to be made
matter of record. They are certainly not the.things with
regurd to which, even It a record existed at some time, any
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party could be anxious to preserve evidence. The story of the
Account ought to receive respectful attention, it only because
it is n piece of self-disserving evidence. Sir Raja Radhakanta
Deb could not have sought to glorify the founder of his
family by investing him with the functions of a spy. If he
felt himsell compelled to draw upon his imagination for
multiplying or magnifying Nubkissen’s achievements, this
errand of false pretence would very ill suit his parpose. It
is a sacred regard for the obligations of truth that could alone
have led him to embody such a family tradition in a docu-
ment meant to be placed in the hands of @overnment. It is
gearcely nccessary to diseuss the moralsaspect of the mission.
Nubkissen may have been for once a spy, but he was never
an Ephinltes. His mission was not to betray his masters,
but to aid them. TIis acceptance of the mission was an
act of courageous loyalty and not of meanness, Nor need
Jlive answer to posterity for his having ordered the depu-
tation. Secouts and messongers have recognised functiong
_in all military operations, and the record of Clive’s achieve-
menis would have been " materially abridged if he had not
been able to profit by the information brought to him by
spies deputed or self-constituted.

It was necessary to crush the power of Serajuddowlah
for he had been intrigning with the French, or, at any rate,.
had threatened to support them as against the English,
Apparently the only alternatives now open were the ascen-
dancy of the English and that of the French, After the
battle of Plassey Serajuddowlah was deposed. In conse-
quence of negotiations carried on by Nubkissen, Mir Jafar
or Jafar Ali Khan formed an alliance with Clive, who took
possession of Moorshedabad and declared Jafer Ali Khan
to be its lawful Nabob. With the sanction of Colonel Clive,
Nubkissen settled the terms of the Subahdari agreement
with the new Nabob and made arrangements for conduct-
ing the affairs of the provinces in concurrence with the
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Naib Subahdar Nabob Mozufferjung, and fixed an annual
Nizamut allowance at Rs, 18,00,000 and the expenses of the
Subahdari at Rs. 7,00,000, making a total of 25 lakhs of
rapees. He returned to Calcutta with Clive, having won
his highest esteem for the faithfal and efficient discharge of
the public duties entrusted to him. Clive, when he shortly
afterwards left for England, assured Nubkissen that he would
return soon and appoint him to a distinguished situation.

Will a little digression be pardoned, if only as an
illustration of the part that spics and accidents play in the
issues of wars anll the fortunes of men and nations ? Colonel
Malleson, who is one’of the latest biographers of Clive and
has made a thorough research into the history of his times,
writes with reference to the cipture of Chandernagore by
the English in March 1757 :—

“If treason and corvuption had not intervened, Renault [ the
Governor of Chandernagore ] would have forced Clive to retire. But,
alas | treason in the first instance hiad done its work, corruption had
completed it in the other. . /The French Engineer who had deserted to
Clive had reported that if the Admiral would carefully sound all around
the sunken vessels, he would find that that there was still sufficient
room [ in the channel which Renaunlt believed he had blocked up ] for
ships to pass the channel singly. | Soundings made, during the succeed-
ing days, under a heavy five, proved this information to be correct.”

The French Ingincer, then, ruined Renault by his
“treason.” And it has now to be said that it was Nun-
comar who betrayed the Governor by his * corruption.”
Renault had received from Nuncomar, Governor of Hugli
for Serajuddowlah, the fullest assurances of protection,
but that unscrupulous person allowed himself to be bribed
by Omichund, gave no assistance to Renault and even pre-
vented Raja Dulab Ram, one of Serajuddowlah’s Generals,
from coming to his rescue, This was the result of ¢ the
successful intrigues which the English had carried on with
Nundkumar,” who proved a less reliable friend than Serajud-

dowlah himself,
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A Mahomedan writer, the author of a work called
Tarikh-i-Manguri, takes occasion to mornlise on the events ;:—

“ As the star of the English was in the ascendant, and the nnavail-
ing fortunes of the French were beginning to set, the complicated knot
unravelled itself in the hands of the Fnglish. But if fortune had
not favourcd the English, not even exertions snch as had never been
witnessed in India, would have enabled Colonel Clive to take posses.
sion of Chandernagore. A French officer of the name of Terraneau,
who knew the secret of the passage left in the river, was for some
reasons dissatisticd with M. Renault, the then Governor of Chander-
nagore. Forgetting the obligation under which he lay to his own
nation, he went to Colonel Clive and informed him of the existence of
the passage.”

It is something to be able to say of Nubkissen that
in an age of perfidy and under eircumstances of what may
be called complete moral anarchy in public life, he had an
unblemished record.  Not the woist of his encmies had
charged him with treason or any betrayal of trust.

It is curious to observe that while historians or chroni-
clers are silent as to the serviees of Nubkissen, at least one
or two of them have thought fit te fasten on him a charge
of looting a certain inner treasury of Serajuddowlah, A
Mahomedan ot the Shiab scct and a friend of the Nahob
Nuzim of Moorshedubad, Sayyid Ali, writes in the 7arikh-i-
Mangure i—-

“After the victory [of DPlassey] Colonel Clive met with Mir
Mahomed Jafar. They congratulated ocach other and went together
to Moorshedabad. On their arrival at the palace, the nobles of the city
and the Government officials were called to a durbar. Colonel Clive
took Mir Jafar's hand and led him to the Masnad. At the same time
salutes were fired to indicate the transfer of the Subaks of Bengal,
Behar and Orissa to Mir Jafar. After the duwrbar, the new Naboh,
Colonel Clive, with a few FEnglishmen, the Dewan Ram Chand, and
Nobokissen, the Colonel’s Moonshee, inspected the treasury, where a
sum of more than 20 millions of rupees, in silver and gold, was found.

« It is also well known that hesides this treasure there existed
another in the Marem, which fact Mir Mahomed Jafar concealed from
Colonel Clive, at the instigation of the Dewan and Clive's Moonshee.
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The value of the gold and silver articles and of the jewels found there
was not less than 80 millions of rupees. The whole was divided
among Mir Jafar, Ram Chand, Amir Beg and Nobokissen. This
transaction is indeed very probable, as Rum Chand left a fortune of
12} millions of rupees at his death, ten years later, whilst Nobokissen
could afford to pay 9,00,000 rupees on the occasion of the death of
his mother. Yet both men were in receipt of only 60 rupees per
month at the time of the division.”}

Before we consider probabilities, let us attend to some
facts which historical research hag disclosed.  With veference
to the reported wealth in the treasury of Serajuddowlah,

Sir John Malcolih writes :—

“The treasures of Serajuddowlaly had been greatly over estimated
by Mr, Watts, who states in_ome letter that they were computed to
amount to 40,000,000/ sterling, a sum so extravagantly beyond what
the revenues of the country could have enabled Allaverdy Khan, or
his successor, to amass, that it is quite extraordinary how such a belief

2

could have been entertaiged. ” 2

Colonel G, B. Malleson says that the treasury contained,
all told, ratber less than two-thirds of twenty-two millions
of rupees.® Ten rupees were in those days equivalent to a
pound sterling.

As regards probabilities they are altogether against the
story of the Mahomedan writer.” Tt is impossible to conceive
why Mir Jafar should have concealed from Clive a treasuve
which he was willing to share with Ram Chand, Amir
Beg and Nubkissen. He had something to gain by pleas-
ing Clive; he could have had no reason to please Nubkissen
or Ram Chand, both of whom are said to have been holding
humble offices, carrying a salary of GO rupees each. That
there was a secrct treasury at all in the harem could have
been no better known to Nubkissen than it was to Clive.

Y The Jouranl of the Asiatic Seciety (No, I1.0f 1867). H. Blochmann's
translation of a passage from a Persian manuseript of the Zarikhei-

Mancuri,
¢ Life of Clwe. Vol 1., p. 276.
¥ Founders of the Indian Empire: Clive, p. 274,
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And from all that is known of the relations between Clive
and Nubkissen, it is impossible to believe that Nubkissen
could have instigated the concealment. Besides, it would
have been a desperate thing for Mir Jafar to have taken
three men into confidence in regard to a matter which he
chose to keep a secret as against Cllive, especially when the
« united claims > of several parties ¢ including those of Clive
himself ” could not be met from the regular treasury. The
Mahomedan writer who rotails the scandal gives circumstan-
tial details which would seem to suggest as if he was an eye-
witness of the division of the spoil, and the wonder is that
anybody should have known a fact of this kind, of which
Clive was not aware. Thereis nothing, in the next place, to
show that Nubkissen spent nine lakhs of rupees on his
mother’s Sraddla, or what particular amount he did spend
on that ceremony.  There will be ocension in a subsequent
chapter to consider the subject of the Sraddha at some length,
It is enoungh to state here that the supposition of Nubkissen
having spent nine lakhs on the ceremony, though he lived on
an income of Rs. 60 per mensem, has been given currency by
only one English writer; the Rev, J. €. Marshman. He made
the statement in a little school-book called the History of
Bengal. The Mahomedan writer that has been here cited
iz little known at the present day, though probably he is
Mr. Marshmau’s only authorvity. There were suspicions pre-
valent amongst Nubkixsen’s contemporaries, especially those
who were jealous of his wealth and influence. Nubkissen
himself by his frank statements and bold challenges silenced
the tongue of calumny in his lifetime ; but fictions die
hard, and it is no wonder the old insinuations are still
sometimes indulged in. In a petition, which will hereafter

be quoted in full, Nubkissen says :—

# My enemies have in vain searched for proofs that 1 raised my
fortune by bribery and undue means in hopes that by such a dis-
covery they might have heen able to have ruined my character and
reputabion. Disappointed in this their efforts are now extended to
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more base and villanous ends. My life is now what they thirst
after.”

Nubkissen’s salary at this time was, as has already
been shown, much more than 60 rupees per mensem. As
Moonshee of the Company he would be entitled to dona-
tions like his masters, and such donations, historians tell us,
were a legitimate income in those days. Before his mother’s
death, as will be presently shown, many other sources of in-
come had opened out to him, It has to be remembered
that Nubkissen was a man of great ability and accomplish-
ments and might be able to earn money in various ways, He
could dralt petitions, give legal and political advice, manage
estates, act as interpreter; do business as an agent, and render
various kinds of assistance to men, literary and practical, for
which he could very well claim remuneration, To suppose
that such a man, so talented, so versatile, so energetic, would
be tied down to his salary ns Moonshee and would have no
additional source of income, is {p cxhibit absolate ignorance
of life.  How much would it have heen possible for him to
earn only as a conveyancer or an attorney ! And he was a
great deal hesides and ne mere clerk. The Rev. Mr, Long
writes :—

“Persian was the language of diplomacy and the courts. In it
the English transacted business both with the natives and Armenians.
Through his skill in it Nabakissen from being Clive’s Muushi in 1760
rose to great influence and wealth, 7!

Nubkissen had been Clive’s Moonshee even hefore 1760,
but it is perfectly fair to suppose that his knowledge of
Persian, coupled of course with Lis ability, was the main
cause of his wealth and influence, just as knowledge of
Euglish has been the cause of many a Benguli’s advance-
ment in more recent times, The scandal, however, is not
without its moral. It is a recognition of the importance which
Nubkissen had acquired by this time and of the services he

Perps inte Social Life, p. 18.
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had already rendered to the Comipany. It was probably
presumed in the gossip of the day that a man who was of so
much service to the conquerors could not but have received
a muterial share of the spoil. But having regard to ascer-
tained facts as well as to probabilities, the story of Nubkissen
receiving a share of the treasures stored up in the harem
must be dismissed as at best an unfounded presumption.



CHAPTER ITI.

From tHE BarrLE o PLAsSEY 1o CLIVE's FINAL DEPARTURE
' rromM Inpra, 1757-1767.

Clive left for England on the 25th February 1759 ; he
returned to Calcutta on the 3rd May 1765 ; he finally bade
adieu to the countryin 1767, sailing from Calcutta on the
29th January, What was the net result of his work in the
first period of his earcer in Bengal, namely, from December
1756 to February 1757 ? It was, in a word, the removal of
all danger to which the English scttlement might be exposed.
As Colonel Malleson puts it—

“He had determined not to leave Bengal so long as there should
remain any danger threatening the English settlement. With the
destruction of the last of its European rivals [namely, the Dutch]all
danger had disappeared.”

The work, thercfore, was a wholly defensive one. One
hears up to this period, not of English possessions, power
or supremacy, but only of the  English settlement,” and the
safoty of that settlement is the greatest work that could be
accomplished. What is the work, however, which Clive
had done when he finally left the country in 1767 7 He had
laid the foundations of an empire. In the words of Colonel
Malleson-~

“(Clive felt in January 1767 that he might retire with honour
from the country which he had won for England, and on whose soil
there now remained for him no new fields to conquer..... s The
Caleutta which he saw for the last time on that eventful day [the day
of departure] had in ten years been transformed by him from the
status of a conquered seat of a ruined commercial agency, occupied
Ly the congqueror, into the ftourishing capital of a possession as large
as France, Alone he had done it ! ”

His genius, military, administrative and diplomatie, had,
of course, done it, but how is one to account for his change
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of policy and aspiration during the second period of his
career in Bengal 7 The historian just quoted says that before
his arrival in 1765 Clive had nurtured a scheme for the
welding together and the protection of the territories acquired
by the British. No evidence is offered, however, for such a
conclusion, nor are any circumstances mentioned which might
raise any presumption in its favour. There are reasons to
believe that the inspiration of empire came from Nubkissen,
who practically discharged all the functions of a diplomatic
minister, of a Foreign Secretary, and of the Chief Officer of
an Intelligence Department.

Nubkissen's chief qualifications for the advice and assis-
tance he gave to Clive were his knowledge of Persian, his
knowledge of the country and his knowledge of the temper of
the princes and the people of the thme. Mr, Richard Barwell
in the course of his statement in the frial of Warren Hastings
said :—* He [Nubkissen] is profoundly learned in Persian
and most of the customs of the Mahomedans are based on
the Persian seriptures ; besides Raja Navakrishna was a man
of vast experience and his repeated intercourse with the
Nubobs of Moorshedubad has made him quite a competent
man.”  Governor Johnstone in his explunation to the Select
Comtnittee said that Nubkissen was, like a few others, an
“able conveyancer,” that is, one well versed in the art of
drafting treaties. Lvidence of a direct kind as to the services
rendered by Nubkissen is to be found in a petition addressed
by him to the Council of Revenue, Bengal, and dated the
18th November 1777.1  The petition runs as follows :—

Trom the year 1756 to the year 1767, an interval during which
the welfare and interests of the Hon’ble Company were repeatedly in
the most critical and dangerous situations, it is a well known fact that

all the most important and secret negotiations and transactions with
the Country Powers were conducted through the medium of your

! See proceedings of the Council of Revenne, dated Fort William, the
18th November 1777,
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petitioney, the snccess of which he humbly hopes suiticiently marks his
tidelity. The particulars of those services ave too recent and well known
to your Hon'ble Board to need recapitulation here.  Your petitioner
therefore anly craves leave blrietly to state a few of the most material
heads thereof @ /s,

1. Hisservices under the Right Honw’ble Lord Clive (then Colonel
Clive) in the Nevolution which happened in consequence of the
eapture of Calcutta and sulsequent defeat of Serajuddowlah, on
whieh occasion your petitioner acted as  DPersian  Secretary and
T'ranslator, and wus employed in all the most contidential transactions.

L His serrices under Major Adams, Conmander-in-Chief in the
wars of the Nabob Kassimally Cawn, in which your petitioner had
the sole management of all such negotiations and transactions with
the Country Powers and chief people as fell under the province of the
Commander-in-C hief.

3. His services under Lord Clive on his return to India in the
vear 1764 when your petitioner was the only native entrusted or
employed in all the several Treaties which were made with the Mogul
or King Shaw  Aluw, the late Vizier Shuja-ud-Dowla, the Nabob of
Bengal Nudjum-ud-Dowla, ete, when the grant of the Dewani was
obtained for the Hon'ble Compuny.

Lastly.—For the sense’ which Lord Clive had of your petition-
et’s services ou the occasions aforesuid he hegs leave to refer your
Hon'ble Beard te the proceedings of the Sclect Committee of the 16th
January 1767 and the proceedings in public< Public  Department in
Council, the next day, wherein his Lordship is pleased fully to
express the seuse he entertained of your petitioner’s fidelity and
abilitics and of Fis steady attachment to the interests of the How'ble
Company,

There iy no doubt that Clive appreciated Nubkissen’s
services, which were nof only political.  but  personal.
Lady Clive wrote to him, years atterwardy, the following
uote :—

The kind attentions shewn to Robert May by the worthy Raja
Nobokissen Baliadur have very much ohliged Lady Clive, the late
Lord Clivels wife She mow, his widow, lws an inclination to send
Nobokissen a valuable priut of Ler dear lute Tord, flattering herself
that such a proof of her regard will be very acceptable to him. Itis
still in his power to give her further proofs of his triendship by
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shewing her cousing, Mr. Henry and Mr. Edward Strachey every
civility in Bengal. The children of the late Lord Clive wish happiness
to Nobokissen.
Manarasa NoBoxissEN BAHADUR,
By MR, EDWARD STRACHEY. Bengal.

Mr. Henry Strachey referred to in this letter introduced
his son to Nubkissen in the following terms,

Loxpox, 7th dpril 1792.

DEar NABAKISSEN-~

My eldest son brings you this letter. He is appointed a writer
and I hope he will be an honest and a good man. Ag I was so well
acquainted with you when I was with Lord C‘livg, you would think me
unkind if T did not introduce my son to you. If youcan ever be of
use to him T am sure you-will. T shall always be glad to hear of
your health and welfare, being

Your Friend,
For Rasa NABAKISsEN. (5d.) HENRY STRACHEY.

The letter which Mr. John Knott wrote to him in 1774
shows very clearly the estecem in which Nubkiszen was held
and indicates the sort of services which hie had rendered

and was capable of' rendering.
London, 29th Mareh 1774,
To
Rasa Nowrissuy,
Mr, NoBKISSEN,

Though I bave not received a letter frons you, nor any particular
advice of you from my friends in Caleutta siuce Tleft Bengal, yet
you have always had my good wishes for your health and happiness.

The FRurope ships that went to Bengal last season would inform
you of the violent disputes that we have lately had in Parliament
and at the East India House here against almost every gentleman
that has returned from Bengal for some years past. Lord Clive
has been more particularly attacked and abused by Mr. Johnson’s
Scotch friends and their partizans, and they even carried matters
so far as to endeavour to take away His Lovdships whole fortune,
Cruel and scandalous ag such endeavours were, these outrageous
men were happily disappointed, partly by the very sensible and
apirited speeches which Lord Clive made in Parliament in his own
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defence and partly by the support of his many active and able friends
in that House. His lordship enjoying but an indifferent state of
health every c¢old secason here (which is rather too severe for
his constitution, as well as for most gentlemen that come from
India) he went to Ttaly for the benefit of his health about five or
aix months &go, which is a warmer and healthier c¢limate than
England ; and Mr. Strachey tells me that his Lordship’s health
i now so much benefited by lhis journey, that he will very soon
return to England again. Mr. Kelsall and Mr. Beaumont, late
of Bengal, accompanied His Lordship to Ttaly. Lady Clive and
all his Lordship’s family are well ; he bas two sons and three danghters,
I Lelieve, who are all very fine children.

My. Strachey w.as married, soun after his return to England, to
Mr. Kelsall’s sister and has one aritwo children by her ; heis in good
health and lives very happily 5 he is-a Member of Parliament and
will be chosen one of the Iast India Directors, I believe, next year.
Dr. Inghaw died soon after hix return to England, Mr. Verelst was
married to a very lLandsome young lady of good family and large
fortune about 4 year after his return to England ; he has two children
by his wife and would be very happy could he enjoy his health perfect-
ly in this climate. He will be in the Direction again, T believe, next
year, as also Mr. Becher. T was married about the same time that
Mp. Verelst was, to a sister_of my cousin, Captain George Knott’s,
whom you must remember in Bengal. I have but one child, my wife
being of a tender and weakly -constitution. I should be very happy
in England, was not my little fortune exposed to so heavy a risk
in Bengal by the share T lcld in the joint concern in trade there
under the dir-ction of the late Mr, Hoissard. Though you were so
kind ax to buy that share of me, so far as related to my proportion
of any profits that might avise on the joint concern, yet Tam still
responsible for the principal amount of my share of that original
stock.

Both Hoissard and Gocul Gosaul have behaved in a most
encouraging manner to the other proprietors of that concern by
settling and interchanging a private account hbetween themselves
wherein they have endeavoured to deprive the joint concern of nearly
the suni of two lakhs of rupees by the manner they have settled that
account, and which sum (with about two lakhs more) Gocul owed
to the concern ypartly for their goods bought by him of Hoissard as
acting agent to the concern (which eonsulted me upon and had my
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approval (?) of one of the principal proprietors a little before I left
Bengal) and partly for the concern's outstanding debts at the
Aurungs, which a letter of Mr. Hoissard’s to me tells me Gocul (as
banyan to the concern) had given him a written obligation to be
responsible to the concern for the full payment of. I know very
well that Goenl, long before we left Bengal, lent several large sums
of money to Mr. Hoissard (amounting altogether to nearly two lakhs
of rupees) for that gentleman’s private use and benefit in trade.
And this T understand is the money which they transferred in the
private acconnt settled between themselves as above mentioned,
instead of Gocul paying to the joint concern the full amount of the
debt he owed thereto or continning to be responsible to it for the
same till he could pay that debt, and acqua‘mting Mr. Verelst’s
attorneys and mine in Caleutta with the transaction when proposed
by Hoissard. Whatever suns of money Gocul had lent to Mr, Hoissard
for his own private use and advantage in trade long before that
time, Gocul must be sensible it was very unreasonable and unjust
to expect that the property of the joint concern should pay him for
this private debt. Iam astonished to hear that Goenl is capable of
such a conduct, even as much $o as to hear that Mr, Hoissard could
be guilty of it. If the law suit in the Mayor’s Court at Calcutta
between the Execntors of Hoissard’s Rstate and (locul Ghosal be
determined in Gocul's favor; T hope, Mr. Nobokissen, from the
many Yestimonies I have received of your friendship that yon will
not think it unveasonable in wme if I request, your hecoming my
secarity for what the Mayor’s Court, or Mahomed Reza Cawn (who
you know lent three lakhs of Sicea rupees to the joint concern for its
first establishment) may demand of the several proprietors for their
shares in the eoncern and consequently of me for my proportion
thereof. If you are willing to favor wme in this request I shall be
obliged if you will be so kind as to call upon Mr. Levets, my acting
Attorney in Chleutta, aud acquaint him with it. The risk I am
exposed to upon this occasion becomes daily so very alarming to me,
that I am determined to return to Bengal next season to endeavour
if possible to repair the loss, I should have sailed this year, but
could not get my concerns in England sufficiently adjusted to enable
me to go away. T hope T shall see you in Bengal next snmmer
cheerful and well,

You will be advised long before this reaches you of great changes
here in East Inda affairs, of the appointment of a Governor-General and
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four Suprene Counciliors to superintend and regulate the Company’s
affairs at all their settlements in India, and of four Judges to establish
a Supreme Court of Judicature in Bengal. Amongst these Judges,
and the second in rank, is Robert Chambers, Esq., a gentleman of
respectable character and distinguished abilities ; upon mentioning to
me one day his having a desire to learn both the Persian and Bengalee
languages onhis arrival in Bengal, and that he wished he could meet
with a person there properly qualified to instroct him, I immediately
mentioned your name and added, that as you had bad almost the
sole direction of T.ord (live's Persian correspondence and a great
part also of My, Verelst’s, and acted as Political Banyan to them hoth
whilst they were Governors of Bengal, 1 thought no man was fitter
to answer his expectations in regard to those languages than your-
self, if vou were willing to undertake it. Besides, I told him the
great advantage your conversation would be to him upon the general
politics of ITindustan, as well as the particular provinees thereof
from the long and intimate knowledge you have had on those subjects,
Mr. Chambers will necessarily want o Banyan when he arrives in
Jalcutta ; from the character T have given him of you, T hope he will
not. think of engaging any one else, and though you are much better ex-
perienced in polities than in trade, yet as I suppose Mr, Chambers will
not trade mucl, if any from your good senseand general knowledge of
the conntry and with the assistance of my old friend Nakry Hupry (who
I hope is alive and well, and who understands accounts exceedingly
well,) you eannot Dhe at any loss to fulfil Mr. Chambers' expectation
in thoge natters. But my chief notive in recommending you to Mr.
Chambers is that his protection and friendship may be serviceable
to you ;and as he is a very sensible and worthy gentleman and may
probably very soon become the first Judge in Calcutta, I hope you
will find his service answer your expectations, and I-shall be happy
to have had it in my power to have been in any degree assisting to
you on the occasion. My, Chambers was lately married here toa
very beantiful and accomplished young lady, who accompanies him
to Indin. As Mr. Chambers desired me to give him a letter to you,
1 send thisun ler his care and hope you will wait upon him as soon
after your recaipt of it as possible.

Wishing you health and success.
I am,
ME. NoBKISSEN.
Your sigcere friend,

(8d.) Joann KnoTr,
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Some idea, though only a very meagre one, of the sort of
work which Nubkissen used to do for Clive way be formed
from the three following short letters :---

Persian Department, Tetters written 1764, No. 212,
Dated 18th Decembar 1764,

From
R. Cuive.

To
THE NABOD.

Your Excellency’s letter from Mortagill reached me in” a
fortunate hour, and the news of your welfare gaye me more pleasure
than T can express. May it please Glod to preserve you and your
family in health and prosperity and always lot we hear of it.  Nob-
kissen Munshee has informed me of ull other particulars with which
T am satisfied and to whom I refer you.

Persian Department., Lettars written 1764, No. 213.
Duated 22nd December 1764

From
R. CLive,

To
TrE NaABon.

You advise me you have safely arrived in Muxadabad than which
news nothing could be more agreeable to me. May you always there.
be bappy and rejoice me in the news of it.

In another letter you advise me of the mad proceedings of
Shahmull. Sensible of the ill-consequence thereof and to shew my
readiness to oblige your Excellency in everything I consistently can,
I jmmediately wrote and sent to you by the hands of Nobkissen
Munshee a letter to Major Munro, which ITam persuaded will set these
matters right. If not I shall take other measures.

You please me much in the last letter wherein you mention that
Maharajah Nundo Comar was set down to and attending to the
accounts. The speedy adjustment of them will, I hope, soon enable
your Excellency to answer all your purposes ; it is in attention only
to those points that can make these provinces flourish and yourself
happy. That you may be alwayssois my sincere wish. Tam well
and hope always to have accounts of your welfare.
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Persian Department, Letters written 1765, No. 7.

From
R Cuive

To
Tug Nagos.

I have veceived your Excellency's letters which always give me
et

As to the Batty on the rupees paid at Patna in consequence of
your order, T understood, as did the Board, they should be sicca rupees,
but I have desired Mr. Billers not to dispute about this there, but
leave this matter to be settled between your Excellency and us here.
It gives me pleasure $o hear from your Excellency that you look upon
Reza Khan in so favourable a light. We look upon him as well
inclined to you, or he would not have had any countenance from us,
Mr. Middleton bas wrote me everything proper on that oceasion, with
which T am satisfied, and T hope you will receive benefit by his service
at Dacea. T have wrote him that if he expects my friendship he can-
not do better to secure that than to shew himself a faithful and
diligent servant to your Excellency. Other particulars of your
Excellency’s friendly sentiments regarding myself I have understood
from the letters of Raja Nund Comer and the representations of
Nobkissen Munshee, and which gives me pleasure, who is always ready
and diligent in your service,

Always favour me with your letters and make me glad.

These leiters constitute a’ body of circumstantial evidence
which goes fur to confirm the statements made by Nubkissen
in his petition. which, however, it may be confidently
observed, hardly stand in need of corroboration, for a person
in the position of Nubkissen would not have dreamt of making
them if thev were not absolutely true, and they would
certainly not have passed unchallenged at the time.

That Nulkisten rendered valuable services to Clive and
Adams was undisputed history over sixty years ago. A
well-informed Anglo-Indian journal wrote :

“ Raja Nubukissen was the founder of his own fortunes. He was
aman of considerable attainments and great tact; well versed in
Persian, and one of the very few natives who at that time knew any-
thing of Euglish. He was a writer in the employ of (ive who never
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understood anything of the native languages. Though he occupied
but a very subordinate capacity, he made himself very useful to the
English during the period when they were negotiating with Meer
Jaffer, and acquired par excellence the title of Moonshee. When the
war broke out with Meer Cossim, he accompanied the Army of Major
Adams as his banian. His address and zeal induced Lord Clive to
recommend him to the Select Committee as their banian, at that time
one of the most lucrative offices in Bengal. This laid the foundation
of his great wealth,”!

Rev. Dr, Hastie has observed with truth that ¢ with more
wisdom and less ambition he [Nubkissen] recognised the
invineibility of the new power ” and did noj * make the fatal
mistake of the unprincipled and ill-fated Nundcomar.”?
The fact is, Nubkissen rccognised not only the invincibility
of the new power, but the iwpossibility of improv-
ing the old régime or of cvoking order out of chaos in
any other way than by the assistunce of the English, He
felt that he had te save his country from a disaster hy the
establishment of an authority that should be at once just and
strong. Such an authority he found in the English, for,
as Mr. Francis Sykes said in his deposition® before the
Parliamentary Committee, he had not merely formed a
correct idea of their military power, but hie also entertained a
high opinion of their system of Government as well as of
their capacity for administration.

Betore this chapter is closed it is necessary Lo refer to an
inquiry that was held by a Select Committee, with Lord
Clive as president, into the several sums granted by Meer
Jaffer towards restitution and donations, Nuncomar and
Nubkissen are the principal witnesses that were examined,
and the . tale they unfold does little credit to the English
Giovernors that were concerned. Tt is u tale of meanness,

YThe Friend oy Indin (5th April 1838),
¢ Hindu Idolatry, p, 34.
Fifth Report, p. 544,
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fraud and extortion, and poor Meer Jaffer, ignorant and
imbocile, comes to be an object of sympathy when he is entrap-
ped, alternately bullied and cajoled, and finally compelled to
surrender to the machinations, Hardly any comwment is
needed on the facts disclosed in the following depositions. At
the meeting of the Committee held in Fort William on
the 26th August 1766, Raja Nuncomar stated :—

“ At the time Mr. Vansittart resigned the Government, the fresh
demand of eight lakhs for restitution was still in debate. One day Mr.
Spencer spoke to me on the subject and told me ¢ that unless that
affuir was adjusted he could not give his consent to the Nabob’s de-
parture or to mine, With this T acquainted His Excellency, who
said that nothing further counld be done before Lord Clive arrived.
‘But do you,' says he, tell Mr. Spencer that Assun Oula Cawn,
an officer of the Government who bhad charge of the Provinee of
Jessore, has absconded with Rs. 1,80,000' of the public money and
now takes shelter in Caleutta. If this person is delivered up, I will
settle about the eight lakhs.’ His Excellency also desired Nobkissen
to speak to Mr, Bpencer on the sane subject, and several messages
having passed, Mr. 8pencer promised to deliver him to the Nabob,
but never did.”

Further on in Nuncomar’s narrative ;—

“After this the Nabob and myself had our discussion, and set
out immediately, His Excellency telling 'me he would return again
upon the first advice of Lord Clive’s arrival. He left Nobkissen
here, and with him two persons who had direction to take charge of
Asun Oula Cawn when he should be delivered up ; which he never was,
for Mr, Spencer never performed his promise.”

After Nuncomar’s ovidence was finished, *Nobkissen,
Moonshee, being called before the Committee, delivers upon
oath the following account of the Treaty of Restitution’:—

“During the months of May or June 1764, and soon after My,
Spencer’s arrival, My, Vansittart wrote to the Nabob, who was then
at Patna, desiring he would come down to Caleutta, which would he
the easiest method of settling several affairs that remained to be
adjusted. At the same time Mr. Spencer ordered me likewise to write

! It may be Rs. 80,060. The 1 may be amere slip of the pen, judging from
its appearance in the MS,
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to the Nabob, desiring he would be under no apprehension, but come
down, when Mr. Vansittart and himself would settle everything to
his satisfaction. The Nalob not having it in his power 80 scon as
expected, there was a delay of 15 or 20 days, at which Mr. Van-
gittart and Mr. Spencer were much displeased, and also very angry
with me. 1 told Mr. Spencer *that the Nabolh was a great man, that
I was but & poor man, and that if anything happened to His
Excellency, the blame must fall upon those who obliged him to come
down.’ Upon which, Mr. Spencer answered ¢ that everything should
be done at the Board, that no harm would happen, and that a due
regard would be had to all the Nabob's representations” In con-
sequence of this declaration, myself and others of the Nabob's friends
wrote five or six letters to His Excellency, acquamtmg him that
Mr. Vansittart and Mr. Spencer had both given the strongest
assurances aud even engaged to us that no injury should be done
him.

“Upon these assurances the Nabob came down, and, upon my
waiting upon him, teld me he was extremely satisfied with his
reception,

“Two or three days afterwards Mr. Vansittart began to make
his demand of forty lakhs on account of Restitution. When he spoke
upon the subject to the Nabob, His Excellency replied : *Did you
not before ask me for ten lakhs only, and do you now want forty ¥—
making use at the same time of some harsh and violent expressions,
and speaking o loud that he was overheard by others and myself,
who stood without the door. As soon us he had got into his palan-
quin, ‘Go you to Mr. Spencer,’ says he to me, ¢ tell him the usage
T have met with, and ask what they can mean by such unreasonable
demands.” T went accordingly as desired, and Mr. Spencer told me
¢that he had sat upon all the Committees for examining the claims
of the sufferers, that he had strictly examined the losses, and that
they absolutely amounted to the whole sum demanded.,” Adding
<that he did not mention this before, becanse he thought ¢ii the
Nabob was acquainted with it, he would not come down to Caleutta’
I thea said ¢ What justice, Sir, is there in this ? You first asked for ten
lakhs only and now you demand forty.” To which be replied: ¢ The
claims were not then brought in nor exammed else the demand would
have been made at firat.’

«'This conversation T veported to the Nabob, who was very angry and
said ; ‘Why'did not you and others give me notice of this before 7 T
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should then have been prepared and known how to act, whereas I
must now remain in Calcutta’ In this ill temper he continued for
several days, and would hearken to no one. From what motive I
know not, but all of a sudden he sent for Juggut Chund and teld him ;
‘I conclude from this extraordinary demand of Mr, Vansittart's that
he wants something for himself. Do you go and tell him that, as
to what relates to him, he shall be satisfied.” Juggut Chund went as
desived, but what passed between him and Mr. Vansittart I cannot
tell. However, on his return, he delivered Mr. Vansittart’s compli-
ments to His Fxcellency and told the Nabob ‘that Mr. Vansittart
considered himuelf as his son, that he entertained no bad intentions
towards him, but wished him well, and asked why His Excellency was
so angry with him,’ cencluding with observing * that forty lakhs must
be paid’ The Nabob, perceiving from all that had passed that Mr.
Vansittart and Mr. Spencer were of one mind, was very much dis-
pleased and remained gullen for some days.

“ Myself and others, hearing that Mr, Vansittart intended making
application to His Excellency for a large present to Commodore Tinker,
went to the Nabob and told him of it ; on which he flew into a rage,
declaring ‘that Mr. Vansittart was the bitterest of enemies to him ;
that he found he was determined he should not hold the Government ;
he might therefore send what officers he thought proper. to manage the
public affairs, for that he (the Nabob) was resolved not to stir from
Calentta.” Accordingly he wrote privately to the city for his women
to be sent down, and they came bringing with them 20 or 30 lakhs of
treasure in 35 boats.

‘“In fact, Mr. Vausittart made the above application for a present
to Mr. Tinker and the sguadron before the treasure and women
arrived, upon which the Nabob sent me to Mr. Spencer to acquaint
him of the fresh demand Mr. Vansittart had made. ‘Tell him,’ ‘says
he, ‘that what with so many demands for indemnification to the
Company, donation to the Army, restitution to the sufferers, the
monthly payment exacted for the Troops, and what with the still
unsettled, exhausted state of the country, it i3 ubsolutely out of my
power to comply with this new demand for the squadron. Iam therefore
resolved to resign the Government if they go on in this manner, and
let him and the Council appoint whom they please to manage the
public affairs” When I acquainted Mr. Spencer with this message,
his answer was ‘that several of the above demands had been made
-and agreed to before his arrived ; nor was he yet Gevernor. That
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Hig Excellency had better comply with the demand for 40 lakhs on
account of Restitution, as fresh claims wevre coming in daily, and this
would at once stop any further demands. That by continuing obstinate
in his refusal he was obstructing his own interest, for had he consent-
ed but ten days ago, Mr. Vansittart would be gone away, he (Mr.
Spencer) would then have been in the Government and the Nabob
would then have everything done to his satisfaction ; but now he
could neither go to Moorshedabad nor would Mr. Vansittart resign
the (Government, nor could he himself come to the chair til} the Iesti-
tution was settled. That the present desired for Commodore Tinker
was neither the Board’s act nor his, but as to the forty lakhs for Res-
titution, he muat, as a friend to the Nabob, desire I would go to him
with his compliments and tell him it was Mis advice to him to
comply ; for then, says he, Mr. Vansittart will resign the chair, I
‘shall be Governor and the Nabob may depend on my showing him
every act of kindness.

 All this conversation I repeated to His Xxcellency, who asked
me ‘ whether these were the real sentiments of Mr. Spencer’s heart
or words of course only,” and said : “Why did you not lay greater stress
on my determination to quit the Government ¢' to which T answered
that I had urged every argument in my power, but that, as staying two
or three months longer in Calcutta must prove extremely injurions to
his affairs, I could not help recommending that he would take it into
further consideration. Upon which the Nabob said : ‘T will consult
-with Nundeomar.’

“1t was about this time that Mr. Vansittart delivered with his
ows hand to the Naboba paper which His Excellency thought was
couched in dark and ambiguous terms implying that unless he
agreed to their demands he would not be permitted to leave Caleutta.
Although neither he nor myself understood the paper thordugh]y, the
Nabob was much offended with it, and asked ‘how long an answer
to a letter would be coming from Europe.” I told him that he might
have an answer in about eighteen months, upon which he sat down
and wrote a very long letter to the Court of Directors ; but
before he had finished it he signed the deed for forty lakhs, and then a
further demand of eight lakhs was made.

““The Nabob having sent me again to Mr. Spencer, I represented
to that gentleman the injustice of this fresh demand -after having
settled with His Excellency for forty lakhs, to which Mr. Spencer
replied : I'cannot help it. The accounts really amount to the
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sum demanded, and you will inform the Nabob that he must pay it
On my repeating this to His Exceilency, he snid.  ‘They are much
akin, Their dispositions are equally good towards me. The one
works his end by violence (meaning Mr. Vansittart), the other by
cunning.’

“In this manner they went ou debating till My, Vansittart’s
departure, after which Mr. Spencer told the Nabob: ¢ We have been
disputing here about a trifle.  You had better pay the eight lakhs.
T am now Governor, and will support you to the utmost of my power.
1t will do us both credit that we have so easily settled this affair which
could not be adjusted in Mr. Vansittart’s Government. 1 will have
no connection with your encmier. T will deliver up Assun Qola
Cawn, and I will hold no intercourse with Doolubram, Petruse or
Ramchurn. These words seecmed to have influenced the Nabob, who
paid 18 lakhs in Mr. Vausittart's time and 10 lakhs in three different
payments during Mr. Spencer’s Goverment.”

Later on (at the same sitting of the Select Committee)
Nuncomar was examined as to the donation to the Army,
and then “Nabkissen, being questioned touching the dona-
tion to the Army, delivers the followiug particulars uapon
oath : "—

“T was not present when the agreeruent for a donation to the Army
was made ; but T have frequently heard from the Nabob’s own mouth
that the 25 lakhis which he gave the Armiy was a free and voluntary gift.
There was a halt of the Avmy for the space of four duys at Doodnagur,
when a comnmittee composed of the officers assembled to regulate thedivi-
sion of the Nabol's gift.  Of this committes, consisting of thiiteen offi-
cers, Major Adams desired I would acquaint His Excellency requesting
he would grant powers to the ahove gentlemen to make the distribution
1 went that evening to the Nabob, but it being then his usual
hour of eating, T could not see him; of which 1 informed Major
Adans, who ordered me to go back immediately to the Nabob, for
that the business was of 80 urgent a nature as would admit of no
delay. I saw the Nabob, and acquainting him with my message, he
asked : ¢Can any harm Dbe meant me by this Committee?” Aund T
answered : ‘No, there cannot * upon which he snid: “Do you draw
ont & paper such as they want, and T will sign it Accordingly 1
made a foul draft of the powers, which his own moonshee copied fair,
and His Excellency signed.’
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At the Select Committee next day (27th August 1766),
Rajah Nuncomar deposed on outh as to the donation made
to the squadron.

“,..Upon all the Nabols visits to Mr. Vansittart, I accom-
panied him ; but no sooner had we retired than Doolubram came to
him. One day Mr, Vansittart sent for me, and told me it was I
that prevented the Nabol's making a suitable present to Mr. Tinker.
This I denied, affirming that it proceeded from the Nabob himself, who
would not hear of it. When I related what Mr. Vansittart said to
the Nabob, ¢ This all,’ says he, ? is the trick and artifice of Doolubram
to bring an odium upon your office. Since that is the case, I will
execute a teep for ten lakhs of rupees, Do you go and deliver it and
let. this affair be ended” ‘At the same time he sent for Ramchurn
and Nobkissen, and told them that he understood they wanted to
remove Nundcomar and place Doolubram in his office ; but if they
did, he would immediately throw up the Government.”

Rajah Nuncomar continued his evidence before the Select
Committec on the 29th August. He stated that Mr. Vansittart
had observed that “Captain Affleck was soon going away to
China, and that he ought to be considered before his depar-
ture;” so “Let the Nabob give Captain Affleck Rs. 50,000
and two lakhs to Mr, Tinker in ready money and for the
remaining 124 lakhs he may give a kistbundee.”

“_ ... In four or five days, adds the Deponent, the 2% lakhs
were provided and sent by Nobkissen to Mr. Tinker, who deducted
ahout 13,000 rupees for the commission he promised me, which he sent
by Nobkissen. Of this T kept 9,000 to myself and gave Nobkissen
4,000 rupees for his trouble.”

The next witness (at the same sitting of the Committee)
wus Nubkissen. The entry is as follows :—

¢« Nobkissen, Moonshee, is brought before the Committee and duly
sworn, after which he declares upon oath as follows :(—

“+¢In the year 1763 1 was with the Army at Doorgothy in the service
of Major Adams. There came a letter then from Mr. Vansittart to
the Major, who, after perusing it, told me it was to this purpose.
“That when the squadron was here before with Admiral Watson, the
Nabob gave 50 lakhs of rupees for the joint use of the fleet and the
army. That Mr. Tinker, « very great mun, was now arrived, and
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ought to have 25 lakhs, and that he, Mr. Vansittart, requested
Major Adams to speak to the Nabob upon the subject” Major Adams
desired I would let the Nabob know this, and return to him with his
answer, When I told the Nabob the purport of the letter, he replied:
“Who is this Mr. Tinker? He has done me no gervice. I have already
driven Cossim Ally out of the country; if I wanted him, I would
have called for him, and gratified him; but now what has he done
for me?’ Tasked what answer should be returned to Mr. Vansittart.
‘Do you, says he, ‘tell him plainly that I find he wants to
revive our disputes ; lile n rocket, no sconer {mmersed in water than
it ascends ugain with wnabated and wndiminished lustre,’ remarking
at the same time to me that when he left Calcutta everything had
heen adjusted. In & word His Excellency was extremely incensed,
and 1 went and informed Major Adams of the issue of my message.
What answer the Major sent-My. Vansittart I don’t know ; but three
ar four days after came another letter from My, Vansittart to the
Major, enclesing one to the Nabob, = On receiving them the Majox
told me: < Do you carry this letter to the Nabob ; tell him I have
received another to the same purport as the former, and desire he
will consider of an answer and do what he thinks best? Upon deliver-
ing the letter and message to the Nabob, he said: ‘How can Major
Adams, who is commanding officer on the part of the King of England,
ask me to comply with so unjust a vequest?’ I answered that I
would acquaint the Major with what His Excellency said. When
1 told the Major, he said: * We must be quiet for the present; but
take an opportupity of secing the Nabob again when he is in better
humour, and hear then what Le will say’ I frequently afterwards
mentioned the subject to the Nabob; but he always grew so angry
as to refuse hearing me ; upon which T declared as my opinion to
Major Adams that it was in vain going any more to His Excellency,
for T was certain he never would give anything on this account,.

“T know nothing ferther of this affair till after the Major's death,
when I went to Chandernagore, of which District I was fougedar.
While T resided there in the month of May or June 1764, I received
a letter from Mr. Tinker's Banian, desiring me in his master’s name
to come down immediately to Caleutta, for he had business with me
of very great moment. I came down accordingly and waited on Mr.
Tinker, who asked me * Why I left Calcutta and lived at Chander-
nagore. Why 1 did not rather stay with him, for he had a great deal
of business for me,” He then told me of the teep for 5" lakhs procured
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by Doolubram, which he would not receive. ©You must write,’ says
he, ‘to Nandcomar ; tell him that [ am his friend, that T could not
receive the teep procured by Doolubram, because T choose to have the
business transacted by him. Yon may say that T know the Nabab hag
lost a good friend in Major Adams, but T am a much greater man than
him and more able to do hir service ; for I will manage his business
with the Council, with the Company, and with the King of England
himself.” He then produced a box filled with a great number of
papers. ‘Look here,’ says he, ‘these are the particulars [ have
written relative to the affairs of this country, which T will lay before
the King, and to which Le will pag great attention, Within the space
of two years I will so manage the Nabob’s affairs that he no longer
need pay any regard to the Counecil,

“ After this, whenever T chanced to miss a day without waiting on
M-, Tinker, he sent a chubdar to call me.— I did not, however, write
in the mauner he desired; but I acquainted Nundeomar with the
substance of what passed, and, in the letters I wrote to the Nabob,
referred to my correspondence with Nundeomar. M. Tinker pressed
me to write to him every day, which T said T would not do, for, if
my letters should be intercepted by Mr. Vansittart, he would be
very angry. ‘No, no,’ suys he, ‘T will answer for it, he will not be
angry ; I am now going to him ; do you accompany me.’

“When we came there, Mr. Vansittart encouraged me and
desired T would be under no apprehension, but write as the Commo-
dore directed. To which I answered  that T could not engage in the
affair, for if things went wrong I should be blamed’ Mr. Vansittart
then again vepeated ‘Don't be afraid ; T will take care of you, and
spoke very kindly.

“Boon after this the Comwmodore recommended me as Banian to
Major Munroe : but I did not act in that capacity myself, but per-
formed the business by & deputy. In this interim the Nabob
came to Caleutta ; and some visits of compliments having passed be-
tween His Excellency, Mr. Vansittart, and the Commodore, one day
Mr. Tinker called me and said: ‘You know there is a certain
affair in agitation between the Nabob and me.’ I replied : ¢ This
business is conducted by a Mr. Vansittart ;" and he answered : ¢ If
you imagine the Nabob is averse to having this affair pass through
Mr. Vansittart’s hands, let me know, and T will go and talk to His
Excellency myself.” T told him ‘T could not make any reply ; but I
would let him know in a few days.’ ’
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“ When first My, Vansittart imcotioned a present for Mr. Tinker to
the Nabob, he was very angry, and told me aftewards : ‘ Ican neverdo
business with Mr. Vansittart with any satisfaction, for he is my enemy,’
expressing himself as if he believed Mr. Vansittart’s intention was to
remove Nuandeomar and raise Doolubram to his employment by which
means he would procure the present for Mr. Tinker, adding * that
he was determind never to admit Doolobram to that station, nor
allow of any further donation to the squadron ; but rather than submit
tosuch exaction, they shiould themselves appoint a Subadar under whom
they might place Doolubram, aud then obtain the donation they
wanted.” The Nabob further told me that Mr. Vansitfart was
continually sending for Nundeomar about this money for the squadron,
threatening hini and*making him carry messages to him (the Nabob):
but he was resolved not to hear anything Nundeomar should say on
the sabject. Healso told me and some others of his servants in an angry
tone : ‘It was in consequence of your letters 1 came to Ualouta ; but
unless you can apply some relicf to my present necessities, don’t speak
to me, nor come neav e, | Aceordingly we kept away for some days,
but, being informed that Doolubrani was appointed to Nundcomar’s
office, I thien went and told the Nahob that Poolubram was to have
his new appointment publicly notified in a few days, and that, unless
he consented to the demand oun hehalt of the squadron, he must
expect to see Doolubram in charge of the admninistration, when
neither His Excellency nor Nundeomar would be permitted to leave
Caleutta, which must bring inevitable ruin on bis adluirs.

“Tt was after this the Naboli told me that Mr. Vansittart had
been with hint a day or two before, and upon his (the Nabob's) being
very angry told him: *Sir, if you do not consent, we know how
to manage it; with which Fis Excellency being deeply aftlicted,
desired me to acqnaint Mr. Spencer of what Mr. Vansittart had
said, and bring back his answer. 1 told Mr. Spencer it was the
public report that His Excellency und Nundeomar would Le kept heve
and Doolubram be sent to the city to take chavge of the administra-
tion ; and asked him if therc were any grounds for the report.
Mr. Spencer laughed and said : *The Nabob's a foolish weak may,
He is hrrting both us and himself, and 7 will give him no advice.
Had he listened to me before he would have been long since at
Moorshedabad.’

“With this 1 acquainted the Nulob, who said: ‘ What a dis-
rresged situation am I in! I ww come to Calcutta where I have not »
~ingle friend, and because 1 love Nundeomar they are his enemies too,
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Tell him to come to me this night.,  Adding, in a violent rage : * Let
me once but get away from Calcutta and I shall then know how to act.’

“Not long after I went to My, Tinker, he asked me : ¢ Have you
heard the news, that the Nabob and Nundcomar are to be kept in
Caleutta ! Flad they been my friends who would have presumed to dis-
tress them ¢ The Nabol might then have returned with credit to the
city. Tf he will embrace it, he has good fortune still attending him,
My nephew Lord Clive is coming. Colonel Coote is my particular friend.
Mr. Spencer consults me in evervthing. In short, there is nothing
done without my approbation ; and should Lord Clive know in what
manner the Nabob has slighted ne, be will be very angry. Should 1
not stay till his arrival, the Nabol) would himself be convinced hiow
much his Lordship esteems me. On my goingBway I will leave the
necessary instructions with M. Spencer, and on my arrival in England
T will send for Colonel Coote-to my house and have some conversation
with him. 1 shall then have an andience of the king, and a few days
after T will present to His Majesty all my papers relative to this coun-
try. But there is one thing you must do for me, you must get a letter
from the Nabob to the King of Great Britain. His Excellency must
also give me a dress, with the proper jewels and sword, in which dress
1 shall wait on His Majesty to deliver the Nabob's letter; let me
know the proper hour, and I will wait on the Nahob in person.’

“T went to the Nabob and vepented word for word the above con-
versation. Mr. Tinker also visited him the next day, and related all
these civeumstances with his own lips to the Nabob, After he was gone,
Tremained with His Excellency, who told me ¢ that he found, unless he
agreed to the demand for the squadron, Mr. Vansittart would not
permit either him or Nundcomar to leave Caleuntta ; he must therefore
submit.' *Mr. Tinker, says he, ¢ will manage with the Council. Let
us see what he will do” In consequence, the several deeds were exe-
cuted ; after which Mr. Tinker told me that Mr. Vansittart had
applied to the Nabob for a paper acknowledging that his donation to
the navy was voluntary and of his own free will. ‘Do you,’ says he,
‘go in my name and tell His Excellency he will much oblige me by
giving an acknowledgement to me likewise.” This request I mentioned
t> the Nabob, but cannot say whether ever it was granted. All I know
is that, soon after, Mr, Tinker told me: ‘I am the Nabol's and
Nundeomar’s real friend. Why have they expressed the note in such
doubtful and ambiguous terms as render it of no signification ?
Mr. Vansittart has deawn up another; sce and get it signed by
the Nabob,’ i
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“ Afterwards when [saw the Nabob he desived I would immedijately
get a letter drawn up from him to the Company, specifying his several
grievances, and particularly his heavy sufferings on account of resti-
tution to the merchants and donation to the navy-—which letter went
home by Major Shirlock, Another letter filled with similar, but still
more bitter, complaints went home by Lieutenant Grant, who was
Secretary to Colonel Coote.”

At a meeting of the Select Committee, August 30, 1766,
Ramchurn, late Banian to Mr, Vansittart, was examined
as to the donation to the Navy. He said :- -

“yree.. But as Le [Mr. Tinker] conferred much oftener with Juggut
Chund and Nobkissep than with me upon this subject these will be
able to give you the best account.......”

Ramchurn said he took the Nabob’s Obligation (for five
lakhs) and letter to Mr. Tinker, who declared himself affronted.
He said :

“.o. T find that neither you mor Mr. Vansittart are proper
persons to transact my business.  You are not apon terms of friendship
with the Nabob. T will therefore manage it myself. Nundcomar's
son-in-law and Nebkissen, the Nabob’s Vakil, are here ; T will employ

Ramehurn went on with his ovidence up to the Nabob’y
arrival tu Calontta, Then as to Tinker’s affair, he said :

“a. How it was concluded 1 don't know, as it was entirely
transacted between the Nabob, Nundeomar, Mr. Tinker, Juggut Chund,
and Nobkissen,.....”

This body of evidence constitutes an unwritten ehapter
of Indian history, which, as alveady observed, hardly
needs to have its moral pointed. It is the first instance, of
which it is possible to discover traces, of the fleecing of a
Nuboh. Iis effect on the mind of the Nubob may be read
in the extracts ; and very likely the story spread and pro-
duced its effects on other minds also.

Mr. Vansittart, o olten mentioned in thegoe depositions,
had been appointed Governor of Caleutta in 1761, He
appointed Ram Churn Roy as his Dewan (or Banian).
He sent for Nabob Jafferaly Khan, Subadar, and Nahob
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Mozutterjung, Naib Subadar, from Moorshedabad to Caleutta
and removed them from the musnud for some faults they had
committed.  Nabobh Kussimaly Khan being appointed Subadar
removed from Moorshedabad to Monghyr and treacheronsly
killed all the Knglish gentlemen of Moorshedabad, Patna,
Cossimbazar, &e., and despatched almost all the nobles of
Bengal, including  Royrayan  Ommed  Roy, Maharaju
Ramnarvain, Raja Rajbullabha wid his son, and Jagat Sett
and his brother.  Jatteraly Khun, Mozufferjung and Maharaja
Doollubhram who were then in Caleutta escaped the general
fate.

Afterwards Major Adains went to war against Kassimaly
Khan. Nubkissen accompanied him. Ile founght a battle
at Oody Nulluh, defeated Kassimaly IKKhan and pursved him
across the nullal (ditch op eanal).  Kassimaly Khan, however,
managed to effeet his escape.  Nubkissen, fatigned with
incessant work under the order of Major Adams, was taken ill
and confined to his teut. The soldiers of the Nabob plundered
his tent and attempted to take his life, but he saved himself
by a darving feat, He jumped iuto the mellah, swam across it
and joined the British army.  Major Ading also, in conse-
quence of havdships and exertions) fell il Nubkissen and
Mr, Skinner wore bringing him to Caleutta in a boat, hut
unfortunately he expired on the way.

Mr. Vansittart embarked for Buarope hetore Lord Clive's
arrival on the 3rd May, 1765, Llis appointinent of Kassimaly
Khan as Subadar had proved disastrous and he had not the
heart to fuce Liord Clive. Nuobkissen was now employed as
the confidential adviser of Lord Clive as hefore,  After
consulting him, Clive reinstated Jafferaly Khan as Subadar
and Mozufforjung as Naib Subadwr,  Nubkizsen accompunied
{live us far as Allahabad on the occusion thal a treaty was
concluded with His Majosty Shah Alum and [lis [lighness
Nabob Shuja-ud-Dowlah.  He obtained from His Majesty on
the 2nd Showal 1179 Higeree (1765 A.D.) the dignity of
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Munsub Punjhazarce, three thousand sowar ov horseincn.
the title of Raja Bahadoor und a Palkee and many other
paraphernalia.  He received from His Highness the Nabol
valuable Khilats and other marks of honor ; and on the swme
day o Munsub of one thousand tive hundred sowar and the
title of Roy were conferred on his two e¢lder brothers.
Nubkissen  proceeded  with  Tord Clive to  Benares and
Azimabad, He cffected a  seiflement of the Province
of Benares with Maharajn Bulwant Singh, and of the
Province of Behar with Maharaja Shitab Roy, and came
hack to Calcutta with Lord Clive.

One dayv as Lord Clive was engaged in the Council
Chamber in consultationon the subject of rewarding the
wseful serviess rendered by Nubkissen, a Persian letter in
answer o one of Lord Clive's, arrived (rom the Subadar of
Avcot and his Lordship desired Nubkissen to read and explain
it. Nubkissen finding the contents to be adverse to his own
interests vemained silent for a moment, but was obliged to
interpret it, on being presseds The substance of the letter was
as follows : * It is my wish also that the war with the English
Company bemyg ended and a treaty concluded with them,
both the Powers continue on’ good terms, but Raja Nobo-
crishna, who manages the Cempany’s affairs, being the
son of  Dewan Ram Churn, the associate of my enemy
Monceruddin Khan, will obstruct the intended negotiations,
for which reason it isx needless o make mention of peace
during the continuance of Raja Noboerishna.,”  Clive, on the
letter being cyplained to him, desired Nubkissen to wait in
an adjoining voom for a short time. Nubkissen’s feelings, at
that moment of suspense, may well be imagined.  Great was
his relief whon Clive, after a consultation with his Council,
addressed him to the following effect : Why did you not
inform me so long that you were of such a noble family ?
The Company have derived great benefit from your
sorvices and laborious undertukings. Not knowing the rank
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of your descent we could not show you the respect due to it
From this day we appoint you Dewan to the Hon’ble
Company and title and vohe of honour, ecte,, shall he
conferred on you ghortly.”

[n the year 1180 Higerce (1766 A.D.) Lord Clive was
pleased to get a Ifirman or Mandate from Ilis Majesty
Shah Alnm, granting Nubkissen a dignity of Munsub Shush
Ilazaree, four thousand sowuar, snd the title of Maharaja.
He was pleased also to bestow upon him a Gold Medal with
a Persian inseription, us a testimonial to all India of the
regard which Lord Clive and the Hon’ble Company had for
his faithful and honest services, a Khelat with a precions
garland of pearls, a head-dress, a shield, a sword and various
other costly paraphernalin, including silver Assa and Sotta, —
mace and staff,—-still the insignia of the Sovabazar Rujas,
borne by their attendants when they go out on formal
occasions,  His Tordship allowedt him a guard of sepoys to
wateh his gate, and desived to fix for him a monthly salary of
Rs. 2,000, upon which Nuh«issen represented to Lord
Clive that through his Lovdship’s benevolence he was not -
under the necessity of receiving irom the Honorable Com-
pany such a large sum:per mensem, but that a monthly
allowanece of Rs. 200 might be fixed for him and his heirs
in perpetuity to preserve the status of his family. Clive com-
plied with his representation and had the kindness to conduct
him to his conveyance on an elephant, and the Muaharaja
came home in u grand procession, scattering rupees all
about him. He veceived the sum of Rs 200 every month
from the General Treasury as long as he lived, but the
allowance was not continued to any of his heirs.  Lord Clive
before finally leaving India in 1767 gave the charge of Govern-
ment to Mr. Verclst, and Maharaja Nubkissen continued in the
capaeity of Political Dewan or Political Banyan to the Com-
pany and discharged his «duties to the complete satisfaction
of the new Governor.
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A reference to the Gold Medal with the Persian inserip-
tion will be found in a letter of Mr. Tenry Strachey’s, dated
1793, which runs ax follows : -

Winn $rregt Loxbox,

The 8th Mey 1793,
Drar NOBKISSEN,

A few weeks ago, T had the pleasure to receive your letter, by
the Auropu, acknowledging the rveceipt of mine, and informing me
of the kind notice you had taken of my son,  Your finding a proper
person to instruet him in the Persian language, and sending your
own son to him often, arc very essential services, and for which 1
am much obliged to you. But there is one part of your letter which
does not mest with “my approbation, T mean that part, where
you say le shall command your purse. You know it is against the
Jaw for him to receive money “from any body, and if he horraws it
he will be in debt, which occasions the ruin of many young gentle-
men in Dengal. Tf you can teach hium economy, and prevent his
Leing cheated or imposed upou by his sevvants, you will lay both him
and me under great and lasting obligations. Although one reason
of his going to India, was, that he might grow rich, yet I hope he
will attain that object by degrees, und by means of his own industry.
I would rather, he remained poor all his life, than that he should
et money in any way that would disgrace himself and his family.

T am very glad that you continne grateful for the favors and
honors  bestowed upon you, hy owr  great and good friend Lord
(dive. When 1 see his son (who is a fine young man) I shall not
fail to deliver him your message. Lady Clive is well, but as she
lives up the country, I seldom have an opportunity of seeing her,
T have sent her your letter to read, as I know it would entertain her.

1 remembeer your wmedal, with the Persian inseription, and ap-
prove much of your preserving it in your family, as a testimony to
all Tndia of ‘he regard which Tord Clive and the Company hiad
for your faithful and honest services.

Tt will always give me pleasure to hear of your health and pros-
perity.  Write to me often, and 1 will as often send you my answers.

This letl v will be delivered to you by my second son, Edward
Strachey, wlom T hope you will favor with yowr advice and protec-
tion, in the same manner as you do my cldest son.

I pray G.d to bless you, What can T say more ¢

Your faithful friend,
(8n.) IexnY STRACHEY.






CHAPTER 1V,
ADVANCEMENT IN LiFE uvp TO 1770.

NuBKISSEN was now a made man. The steps of his
steady rise have been rapidly traced. In 1750 he was an
obscure youth, who was content to accept the office of Persian
tutor to Warren Hastings. In 1756, living in an obscure
village, Panchgay, near Diamond Harbour, he supplied the
English refugees there with provisions in spite of the prohi-
bition of the Nuwal.), and he brought them valuable informa-
tion relating to the Nawab’s movements.  In 1760 he became
Clive’s Munshi. In 1763 he was banyan to Major Adams
during the war with Meer Cossim. In 1764, as has already
been seen, he had acquired great influence with Clive and
come to be in his confidence.  In December of that year
Nuncomar, who was then Meer Jaffir's Dewan, sent two
lakhs of rupees through Nubkissen to Vansittart, as the
following letter will show -~

Belection No. 726, = Letter from Nund Coomar.
( Persian Department, No. 301.)
From

Nuxp Coomar,

To )
Y ANSITTART.

Received 26th December, 1864,

Upon wy arrival at Moorshedabad with His Excellency the
20th of this month, T applied myself to the regulation of affairs there.
I despatched to-day, the 25th of Jewady-ul-sany, on boats from the
city the sum of two lacs, balance remaining of the twenty lacs
on account of the damages sustained by the merchants. Please God
they will arrive in five or six days. A list of the several sorts of
rupees is sent to Nubkishen Moonshee, he will deliver the same to
you, ete., ete. —Rev. Long's Selections from Records of the Government
of India.
" Nubkissen in the early daysof his appointment under
Clive had little influence. In regard to that there is the
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evidence of Clive himself. In a Minute by Jolm Johnstone,
dated June 17, 17635, there was an insinuation that Clive had
received bribes through some subordinates, one of whom was

Nubkissen. He wrote :—

“The Select Committee have been pleased to lay before the Board
several narratives of Mahomed Reza Cawn and Juggut Seat touching
presents that have been made to sundry gentlemen by the Nabob......
We appeal to the world if Ramchurn Roy, who his Lordship certified
served him entirely to his satisfaction—if Coja-Petruse, Nubkissen
Munshy, Nundcomar, or any other of those able conveyancers
were to be seized and confined close prisoners and made to answer,
whether they willed or not, on cath to every ,uestion that a future
Committee or Governor and Council should put to them as to the
money their masters received.”..... ) :

Clive’s answer is worthy of note.?

“With regard to Mr. Johnstone’s observation concerning
Ramchurn, Petruse, Nundocomar and Nubkissen, the first was dis-
missed my service, the second turned out of my house and the third
put under confinement with a guard. All of them T look upon as
villains and I defy all or either of them to produce a circumstance to
my dishonour. As to the last, he was a man of no consequence at
that time and never entrusted with matters of the least confidence.”
- The admissions contained in the accusation and the de-
fence merit attention. Johnstone refers to Nubkissen as an
able conveyancer, and Clive has not a word to say against
his honesty.

Nubkissen stated in one of his depositions already
quoted that he was Foujedar of Chandernagore in 1764.
There is official evidence that in 1766 Nubkissen had
come to be recognised as one of the “persons most respon-
sible and whose characters and services merit consideration,”

as the following document will show :—
AT SELECT COMMITTEE, November 4, 1766.
“ Advertisements having been already published that the Hon'ble
Company’s Pergunnahs were now to be let upon firat leases, pursuant
to a Resolution of this Committee, bearing date the 2nd of December

' Appendix to the Proceedings of the Select Committee, 1765, No. 7,
? Bame Appendix, No, 8,
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last, ¢that the leases of the present Farmers should expire on the
tst day of November, 1766 ; that the present renters should in future
Le excluded, and that the benefit of the lands should be diffused in
the most extensive and equitable manner possible amongst all the
reputable Banians and black inhabitants of Calcutta,’ and divers
petitions for Jands being now presented to the Committee,

“ Agreed that the following list be selected from the great number
of petitioners as persons the most responsible and whose characters
and services merit consideration, and that they be desired to attend
next Tuesday in order the lands may be divided into lots and the
rents adjusted by the most equitable valuation.”

A list of 40 names is given, Nubkissen standing at the head,

During Clive’s second visit to India Nubkissen material-
ly assisted him in purifying the administration. That work
of Clive’s is described hy Macaulay as “one of the most
extensive, difficult and salutary veforms that ecver was
accomplished by any statesman.” And there are reasons
for presuming that Nubkissen rendered to him great
services in the accomplishment of that noble work.
He accompanied Clive to Allahabad when the Dewanny
was obtained, presumably on his advice or suggestion.
Naturally, honours came thick and fast on him. The Em-
peror Shah Alum was apparently more pleased with the
vecognition of his paramount title by Clive’s application for
a grant of the Dewanny than sorry for the virtual loss of his
empire. As Macaulay puts it : “ The Mogul was absolutely
helpless ; and, though he murmured, had reason to be well
pleased that the English were disposed to give solid rupees,
which he never could have extorted from them, in exchange
for a few Persian characters which cost him nothing, A
bargain was speedily struck ; and the titular sovereign of
Hindostan issned a warrant, empowering the Company to
collect and administer the revenues of Bengal, Orissa and
Behar.” The Emperor was pleased to confer on Nubkissen
the honours and rewards already mentioned, obviously in
recognition of the part played by him in conducting the
negotiations, The title of Maharaja Bahadur was not,
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however,. -assumed - by Nubkissen before the- 25th January

The position and influence of Nubkissen were now
assured. To crown his distinctions, he was, on the recom-
mendation @f Clive, appointed Political Banian to the East
India Company on the 16th January 1767. The following
is a copy of the official paper with reference to the appoint-
ment :—

Fort William, Jan. 16, 1767, at a Select Committee :

“ Lord Clive (President) vecommending Nobkissen Moonshee to
the protection of (the Committee,

“Resolved that, in consideration of his faithful and diligent services,
Nobkissen be appointed the Hon’ble Company’s Political Banyan, with
a salary annexed of 200 rupees per mensem, the same to commence
from this date.”

This was the last meeting of the Select Cemmittee that
Lord Clive presided at before his return to Europe.

Nubkissen secured for the Nuddea Rajas their title,  The
fact is worthy of attention us a proof not only of his absence
of jealousy towards men highly placed, but of his appreciation
of them and his desire to help and advance them. Evidence

of thig fact is to be found in the following petition :—
To
Tur Hox'BLE THE (GOVERNOR-GENERAL.
Twe HumpLr PeTiTioN oF Rasan NoBRISSEN.

That at the time Lord Clive went to Illiabad to visit the King,
Mr. Sumner applied to him to obtain the title and Julurdar palanquin,
ete., for the Rajah of Burdwan, at which opportunity your petitioner
requested the same title, etc., might be glso obtained for the Nuddea
Rajah and did accordingly pay the Nuzzurannah of ten thousand
rupees for the service of the latter; and Lord Clive on his return to

aleutta favoured both the Rajahs with the above titles, ete. When the
Nuddea Rajah mentioned that as your petitioner was not at all bene-
fited by the said title, etc., which is to continue to his descendants, he
thought proper to give your petitioner the little village or mohut-
tron land called Serampore or Moolajore ; but your petitioner made

' Forrest’'s Selections from the State Papers, Vol. 11, p. 480,
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then an objection to expect a gift of the Rajah, because he was a
Brantin, and therefore proposed that he would not take it without the
Rajah’s acknowledging the above ten thousand rupees to be looked upon
as an acknowledgment for such wohuttron ; and it was settled accord-
ingly to the satisfaction of the Rajah ; your petitioner obtained the
Sunnud in the Bengal year 1173 for the said village which in the
Bengal year 1171 was rated at no more than 625 vupees for the
annual juinmah,
(8d.) Nopxissew.

In a book called « The Nomenelature ” deposited in the
Record Department of the Government of India, Nubkissen
is deseribed as havihyg been “ Lord Clive’s Dewan at the time
of the clevation of Jafur Ulee Khan to the Musnud of Bengal.
He amassed an immense fortume on that oceasion and subse-
quently upon the acquisition of the Dewanee was placed by
Lord Clive in the most confidential situations.” There is no
doubt that ar this time Nubkissen was, if ever man was, a
pluralist.  He had charge of the fellowing Government offices
which he used to hold in his Sovabazar buildings : The Munshi
Dajter (Persian Secretavy’s Oftice), Arebegi Daftar (Petition
receiving office), Jatimala Kachari (Tribunal for hearing and
deciding cases relative tocaste), tho Monoy Godown (or Com-
pany’s Treasury), tho Mal Adalat (Financial Court) of the
24-Purganas, Tahsi! Daftar (Office of Collector) of the
24-Parganas.  As o humorous writer has it : *Tt is not the
length, breadth, and depth of his titles, it is not the outward
signs of honor by which the importance of Nubkissen can be
correctly estimated. Rather the multitudinous and onerous
official duties which belonged to him defined his proper posi-
tion.. At one and the same time he held seven offices. The
Banian fo the Committee or Political Dewan, he was the
Persian Secretary, the Receiver of DPetitions, the President of
the Caste Tribunal, the Keeper of the Treasury, the Head of
the Revenue Court of the 24-Parganas, the Collector of the
24-Parganas, and what not.  With other years he filled other
posts, but whether they were, added to the old ones, or whether
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he had to relinquish some, is unknown, This we know that
over and above his regular duties he was frequently called on
to execute jobs. Besides his ordinary offices, he may be said
to have been a minister without a portfolio. What an index
these duties and more to the capacity of a single individual
and to the confidence reposed in him by his masters ! This
man was half the Government! How this Brobdignagian
official stalked amidst the puny administrators, including his
superiors, who divided among themselves the other half and
seemed ready to break down under its weight.”?

In illustration of the influence and *position of Nub-
kissen at this period, the following letters may be incidentally
rveferred to :—

Persian Department Proceedings, Letters Recevved, 1767 and 1768

From

Rasau Draram Puxmw

To

Mgz. VERELST,

Your servant has ab this time rveceived 3 lundred gold mohurs
from the Nabob Syfe-nl-Dowla, 100 from Mr. Sykes, 200 from the
Nawab Mshomed Reza Khan, and 50 from Mahah Rajah Mihindur
as a Nazar for the sacred presence. This I write for your Excellen-
cy’s information. Mr, Sykes and the Nabob Mahomed Reza Khan
vrdered your servants to provide a string of pearls agreeable to
cstablished custom forr Mahal Rajah Mihindur, which having got in
veadiness I delivered to them, who presented it to the aforesaid Mahah-
Rajah. Your servant has been favoured with no Nazar for sacred
presence on account of your Excellency, nor have any of the other
gentlemen delivered him any, Whatever Nazar your Excellency shall
think proper to present to His Majesty you will put in a purse under
your own seal, after the manner of the Nabob Syfe-ul-Dowlah and
direct the other gentlemen that they deliver their Nazars for His
Majesty to your servants after the cxample of your Excelleney.
When the Nazar shall arrive in the presence from the Nabob Syfe.ul-
Dowlah, Mr, Sykes, Mahomed Reza Khan and Maha Rajah Mihin-
dur and no Nazar shall appear from your Excellency, your own
superior judgment will point out you, what ideas will enter into His

Mookerjec's Magazing, April 1861, pages 146, 147,
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Majesty’s breast. A shukah from the sacred presence addressed to
your Excellency arrived with me some days since, and I transmitted
it to your presence accompanied with a letter from the Nabob
Minere-ut-Dowlah through the hands of Rajah Nobkissen. A 2nd
shukah is at this time arrived with me accompanied by another letter
from the Nabob and I now transmit it to you encloged.

P

Peysian Department Proceedings, Letters Received 1767 and 1768,
No. 32 :

From

Tie Nawas MENIRE-UT-DowLaAu
To .

VERELST.

On the 16¢h January I arrived at Allahabad and paid the duties
of allegiance to His Majesty. God is witness how heavy the hours of
absence have sat vpon your friend and how incessantly your praises
hang upon his tongue, May the Almighty soon raise a conjuncture
and create a cause which may again restore me to the society of your
Excellencies. My gracious Lord T have written you five several times
without having yet been favoured with a single answer. I entreat that
my addresses may be honoured with your immediate notice, and
that you will urder timely answer to be written.

T particularly request your strongest injunctions to Maha Rajah
Nobkissen for this purpose.

This letter is corroborative evidence that Nubkissen had
ulready been made a Maharaja,

Influence never fails to excite jealousy, and one is not sur-
prizsed to find that the eminent position und commanding
influence of Nubkissen at this time made him many enemies.
Men whose ill-feeling and designs of active hostility had so
long been latent, felt themselves encouraged to throw aside
ull reserve after Nubkissen’s friend, patron and protector
had left the country. Within three months after Clive had
left India complaints were preferred against Nubkissen to
the Select (lommittee, One Ram Nath Das complained of
extortion practised on him by Nubkissen, and two men, Ram
Sunar Ghose and Nemoo Gangoolee, charged him  with hav-
ing violated the wife of a Brahmin., The Select Committee
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caused both the charges to be thoroughly enquired into. They
were found to be false, Nubkissen was acquitted, and the
complainants and their abettors were ordered to be punished.
It transpired in the course of the inquiry that at least one
of the complaints, that of outrage on a woman, had been
instigated by Nuncomar. Nubkissen had already been
brought into relations with Nuncomar, but it will be con-
venient to reserve for sepurate notice all facts concerning
Nuncomar and his trial (which had not yet come) that may be
relevant to this biography. Concerning the charges just
referred to, the enquiry held and the decision arrived at, the
best that can be done is to let the following original docu-
ments speak for themselves—-
Ar SprLrcr CoMMITIEE ON APRIL 18, 1767,

The Hon'ble the President lays before the Committee the
following petition presented to him by Nebkissen Moonshy.

To

Tue Hox'BLE HarRRY VERELsT, Esq.,
DPresident and. Governor, &e., &e., of Fort Willium.
THE MEMORIAL 0F NOBOKISSEN OF CALCUTTA.
HuMBLY SHEWETH,

That it is with the utmost difficulty and reluctance your Petitioner
is reduced to the disagreeable necessity of begging your Honour’s
patience for the perusal of the following, which nothing but the most
dear and valuable of all earthly privileges, the defence of his charac-
ter, could have made him thus presume to trouble you with, at the
same time hopes his conduct has been and ever shall be, unblameable
before your eyes,

Your Memorialist, the first time Lord Clive was in Bengal during
the Government of the Nabob Surajah Doulah, was employed and
-entrusted with all private engagements made between the Nabob
Jatfer Ally Cawn and his Lordship, also during the war with Cossim
Ally Cawn, he was from the beginning to the end attending on Major
Adams, and executed such services as caused his Lordship on his
return to this country to take him again into his service ; and as his
Lordship found him desirous of no other employment than that of the
public, and constant and faithful in the discharge of his duty, he was
graciously pleased to raise him to grest honours.
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Before hiz Lordship's departure for England, believing him to be
sufficiently experienced he [Lord Clive], made him principal Banyan
for the affairs of the Government and as a farther testimony and
approbation of his conduct, presented him with an elephant and
a medal.

These marks of his Lordship’s favour and esteem, together with
the countenance he has since met with from your Honour, by taking
him into your service, he has too great renson to fear has [? have]
drawn on him the resentment and jealousy of wicked and envious
minds, as the following facts will certainly evince, as they are only
calculated to depreciate and wound the man whose good fortune,
under the auspices of his Lordship and your Honor, has raised him
above the common and usual advances in life, and not, as they pre-
tend, to punish the guilty.

My enemies have in vain searched. for proofs that I raised my
fortune by bribery and undue means, in hopes that by such a dis-
covery they iight have been able to have ruined my character and
reputation ; disappointed in. this, their efforts are now extended to
more base and villainous ends, my life is now what they thirst after
and altogether indifferent about the means by which it may be accom-
plished ; for T canat this present [moment?] prove that two men, the one
named. Ram Sunnar Ghose, the other Nemoo Gangolee have, either as
principals or employed by others, been tampering with a Bramin’s wife
of Calcutta te accuse me of violating her; that this was the wmost
favourable time that could offer, and promised her a sum of money for
her compliance ; the Bramin ‘used his utimost endeavours to engage his
wife in this wickedness ; but happy for me she absolutely refused, al-
though her life was threatened to accomplish the design.

The present diabolical accusation against me is as follows: One
Ram, a goldswith, complained to me that his mother and brother-in-
law forcibly withheld his wife from him in their house, und not
only refused him admittance to her, but permitted another man to
vigit her, which circumstance if known he would be in danger of
losing his caste; therefore entreated me, as I had the charge of the
Caste Cutcherry, to call the parties together before me and settle the
atfair. T complied with his request, and after a hearing, the matter
was compromised to the apparent satisfaction of all concerned ; but
to my great astonishment and surprise, near twenty days after, T
found Gocnl, # brother-in-law of Ram, had presented a petition to
your honour, complaining that I endeavoured to take his sister by
fofce from his house.
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You, 8ir, referred the affairs to Mr. Floyer, the then Zemindar, and
directed me to go to Lim for a clearing up of this matter. I obeyed
and found Mr. Bolts with Gocul and Kissen, the two brothers.in-law
of Ram, there.

Mr. Floyer entered upon the business, when Gocul gave him a paper
written in English containing an account of the complaint made
against me, which Mr. Dolts declared was a true translation he had
made from the Bengnl [i]. Mr. Floyer having read it aloud, Gocul
swore to it, and signed it. Mr. Floyer then asked (iocul if he
had any witnesses, telling lim now is the proper time for their evi-
dence. Gocul replied: His brother Kissen. Aeccordingly, Kissen was
called in and sworn., M, Floyer was desirous of interrogating Kissen,
but Mr. Bolts interrupted him by saying Kissen' was ready to swear
what wag coutained in the written paper already subscribed and
sworn to by Gocul, Upon my requesting Mr. Bolts might not interfere,
lie bade me hold my tongue, nor desisted till the Zemindar ordered us
Loth to be silent. Mr. Floyer then took Kissen’s evidence and wrote
the particulars with his own hand. Afterwards I delivered my account ;
it being read, I swore to and signed it; also my witnesses for the
truth of every particular gave their depositions and swore to them.

When it shall be known to your Honour that there is a very
cagential difference in the depositions given by Gocul and Kissen,
notwithstanding they live in the same house and had concocted the
wliole affair together, and that Kissen, at the inatigation of Mr. Bolts,
would have signed and swore to the deposition given by his brother,
Giocul, had he not been prevented by my protesting against such
proceedings as unfair; also that the tenor of the petition presented.
to you, Hon'ble Sir, and the written depositions delivered to Mr.
Floyer arve very far from agreeing with the pretended facts alleged
against me, it surely will, T hope, be a sufficient proof of my innocence.
But should this prove insufficient for your satisfaction, I am ready and
willing at any time to subscribe to the most solemn oath, according to
the rites and customs of my religion, that I never, to the best of my
knowledge, from the hour of my birth to this day, spoke with, saw, or
have had any counection with either of the three sisters of Gocul and
Kissen, nor did I know that there were such persons in being, till
this affair was trumped up against me. )

One thing more I beg leave to observe : that it should have lbeen
the particular business of the woman injured to have immediately
complained and applied for justice, as the offence was of so heinous
a nature, and not have doume it by my avowed enemy, Mr. Bolts,
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nor have suffered s0 much time o elapse, contrary to the methods
in such cases; nor do Tas yet know positively who the woman is
that is said to be injured by ne.
All which T hombly submit to your Honour's consideration.
And your Petitioner as in duty bound shall ever pray.
(Signed) NoBOKIssEN,
UALCUTTY, bhe 10tk March 1767,

The above Petition being vead, the President also lays Dbefore
the Committee a memorial to the Council from Ramnaut, late
banian to My, George Gray, the subject of which the President thinks
comes more properly under consideration of the Select Committ
than of the Board.

To
Tie HovsLe Harwy Vienenst, Tsq.,
President vnd Gentlemen of Council wt Fort Willsem.
Hox'sLE Sir ANb SiRrs,

T take the liberty of presenting you' with this humble address
for two purposes, both which, I ope, will be esteemed to werit the
vonsideration of your Hon'ble Board. | One is, in order to put a stop
to the corrapt practices of a man who has been entrusted with the
management of transactions of the highest trust and of the greatest
importance to the affairs of the How'ble Company. And she other
is, in order to obtain justice of vestitution for the oppression and
damage done me in particalar,

The grievance complained of, is wy having to the wmount of
thirty-six thousand rupces extorsively cxacted and taken from wme
Ly Nobkissen Munshy, durving my late confinement, 2¢ colore officee,
availing himself of my ignovance of the Mnglish laws and customs,
He used to visit wein my confinement, and there Ly threats and
under various scandalous, villainons, and false pretences did demand
and receive from e,

Tu the month of Ograln o A ring, value s, 14,200,
Pous <o 000 Gold Mohups.
Choytyo v 100 do.
Badro s DUO do.

Torar 1,400, value=Rs, 20,000
With 2 Pgs. of Bootedars and sundry other
things given by his order to his people, value ,, 2,000

Torar ,, 36,200
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The pretences he made use of were that he would preserve me, or
get me excused, from taking my oath on the Ganges water before the
Beleet Committee that 1 might have the greater latitude for what 1
was to declare verbally ; that he would procure my releasement ;
that he would give me a Khelat and send me away again Déwan to
Mauldah, and that he would save my life, which T was to be deprived
of when he found it necessary to threaten me.

T acknowledge my ignorance of the salutary laws of Great Britain
in suffering myself to be thus imposed upon, as well as my folly in
having ever supposed him to be of such consequence to the Hon'ble
the Select Committee. Yeb as the well-being of the How'ble Company’s
alfairs in a great measure depends upon the impartiality and integrity
of those whose office does in uny way concern the administration and
execution of justice, or the.common good of the subject, [ humbly
hope still to obtain vedress, ‘and as I have heard much of the
justice of the English laws and am informed that the Hon’ble Court
of Directors have been pleaged to order that “1f a Native chooses
the decision of his grievances, by English laws, those and those only
must be pursued, and pursued according to the directions in the
Charter,” T am very desirous of laying iy case before the juries at
the next sesgions, where I am informed it is only cognizable ; but
lest the preferring in that manner my complaint against him while in
office should be of any detriment to the affairs of the Hon'ble Company
under his management, T hereby fivst humbly beg the permission of
the Hon'ble Board. And as the grievances I do complain of tend
manifestly to the evil example of all others the Company’s Banyans
in office, us- well as to the great oppression and detriment of the
Native inhabitants in general, I humbly hope, Hon'ble Sir and Sirs,
that you will please to grant me the permission required, that I
may be enabled to obtain redress and restitution of iy property.

I am, with the greatest respect,
Hon'ble Sir and Sirs, o
Your most faithful and obedient Servant,
Forr WiLLia, (8d.) Ram Navr Dass.
The 10th dpril 1767,

Ramnaut’s meumorial being read, the President observes that the
charge of venality and corruption contained in Ramnaut’s complaing
against Nobkissen descrves the serious attention and immediate con.
sideration of the Committee. That the strictest inquiry, he thinks,
should be made into the truth of the facts alleged, in order the
Committee may have the most satisfactory proofs of the guilt or
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innocence.of_a person who, in quality a political Banyan, is necessarily
entrusted with the Company’s most important atfairs. That Nobkissen
being likewise the President’s Moonshy, it becomes his indispensable
duty to be well satisfied of the integrity of & man in whom he un-
avoidably reposes wmuch confidence, and that any reluctance to hear
complaints against Nobkissen, or backwarduess to redress the griev-
ances of these who have been injured by him, will deeply reflect
upon the honour and justice of the President wnd Committee. For
this veason it was that he sent for Ramnaut and examined him upon
the facts set forth in his memorial, not one of which he finds Ram-
naut can support by a single proof or evidence, the whole charge rest-
ing npon his single assertion.

The President further acquaints the Committee it was with the
same view he made inguivy into the other charges brought against
Nobkissen, although they did not so inmmediately affect his character in
a public station ; since conviction of his guilt in one instance wounld
serve to corroborate the facts urged by Ramuaut, and render
Nobkissen nnworthy of the Committee’s protection, That he has
the greatest reason to believe that the whole story of Nobkissen’s
having violated the wife of & Bramin has been malicionsly forged
hy Nobkisven’s enemies with intention to ruin him.

That the other charges brought against Nobkissen of his having
forcibly carried off the wife of Ram, a goldsmith, appears to be
equally void of truth, and to-spring from the same principle of jea-
lousy and resentment, as the Committee will perceive from the
Zemindar’s report of this transaction, which he now snbmits to the
consideration of the Board :—

“Sir,— Herewith T send you the information and deposition of the
several persons who appeared before me in consequence of a complaint
made against Nobkissen. On perusal of them, T daresay you will be of
opinion with me that it is an accusation maliciously invented to
depreciate his character and to entail a general odium upon him, as
there is not a single circumstance in the said depositions that can
even create a suspicion of his having had the informant’s sister at
his House.

“As Iamnot now Zemindar, I have no longer the power to
officiate as snch in the punishment I think is dve to the informant
and his beother ; but T will explain the case to Mr. Aldersoy, the
present Zemindar, that e may proceed therein as he thinks proper.

"¢ After.you have done, Sir, with the information and depositions,
I shall b obliged to you if you would be pleased to return them to
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me, that they way be given to the present Zemindar. The inforwa-
tion and Nobkissen's deposition were Loth brought to me written in
the English language, which after having been read and explained to
the informant and deponent, they both took their oaths to and signed.
The others were taken in my presence.”
I have the honour to be, Sir,
Your most obedient, humble Servant,

ITth February 1767, Cnarces Frovee.

The President further observes that, whatever his own sentiments
may be, he thinks it necessary the Committee should make the
strictest inquiry into the facts above represented, by calling before
them Ramnaut and the other accusers, that, if Nobkissen should
appear to them guilty of any part of so heinous % charge, he may be
immediately dismissed from his employments, and otherwise punished
with the most exemplary severity. But that, if on the contrary his
innocence should become manifest and his'repntation be cleared to the
entire satisfaction of the Committee, they would then take the neces-
sary measures for his protection, and the punishment not only of the
infamous aceusers themselves, butof all who shall appear to have
assisted, instigated, promoted and encouraged so villainouns an attempt
against the life and character of a servant of the Hon’ble Company
acting in so high and important & station.

The President concludes with acquainting the Committee that
having reason to believe Rammaut, the Bramin, and other accusers
upon this occasion, are the tools and instruments of a concealed
faction, he had ordered them under a guard, to prevent their being
tampered with and instructed in their evidence, until they could be
examined by the Committee.

Upon this representation from the President, "the Committee
_ judge it necessary to their own honour that Nobkissen’s accusers
should be examined before them.

Accordingly, Rammaunt, being called upon, had the following
questions proposed to him by the President ;:—-

¢.—In your memorial to the Council you accuse Nobkissen of
taking and extorting from you money and effects to the amount of
36,200 rupees. In what manner, and for what purposes, was this sum
taken from you?

4.—When I was first under confinement, Nobkissen sent to me,
and told me to give him something and he would procure my releage,
To which I answered by desiring three days to consider of it, and at
the end of that time I consented to give him 25,000 rupees,
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@.—Who brought you the message from Nobkissen ?

A4,—He was a light-coloured man ; but 1 did uot know hiw, nor
have I seen him since this transaction happened.

Q.—DBy whom did you return the answer that you would give him
25,000 rupees ?

1.—By the same man who brought the message.

().—Did that man stay with you for the three days which you
took to consider your answer ?

d.--No ; he came three days successively.

().~—Did you ever ask the man his name ?

A.-—T believe Tdid ; but I do not recollect what it wax,

(}.—Did you enquire his employment ?

A--—Yes ; it was that of a Sivcar.

@.—You say in your memorial that Noblkissen took from you
a ring worth 14,200 rupees. ' Tu what manner was this ving taken,
and to whom did you deliver it'?

A.~~One day that Nobkissen came to me, he embraced me in a
friendly manner, and sat down with me, and desired T would bring
complaints and accusations against’ Mr. Gray., He likewise asked if
I received and understood the message he had sent. T replied that T
did, and agreed to give him 25,000 rupees. 1Tpon which, he said
“aive it me.” I told him 1 had not the money at that time, but T
went to my escritoire and took out the ring, which I gave him, with
anizar of two gold mohurs, telling him that T valued the ring at
14,200 rupees.

(—Who was present at this transaction ¢

A.~-Nohody. T was then confined under a gaard.

Q.~-How came you by a ring of so great value ?’

A.~-1 got it near Benaras, having purchased it from Curram Beg.

@.—Who is that Carram Beg ? and where is he ?

4.—-T believe he i gone to Delhi.

@.—You likewise declare in your memorial that in the month of
December 1766 he took from you 500 gold mohurs, ¥n what manner
were these mohurs taken, and for what purpose ?

A.—That was also when I was confined. I desired to have the
guards removed. Nobkissen answered that I had not yet paid the sum
I pronmised Lim ; to which I replied that I had only 500 gold mohurs
in cash, which T was ready to pay, and accordingly then gave to him.

(..—~Was there anyone present when you gave the money ?

A.—No'; there was no one present. The people were all sent
away, and I gave the mohurs into his own hands,
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@.—You also say in your complaint that in the month. of March
1766 you had a further sum of 400 gold mohurs taken from you by
Nobkissen, who was present when this money was taken ?

A.—T gave these mohurs after my release. Some of my rvelations
being then confined, I gave the money in consideration of their
freedom, 1 went to Nobkissen’s house, and J aggamoan, my Kisma-
gur, [ Kitmutgar ?] went with me, and carried the mohurs ; but, upon
my entering on conversation with Nobkissen he retired to a private
room and did not see me deliver the money,

Q.—Where is Jaggamoan !

A.--He is gone to Maulda.

¢.—You further allege that Nobkissen took 500 gold mohurs from
you in the month of August last, where, for whatpurpose, and who was
present when this money was given ?

4.—When Nobkissen returned from Patna in August, I visited
him and he told me that he understood I was turned a great -
merchant and had bought a_ quantity of cotton and other goods. A
few days after this conversation peons were placed upon my house ;
and in two or three days after I was conveyed to the Governor’s
house and kept there till 8 o’clock at night. Another day I was
carried there and detained till 12 in the forenoon. Upon this I offered
500 gold mohurs for my liberty, upon. which Nobkissen sent to
order away the peons from my house.

¢.—Did you ever acquaint any person of the sums extorted from
you by Nobkissen ?

4. - Yes ; Iinformed my own servants and several other persons.

¢.—Can you name any one to whom you gave information ?

A,—1I cannot recollect any person in particular,

@.—You say you were ordered by Nobkissen to give presents to
the amount of 2,000 rupees to his servants. Was it by his order ?

A.—~No, it was not by his orders; but I gave presents to his
people in value 2,000 rupees.

¢.—You say you gave the ring in the month of November 1765.
Why did you not complain sooner of the money and effects extorted
from you ?

4.—1 was confined the greatest part of the time since, which was
the reason I did not complain,

@.—Did you not in the month of August come to Mr. Verelst
for leave to return to Maulda ? Did not you then owe him money
for goods formerly bought of him, and for payment of which. you

* were pressed, and did you not excuse yourself by pleading poverty ?
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Why did not you then complain of those extortions by which you
were impoverished and prevented from discharging your just debts ?

A.—1 was afraid of Nobkissen.

¢.—You know that Nobkissen is still in the same employment.
Why are you not afraid of him uow as well as then ?.

A.—1I am in hopes of obtaining justice from the Governor, who
acts under God.

@.—Have vou been advised by anyone to prefer this complaint ¢

A.No, it is voluntary ; but, entering on the 5th day of this
month into the service of Mr. Bolts, I velated my case to him. He
said it was very hard, advised me to complain to the Governor of
Couneil, and drew up iy paper of complaint.

Q.—TIn what particular station do you serve Mr, Bolts ?

A.~TI was entertained to collect ontstanding balances in Poornen
and other places, on promise of being paid 100 rupees per month ;
but I have not yet received any wages.

¢).—Have you yet done any business for Mr, Bolts ¢

A4.—No, 1 have not. T have only gone to his office to make my
compliments.

¢.—Have you anything further to allege agninst Nobkissen 1

A4.—No, I have not.

Nobkissen was then called in, and the above evidence being dis-
tinetly read to him and Ramnaut, he is desived to speak what he has to
ofter in his own defence. 'Nobkissen accordingly eonfesses that when
he went by Lord Clive's order to Ramnaut about the money he was
directed by the Governor and Council to refund to the inhabitants of
Maulda, he then received from Ramnaut a nizar of two gold mohurs.
He also received from him at another time a nizar of two or three
pieces of cloth. That as to the ring, he calls upon Ramnaut to pro-
duce asingle proof that he ever had or was seen to have such a ring in
his possession. The names of all the servants of his family at that
time stand registered in his books. He desires they may all be
called upon to declare whether they ever saw the ring mentioned
or whether they, or any of them, ever carried any demands for money
from him upon Ramnant ; or whether they knew that he had receiv-
ed such sums, ur had ever seen an entry in his books of such presents
as Ramnaut alleges. Further offers to give a restitution bond to the
Committee to the amount of 36,200 rupees—nay, of his whole fortune,
should Ramnaat be able to prove that he ever received or obtained
from him by presents or otherwise to the value of a single rupee more
than the 2 niohurs and pieces of cloth already mentioned ; and he
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very justly remarks the inconsistency that appears in Rammaut’s
complaint. Rammnaut was directed by the Council to vefund 27,000
rupees. This was in November. Tle was confined until he could give
security for that sun., Therce was no other cause, nor can he ( Ram-
naut ) mention another cause assigned for his confinement, Ile
musb acknowledge that he could not either pay or give security for
the payment of 27,000 rupees, which would have procured his free-
dom ; and yet he now alleges that he gave Nobkissen to the amount
of 36,200 rupees only to intercede for his release. Nobkissen con-
cludes his defence with these words : “ After he had corrupted me
with more than the sum he was ovdered to refund, he was still subject
to the demand; whereas by a proper application of his money he
might have served every purpose without assistance from me. What
probability, gentlemen, is there in this story ¢ you are the judges.”

Nobkissen having finished his defence, Ramnath is told that
every particular of his accusation being ilatly denied by Nobkissen
and rendered very fmprobable by some circuwmstances pointed ont by
the defendant, it now becomes mecessary he should produce some
proofs of the truth of his clarge, which hoe might bring with as much
appearance of truth against auny other man as Nobkissen. And,
being asked whether he had any proofs, he answers that he has none,
for that the whole transaction was carvied on with the greatest
privacy.

Ramnath was then ordered to retive.

Nobkissen desiving that Conytacoor {Kanai Thakuy 7] the Bramin,
his wife, and the evidences mentioned in his petition, might be examined
by the Committee, hefore they came to any Resolution, they were ac-
cordingly called in, and the Bramin, being asked if he had any matter of
complaint against Nobkissen, replies no, that he has nothing himself to
allege, but that he had been much pressed and solicited by Ramsannor
Goge and Nemo Gongolee to accuse Nobkissen of violating his wife.
That he had been sent for by Nundcomar, who desired Le would
complain of Nobkissen to the Board, and said he would assist
him with money in the meantime, and when the affair was over,
give him 25,000 rupees to compensate him for losing caste. e
further declares that, wrought upon by Nundeomar’s promises and
the persuasions of Ramsannor Gose and Nemo Gongolee, he used bhis
utmost endeavour to prevail on his wife to accuse Nobkissen ; but
she would never give her consent to be the instrument of ruining an
innocent man, and that, when he asked Ramsannor Gose and Nemo
Gongolee for what purpose they would have him accuse Nobkissen,
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their answer was that he would be sued for carrying away the gold-
smith's wife, and this fresh charge would add a link to the chain.

The Brawin having finished his declaration, Ramsonnar Gose
was called in, and being informed of the pavticulars of the Bramin's
declaration, was asked what he had to reply in Lis own defence.
Accordingly he confesses that he has been to the Bramin’s house, that
he knew of Newo (fongoler’s attempt to bring the Bramin's wife to
accuse Nolkissen, but that he himself never interfered in the business
or spoke wpon tae subject to the Bramin or his wife,

To confront Ramsannor Gose the Bramins wife is called in.  She
declares that she never was any way injured by Nobkissen ; but that
Ramsannor Gose and Nemo Gongolee had used every endeavour to
persuade her and her husband to acense him. That Nemo Gongolee
offered to give her 500 rupees in joys [jewels?) and 2,000 rupees in money
if she would consent, and that Nundeowar and Nemo (Gongolee had
worked so mueh upon the mind of her husband by large promises and
offers of money that he (the Bramin) even threatened her life
if she vefused to comply.  However, that she still persisted
declaring that shie would never ruin an innocent person, and at last
finding there was no end to persecnting her, she sent privately to
acquaint Nobkissen with the designs formed against him by his
enemies.

Kissandebuss  declaves ~before the Committee that he heard
Nemo Gongolee soliciting the Bramin’s wife to accuse Nobkissen
and assuring hee that Nusdeomar would give her joys and 2,000
rapees in money if she would consent,

The same is also confirmed by Carterans, who relates the same
circumstances as the Bramin’s wife and Kissandebuss of the share
Nuandcomar has in this transaction.

The several evidences being now dismissed, the Select Committee
proceed to the following Resolution, viz—-

That the charge brought against Nobkissen by Ramnaut is
neither confirmed by proofs nor corroborated by circumstances, and
that it rests entirely upon the bare assertion of a man already convict-
ed of avowed perjury before the Council, and who appears to e instigat-
ed by a faction and impelled by resentment to make this daring
attack on the character of a person countenanced and protected by the
Government,

That, therefore, Ramnaut, as a just punishment for his having
forged and published a false, seandalons, and malicions libel, be sent
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out of (aleutta and delivered over to the Country Govermment to
make good to the inhabitants of Manlda the several snms he extorted
from them, agreeably to the following Resolution of the Council the
30th day of December 1765 : “The Board, baving perused and
considered the scveral proceedings alveady taken and recovded, are of
opinion that Ramnaut appears to be a notorious villain, having
certainly taken several sums of money from mauy people in the
Province of Bengal by extortion and violence, and committed crimos
for which he deserves the wmost exemplary punishment. This eir-
cumsatance, however, the Board vefer for further consideration and for
the present Resolve that he shall vefund to the different people the
whole that he had collected from them,”

That Mr. Willlam Bolts appears from wany circumstances to be
deeply concerned in the conspiracy to ruin Nobkissen’s character
and attempt his life; in which opinion the Committee are con-
firmed by his violent and declared resentment to Nobkissen by the
share he took in stirring up and instigatiug a prosecution against
him in the Zemindary Court npon an imaginary and false aceusation ;
and particularly from his taking at this juncture into his service Ram-
naut, & man who stands publicly convieted of perjury, with a view
of forging and  publishing further aspersions upon Nobkissen’s
character.

That Mr. Bolts, having on this and many other occasions endea-
voured to draw an odinm upon the administration, and to promote
faction and discontent in the settlement, has rendered himself un-
worthy of any forther indulgence from the Committee and of the
Company’s protection. ‘Ihat, therefore, he he directed to quit Bengal
and proceed to Madras on the first ship that shall sail for that Pre-
sidency in the month of July next in order to take his passage from
thence to Europe in September,

That Nundecomar, appearing to have promoted. instigated, and
forged accusations against Nobkissen by large promises of money
and presents, witha view of gratifying his personal vesentment and
indulging an intriguing disposition, shall be ordered by the President
strictly to confine himself to his own house, and in future to avoid
such practices, on pain of forfeiting the Company's protection and
being delivered over to the (iovernment for such punishment as his
erimes may he thonght to deserve.

That the zemindar be desived by the President to inflict such
punishment upon Ram the goldsmith, and the other evidence upon that
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vecasion, as he shall think due to the base attempt to ruin the
character and take away the life of an innocent person.

And lastly, that Ramsonnar Gose, Nemo CGongolee, and the
other instruvients and ageuts employed by Nundcomar to stir up and
carry on this prosecution, shall he publicty tlogged and then turned
out of the settlement.”

[neidental testimony. of a striking kind, of the influence
of Nubkissen and of the jealousv  roused by it. is to be
found in «a letter alleged to have been written by Nawab
Nudjum-ul-Dowlai to Nuncomar, dated April 1766,

Translation of a Letter from the Nabob Nudjuwm-ul-Dowlah to
Maharajah Nund Uoon.\er, dated the 27th of Showal of the 7th year
(the Bth of Apwil, 1776). [ Appendix to the Fifth Report. 12, ]

1 had the pleasure to_receive vour-letter and rejoice to hear of
your welfave, Thank God T am also welll 1 met Lord Clive (the
Nubob Ameer-el-Moumalik Habut Jung Bahadoor) and Gieneral Carnace
(Munsoor-ul-Muluk General Baliandoor) at Plassey and they received
me very kindly.  On the 24th instant (the 5thoof April) his Lordship
the General and Mr. Sykes avriyed at the Killa. The Begum, my
wother, vent Hajee Saaudut to call those gentlemen to ber, and after
much solicitation prevailed outhem to aceept from her a paper under
her seal for five lacks of rupeesin jewels, rupees and gold mohurs ;
this I have written for your information. With regard to what you
write e, that T should wake kuown wy requests to his Lordship
through the General, 1 will follow yonr advice, but Nobekissen Moon-
shee, having waited on me about business, made many professions of
fidelity and attuchment to me and then came in a roundabout manner
to the puint and spoke much of the great confidence reposed in him by
his Lordship. 1In short, from the tenor of his  conversation,
it appears that there is no one in  greater credit with his
Lordship than he is: accordingly he said to e “Suoeh of the Faglish
Counsellors and gentlemwen of rank as were wy friends I have caused
to be raised to dignity and reputation by his Lordship, and M.
treorge Gray and others, who, through their pride and self-sufticiency,
did not consider me buat bore an enmity towards e, them 1 have
caused to be in snch a manner discredited and debased that they have
been turned out of their employments and are gone to Europe. In
like manner Mi, Swmner, who was my enemy, [ have caused to be
totally disregarded and neglected.  As his late Excelleney looked upon
ne as a faithful dependent of his own, and showed me much favour,
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so do you also regard me as one of your servants and well-wishers,
and freely acquaint me with all your wants and by che blessing of
God T will accomplish them. T am your well-wisherand 1 will do
for you what is not in the power of any one else.”

As you, my friend, are much better acquainted than { am with
the situation and ciremmstances of persons in Caleatta, 1 beg you will
speedily inform me, whether what Nobekissen has been telling me of
his own consequence and relutive to Mr. Sumner and Mr, Gray, ete,
in really trae or not and speedily give me your advice in what
manner 1 should behave to him and what presents I should
make him. Although he professes attachment for me and desires me to
employ him in the management of Wy concernse yet as I am credibly
informed that he is closely conunected with the Naib ( Mohamed Reza
Khan) that the Naib hag paid-him very handsomely and is often
sending him various kindsof goods and he ix in consequence sincerely
attached to him and is frequently engaged aiight and day in consulta-
tion with him, I therefore do not give any credit to the professions he
makes me, nor will 1 knowingly suffer myself to be imposed npon,
Consider this matter maturely, and write me your advice concerning
it and T will act accordingly.

The substance of the letier and the tainted source [rom
which it comes, namely Nuncomar, make it doubtful if it s
genuine, and, assuming that it is genuine, if it Is veracious,
It was enquired into by the Conunittee appointed to inquire
into the nature, state, and condition of the Nast India (lom-
pany, and the Tifth Report sets forth the depositions of
Mr. Francis Sykes and Lord Clive, It is best to quote the
ipsissima verba of the distinguished deponents,

Sune 18, 1773, fvidence of Francis Sykes, fwy.

“ Was you present with Lord Clive and General Carnae, the 8th
of April 1766 at any visit paid to the mother of Nudjum-ul-Dowlah 77

“I was there upon a visit with Lord (live; cannot recollect
whether General Carpnac was there or not--there was a third person.”

“ What passed therce #°

“ After the usual complinients, the mother presented to his Lord-
ship a teep for the snm of (T think) five lakhs of rupees, declaring at
the same time that she kad rescrved it for his Lordship’s own use by
the particular request of Mcer Jaflier hefore his decense, and that the
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Nabob lad intended to have presented it himself in -case he lad
survived till his Lordship’s arrival.”

“Did you speak the language sufficient to understand all that
was said ?”

“I did ; and was the person myself that interpreted ; there was
another person present, who understood English as well as Persian ;
his name was Nobekissei.......”

Fifth Beport, ete.: Fvidence of Captain Swinton (p. 546) :—

“ Do you believe this letter, upon viewing it with all its circum-
stances, to be a genuine letter from the Nabob Nudjum-ul-Dowlah to
Nundcomar ?”

. . . . . -

“ I have some doubts about it, but wish to consider it more aut
leisure before T give an opinion. T think it unlikely that the Nabnb
would write to Nundeomar.in tlie style he does concerning Nobokissen
as giving him information, which I should suppose he was well ac-
quainted with befure, Nokbokissen having heen long in Nundcomar’s
service.

“Was Nobokissen wade a Rajah7”

“1 have heard so, and beligve he was.”

1 the issues as to the genuineness and the trathful-
ness of the letter are left undecided, the Ffact can only
be regretted. A certuin conclusion is  possible only on
certain evidence, and if the available evidence ix indecisive,
the idea of a definite verdiet must he abandoned.

Ten yeurs helore Nuncomar’s case, another Hindu, not a
Beahmin, however, but a kayasth, had been tried for forgery,
convicted and sentenced to death.  The  Native inhabitunts
of Culeutta <ubmitted two petitions praying that the prisoner
might be recommended to His Mujesty for merey. The
first, signed hy 94 persons, ix evidenced hy the Tollowing
record —

At w consaltution (Public Depordinent), Maieh 11k, 1765.

* T'he principal black inhabitants of the place send in the following
petitien in favour of Radachurn Metre under sentence of death for
forgery, soliciting we would defer the exeeution of the same and re-
commend the delinquent to His Majesty for merey.
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To rnr Howsre Jonx Srexcer, Esq.,

DLresident, &e., Council at Fort Willicom, Bengal.

The Humble Petition of the Native
inhabitauts of Caleutta togethey
with Merchants, Banians, and
others whose estates, interests, or
habitations are in any part of the
Kingdows of Bengal, Beliar, and
Orissa, within the jurisdiction of
the English.

BHEWETH @ -

That Your Petitioners, being informed of the condemmnation to
death of Radachurn Metre, grandson of Gobiftram Metre, formerly
Zemindar of Caleutta and a faithful servant of the English, for having
been instrinnental in writing a paper to procure him a sam of money
from Coja Solomon, deceaged, being under the most inexpressible
affliction aud grief, beg leave to throw themselves at your feet to intreat
you will show mercy to the unhappy ‘delingquent by using whatever
weans may occur to your goodness aud humanity to save hiy life,

Your Petitioners humbly vepresent that the unhappy delinguent
is one of the best families in the place who have filled confidential
employs in the Honourable Company’s service with fidelity to the
Honourable Company and eredit to themselves ; that this family is
numerous and connected with many considerable families in the
country ; that such an ignominious pundshment as that to which the
delinquent is now sentenced being inflicted upon him will draw ruin
on all connected with him by the disgrace it will bring upon them ;
and there is the greatest reason to apprehend the most dreadful
consequences to them from the despair which from the wmaxins of our
religion, they must be thrown into : so that in truth the punishinent
will not fall heavier on the delinguent han on all his friends and
relations.

Your Petitioners further beg leave to vemonstrate that, although
the delinquent has been convicted of a great crime, yet such punish-
ment was never known to have been inflicted for an offence of that
nature in this settlement before.  According to the laws of our
country, his crime is never punished with death, but with a fine,
The delinquent was therefore ignorant of the heinousness of the offence.
Having been brought up in the religion and opinions of Hindoos, he
could form no other notions of things but from their maxims and
cuatoms, These rendered his offence not wortal, and no instance had
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before ocemrred to inform hiw of the severity of the Buoglish law, of
the tenor and form of which the delinguent was so totally ignorant
that he did not avail himself of civenmstances which your Petitioners
are informed would have made greatly in his favour.

Your Petitioners thevefore humbly entreat that this Honourable
Board will ruke the unhappy case of the delinquent into a merei-
ful counsideration; and that they will intercede for the delingquent with
His Majesty the King of Great Britain, respecting the execution of the
sentence unti: His Majesty’s gracious pleasure is known.

And your Petitioners shall ever pray.”

[94 signatures are appended, the 71st being “Nubkissen Monsie™
(Munshi). ]
The second, sifmed by 95 persons, runx as follows :-
[ Janmary 29th, 1766. ]

“I'he ILumble Petition of the Native
Inbabitauts of Caleutta, together
with the Merchants, Banyans, and
others whose estates, interests, or
habitations are in any part of the
Kingdoms of Bengal, Bahar, Orixa,
within the jurisdiction of the Eng-
lish.

SHEWETH I

That whereas on or about the 27th day of February last past,
tadachurn Metre, grandson of Gobinderam Metre, heretofore of
Caleutta, Jemmauntdar ( whose steady attachment and services to the
English are too eminent to be so soon forgot ) was condemned to
death at the General Quarter Sessions for the Town of Caleutta then
held on the duy and date aforesaid, being indicted for and convicted of
a crime of which he is entirely inmocent; but for want of being
acquainted with the law by which he was tried, as well as the manner
of defending himself and proving his innocence is now fallen a vietim
to the malice of his prosecutor and his ewn ighorance,

Your Peritioners therefore beg leave to set forth the general
consternation. astonishment, and eveu panick with which the Natives
in all parts under the domination of the Kaglish arve seized by this
example of Rudachurn Metre.....,

[Here follows a long Avgument on the ease.]

v Your Petitioners therefore humbly pray this Hon'ble Board to
grant them a reversal of the said sentence, as it was pronounced out of
time, and grant the prisoner a rehearal, or, if that cannot be obtained,
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that they will at least respite the cxecution of the unhappy con-
demmed creature till report be made thereof to His Majesty of Great
Britain and his most gracious pleasure known therein. And, further,
your Petitioners pray that the laws to which they are to be subject
ruay be translated into the Bengally tongue, that they may be enabled

to know what will make them obnoxious thereunto .........
. Signed by 95 of the principal native inhabitants......... K

[ “Nubkissen Moonscy” signs. The list scems substantially
the same as in the previous Petition, and Nubkissen vccupies
practically the same position, if indeed anything depends
on that.]

The petitions have a value of their ownad illustrating
the life and sentiments ol those duys, and they wre also
relevant as they are hoth signed by Nabkissen.  The peti-
tions were successtul. The vecond proceeds

“In order to give these people the fullest conviction of our lenity
as well as justice, and in hopes that this wan’s condemnation will alone
be a sufficient example to deter others from the commission of the
like offence, which is not held so heinousin their eyes,

It is agreed to comply with their application, and that he be
accordingly respited till the King’s pleasure is known,

Ordered therefore that the Secretary do reguire from the Clork
of the Peace a copy of the proceedings of the Sessions and transmit the
same together with a copy of the petition of the inhabitants in order
to be laid before His Majesty,”

Some idea of Nublkissen's pecuniary  condition, of the
extent of his revenue jurisdiction and of his general position
in the country from 1766 to 1772 may be gathered from the
following items of account and remarks gleancd From official
records —

Accounts of Denagepoor Districts (April 11, 1765 to April 10,
1766).

“ By Charges General ..

Sunat Rupees.
Nobkissen, &, ... ... 1,806-1-10”
“Py money, borrowed at interest and paid to the following
people, viz: .. e
Sunat Rupees.
Nobokissen oo 4,000 L,
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Purnic CoNsurratioN, Janvery 20, 1767,
Lord Clive's statement of ¢ Kxpenses General of my voyage to India.”
Inter ali.
Received from Nob Kissan for 10 horses sold him e 3,000
Do. for the following nazer jewels and dresses sold,

viz., sundry dresses, small jewels and pearls w3000

L pallanqueen received from the Nabob of Muradabad ... 3,000

1 pallanqueen received from the Nabob of Arcot ... 1,500

10,500
Batta Spet. . 840

——

Rs. 11,340

{Probably, however, it is only the 10 horses that are meant to go

to Nobkisgen. ]

Pusnic CoNsoLTATION, dugust 26, 1768,
4 Cash Account of the Province of Calcutta and 15 Dhees.”
On the creditor side is thiy entry:
“Paid Nubkissen the amount of sundry dig-
bursements made by bim whalst the ‘collections  Rs. A, P
were i s hands e 1904 16
(Bicca Rs)
The account is dated Fonr Winniay, 30tk dpri 1768,
The Collector General of the time was Richard Becher.

Ar Skneer Commirree, Apml 28, 1770,

Was submitted “Chelat account for the Bengal year 1173 or from
11th April 1766 to the 10th April 1767, being the amount of a cess
collested for defraying the Annual Charge of Dyresses presented to the
people in public employment at the time of the Pooneah and on their
receiving any new appointment.” Transmitted to the Select Com-
mittee by Mr. Richard Becher, Resident at the Durbar, with other
documents, Becher’s covering letter heing dated Moidepore, March
28, 1770.

One heading is :

“ Nubkissen, Cawntoo, and people belonging to Lord Clive and
My, Sykes:

Nubkissen ... .o 750 [Sicca rupees],
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Like Account for Bengal year 1174 (==April 10, 1767 to Aypril
11, 1768).
Nubkissen and sundry people in the service of the Resident [Mr.
Bykes] :

Nuabkissen v 1,000 (Sieca rapees),
Gocul Gosual .. e 1500
Pedim Luchen, [Pudma Lo< hl.n 1 Nob-

kissen’s Paishkar S 21

Nubkissen’s and Goeul Gosauls Munchyq H62"
Like amount for Bengal year 1175 (=April 11, 1768, to
April 10, 1769)
Nobkissen does not appear under the heading of ¢ Public Servants
of Mr, Cartier and the Resident,”! but his naib does. Thus :

Baboo Ram Panlit e o 1,500 (Sicca
Pedun Luchend, [Pudma  Lochun '] Naib of
Nobkissen 3 voo 644 rupees).
Like amount for Bengal year H:()( Apnl 11, 1769, to Apri] 10,
L770).
« Public Servants of the Governor and Resident
Rajah Nobkissen v L2000 (Sicen
Gocul Gosanl, ete. ... 1,200 rupees).

A SeLier Commirtes, June 9, 1770.

Was read letter from My, Richard Becher, Resident at the Durbar,
dated Moidepur, June 2, 1770,

Refering to ontstanding balances, My. Becher writes :—“... The
gum of two lakhs and twenty-five thousand rupees rewains to be
settled by the Rajah of Nuddes and Nobkissen, &c., farmers, wheun it
should be paid by one party or other...... 7

A Senecer Commmrres, Seplember 15, 1770
Read letter from Mr. Becher (date missing) enclosing certain
{15) accounts, which, Mr. Becher says, ¢ Will exhibit as clear and dis-
tinct a representation of the collections of the year 1176 [=1769-70]
as it has been in my power to procure.” He says:
“...... Bosides the swms that have absolotely been remitted and

the extra charges that have been incurred, you will see the large sum
of 6 14,291-7-19-3 r’emuiu as o balance. Of this sum two lakhs and

! Ml. Rl(,hau{ Bec. er suu.e(:tlul My, Bykes on J.mu.uy 4, 1768,
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twenty-tive thousand vupees is from the Province of Aukerahs or
Nuddea, which the Rajah asserts was collected by Nobkissen and the
other farmers whilst they had the management of the collections.
Hitherte: Nobkissen and the farmers have given no satisfactory answer,
nor produced accounts of what they really  did collect. This they
certainly should be obliged to do, and to pay whatever halance may
appear Justly due from them; so that [ flatter myself at least & great
part of this sunr may he recovered.......... ”

Statement of Revenues of the Petty Mahals for the Bengal year
1177 (=1770-71), showing also the collection of the foregomg year.

Opposite the district “ Issapoor,” * Rajah Nobkissen ” is entered
in the column headed “ Names of the Tniookdars and Proprietors of

the lands.” Sicca rupees
“Net Revenue settled to heveceived for 1176 ... 4,463-13-5-0
“ (Collected for the year ... o L1760 0 015-14-10-0

“ Renission granted on aceount of the Famine
and dreadful calamity of the season
“ Balance for o Lo 1176 L 447-14-15-0
“ Nen Revenne settled to he w(,elvvd in 1177 ... 4,463-13-5-0
A A CoNSULTATION, dugust 29, 1772,
“ Exsract from the Proceedings of the Committee of Cirenit at
(asiibazar, the 20th Augnst 1772
That the following Districts and Mahals, heing in the hands
of reponsible pecple, shall continue to pay their rents at the Khalsa,
bt subjest to the Provineial Courts of ' Adawlut established at Moor-
shedabad, »iz7-
Badderpore, &c. . . Raja Gourdass.
Heckapore (or Hechapor e), &e, &e. ... v Nobokissen,







(‘HAPTER V.
ACQUISITION OF SO00TANUTTY,

Tr appears from a petition of Raja Nubkissen, dated
July 1773, that he had already been appointed Talukdar of
Nowpara and =ome other villages,  On the occasion of u
resistanee to the exercize of his vight< us such he submitted
a petition as will appear from the following proceedings - -

tract of the Proccedings of the Nhalsa of the 26tk July 1773,

Read the followtng Tetition from Rajah Nobkissen ;-

To the Worshipiul Richard Barwell, ¥sq., Superintendent of the Khalsa,
Tur Hemeew Peririon of Rasan Nobprissex.,
SHEWETIL @

That cne Bullick Abdul Wagad lately complained against your
Petitioner at the Khalsa, setting forth that your Petitioner was only
a Waddadar, but not a Talukday, of Noparrah, &e., villages, where-
upon Philip Milner Dacres, - sy, then Superintendent, summoned
your Petitioner to appey at thelChalsa and make his answer. Vour
Petitioner accrdingly waited there, und proved by the Nabob’s
sunnud that Le really was the present Talukdar of the said villages,
and accordingly on the 7th June last a decree was given in his (your
Petitioner’s) favour, since which your Petitioner received a Perwannal
from the said Whalsa to make the New Year's Pooneah., He dis-
patched the sanse with his people to the said villages to put it in execu-
tion, Your Prtitioners people arvived at the different villages and
made the Fooncah, but at the principal village of the said Taluk the said
Mullick and his people would ‘not perinit them to wmake the Pooneah,
pretending that the said village was his the said Muallick’s (Connah
Barry) or dwelling-house, which surprised your Petitioner to find that
he should make a dwelling-house of a village or market, the rent of which
your Petitioner regularly paid to Government yearly ever since he
has had the said Taluk, besides the assistance he has repeatedly given
to the said Mullick, by which he is o suffever of no less than seven or
cight thousand rupees.  Your Petitioner most huwbly begs your
Worship will b so gracious as to order the said Mullick together with
his people to be hrought to the Khalsa, where they may Dbe made
an example for disobeying the Perwannab and preventing your Peti-
tioner’s people from making the Pooneah.
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And your Petitioner as in duty hound shall ever pray, and so
forth.

The NSuperintendent referring to the Raylayvan and de-
siring hix sentiments upon it and the decree passed in the
enteherry and the usage on such ocensions, he delivered them
in the following words +—

Maha Rajah Nobkissen represented to the Ruler for the time
being at Moorshedabad in the year 1176 to the following effect : That
e was desirous of having a Tacoor Shewah, and that the means for the
support of it were wanting. He therefore solicited to be granted a
Talook in some place or other, the revenme of which he would
pay and through such a channel should attéend with content to
his. religious duties, The Ruler for the tine, considering his re-
presentation as tending to_a  commendable end, favoured him
with a sunnud for the Talinkdarvy of  Noparrah, &e. Three
years are now elapsed since  this happened, during which period the
aforesaid Rajah has annually superintended the revenue without a
single claimant appeaving ; but at this time Mullick Abdul Wahed
makes pretensions to the said Talluk and sets forth that Maha Rajah
Nobkissen has foreibly dispossessed him., Whereas the usages of the
eountry admit not the reversing of the orders of Rulers, Mr. Dacres
having this in view, decreed- Nobkissen to continue in the Taluck.
If the abovementioned Mullick reflects on his former right to the
Talookdarry, T submit it to you, Sir, whether the sum of 10 per cent.
on the Jumma of the Malgezarry shall be fixed on him or not, and
whether his houses and gardens on which there are no ryots, but
simply trees, should not remain in his possession.

Upon this Report the Superintendent came to the
following conclusion :--

The Superintendent obgerves that, whatever irregularity there
may have been in the first grants, yet the length of time which has
passed since those were issued, and the usages of the country in the
above sentiments delivered by the Raylayan, render it necessary in
established rights throughout the country not to make any deviation or
alteration, but upon the most mature consideration and under the
most weighty circumstances. It likewise appears that the grant
obtained of this Talluck has not proceeded from any particular or
private views of the person who solicited them, but merely for the
support of the religious and the ipstitution of a Tacoor Shewah ; an



RAJAH APURBA KRISHNA,



MagarasAR NUBKISSEN BAHADUR. 31

application to such an end evidently points out that no private
emolument has been the object. Having premised this, the Superin-
tendent proceeds to observe upon the other part of the Maha Rajah’s
sentiments, that under rights so confirmed it is usnal for persons who
hold them to make an allowance to such as are obliged to yield to
the orders of (rovermment—such an allowance as is estimated suffi-
cient for their support; and that the criterion at which it is usually
fixed throughour the country is 10 per cent. on the Jumma of the lands
granted away, and to continue to them small allotments of ground,
ten and twenty bighas, with their houses. That the Jumma of No-
parrah, ete., is rupees 1,832-12-11.  As this stipend, though agreeable
to the custom of the country, from the smallness of the Talluck affords
but a mean support and*will scavely preserve the late Talukdar above
the distresses of want, it is judged but equitable, as the Talook is an
improving one, instead of 10 to allow 20 per cent., equal to 360 rupees
per annum, Further, that whatever ground may be Kauridge, and
for which he can produce proper and authenticated sunnuds under the
Government seal, shall remain to him; and, to render his situation
further easy, that the ground that may be specified in these sunnuds
shall altogether be increased to 100 bighas; that an abstract of this
proceeding De transmitted to Rajah Nobkissen:—Mullick Abdul
Wahed, being called upon to answer to the complaint on account of his
raiging disturbance and opposing the order of (overnment to make
the Bundabust of the ensuing year and hold the Mofussul Puneah in
the village of Mullick Bung, replies that it is a separation that took
place long since, and does not appertain to the Talook. Being asked to
whom it paysits rents, he replies: to himself. It appears too obvious
from this that he would willingly evade a compliance with the orders
of Government and deprive the Talluck of a part of its rights by divid-
ing them from the other parts. The Superintendent remarks that this
is obvious, because no private collections are allowed to be made in any
place witheut the particular order from Government ; that, without
he can produce some order of this nature, he cannot be entitled in any
respect to the pretended right he advances of a separate collection,
On the 5th November 1777 the Board [ Warren Hastings
and Council] resolved “that Raja Nobkissen possesses no
legal vight to the villages of Nowparah, Chundaleah and
Baugmullick and decreed that they are the legal inheritance
of Mullick Ahdul Wahed ” who was to be put in possession of

them. The petition of Raja Nubkissen complaining of this
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order is u remarkable document. It eoxhibits his intelli-
gence and capacity of rveasoning, and has special interest
as an  autobiographical record,  The pefition runs  as
follows :—

Fort Winwiam, the 18th November 1777.
To e HoX0URARLE THE (GOVERNOR-(AENERAL AND CoUNCIL OF REVENUR.

Tne Humsre PETITION OF

Manarasa Nawxissex Banapoor

SHEWETH ;—

That on the 6th instant your petitioner received a verbal message
by his Vakeel from the SBuperintendent of the Khalsa acquainting him
that your Hon'’ble Board had come to a determination to dispossess
your petitioner of his Talook of Nowapara and to reinstate the former
possessor, Mullick Abdul'Wahed, theren.

That your petitioner wholly unacquainted with the reasons or
grounds whereon such determination i founded and not conscious
either of any defect in his original title or of having done any act
whatsoever to vitiate or avoid the same, humbly craves leave to re-
present the very great havdship and severe, though he submiits it,
undeserved reflection such determination if carried into execution
would be on him, and draw the attention of your Honorable Board
to the following brief state of facts which he humbly hopes and doubts
not will prevent the samce @ #x.

That your petitioner derives his title to the Talook in question
under a sunnud from Government in the Bengal year one thousand
one hundred and seventy-six or Tnglish year 1769, which sunnud was
duly granted to him according to the established custom of the
country in consideration of his long and faithful public services as per
note at the foot hereof (Reference A) and of his relinquishing at the
desire of Government a grant he had bLefore obtained of the Per-
gannahs Roymungal, &ec., which the Hon'ble Company were about that
time desirous of taking into their own hands.

That the said sunnud was afterwards, on a suit being instituted
by the present claimant to set aside the same, fully recognized and
examined, and duly and judicially confirmed, by two succegsive decrees
of the Superintendents of the Khalsa, the first pronounced by Philip
Milner Dacres, Esq., the 7th of June 1773, and the second by Richard
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Rarwell, E:q. (now a member of your Hon’ble Board) on the 2éth
July following, men whose abilities and experience in the laws and
customs of the country, your petitioner humbly presumes, cannot be
called in qusstion ; and who were then, in virtue of their offices, in.
vested with competent authority, and the only proper judges to act
and determire in the premises.

That ever since the granting of the said sunnud your petitioner
hath been in possession of the said Talook, hath duly exercised every act
of ownership therein, and regularly paid all demands and revenues
due in respest thereof, and confiding in the faith and justice of
Government Lath been at counsiderable expenses in improving the
same and in miking purchases contignous thereto, &ec.

That the granting of the said sunnud was the sole and voluntary
act of Government for the good-and valuable considerations aforesaid,
and in conformty to the established custom of the country in similar
cases, for time ymmemorial used; and approved (many instances hereof
among numberless others which might be enumerated, your peti-
tioner hath put down at the foot herenf Refevence B); wherefore, and
as in the obtaining the said sunnud ne imposition, frand or undue
practice whatsorver either has heen or van be imputed to your peti-
tioner, and as your petitioner has ever since complied with the terms
thereof, and of the said two decrees, he hwmably submits to your
Hon'ble Board that his right to the Talook in qustion is no ways
impeachable, And

Humbly prays that your Hon'ble Board, taking the foregoing
cireumstances into consideration, will be pleased to revise and reconsider
your proceedings aforesaid, and communicate to your petitioner in
writing such thirgs (if any) as may be alleged against his right, and
afford him an opportnnity of answering the same and more fully
elucidating and esrablishing the justice of the case if it shall be thought
necessary, and that in the meantime the said order of your Hon'ble
Board for the dipossession of your petitioner be either suspended or
annulled, as may be most consistent with justice, and as to your
Hou’ble Board shall seem meet.

And your petitioner shall ever pray &e.

Note.—Your petitioner's Sunnud and the two decrees above-men-
tioned are herewith left for the inspection of your Hon'ble Board.

[ Rererence A. ]

[This statement of services rendered by Nubkissen to the Company
from the year 1756 to the year 1767 has already been quoted and need
not be here repeated.]
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[RerERENCE B.]
Old Instances.

Under Jaffier Cawn (not the late Nobab of that name). —Chackla
Batorea, ete., Parganna Cattah, and Tegutchy, Radshy, Sawojal, grant-
ed to Ram Jeeban Rai. All the then proprietors turned out.

Under Nabob Mahobat Jang. —Parganna Arzah, now part of Burd-
wan, granted to Manick Chand.

Onder ditto.~Parganna of Burdah Chunder Chack, and Salima-
bad granted to Rajah Kerrill Chand and Raja Kissnaram, Burdwan
Rajahs. TFormer possessors turned out.

Ditto.—~Parganna  Buzergomeidpoor (under Dacea), granted to
Raja Rajebulleb, Sahamut Jung’s Dewan.

Modern Instances,

Under Meer Jaffur's first Government.—Cooloorah, &e., villages and
Talooks granted to Ram Charan Rai.  The then possessor turned out,
his representative still living.

Under ditto.—VFour anpas of the Jassore Pergannahs granted to
Sala Odein Cawn, who remained in qguiet possession during his life,
and his widow now enjoys it, Former proprietors dispossessed.

Under ditto.—Parganna Gumgurrah, &e, granted to Anando-
lal, Zeminder of Mysadal. “Anandolal since dead, his widow now
enjoys it.  The former proprietors dispossessed.

Under Meer Juflar's first - Government.—Twenty-four Pargannas
granted to the Hov'ble Company, and the former proprietors all dis-
possessed.

Under Kassim Ally Cawn's Government,—Grant to Colonel Coote of
the proprietorship of Gheretti, &e., as a Jaghir. Possession theveof
ordered to be delivered to Raja Nobkissen to whom he sold ii, by
Company’s geneval letter of (his year,

Under ditto.~Talooks of Bassai and Darbutpoor granted to Saum
Gihoge, and the then proprietors, refusing to quit possession, Mr.
Vansittart, the then Governor, gave his own Perwannah and sent
sepoys forcibly to tuarn them out, pursuant to the grant, which was
done accordingly. Mr. Vansittart’s original Perwannah is hevewith
left.

Under ditto—~Perwanna Beerah, &e., grantod to Ram Charn Rai.
The then possessors turned out, and Ram Charn’s son now in
possession.

Under ditto.—Mauncunda, &e., villages, granted to Sunker Dutt,
Madan Dutt's brother. [Former possessors turnced out.
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Meer SJaffur's second Government.—RBadoor, &e., Parganna granted
tv Raja Nun Coomer. The then pussessor turned out.

Nebob Seiyul Dowlah.~-Natpoor villages, &o. (part of Jessore) and
Talook Meergodai, granted to Hari Kissen Tacoor, and the then
possessors turped out.

Nundo Coomur was turned out by Lord Clive, and Sankar Dutt
by Becher—Dboth reinstated, &e., Nundo Coomar by Mr. Verelst, and
Sankar Dutt by Mu. Cartier, and now remaining in possession, ’

(8d.) NoBkisskN.

The discussion of the petition and the resolution on it
will show that Nubkissen's honour was saved. It was decid-
ed to reverse an irregular act of Government, hut it was also
declared thav this decision was not to be taken as a judgment,
passed against Nubkissen for any oppression or other mal-
practice. 1t was determined also to grant a compensation to
the Ruja for the deprivation of the grant which had been
made to hini.  The following papers embody the result :—

({0VERNOR-(ENERAL,

[ a1 sensible of the justice of Mr. Barwells arguments so far
as they respect Raja Nobkissen, and the formal act of Govern-
ment passed in his favour ; but I cannot admit of it in competition
with positive justice. The injustice done to Raja Nobokissen origina-
ted with the grant which it was not in the power of Government to
secure to hin, because it was against law, Tt was an infringement of
the rights of property confirmed by a possession of 125 years, ns I
am well informed, and could exist uo longer than the duration of the
influence which gave rise to it. It is therefore my opinion, in which
I persuade myself Mr. Barwell will concur, that the decree of the
5th Novemler do stand confirmed, but that at the same time a
declaration be given in writing under the order of the Board by the
Superintendent of the Khalsa Records, to both the parties, that this
act is the reversal of an irvegular act of Government, not a judgment
passed agairst Raja Nobkissen in consequence of any oppression
which may Ve imputed to him for it; and if it shall be the sense of the
Board that 1 compensation should be made to Raja Nobkissen for the
deprivation of the grant which was made to him and intended as the
veward.-of the public services, that this Deelaration be made to him at
ghe same time.
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Mr. Francis.

I think that the Resolution of the 5th November must stand con-
firmed, and that the Talookdar must have his right if he insists on it.
I acquiesce in the declarations proposed to be made to Raja Nobkis-
sen, and ag I understand the property is very inconsiderable, I suppose
it would not be difficult to give him a compensation for it. But I do
not admit of this asa precedent, aud shall invariably consider every
case as it comes before us on its own merits,

Mr. BARWELL.
1 entirely concuy in the sentiments delivered by Mr. Francis,

RESOLUTION.,

Resolved that the Decree of the 5th of November dostand confirmed,
Lut that at the same time » declaration be given in writing under the
order of the Board by the Superintendent of the Khalsa Records,
to both the parties that this aet is the reversal of an irregular act of
(tovernment, not a judgment passed against Raja Nobkissen, in con-
sequence of any oppression, which may be imputed to him for it, and
that a compensation will he wade to Raja Nobkissen for the depri-
vation of the grant which was made him and intended as the reward
of his public services.

OrpER. or- TiE KiIaLsa,

Ordered that the Superintendent of the Khalsa be advised ac-
cordingly and that he be dirccted  to report, if any, and what compen-
sation can be made and accepted by either of the parties and the
justice of (Government vindicated to both.

This was naturally followed by a petition from Nubkissen
asking for a valuation of the property he had lost and for the
grant of adequate compensation,

Fort WiLLiaM, the Dth December 1777,
Read the following Petition from Rajah Nobkissen :—

To
Tre HovpsLey WanreENy Hastives, Esq,

Goverior-General, and Members of the Counedl of Revenue,
Tur Huusre PurirrioNy oF Rasau NowoxisseN,
SHEWETH:—

Your petitioner humbly begs leave to represent that on
being favored with the Hon’ble Board’s Decree of the 18th Novemn-
ber he presumed to prefer a petition to your Honours requesting
a valuation to be made of the 'Talook of Nowparah, The reason for
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this request was that your justice might determine on a compensa-
tion equivalent to the present value of the said Talook, and that at
the same time the execution of your Decree might be complete in all
its parts, both in what related to your petitioner’s yielding up the
said Talook, and to his receiving an eqnivalent from Government.

As that part of yonr Decree which velates to his yielding up the
Talook has taken effect, and your petitioner has received the orders
of the gentlemen of the Caleutta Commniittee, he now humbly prays
you may, consonant to the justice of your decision, be further pleased
to send a peremptory order to the gentlemen of the Committee to put
him in possession of some parcel of the Company's own lands; and
that no difficulty may arise in the exceution of your commands, your
petitioner begs the infulgence for pointing out Sootalutty, its Haut
and Bazar, and Baug Bazar and its Sayr ; asajust and equitable
compensation at the same rate of revenue of 1,832 rupees per annum,
which is the Sudder Jummi. of the said Talook.

Your petit.oner humbly Tiopes the flow'ble Board will consider
the cireumstances of his ease, that while one part of their decision
operates against him, if the other part which is to operate in his favor
is not now enforced, their justice will be incomplete, and that in the
cyes of the whole country he will appear under their displeagsure, for
the act of taking from him a gift the Government had once made will
be notorious, and his faiv name will sufler; unless it ig vindicated by
an immediate and similar gift from the rulers.

Tor these rewsons your humble petitioner has adventured to point
out what he wili willingly and gratefully receive as an equivalent for
that gift your honours are pleased to change, though the value of it
may be rather under what he drew from Nowparah in the improved
state to which he brought it, yet if on a Jeriff of Nowparah your
Honours may conceive he has rated it too high, he hereby agrees to
pay such additicnal revenue for the land he requests as shall make it
a bare compensation for the lands he yields up. This he engages to do
that no obstacles may arise to his being put into immediate possession
or to the drawing out the necessary sunnud should your Honours be so

pleased.
And Your Petitioner, as in duty bound, shall ever pray,

(8d.) Nopkissks.
The follo \\'ing papers set forth the deliberations and the
conclusion:—
Read again the Board's Resolution of the 18th November regald-
ing Rajah Nobkissen. . . . L0 L L
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(GOVERNOR-GGENERAL.

As the Bourd are bound by a promise very solemnly made to
Nobkissen to grant him an equivalent for the land of which he
has been deprived by n judicial Decree, I myself shall very readily
agree to his proposal, because it cannot affect the property or rights
of others, but as T understand that Rajah Nobkissen still retains
possession of the Talooks of Nawporrah, &e., T hope that whatever may
be the Resolution of the Board respecting the compensation which
is to be made to him, the execution and even the notification of it may
remain suspended, until justice shall have had its course and he shall
have yielded up the possession of these Talooks of Nowporral, &e., to
the lawful owner. Upon this occasion I think it necessary to
remark that the Resolution of the Board of thé 18th November ex-
presses a meaning in some respect different from mine, although
in justice to the Secretary I must add that to the best of my re-
collection it wus dictated by me, and the error I am willing to take
upon myself, The words are: ¢ Ordered that the Superintendent of the
Khalsa Le advised accordingly and that he be directed to report
if any and what compensation can he made and accepted by either
of the partics and the justice of Government vindicated to both.”
This implies that w proposal should Le made to each party to
yield up his vight of possession. | had no idea of prevailing upon
Abdul Wahed to resign hig right, nor that anything more was
necessary than to make a compensation to Raja Nobkissen for his
losg, This is not material, but I hope L shall be excused in having
taken up so much of the time of ‘the Board in this explanation,
as in a judicial question T would wish that nothing may appear as my
opinion which is not strictly conformable to it.

Mg, Frawncis:

The Resolution of the Board of the 18th November is right, but
the order to the Superintendent of the Khalsa goes beyond the terms
of the Resolution. T do not think it material.

MR, BARWELL

T understand from the petition before us that the decision, sv
far as it relates to the establishing the former Talukdar in his rights
has taken effect, and is now in course of execution. If this is so, T
think the Committee should be ordered to put Nobkissen in possession,
but not otherwise as proposed by the Governor.

Resolved that the Committee of Revenue be dirvected to put Rajah
Nobkissen in possession of Sootalutty, its Iuut and Bazar and Baug
Baear and its Sayr at the rate of rupees 1,832, the Suddar Jumma
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of the Talook of Nawparah deereed to Muallick Abdul Wahed on
the 5th November 1777, and if un a Zerift of the Talook it shall be
found that the graut exceeds the value of the Talook, in such case
Raja Nobkissen stands engaged for, and is to pay, such additional
Revenue ae shall make the said Grant a bLare eguivalent for the
lands of which he is dispossessed.

Agreed that this Resolution be transmitted to the Calcutta
Committee with the following Letter :—

"T'o
Mz, Jonx HovLME,
President, ete., Provenciul Councel of Llecenve wt Caleutta
(FENTLEMEN,

We herewith transmit you a copy of our Resolution passed
on this day, on a petition which has been presented to us on behalf
of Rajah Nobkissen, which- we directyou to carry into execution
ag soon as he shall have yielded up the possession of the Talook
of Nowparah, etc., to the lawful owner, until which time the execution,
and even the notification of it, i3 to remain suspended.

We ate, Gentlemen,
Your most obedient Servants,

Fowr WiLn14M, ( (B3d.) WarreN Hasrings,

The dth Dicember 1777, l (5d.) Roup. BanwsLr,
(8d.) P, Fravcis.

On the Gth of Junuary 778 Ruaju Nobkissen subinit-
ted a petition praying for a sunnud for the mouzah of
Sootanutty, &e., possession of which had been deerced to him
in licu of mouzah Nowparal, After some correspondence
the sunnud was granted.  Details of the proceedings are set
forth in th: following papers : -

At A Councin (ReveNue Departmest), January Gth, 1778,

Read the following Petition from Rajah Nobkissen :-—

Translation of a Petition from Rajah Nobkissen,

“As I have not yet received a Sunnud from the Committee for the
Mouzah of Svotalutty, &e., which the Couneil were pleased to grant me
in lieu of Mouzah Nowaparah,and as T am apprehensive of further
difficulties wrising to prevent me from obtaining one, 1 pray that
fresh orders may be given to the Committee to grant me the Sunnud,
as also that they may be desired not to give Pattahs for any ground
within the sa:d Mabals, that disputes way not be yeeasioued Lereafter,



90 AcouisiTioNn oF SO0TANUTTY.

Agreed that a copy thereof with the following letter be trans-
mitted to the Caleutta Committee :

To

Mr. Joux HoLwme,
President, &e., Provineiul Council of Revenue at Calewtta.
(GENTLEMEY,

We lerewith transmit you the copy of a Petition which
has been presented to us by Rajah Nobekissen and desire you
will not give Pattabs for any ground within the Mahals granted to
Rajah Nobkissen.

Fort WiLniaM, We are, &c.
6th January 1778,

AT A Courcrn (Revesur Depawvrmest®, 1600 Jowuwary 1778,
(10VERNOR-(FENERAL'S MINUTE.

1 observe the draft of Sunnnd to Rajah Nobkissen, laid before
the Board last Council day, is not drawn ount agreeably to form,
as it inclades his engagement to make good any overplus which may
appear to be thereby given him on n valuation of the villages of
Nowparrah, &c., before held by hin, - Tam of opinion and move that
the Sunnud be granted according to the accompanying form, in which
the above clanse is omitted, and that a Muchulka may be taken that
if the present grant exceed the rents of Nowparrah, he will make up

the difference.
[Fori of Swwnud.]

Be it known to all Mutsuddies in present employ, or who here-
after may be Canongoes, Ryotts, IInsbandmen, &ec., &c., &, of the Mal
and Syer of the village Sootalootic and Baug Bazar and Hogulkoon-
dee, that the Talookdarvy of the abave villages, their Mal and Syer,
according to the particulars hereunto aunnexed, are in exchange for
the villages Nopoovah, &e,, granted to the high and powerful Mahah
Rajah Nobkissen Bahadre, to take place from the beginning of the
Bengal year 1184, and the said Rajah Nobkissen on his part shall do
whatever shall Le necessary and proper and customary for the benefit
of the said Talookdarry, conducting himself npon the principles of
justice, and in no wise neglect to give his attention and care in tlhis
respect ; and he shall so behave himself as to secure the satisfaction
and content of the Ryotts and other inhabitants, and by his good
management causc a daily increase of husbandry and prosperity, and
shall regularly and punctually pay a fixed annual jumma for the same
(excepting Ram Bazar and Roy Bazar) of 1,237-13-10 exelusive of
the Chowkidary Tax,
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And the abovementioned Mutsuddies, Ryots, &ec., &e., &e., shall
acknawledge him as the proper Talookdar, and not deviate in the least
ingtance from his proper and legal orders or counsels, nor require of
him a new Sunnud every year, and in this respect they must be at-
tentive and obey.

Original Jumma L LE3Z 00
Jumma of Ram Bazar,
&e.,to be deducted..}

Ram Bazar 441 2 10

591 2 10 {
’ » Raja Bazar 150 0 0

Jumma of Sootalooty, &e. 1,237 13 10

Particulars.

The whole village of Sootalooty, &c., 5 Mahals, viz 1~
Mal .. ... 1 Mahal
Haut Sootalooty T
Bazar do. 1,
Soobah Bazar b,
Charles Bazar 1y,
Raug Bazar, &e. e 2 Mahals
Baung Bazar 1,
Eoognulkoondee Al 1,

Ordered that the Sunnud he granted, and that Rajah Nobkissen
be required to execute a Muchulka.

Agreed therefore that the following letter be written to the Cal
entta Commitiee.

To _
Mr. Joux Houumr,

I'vesident, &e., Provincial Cowicd of Revenwe at Caleutia,

G ENTLEMEN,

Enclosed we transmit you a copy of the Sunnud which we have
this day granted to Maharajah Nobkissen, and desire you will see
that the same has its full effect; taking from him a Muchulka that if
the present grant exceeds the rents of Nowparrah, &c., he will make
up the difference.

Fort WiLLiaM, We are, &.
16th January 1778,

Sootanutty at the present day ix only a name, and 1t iy
worth while inquiring what it meant and included at the
time it was granted to Nubkissen. The Committee having
called upon the “Duan” [Dewan or Accountant] to report
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“what particular Mahals and Bazars fall within Sootanutty
Mahal, its Haut and Bazar, Bavg Bazar and Syer, specifying
the anmual Jumma of cach for the preceding 5 years apd
the present ycar,” an elahorate report was submitted.  The
following may be left to speak for itself ;-

Ar A Commirrer (Cane. REv. Com. Coxs.) Decenber 29, 1777.

The Accomptant lays before the Committee a Jumma Wasil Bakey
Account of the Hauts and Bazars of Calcutta for the present year,
agreeable to their orders of the 24th instant, and the Committee
proceed to examine the state thereof.

Jurma of | Kist o the
1189.

ond of Dgose. Collected.| Balance.

SootaNubty Btmondar [Becharany Mundle.. (16,689 14 9 | 8,346 0 0 8,624 (4,821 0 0

Boghuzar do. .. | Ottaram Metre .. | 1,112 0 4 856 40 180 376 40
[Baug- 3nzar.)

Oharles Buzar Bzardar Bholuuaut Ohabteri 80 VY 533 80 4| 45980

Hauts Svotanalby do. .. | Sosteyram | 2510 0o | LEI3 A0 94 | 779 4 0

Raiu Bazur do. .. | Nalnah Bubu K+ 701 00 467 00 404 88 g0

Sohal Bozur do. ,.| Rajah Nubkissen .. 500 00 333 80 448 85 8 ¢

Same day the Accomptant lays before the Committee Jumma
Wasil Bakey Account of the Land Rents and Chowkeydarry Tax of
the Town of Caleutta for the Bengul years 1179-1184,

o M:*.I_IA—L:J— ] Etmomlars, ”“ZMR:SK' or 0110\)’1!(:;1 darry Bﬁ;ﬁ
1179, ‘ 5
Hoottanutty .. .. Becharam Mundie | 321 917 321 917
Bog-Buzar .. . j Ottaram Metre .. l N
1180. \ .
Soottanutty .. .. 1 Becharam Mundle 398 11 14 869 13 6 1,264 - 0 0
Bog-Buzar - . l()ttarmu Metre .. 17 011 48 8 15 €5 8
SHALR: !
Haut Soottanutty .. lJogornaut  Oan - ,
I gmmnh - 6218100 ... 62 15 10
(,)I;arlcs Buzar .. Lo. Do. 93 0 O 139 14 O 282 14 ¢
Sobah Buzar .. | Kesnomohun  Bel- ;
cottah .. 1wy o 0 “ 66 610 234 € W
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WAL, Tomondurs, | 08BN or [Obowkeyaarry|  otel
1181,
Soottanotty . <. { Becharam Mundle 445 12 15 LIS 16 K 1,608 13 3
Bog-Bizar . .. | Ottaram Metre | 7611 37 113 44 8 4
STt
Bow-Buzar .. .. | Nounah Bshoo .. v 010 ¢ 010
Ram-Buzar .. .. | Durgapersaud Soo-
cool .. - 52 713 57 12 & 119 ¢ o
118:.
Soottanu-ty -~ | Beeharam Munidle 410 7 19 } 1,182 8 & 1,643 7 o
Bog-Buzer, & ' Ottaram Metye ., 56 408 5313 ® 90 17 0
8nan:: | P
Hant Sootanntiy i ‘ Devey Biny L 66 10 B 1 18 & 710
liam-Buzar . oo j Nanuah Baboo <0000 :
Bow-3uzr o, .. | Ramnarain - Mo -
zoomylar ] A - - b, eraan
Oharles Tuzar ,, .. | Screydling Tagore. , 430 7 10, 134 11 10 585 3 )
Sobah Buzar ., .. ) Rajah Nabkissen .. ... . N R, .
118, |
Sootanutty .. .. { Becliaram Mundle, 457 13 1. 1493 418 1,851 119
Log-Luazar . . | Ottaram Metre s 1 ¢ ‘ 108 5 8 192 6 14
SHAlR } ‘
Sobalt Bozay . ..ilknjnh Nubkisser . ; 8h 12 15 ‘ 44 3 B 132 0 ©
I
|

A further Report submitted by the same officer #

embodied 'n the following proceedings

AT A CommiTTEE (CALCUTTA REVENTE CoMMITTEE (ONSULTATIONS.)
December 30th, 1777.
The President acquaints the C'ommittee that he attended at the
Council-ITouse this morning by order from the Secretary of the
Revenue Department, and was directed to draw out the sunnud
anthenticating the grant made to Rajah Nobkissen in compensation
for Nowparmah imwmediately and to include thervein the Buzars, &e.,
appertaining to Sootanutty, except Ram Bazar and Radge Bazar, the
rent whereof are by the Board’s orders of the 19th instant to be paid
direct to the Huzzoor, Agrceable thereto, the President now lays
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before the Committee the form of the grant which the Naib Duan has
prepared, which, if they approve, he will direct to be issued to Nob-
kigsen forthwith, o

The Duan being also called upon for his Report, ordered yester-
day, respecting these Bazars, now lays it before the Committee, and
observes that the lands of Soubah Bazar, Ramn Bazar, Haut Soota.
nutty, and Charles Bazar, are included in the Districts or Village of
Sootanutty.

Jumna of Sootanuty, &e., for the following years :—

1179, 1 80 1181, 1382 1188, Total,
Sootanutty Tosil

Atmamdars..| 6,930 8 14] 6,921 12 14| 6526 5 10| 6,933 11 B 7177 11 1 34,890 5 8
Sobazar Tosil
Hoozoory .. W0 0 0f 251 v 0] 81812 15} 816 12 151 316 12 15| 1,351 6 5
Rambazar .. | 370 o o] 4<0.0 0} 414 216/ 444 2 10] 444 2 10{ 2,102 7 10
Haut Suttanntty] 1,400 0 0 1,800 - (f $,452 4 Of 1L,8RG 1 (| 1,061 4 0 8,199 12 0

Bazar Sutta-

<
=3
=3
x
&

natty i 36} ol 316 12 14 586 12 15 596 12 15) 8,245 6 &

"

Charles Bazar .. AL O 0f 450 0 G 268 410l BB 4 1el 569 4 100 2,967 13 [0

Total .. | 9,620 8 14 9,907 12 1af 8,725 3 {40,737 O 9 1066 0 151,057 2 18

Boghasar Tosil .
Atmamdor .. | 416 2 (3] 446 4 4| 417 15 6| 419 3 9| 492 4 6] 2081 13 18
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Ordered that the Sunnud be translated against the next meeting.

The grant of Sootanutty to Nubkissen called forth a
protest from the ¢ inhabitants and landholders of Sootanutty
and Baug Bazar.” The orders passed on the petition were
firm but conciliatory. The original documents may be
interesting.
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Ar A (Hovoin { REVENTE Drranevsst ), Jawuery 93, 1778
Read the folowing petition from the inhabitants and landholders
of Sootanuty and Baug Dazar.

“To Tir Hoxouwanni Warues Hagrizes, Esor.,
Governo.-Gei-eral, &e., Coained of Revenue at Fort Williwm in Dengal.
3 2 “ [

The Humable Petition and Remonstrance of the Inhabitants and
Landholders of the Districts of Sootanuty and Bang Bazar in the
Town of Calsutta

HUMBLY SELWKPH:--

That yoir Petitioners have been from time immemorial Inhabi-
tants and Lavdholders in the Districts of Sootanuty and Baug Bazar in
the Town of Caleutta by virtne of several Pottahs or grants which
have been granted and renewed from time to time by the Honourable
East India Company at a-certain quitrent payable quavterly as
appeatrs by the Pottabs and Receipts for the Rents in theiy possession,
and were never Tenants. or Reiots Lo any other person for the same
except the TL nourable Cowpany ; and; standing in that velation to the
ITonourable Company, your Petitioners have been incouraged to im-
prove and biild upon the lands which have been granted to them as
aforesaid, coniding in the security they enjoy under this GGovernment
and the little danger they had to apprehend of their lands being
assigned over to any other person. And your Petitioners heing so pro-
prietors of their lands and houses have been allowed the liberty of
disposing of th.em with the approbation of the Company and of exer-
cising every other right of propertylover them which they might
think fit. Notwithstanding which, your Petitioners, to their inexpres-
sible concern, have lately leen given to understand that the above
Districts will ve shortly made over by an order of the Huzzoor to
Rajah Nobkissen as his Talook, which will tend greatly to prejudice
them in the certainty of their possession, and will probably heap upon
them a load of oppressions, grievances, and extortions ; and the more
go as the saill Rajah Nobkissen will thereby become a judge in his
own Districts, and they must be under the necessity of applying to
his Court for justice.

And your Petitioners huwbly apprebend that, as they have
received Pottahs from the Bast India Company to hold of them under
a cortain rent, it would be unjust to assign over the said lands to any
other person and thereby subject them to such innovations and oppres-
sions which that person may think proper to introduce ; and likewise
that as the absolute property of the said lands has been granted to
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them under the said Pottahs while they pay their rent, your Petition-
ers are advised and humbly apprehend it would be highly contrary
to right to introduce any new species of tenure.
Your Petitioners therefore most hambly pray that your Honour,
&e., will be graciously pleased to take the premises into
consideration and permit thew to remain in their properties
upon the same terms and conditions as they have hitherto
done, paying the stipulated rents to the Honourable the
Kast India Company, and that your Petitioners may con-
tinue to be looked upon as tenants to the Fonourable the
East India Company and no one else.
And your Petitioners shall ever pray, &e., &e.”
(8p.) [169 Signatures.]
Ordered that the Secretary to inform the Petitioners that the
Board did not, nor do, intend by the Sunnud lately granted to Rajah
Nobkissen to invest him with any rvights or privileges or customs but
such as were before possessed and exercised by the Company. That he
has no power to oppress, or to exact new taxes, or to erect a Conrt
of justice, nor can the Doard understand whence such suspicions have
arigsen. It is their will that the dues of the Company which they have
thought it proper to transfer to Rajah Nobkissen shall be paid into his
hands as the immediate proprietor instead of being paid, as they for-
merly were, into the hands of -an Agent on the part of the Company,
and to this the Board require their obedience.
Ordered that a copy of this Resolution be delivered to the principal
of the Petitivners and another to Nobkissen himself.

A narrative of the proceedings which led to the en-
largement of Nubkissen’s possessions has led to the omission
from its proper place, in chronological order, of a fact which
shows the growing confidence of the English authorities
in his intelligence and honesty, The position which Nub-
kissen had acquired, the esteem in which he was held by
high officials and the confidence which was reposed in him,
were abiding and not evanescent. On the 21st Decomber
1775 the Governor-General laid before the Board a letter
from Bow Begum, mother of the Nabob Asaph-ud-Dowla,
received by hisx servant Coja Shagoon Ally Cawn, in
which she complained of some aets of high-handedness of



MAHARAIA KANMUL KRISITNA.



MAHARAJAE NUBKISSEN BAHADUR. 97

Mr. Bristow regarding the statement of the income and alse
his interference with the usual ceremonies of her estate
which were enjoined on her by the customs of her family.
He also laid hefore the Board the reply of Mr. Bristow to
those charges. Lieutenant-General John Clavering thought
that two gentlemen properly qualified must be appointed
to enquire into the matter and veport thereon. Warren
Hastings considered the reply of Mr. Bristow to be conclusive
and said the matter might be safely disposed of against the
Bow Begum. Sir Philip Francis strongly objected to this
mode of procedure, tnsisted on an enquiry by two gentlemen,
“and one of them,” he said, “must he Raja Nobkissen s he
is woll versed in Persian and is well wequainted with the
customs of the country and he may be very safely relied on
by the Government. ™ Mi. Barwell observed : “ I agree to
this arrangement. Raja Nobkissenisa proper native who may
be entrusted with this transaction.”  Mr. Monson questioning
Nubkissen’s qualification on the ground of his being a Hindoo,
Mr. Barwell answered: “He is profoundly learned in Persian
and most of the customs of the Mahomedans are based on
the Persian Scriptures ; hesides, Raja Nobkissen iy a wan of
vast expericnce and his repeated intercourse with the Nawab
of Murshidubad had made him a quite competent man for
the purpose” Nubkissen was accordingly appointed a mem-
ber of the Committee of Tnquiry.

A similar commission wag cntrusted to him shortly
after the grant of the sunnud for Sootanutty. There were
suspicions of a conspiracy, and Raja Nubkissen was appoint-
ed to make an enquiry and submit a report. All the necessary
facts will appear from the following papers i—

AT A Couxan (Sucuer Dupacrmess), February 2, 1778.—

Minute by Governor-General (W, Llasrines) relative to Juee
Monax Durr: dnter aliv-—

...%He received information in Qctober last, that a man named Jugg
Mohun Dutt, a near relation of the Sivcar of M Chevalier, the
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French Commandant, used daily to fregquent the bouse of Lall SBevuck
Ram, the Mahratta Vakil, and to hold very long and secret confer-
ences with him, Having taken the proper nieans to ascertain the truth
of this information, the Governor-General gave order for bis being
apprehended and brought before hini ; but these were not executed,
the man soon after falling sick, till yesterday morning, when he was
taken coming from the house and before the door of Lalla Sevuck
Ram.” Questioned by G, G.; denied intercourse with L. 8. Ram. G. G,
confirmed in his suspicions, sent Dutt “ to the New Fort under a
guard and caused all the papers in his house to be seized and sealed
in the presence of creditable [?credible] witnesses, and to be
brought to his house, where they now remain.”

He now proposes “ihat persons properly qualified may be nomi-
nated to examine the papers now under his charge, and for that pur-
pose that each member of the Board will De pleased to appoint a
person versed in the Bengal language (in which the papets are mostly
written) to meet at the Governor’s Honse and jointly inspect them, and
to take the roports of the evidences of this transaction.”

Mr. Froanciss Minuie:—*Agrees, bhut can only suggest Mr. Moore
as qualified to examine the papers.”

Mr. Barwell's Minute:—* 1 approve, and think Laja Nubkissen
ought to be present at the inspection of the Bengal papers.”

Mr. Wheler was unable to recommend any one.

Then :—“The Governor-General having ordered the papers which
were seized to the Council House, and Moore and Rajah Nobkissen
attending, they are delivered to them, with divections to select such as
have any relation to conferences or concerns with Lalla Sevuck Ram,
the Mahratta Vakil, and to deliver back the others immediately to the
owner, Jug Mohun Dutt.

* Mr. Moore and Rajah Nobkissen, having cxamined the papeis
of Jug Mohun Dutt in his prosence, inform the Board that they
contain nothing but aceounis and papers relative to his own CONCCINS,
but no letters received or copies of letters written by him, and, having
put several guestions Lo him on the subject of his frequent visits to
Lalla Sevuck Ram, the Mahratta Vakil, they deliver themw in with
his answers as follow :

* * % % * % *

“ Ordered that Jug Mohun Dutt be remanded to the Fort, to
continue in confinement there till further orders.”
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This wus not held to be conclusive, and a further inquiry
was ordered and held. The proceedings are reported as fol-
lows :—-

AT A Couscit (SecReT Dreavrmext), Monday, February 23, 1778,

Ordered that an abstract of examinations of various persons
“regpecting the visits of Jugg Mohun Dutt to the Mahratta Vakil ”
(Lalla Sewul Ram) be entered, the full examinations being “ very
voluminous.

“ Ordered that the Secretary do call on Mr. Moore and Rajah
Nobkissen to deliver any further information which they may have
received respecting Jngg Mohun Dutt.”

The Governor-General’s (W, Hastings’s) speech on the points repeats
that he had caused the Vakil's papers to be seized with a view to the
discovery of proofs of intrigue. " He says i—

“ 1 understand from Rajah Nobkissen that there was not a single
letter of any kind among the papers that were seized and of which he
had the inspection.”

Ar a Councin (3gcriT DEPARTMENT), Monday, March 2, 1778.
Read the following letter from Mi, Moore:

Hon’sLe Sig AND SIRS,

In pursnance of your dirvections to obtain information whether
Jagamohun Dutt has any and what connection with the banian of
Monsieur Chevalier, the Chief of Chandernagore, Rajah Nobkissen
undertook te make the necessary enquiries, and, having furnished me
with the result thereof, I beg leave to communicate it to you.

“ Jagamohan Dutt has five cousing, who are brothers, »z Ramnaut
Dutt, Ram Mohan Dutt, Nilmoney Dutt, Monoo Dutt,and Roy Chuarun
Dutt, of whom Ramnant Dutt and Ram Mohan Dutt are in the service
of Monsieur Chevalier as pycars, and support an intercourse with Jaga-
mohun Dutt between Chandernagore and Caleutta,

“Rajah Nobkissen having personally enquired of Atter Ally Cawn!
whether Jagamohun Dutt had applied to him to be introduced to
Tallo Sabuckram, he informed him that he had ; that, on asking his
reason for wishing the introduction, Jagamohun told him that he
had oceasion to send some letters into the Mahratta country, and

' 8aid by Jugg Mohun Dutt, in his answers to be “a Doctor in Cal-
catta,” to winom he applied for an introduetion to Lalloo Babuckram
(Lalla Sevuck Ram)
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therefore was desirous of becoming acquainted with Lallo Sabuckram ;
‘but that Atter Ally Cawn, at the mention of the Mahrattas, being
somewhat apprehensive of the consequences, declined the introduction.
“This is the substance of Rajah Nobkissen’s information to me
this morning. He is still prosecuting his enquiries ; and the result
thereof shall be regularly communicated to you as I receive it.
ForT WILLIAM, I am, &e,
25¢h February 1778. (8d.) P, Mooxe.
“The Secretary acquaints the Board that he called on Rajah
Nobkissen and received from him almost a vepetition of the above
information, which he lays before the Board as follows :—

¢ Rajah Nobkissen, attending the Secretaryacquainted him that
during the time of Jug Mohun Dutt's examination before him he
declared that he had desired to beintroduced to Lall Sewuck Ram by
Atter Ally Cawn, Nobkissen hassinge been informed by Atter Ally
Cawn that Jug Mobun Dutt did earnestly request to be introduced
by him to the Mahratta, Vakil on' account of some business of im-
portance which he said he had with him, and when he was asked as to
the nature of his business, he replied that he wanted to send a letter
into the Decean, but Atter Ally Caown was deterved by this declaration
from introducing him and denied his request.

“Nobkissen further acquaints the Secrctary that Sam  Dutt,
Mannick Dutt, and Bujoo Kissen Uutt, all deceased, were three
brothers ; that the former left five sons, who all reside at Chander-
nagore ; that the prisoner, Jug Mohun Dutt, who is the only son of
the second Lrother, resides at Caleutta ; that the third brother had
one son, named Anund Dutt, who is also a resident of Calcutta.
Nobkissen, having sent a person to Chandanagore to make private
enguiries into the oceupations of these several persons and to bring
him any further intelligence {n his power respecting their con.
nexions with each other, obtained from him the following informa-
tion: That Ramnath Dutt and Rammohun Dutt, two of the five
song by the eldest brother, are pycars in the employment of
Mer. Chevalier, and indebted to him ; that they frequently came back-
wards and forwards to Calcutta, and take up their residence at Jug
Mohun Dutt’'s house. He expects further

intelligence on this
subject and will econumunicate it without delay.”

Tre Govervor-GereraL:—“I think it necessary to add to the
above report that Rajah Nohkissen, when he was hefore the Board,



MAHARATAR NUDKISSEN BAAADUR, 101

observed that, although it appeared frowm the papers of Jug Mohun
Dutt that he had commercial dealings to the amount of (I think)
thirteen lakhs of rupees, not a single letter either in business or of
any other kind appeared among the papers which were seized, nor
his cullundaua or standish, in which it is customary to keep papers of
a secret or .mportant nature, from which circumstance, which he
mentioned as very extraordinary, he drew the conclugion that Jug
Mohun Dutt must have given early orders for their being secreted for
fear of a discovery. Tdonot know whether the members of the Board
may recollect this part of Nobkissen’s information, but T think it
necessary to record it, and to declare that T consider it as a confirma-
tion of my suspicions.

Though the Governor-General did not abandon his sus-
picions, nothing further wis heard of the conspiracy, nothing
untoward happened. Possibly il any miischief was brewing,
it was wrrested and crushed by the very inguiry that was
held.







CHAPTER VL
NUNCOMAR.

An important fact worth considering at this stage of
Nubkissen’s Tife is the nature of his relations to Maharaja
Nuncomar and the part he took in the ecase that will be for
ever associated not only with the memory of many distin-
guished individuals, but with many angry disputes and re-
eriminations concerming the intogrity of Judges and Council-
lors in the early days of British administration in this
country. As this work professes to be not the history of a
pertod, tut only the biography of an individnal, it is only
necessary to say as much of Nuncomar and his case as brings
him into relations with Nubkissen. At the same time Nun-
comar pliyed such a conspieuons part.in the early history of
British rule, and his careéer and character have snggested, to
so many English writers, reflections on the character of the
Bengalee in general and the Beahmin in particular, that it
will not be altogether out of place to take a somewhat wider
view of his life than that presented by its points of contact
with the life of Nubkissen. = There i+ another veason for
attempting a littlo study of Nuncomar. History as written
by eminent Englishmen in recent times after elaborate re-
soarch, a~ written, for instanee, hy Sir.James Stephen, Colonel
Malleson. and Mr. Torrest, has, in the eyes of impartial
readers st any vate, delivered its final verdiet on Nuncomar
and his trial for forgery.  The impression left on the mind
of the last generation by the flaming periods of Burke, the
ponderons pages of Mill, and the brilliant portraits of Macau-
lay, cannot but sulter to-day a large degree of effacement,
But therc are those who will not see, who love to hug an
illusion that is beautiful, and who with little ceremony
or searce'y an apology dismiss facts that are repellent to the
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taste.  Some recent Bengalee writers have made a hero of
Nuncomar. They have represented him as the vietim of
a conspiracy led by Warren Hastings who employed Impey
as his instrument for a judicial murder, Nuncomar was, in
their judgmont, a murtyr to his patriotism. He was not only
a social leader of the Brahming, but the political leader of
the entire Hinda community in Bengal, if not of the native
population generally.  Round him Hindu interests and forees
were to rally, or at any rato the decaying strength of Maho-
raedan rulers was to revive ; and he was to stand forth as the
deliverer of hix native land from a lorbign yoke and the
founder of a united nation and state. Nubkissen, on the
other hand, was, in the light vouchsafed to these writers,
a sneak and a coward, a trimmer and traitor who betrayed
native interests, and delivered his country, so far as it lay
in his little power, into the hands of the English.  He abetted
Hastings in his attempt to remove his chief aceuser and
witness of guilt, Nuncomar. By geiving false evidence he
abetted Impey in hix judieial mupder.

Al this view of Nuncomar is excellent romance ; it is
not history. The writers have very largely drawn on their
imagination.  They have at once ignored and created history.
Nuncomar at hiz best was o shrewd, worldly man of
business, the mediocre character of whose abilities and the
modesty of whose social position are proved by the fact that
he did not make a prominent appearance or oceupy a distin-
guished position in public lite before he was past fifty. Taken
all round he was an ambitious, scheming, intriguing villain,
absolutely selfish, thoroughly unprincipled, dead to a sense of
gratitude, prone to abuse of power, faithless as a friend,
implacable as an enemy. Almost the whole of his public life
isa tissue of crimes,—extortion, conspiracy, giving bribes,
taking bribes, making false complaints, getting up talse cases,
perjury, subornation of perjury, forgery, the uttering of
forged documents, and the like. His public Jife had nothing
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of public spirit in it. His ambition was wholly personal.
The solitary instance of faithfulness in his whole life was his
attachment to Mir Jaffir, but even in the service of that
potentate lie seems to have had no thought except that of
self-aggrandisement. He novor appears to have excelled in
diplomacy or administration, and if he had any influence
over Mir Juffir, if he shaped his policy and guided his connsels,
the best index to his honesty, wisdom and foresight would
be the ncts of Mir Jaffir himself, to which a brief reference will
presently he made, and which, it may be observed in the
meanwhile. exhibit® very little of cither firmness or fairness.
In character and aspirations Nubkissen was the very an-
tithesiz of Nuncomar.

The testimony of the best writers in regard to the
character of Nuncomar is unanimous.” Macaulay, who will
not be suspected of any prejudice in favour of Hastings or
Impey or of any lack of sympathy with Nuncomar in his
distress, speaks of him in the following terms :—

« Of his moral character it is difficalt to give a notion to those
who are acqaninted with human nature only as it appears in our
island. What the Ttalian is to the Englishman, what the Hindu is
to the Italian, what the Bengalce is to other Hindus, such was Nun-
comar to other Bengalees.”

Then follows his well-known deseription of Bengalees,
Sir James Stephen considers this estimate to be exaggorated
in its condomnation. He finds an explanation of Nuncomar’s
character in the circumstances of the time and the place
in which he lived. His own opinion may be taken as
marked by that ¢ discriminating good sense ” the absence of
which he regrets in Macaulay’s description, and that opinion
is exprossed as follows : -

“«Of all the provinces of the Kmpire none was so degraded as
Bengal, and -ill he was nearly sixty vears old Nuncowar lived in
the worst and most degraded part of that unhappy Province. A push-
ing, active, prominent, succesful man in such circumstances could
hardly be other than Nuncomar actually was, false all through, and
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dead to every sentiment except pride, hatred and revenge. Tt is,
however, due to Nuncomar to say that even a bitter enemy gives him
credit for one good quality. “Tle was,” says the author of the Siyyar
ul Mutagherin, “a man of a wicked disposition and ahanghty tewper,
envious to a high degree, and on bad terms with the greater part of
mankind, although he had conferred favonrs on two or three men and
was firm in his attachments,”

(olonel Malleson, apparently thrown beside himself by
the shocking record of Nuncomar’s intrigues, goes on to
generalise about his race :

“Tt [ Murshidabad ] still remained, however, a hotbed of in-
trigue ; and it is by intrigue that the Brahman of high caste, who finds
his abilities too little appreciated by the ruling power, always works.
There is no greater adeptin the world.in the capacity to undermine,
to insinuate that which he dare not openly charge ; in the disseminat-
ing of slanderous whispers ; in convincing those with whom he may
converse that the false thing is the trae thing”!

Tn a foot-note the writer adds: ©TIn stating this T write
from my own expericnce of the class,” Then again :

“After the tirst moment of agtonishment, the more astute amongst
them, especially the Bengali DBrahinans, recognized that whilst the
new rules had abolished, for the time, autocratic powers of Mr.
Tiastings, it had widened the road to intrigue, and would afford them
opportunities, such asg they had never dreamt of, for the practice of
that chicanery in which they excel all other races. The first field on
which the ablest and most unprincipled amongst them determined, to
practise his heveditary vocation ...... ceorennnniaeee Foremost to recog-
nize the brilliant opening thus offered to his genius was Nand

Kumar.”

Tn face of such a consensus of opinion, do Bengalees ad-
vance their reputation, do they serve the interests of truth,
when they put forward this infumous person, this genuine
« Claptain-Greneral of iniquity ” as one of the noblest speci-
mens of their race, as their champion, leader and representa-
tive, their ideal of a hero? No, such a view is essentially

' Life of Warren TTastings, page 198,
® Life of Warren Hastings, pp. 201, 202,
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unfair to Bengzalees and to Brahwmins. Nuncomar was not
only not the noblest of Bengalees, but not even a typieal ov
average Bengnlee. Macaulay suggests that he was one of
the worst spacimens of & DBengalee and indeed as much
inferior to the average Bengalce us the Italian is to the Eng-
lishman ; anl in that view he is absolutely right. No
Bengalee has equalled him in villainy. The foot-note quoted
from Clolonel Malleson’s work shows that that writer did not
know his own mind.  Colonel Malleson’s experience of
Brahming,—it would be intercsting to know the sphere of life

in which it was acqdived,—could never have made him indulge
in his generalisations about Brahmin character if he had not
before him the story of Nuneomar. Dut that story does not
vepresent the normal state of thingsin the country: it is
wholly without a parallel even in degraded Bengal,  About
Brahmins in general something may have to be said later on.

Nuncomar Roy was a son of Padlab Roy (which name
appears to be an English corruption of the name Padma-
nabha Roy), who was Amin of two or three Pergunnahs and
whe appointed Nuncomar as a kind of Naib nnder him.  After-
wards, in the reign of the Nabob Ali Verdi Khan, ealled also
Mehabut Jung, Nuncomar was appointed Amin of the Pergun-
nahs Hidgeley and Muoshadal, where he committed oppres-
sion on zemin lars and ryots and was guilty of much malver-
sation in his office.  The vietims of his oppression laid their
complaints belore the Roy Royan Cheyn Roy, who immediate-
ly displaced Nuncomar, and after his accounts were properly
stated, confined him in chains for the payment of his balance
and summoned him daily to the Khalsa Cutcherry, where he
was constantly flogged and heaten. At last his Father paid up
for him the balance due to Government. Nuncomar was
released, hut his father never afterwards saw his face or for-
gave him.  “ As zoon as the seeds of internal enmity sprang
up between -he Nabob Mehabut Jung and his General
Mustapha Khin, and Nuncomar began to suspect it (as it is
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his nature to apply himself diligently to a party, when any
disturbance arizex between great men), he immediately waited
upon Mustapha Khan.”  Mustapha Khan took into his hands
the Malguzarry of several Zemindars, for some of whose
lands Nuncomar became security.  When a heavy balance
was incurred on those lands, and Nuncomar’s practices came
to be better understood, Mustapha Khan determined to seize
him and send him prisoner to the Roy Royan.  He got intelli-
gence of thiz and eseaped weeretly to Caleutta.  When the
quarrel between the Nuabob and his General openly broke out,
and Mustapha was slain, and the Roy Royan Cheyn Roy was
also dead, Nuncomar made hisappearance again at Moorsheda-
bad, and by the recommendation of she Mutsaddis obtained
the collection of the Pergunnal of Sutseetra.

These facts are obtained from a letter of Mr. Barwell’s
to his sister, discovered and published for the first time by
Sir James Stephen in his work on the Trial of Nuncomar.
The letter is a condensed biography of Nuncomar. All its
details it is neither necessary nor desirable to reproduce.
Much of it is borne out by other evidence. Only the more
important points of the narrative ecan he here noticed.  Nun-
comar was soon recalled from his post and he lived for some
time the life of an unscrupulouns adventurer. He came to
Hooghly 5 was confined closely for five days by Meer Hootu-
bullu, an inhabitant of the place, for his debt of Rs. 2,000 ;
then he absconded to Moorshedabad. He was on one occasion
severely bastinadoed with a bamboo by Nabob Siraj-ud-Dow-
lah, apparently for some impertinent remark, The Nabob
sent him also to Hidayet Ali Khan at Hoogly, whose treat-
ment of Nuncomar compelled him to go again to Murshidabad,
where he was reduced to the uimost poverty. After many vi-
cissitndes, through the patronage of one Munshi Sadnk Ulla,
he was appointed Dewan of Hooghly, under Mahomed Yar
Beg Khan, Toujdar of Hooghly. This Foujdar was dismissed
from his post during the life-time of Ali Verdi Khan, and on
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the death of that Nabob, Siraj-ud-Dowlah appointed succes-
sively two Mahomedans to the office. Ultimately Nuncomar
managed to have himself appointed Foujdar by sccaring the
dismissal of the second Mahomedan incumbent.

When Colonel Clive was besieging Chandernagore, De-
wan Nuncomar Roy sent him complimentary messages by
one Kissen Ram Bow, and soon “the Colonel conceived a
prodigious friendship for tho Dewan,” which came to be ge-
nerally known. When Colonel Clive was to go to Patna,
Maharaja Doolub Ram appointed Nuncomar as his Vakeel to
accompany the Colenel, expeeting thus to improve his own
relations with: the Colonel.  “ Nuncomar had so ingratiated
himself into favour that it was uswal for the people to style
him the blach Colonel.” ‘Throngh ihe influence of Clive he
was appointed Dewan fo Mahomed Ameer Beg Khan who was
made Foujdar of Hooghly, Hidgeley, &e.  Mir Jaffir unable to
pay direetly to the Fuoglizh the sums he had agreed to pay
alter the battle of Plassey, had given them assignments on the
revenues of the districts of Burdwan, Nadiva and Hooghly.
Nuncomar wis on the recommendation of Clive appointed in
1758 their agent for the collection.

No long time has to pass before Nuncomar’s cloven foot
is out again. He contrived to bring about an enmity between
Maharaja Doolub Ram and Nabob Mir Jaffir, which almost
came to open war. The Maharaja had remonstrated with
Nuncomar for the rapacity he had exhibited as Collector. By
his intrigues he suecceded not only in securing the removal
of the Mahar:ja, but in causing a wide breach between him
and the Nabob. At this time Nuncomar also demanded from
his old friend, patron and master, Mahomed Yar Beg
Khan, tho sum of Rs. 14,000 under pretence of expenses
formerly incurred, and by threaiening him with un cxamina-
tion of all his accounts, ¢ Mahomed Yar Beg, looking upon
Nuncomar’s jrinciples like to those of the adder which will
inevitably sting the bosom that cherishes it, paid his unjust
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demand.” To his present master, Ameer Beg Khan, he gave
such pernicious advice that he raised a suspicion of him in
the mind of the Nalob Mir Jaftir, so that Ameer, finding his
situation desperate, begged leave to resign his post, and got
ou board a vessel.

Discovery of a certain unfairness on the part of Nun-
comar in a particular matter created a breach between him
and Maharaja Dooliah Ram, but Nuncomar had played his
cards very well and he could dispense with all other friends
and patrons when he secured the confidence and patronage
of Mir Jaffir and a wmonopoly of influence over him.
He could not long retain Clive’s confidence, and when
Clive was leaving the country, Vansittart, warned by him,
kept up the appearance of ' friondship and countenance to
Nuncomar, but intrusted him with no part of his confidence.

Nuncomar would not ‘be himself if he did not plan :
revenge, ““ He studied every possible method to raise a
war and to endanger the Company, to which purpose a
letter of his was detected after the vietory of Burdwan
and the doeath of Tndar Jat Perkhee” Mr. Vansittart put
a guard of Sepoys upon him and produced before the Council
many treasonable letters and copies taken from Nuncomar’s

houge. Dissensions in Council, brought about by Nuncomar
himself, led to his release after forty days. The scurrility of
two lotters that he wrote to Colonel Clive and the (fompany
shortly after his release led Mr. Vansittart to confine him to
his house for a number of days. The discovery of certain
letters fabricated by Nuncomar, of which more will be pre-
sently said, led to his being fmprisoned » second time under
a Sepoy guard. He was released after a year, on the appli-
cation of Mir Juffir, Ho attended Mir Jaffir in the war
aganst Meer Cossim. When the vietory was decisively
obtained over Meer Cossini, Nuncomar, unknown to Mir Jaffir,
solicited and obtained from the Emperor Shah Alum the title
of Maharaja, which wus alterwards confirmed by Mir Jaffir.
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The nest incident in Nuncomar’s life had hetter be stated
altogether in Mr. Barwell’s own words : “ After this when
Meer Mahomed (,os.snn Khan fled, and thé Nabob Shuja-
ud-Dowla had levied an army, Maharajah Nuncomar wrote
a letter to DBulwant Singh, upon discovery of which treason-
able correspondence, General Carnue was determined to
seize Nuncomar, and send him under o guard to Caleutta.
But at last by the carnest endeavour of Maharajuh Nob-
kissen, who at that time was Banian to Major Adams, he
escaped. A full account of this is to be found in the
Records of the (‘/ouncil, where every particular of the whole
affair may be learnt.

Nuncomar continued to-he i source of disturbances, and,
alter Najim-ud-Dowla had succeeded Mir Jaftir, had to be
sent under a guard to Caleutta.  Lord Clive on his return
from Europe to Caleutta **appointed Muzzaffer Jung the
principal minister, and appointed Maharaja Dooliah Ram and
Juggut Seat to assist him in the Government, and had deter-
mined in bis own mind, for the tranquillity of the kingdom,
to banish Nuncomar into Chittagong, and all Nuncomar’s
family were then in the utmost tribulation upon that account,”
This time also Nuncomar was saved by Nubkissen. © Maharaja
Nobkishen represented that as Maharaja Nuncomar was a
Brahmin, it was not right to punish him too severely, there-
fore his sentence of banishment to Chittagong was left unexe-
cated.”

Gratiti.de was foreign to the nature ol Nuncomar, and
he was never by uny chance betrayed into that weakness, His
nature fully manifested itsell in his relations with Nubkissen.
La remembrance, it would seem, of kindly services recenily
rendered, lie got up o false hub serious complaint against
Nubkisren. e “ suborned a woman, hy name Noeeboo, for
a preseat ¢f 2,000 rupees, to aceuse Mabharajan Nobkishen of
having Foreibly committed a rape upon her.”  This complaint
was fully inquired into, and the vesult has heen given in a
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previous chapter. “ Upon the same affair, fourteen blank
covers of letters sealed with many English gentlemen’s and
Hindoostanee names were found in the Maharajah Nun-
comar’s house, and delivered inte Couneil, as may be fully
proved by reference to the Records of Council.” The real
reason that weighed with Nubkissen for interceding on
behalf of Nuncomar had evidently been put in an official
guise when addressed to officials, as will appear from the
following record ! of proceedings :
Ar A Sunger CoMmmirtie ueLp Ty 194 July 1765 ar Forr WILLIAM,
Present :
Tut Riert Hoxounasie Lorp Crive, President.
Mr. WiLLiaM' BRIGHTWELL SUMNER.

» JOHN CARNAC,
Harny VERELST.

» Fravcis Sykis.

* Whereas Nun Coomar had tried to destroy Mussalman adminis-
tration and to rise on its ruin ; and whereas the Company’s servants
had repeatedly detected him in the most criminal intrignes and where-
as Nun Coomar, while professing the strongest attachment to the
English, had been engaged in several conspiracies against them ; and
whereas he had been found to he the medium of correspondence be-
tween the Court of Delhi and the French authorities in the Carnatic,
we, the members of the Council in' our previons meeting, formed a
resolution for his banishment to Chittagong. But our well-known
friend; Nabokissen Moonshee, has lately given us a very sound advice,
He says that as an intriguing man, Nun Coomar should not be sent
to Chittagong, at a considerable distance from Calcutta; on the con-
trary -he should be detained at Caleutta under strict surveillance,
It is therefore ordained that Nun Coomar be detained at Calcutta
under strict surveillance as a State prisoner.

This does not by any means show Nubkissen’s enmity to
Nuncomar. When a boy is convicted of an offence, and his
parent pleads that the young fellow would be demoralised by the
company of criminals in a jail and might be dismissed with a

3

1 Quoted from Babu Chandi Churn 8cn’s Bengali work on Maharaja

Nuncomart, pp. 224, 225,
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wholesome flogging which he might never forget, ix it diffi-
cult to guess the motive of the plea ? Tt is not the infliction of
flogging but rhe avoidance of jail, and the <pirit that prompts
the suggestion is one of tenderness and not of severity, Tt ix
casy to read the same spirit in Nubkizsen’s suggestion in the
present  easc.  The “swrveillance”  ix a mere excuse  to
recommend the suggestion to the othieial mind ; the real motive
is the dexive to spare an exalted Brahmin the indignity of
deportation.  If the recommendation as put in the official
proceedings is to be understood literally, it hax the fatal fault
of proving too much.  Deportation isa punishment held to be
speeially =uitable to turbulent and disaffected persons, and if
Nuncomar wix not to heseut awayv-to Chittagong because he
was an “intrguing man,” that would be a good argument for
retaining in Calentta  “*under =nrveillance” all dangerous
characters at all times. ' Wax surveillaince or imprisonment
impossible at Chittagong ¥
The precize nature of Nuncomar's duties as Collector will

appear from he following extract from a letter of the Council
to the Court of Divectors, dated the 31st December 17587 :

“As we were of opinion, it was too troublesome a task for a
Furopean to cotlect in the payments amount the tuncaws given us by
the Nawab, and being willing likewise to get the moneys in the account
brought Ly the Rajabs immediately to Hugley without being sent to
Muxabad, we appointed Nundkumar on the 19th August Tasildar on
behalf of the jompany, he being recommended by the Select Com-
mittee as a person greatly attached to the English, and very capable
of the employ we had appointed him to. His business is to call upon
the Rajahs for the payments conformable to the Kistybunds they
have signed to, and when any considerable sum is received from them,
to pay it into the Treasury ; and in order to give him greater weight
and influence with the Rajahs and Zemindars, we have procured a
Perwanna fron. the Nawab empowering him to settle with the Rajahs,
&e., for the amount of their tuncaws to the Company. We hope this
method will have a good effect, and be a means of collecting in the
money from those people without trouble and disputes.”

' Long'g Selections from Unpublished Records, Art, 375,
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All this conlidence and reputation were lost in no time.
Nabob Kassim Ali Khan in the course of a letter!, dated the
24th February 1761, writes : '

“I have before wrote your Excellency concerning the contents
of the letters I had intercepted of Nunkumar’s, that he had carried
on a correspondence with our enemies ; that I had made him prisoner
and was cxamining his papers. On an examination thereof, I find
that he corresponded with the Shahzadah’s people, Coingar Khan and
Sree Bhut ; Nunkwmar has also endeavoured to detriment the affairs
of your Sirkar and the Company’s, He is therefore undoubtedly
culpable, and had it been of snch a nature as to cume under the tenor
of our laws, he would not have escaped unpunished.”

Official evidence of Nuncomar's oppressions at Hooghly
and his malversation ax Tasildar s to be found in a letter?
from the Governor to the Nabob, dated October 29th, 1763.
Nuncomar contrived to inerease hix influence very largely,
but though he managed wll the affuirs of the Khalsa no-
thing was properly settled even up to the end of 1763,
and the collections were poor.. This appears from a letter
of Raja Doolub Ram’s, received on the 10th January 1764,

That letter also sets fovih a list of the offices which were
formerly annexed to the Nizamut and which were now
separated from it and held by Nuncomar. These were (1)
Huzzoor Novesy (office for taking copies of Sunnuds, &e.),
Darogaship of the private Treasury and Jagheers Mustofy-
gurry (office for examining the accounts of dismissed Officers);
(2) Accounts of the Province of Patna; (3) Accounts of
Poornea ; (4) Accounts of the Chuckla of Bhagulpore ;
(5) Mushrefee of  the Dewankhana; (6) Munshi-Khana ;
(7) Accounts of the Jugheers.

“Three months later, the Governor in a letter* to the
Naboh, dated the 17th April 1764, bitterly complains of the

! Long's Unpublished Records, Art. 553.
* Long’s Unpublished Records, Art. TO8
* Long’s Unpublished Rlecords, Arty 710,
U Long's Unpublished Records, Avt, 786,
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maladministration of the provinces and attributes it to the
“influence and direction” of Nuncomar. He goes on:

“These ars strong instances of his miscondact and negligence, but
what gives us still greater reason to be dissatisfied with him is, that’
from advices lately received from Major Carnae, we have too much
reason to suspect he has been carrying on a secret correspondence with’
the enemy and counteracting every measure we have been taking for
the support of your Government.”

The Court of Directors expressed its opinion of Nun-
comar in the following terms in o lettes? dated the 22nd’
FFebruary 1764 :

“ fpom the whole of your proceedings with respect to Nundeomar,
there seems to be no donbt of his endeavouring by forgery and false
acensations to ruin Ram Churen that he has been guilty of carvying
on correspondence with the Conntry 1owers hurtful to the Company’s
interests, and instrumental in conveying letters between the Shabzada
and the French Governor-General of Pondicherry ; in short, it appears
he is of that wicked and turbulent disposition that no harmony can
subsist in a society where he has the opportunity of interfering, we
therefore most readily conecur with you that Nundeomar is a person
improper to be trusted with his liberty in our settlements, and capa-
ble of doing mischief if he ix permitted to go out of the province
cither to the northward or towards the Deccan, and we shall there-
fore depend upun your keeping suelta wateh over all his actions as
may be the mzans of preventing his disturbing the quiet of the
publie or injuring individuals for the future”

Great light is thrown on one chapter of Nuncomar’s
history by Mr. Wheeler in his Memorandum of the Records
in the Foreign Department. e gives the following analy-
sis of the Proceedings, secret and separate, from the 27th
April 1761 to the 27th September 1762.

¢ The volume of Proceedings on the early forgeries of Nuncomarisa
curious record connected with the administration of My. Vansittart, and
is important ontwo grounds : first, as illustrative of the secret intrigu-
ing, real or imagined, which was carried on between the Hindoo chiefs
in the service «f the Nawab and the military commanders in the
army of Shah Alum ; and secondly, as indicating the origin of the

Y Long's Unpublished Records,  Art, 138,
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long-nourished hatred of Nundeomar against Warren Hastings, which
did not find full expression until many years afterwards. 1t has
already been pointed out that the policy by which the Nawal Ali-
verdy Khan had been enabled to retain his Nawabship free from re-
bellion was that of reserving all important posts for Hindoos alone; to
the exclusion of the Mussuluians. His successor, Surajadowla, did
not exactly reverse this policy, but he offended and insulted both
parties, and was, consequently, ousted by a union of both parties.
Meér Jaffir, and his successor, Meer (lossim, both attempted to recruit
their respective treasuries at the expense of the wealthiest individuals
amongst the Hindoos. It was under such circumstances, and whilst
the English and Meer C'ossim were still at war with the ‘King’ Shah
Alum, that some extraordinary letters were discovered on the person
of a hurkara, which scemed to imply that Raja Doolub Rani and
another of the Setts, nawed Ram (harn, were carrying on a treason-
ous correspondence with one of the military commanders in the camp
of Shah Alum. . ... I'vowr the proceedings of (Government in this
matter it may be gathered that for a long time Mr. Vansittart
and his Council were divided npon the subject untilabout a year after-
wards, when Mr, Warren Hastings was appointed Member of Council,
Strangely cnoagh, as it now appears, one of Mr. Hastings’ first acts
after his arrival in Caleubta was to'investigate the case; and his en-
quiries led to the discovery that the Native correspondence was a for-
gery in which the notorious Nundcomar was deeply implicated.
The object of Nundcomar in forging these letters was apparently
to ruin those influential personagesin the eyes of the English, probably
to get rid of parties who appeared to him to be standing in the way
of hiz advancement, and possibly to afford an excuse to Meer Cossim
for plundering their private property. Tlow this unprincipled intrigu-
er sought to revenge himself many years afterwards by brioging
charges of corruption against Warren Hastings, and how in the end he
was himself convicted and executed for a vepetition of the same crime
of forgery, are matters of general history. It iz evident from these
and other notices of Nundcomar that he was a thorough villain. Tn
the Secret Proceedings for 1767 (see paragraph 14) a charge is recorded
against him of endeavouring to ruina rival named Nobkissen by
inducing a married Brahmin woman to bring a false accusation against
Nobkissen of having violated her.”

No one will snspeet Clive of any malice towards Nun-
comar. He was ab ono time Clive’s favourite and protéyd, Tt
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was on (live s recommentdation, ws has already been stated, that
he was appoiated Collector of three distriets. But Nuncomar
had only to ne known to he hated. I 1765 Clive Lad scen
enough of hm to make him change his opivion completely.
When General Carnue azked for Nuncomar the post of Naib
Subah, Clive answered that “although Nandkumar may not
prove guilty of the crimes laid to his charge, yet, believe me,
my dear Gene ral, he will do no honour either to the Nawab
or to the Company in any great or eminent post, which he
was never fisted or designed for; and Iean give you un-
answerable reasons against bis being the principal person
about the Nuwab when T have the plensure of seeing you.”
On  the dewth of Mir Jathir, Mahomed Reza Khan had
heen appointed Naib Subali by the Caleutta Council.  Clive
on his arrival in Caledtta Fele himself called upon either to
confirm that ippointment or to appoint somebody else, He
bad grave objections to Nuneomar, but he had little confi-
dence in Reza Khan also. To General Carnae he wrote that
the fact of hix being a Mussulinan, ucute, and clever, are
reasons of themselves, it thiere were no others, against trusting
that man with too much power, and yet the young man [ the
Nawab Nazim ] must have about hiw men capable of directing
and governing him ; for, besides his youth, he is really very
simple, and abvays veceives his impressions from  those last
ahout him. Tt ix veally shocking to see what a set of miser-
able and mem  wreteher Nundkumar has placed about him,
men that the other day were horse-keepers.” Having to
make a choice of evils (Jive confirmed Reza Khan in his
appointment ws  Naib  Subal, but associated  with him
Maliraju Doolub Ram and the  wealthy  banker, Jagat
Hott.

When in 1772 Warren Hastings was appointed by the
Court of Diveetors to preside in their Couneil at Bengal he
found that Mahomed Reza Khan ax Naih Subah was the head
of the native administration of Bengal, and Shitab Roy, also



118 NuncomaR,

as Naib Subal, was the head of the native administration of
Behar. The former was ordinarily resident at Murshidabad,
the lutter at Patna,  Nuncomar had in the meantime made
complaints to the Court of Directors against the adminis-
tration of Reza Khan. The first tazk imposed upon Warren
Hastings when he took his seat as President of the Couneil on
the 28th April 1772, was to inform the Board that in
consequence of orders received from the Secret Committee
“he has sent instructions to Mr. Middleton to arrest the
persons of Mahomed Reza Cawn and Raja Amrit Sing, his
Dewans, and to send them under a guard to Caleutta ;3 that he
has received advice [rom MaoMiddleton, that the same has
accordingly boen put in exceation.” “Lhe Court of Directors
had written to Hastings that if the assistance and information
of Nuncomar should be serviceuble to him in investigating
the conduet of Reza Khan, he should yield him such encour-
agements and reward as| hix trouble and the extent of his
services might deserve. Hastings had no difficulty in giving
effect to these directions as he was himscelf convineed that
Nuncomar could give valmble assistunce in investigating the
conduct of Reza Khan. On the deposition of that ofticial he
proposed that Munny Begum, the widow of Mir Jaffir,
should be made Superintendent of the Nawahs houschold
and guardian of his person, and that Raja Gooreo Dass, the
son of Nuncomar, should assist her as Dewan,  In a letter to
the Court of Directors he wrote :—

“There is no doubt that Nuncomar ix capable of atlording me
great services by his information and advice ; but it is on his abilities,
and on the activity of his ambition and hatred to Mahomed Reza Cawn
that T depend for investigating the conduct of the latter and, by
eradicating his influence, for confirming the authority which you have
assumed in  the administration of the affairs of this country. The
reward which has been assigned him will put it fully in his power to
answer those expectations, and will be an encouragement to him to
exert all his abilities for the accomplishment of them. Had T not
been guarded by the caution which you have been pleased to enjoin
on me, yet my own knowledge of the character of Nuncomar would
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have restrained me from yielding him any trust or anything which
conid prove detrimental to the Uompany’s interests.”

In making the arrangement Hastings was gaided, it will
be seen, not hy generosity, but by pradence.  He had known
Nuncomar teo long and too well to have any confidence in
him. What Clive had discovered late he had discovered
early.  As he wrote to the Directors :

“ From the year 1759 to the time wheu 1 left Bengal in 1764
I was engaged in a coutinued opposition to the interests and designs
of that wman, beeause I judged him to be adverse to the welfare of
my employers; and in the course of thix contention 1 received suffi-
cient mdications of his ill-will to bave made nme an irreconcilable
enemy if T could suffer my passions Lo supersede the duty which 1
owe to the Company.”

The evidenee is ouly too elear that Hastings did not allow
hix passions to supersede his duty or even to over-ride his
judgment, or Fis sense of justice. Tn o well-known minate he
recorded an opinion of Nuncomar than which nothing could
Lo faiver.  Without tuking it upon himself to vindicate the
moral character of Nuncomar, he**thinks it but justice to
make a distineiion between the vielation of a ¢rust and an
offenice committed weainst our Government by a man who
owed it no allegianee, nov - was indebicd to it for protection,
but on the contrary was the actual servant and  minister of a
master whose interest naturally suggested that kind of poliey
which soaght b forcign aids and the diminution of the powers
of the Comypany to ruise Lis own conzequence and to re-establish
his anthority.”

The Court of Dircctors appreciated Hastings” wisdom
and golf-restraint, and wrote to him :

«Your choice of the Begum for guardian to the Nawab we entire-
ly approve: the use you intend making of Nundcoomar is very proper,
and it atfords us great satisfaction to find that you could at once
determine to suppress all personal resentient when the public welfare
geemed to clash with your private sentiments velative to Nundeoomar.”

Nuncomar must have done his hest to sceure evidence
against the administrator whose place he wanted to fill, but
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after a protracted trinl both Mahomed Reza Khan and Raja
Shitab Roy were acquitted of the charges brought against
them. Great was Nuncomar's disappointment when the
offices of those grandees were abolished.  The eftect of this
stroke of Hastings” policy on Nuncomar's mind cannot be
better deseribed than in the words of Macaulay :-

“ Nundcoomar had propused to destroy the Mussalman adiministra-
tion, and to rise on its ruin.  Both bis malevolence and his cupidity
had been disappointed. Hastings liad made him a tool, iad used him
for the purpose of accomplishing the trausfer of the Government from
Moorshedabad to Calcutta, from native to European hands. The rival,
the enemy, su lung envied, so implacably persecuted, had been dismissed
unhurt. The situation so long and ardently desived had been abolish-
ed. It was natural that the (overnor should be from that time an
abject of the most intense hatred to the vindictive Brahmin,  As yet,
however, it was tecessary to suppress such feelings. The time was
coming when that long animosity was to'end in a desperate and deadly
struggle.”

That Nuncomar's =ole end wux personal aggrandizsement,
that he wanted to rize on the ruin of the Mahomedan adminis-
tlllfl()ll, is evidenced also by the proceedings, already quoted,
of the Select Committes, of the 19¢h July 1765, Hastings
had now given a erushing blow to his long cherished ambition,

but, as events showed, he had ouly scotched the snake,




CHAPTER VII.
Nuncomar @ His TriaL.

The appointment to which Nuncomar azpired, and of
which he was baulked, was one which Nubkissen could have
had for the ‘_Lsk'ing. The document? which follows, throws
light on the civcumstances which led fo the appointment of

Mahomed Reza Khan.,

AT A Secker COMMITYEE UELD TUR 19tk September 1765,
AT Forr WiLL1AM.
Tue Risir HoxouranLi Lowp Crive, President,
Jony danyac, Esq,
[Tavey Veresst, Esq

Lt appears that though Mahomed Reza Khan is a very pliable
gentleman, yer we do not very suuch approve his appointment to the
post of Naeh Nazim of Bengal.  This gentleman hag a very large
amount of patsive goodness.  But we want that the Naeb Nazim
shoald be a very active man, who would most willingly lend us valuable
assistance in the improvement of our most lawful trade,

There is no other man so well fitted for the post as Babu Ram
Hari Chatterjee, at present Dewan of our Kasim Bazar Factory., But
some wicked people, at the instigation of Maharajah Nun Coomar, have
sefit us a petition objecting to Ram Dari’s appointment to this most
responsible post.  The ground of their objection is that Ram Hari is
not a descendant of an aristocratic family, and that his father was in the
service of Moonshee Nabakissen as w.cook at a monthly pay of one
rupee eight annas,

We would have tried our best not to believe this false story,
But unfortunately Nabakissen himself told me that Ram Hari's father
was his cook on 4 salary of one Rupee only. Nabakissen is certainly to
blame for unconsciously corroborating a fulse story, concocted by men
belonging to Nun Coomar’s party.

We are therefore compelled to approve and confirm the appoint-
ment of Mabomed Rexa Khan,

An appointment to which a son of Nubkissen’s cook was
held eligib e was one which Nubkissen might not only have

! quoted in the Bengali book on Muliarajahi Nunda Uoomar by Chandi Oharan Sen, page 226,
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obtained it he had cared for it, but which he had practically
at his disposal.  Any nomineo of his could have obtained it.
He had no ambition, however, to fill appointments of that
kind. Mere emoluments were no attraction to him. His
interests were political, and mere civil offices, however high,
were not to his taste, at any rate after he had proved his
political capacity and made his mark in political life. Nun-
comar’s ambition was wholly ditferent.  He was ever thirst-
ing for high civil employment, for mere self-aggrandize-
ment and not service of the state was his end.  Great indeod
were his indignation and disappointment when the office of
Naib Subah was abolished.  He planned vengeance against
Warren Hastings, und o {ayonrable opportunity arose when
by the arrival of the wembers of the newly appointed Coun-
cil, the power and importance of Hastings were reduced.
The Couneil came * avmed with the most uncompromising
spirit of hostility towards the Government of the Company,
and towards Hagstings in purticular.”  Almost immediately
after their arrival they “ wrested the government out of the
hands of Hastings.” Nuncowar took udvantage of the situa-
tion. His attempt to huniiliate and if possible erush Hastings
has been to Macaulay a text For a sweeping condemnation
not merely of Bengulee, but of Tndian and even Asiatic cha-

racter.  His judgment is worth noting -

“The natives soon found this out {that is, that the higher powers of
government and its most valuable patronage had been taken from
Warren Hastings]. They considered him as a fallen man, and they
acted after their kind. Sowme of our readers may have seen in
India, a cloud of crows pecking a sick vulture to death, no
bad type of what happens in that country as often as fortune
deserts one who has been great and dreaded. In an instant all
the sycophants who lad latcly been ready to lie for him, to
forge for him, to pander for him, to poison for him, hasten to purchase
the favour of his victorious enemics by accusing him. An Indian
Governent has only to let it be understood that it wishes a particular
man to be ruined, and in twenty-four hours it will be furnished with



MAHARAJAH NUBKISSEN BaHADUR, 123

grave chargss, supported by depositions so full and circumstantial, that
any person unaccustomed to Asiatic mendacity would regard it us
decisive......Hastings was now regarded as helpless. The power to
make or mar ‘the fortunc of every wman in Bengal had passed, us it
seemed, intc the hands of the wew Councillors. Immediately charges
against the (fovernor-General began to pour in.”

This is acither just as opinion nor correct as history. It is a
generalisation from a single instanee and is at best a gross ex-
aggeration of a deteet in some types of Indian charactor.  In
the next place it docs not appear that any charges poured in
against the Governor-Geeneral.  Indeed no one, certainly no
Bengalee oxeept Nuncomar, appears to have brought any
charge against Hastings. Tis Nuncomar alone that Bengalees
must thank for such eortificates as Macaulay has thought fit
to give them about their wational character, and the only
way in which they can vindicate themsclves and uphold their
honour ix }y disowning the infamous Nuncomar, that is by
disclaiming all sympathy with i, No Bengalee approached
him in cunning or criminality, and none was so ready to be
a crow pecking a sick vulture to de ith.

The accusation whichNancomar brought aguinst He astings
was formulbted in a letber dddressed to the Governor and
Couneil and Iaid before the Bourd on the 11th March, 1775,
hy Francis, nto whoze hands it had been delivered. Tt was
partly in tlm nature of an insinuation and partly direct.
Nuancomar ralated his connection with the Company and re-
counted wha- he considered to he his services, one of which
was that he wssisted Tastings in prosceuting Mahomed Reza
Khan and Shitah Roy.  Then the accusation begins,  Mahomed
Reza Khan offered 10 lakhs to Hastings and 2 lakhs to Nun-
comar, and Shitab Roy offered 4 Jaikhs to Hastings and one
lukh to Nuncomar. These offers Nuncomar, in all honcsty and
with a noble lisinterestedness, reported to Hastings, who not
wishing that there should he a witness to his corruption,
refused them  But soon after Hastings set Mahomed Reza
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Khan at liberty and entirely dropt the enquiry into his em-
bezzlements and malpractices.  “ Why this extraordinary
favour was so sudidenly shown, the Governor can best assign
the reasons.”  Shituh Roy was reinstated in office.  * Motives
of these proceedings will best be understood from Mr. Has-
tings himselt.,”  The ingenuous Nuncomar could not imagine
why hig prosecution should break down unless the person con-
oratifieation. e

ducting the inquiry had received anillegal g
was apparently not prepared to say that he had offered con-
vincing evidence against the men he had prosecuted, but he
made the quiet assumption or suggestion that bribery ulone
could aecount for the vesulr.  The direet charge comes next.
At various times in the year 1772 Hastings had received the
sum of three lakhs and fitty-four thousand rupees from Nun-
comar and Munny Begum for procuring Raja Gooroo Dass™
appointment to the Niahut and causing Munny Begum to he
made the superior of the family.

The letter containing the aceusation had been received by
Francis i his home inthe conrse of a visit of Nuncomar’s.
He professed fo have not read it before he laid it hefore the
Board. At a meeting ofthe Board on the 13th Mareh 1775
another letter from Nuncone was received and yead, in which
he offered to appear before the Board to give his evidence,
oral and documentary, Hastings’s enemies in Council, Franeis,
Monson and Clavering, seemed to revel in the opportunity thus
offered of humiliating Hastings. They desired to sumwmon
Nuncomar before the Council to give evidence. Hastings
recorded a Minute in which he protested agaiust the procedure
as being unconstitutional and inconsiztent with his poxition. It
is not necessary here to refer in detail to the various passages
at arms between Haxtings and hix opponents in Cfouneil, and
it is enough only to state the conclusion.  Hastings declared
the Uounci-\ dissolved and protested against acts of the Couneil
during his absence as illegal and mwarranted. e then
quitted the Council.  Barwell also withdrew from  the
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Board.  General Clavering took the chair, Nuncomar was
called in anc asked to offer his evidence, A careful analysix
of the evidence ix given by Siv James Stephen in his work
“ Nuncomar and Impey.” That writer, acknowledged to have
been one of -he greatest authorifies on Criminal Law and the
Lew of Bvidenee, has expressed the opinion that the evidence
was grosly inadequate to support the charges. The Board,
however. eane to the conclusion = that the several sums of
money speeified in Maharaja Nuneomar's letter of the 8th
March have heen veceived by the Governor-General, and that
the wsaid sums of money do of vight helong to the Tast
India Company.”™ Tt wax resolved * that the Governor-Grene-
ral be vequested to pay intothe Company's treasuey the amount
of those =ims for the Company’s wse”  In  accordance
with the orders of the Board the papers and proceedings
were  delivered  to the  Company™s Attorney  so  that he
might obtair counsel’s opinion = to the means of recover-
ing the swus of money which Hasrings had been declared

Jiuble to pay into the Company’s treasury. The law officers
of the Company in Bengal did not adyise any prosecution in
India, but they advised the Board to send the records to the
Company  who might take such legal steps ax they might he
advised.  The subsequent history of the proceedings cannot
bhe better ceseribed than in the words of Lord Thurlow :
“ These documents arvived at a time when it certainly was
the anxions wish of the Minister to take any fuir and reason-
able ground he could for the removal of Mr. Hastings.  The
papers were all submitted to the law officers of the Company,
who declared that the information of Nundeoomar, even up-
on the ewparte case betore them, could not possibly be true.
The reasons for that belief were assigned at length,  The
Directors, though a majority of them were very well disposed
to oblige th» Minister, concurred with their law officers, and
all that raboish and trash remained nnmoticed from 1776 to the
vear 1789, when, as your Lordships know, it was repeatedly
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mentioned to you by the managers as containing proofs
of the corruption of Mr. Hastings, and it was very properly
rejécted by the Court. It was never pretended by the mana-
gers that they had evidence to go a step beyond this rejected
information of Nundcoomar.”

Nuncomar next comes into notice as one of the accused ina
charge of conspiracy against Hastings and Barwell. One Camal-
ud=din made a complaint to Hastings to the effoet that he had
been foreed by Nuncomar and Mr. Fowke to sign a petition
stating that he had hribed Hastings and Barwell.  He was
referred to the Chiel Justice, and the Judges, who exercised
the functions of justices of the peace, held an inquiry.  There
wag no prima facie caseagainst 1Mrancis Fowke, who was dis=
charged.  Hastings, Bavwell and Vansittart were asked if
“*they intended to prosecute Joseph Fowke, Nuncomar and
Radha Churn for conspivacy. They declared their intention
to prosecute. At the session, Nuncomar and Fowke were
convicted on the charge of conspiracy against Barwell alone.
Fowke was fined - fitty rupees.  No sentence was pussed on
Nuncomar, beeause he was in jail awaiting the extreme penal-
ty of the law for his memorable conviction on a charge of
forgery.

If it ix necessary to refer to the "trial for forgery, it is
beeause Nubkissen gave evidenee in it The popular notion
with regard to that trial has, for a long time, been that it was a
vindictive prosecution abetted, if not started, by Huastings, and
that Impey, acting as his tool, convicted Nuncomar, or rather
secured his conviction hy the unfair admission and rejection
of evidence and by misdirections to the jury. Tt is necessary
to remember, however, that the prosecution arose out of a
civil case which had been instituted in the Diwani Adalut or
ivil Court of Caleutta about two years before Sir Elijah Tm-
pey and the other Judges of the Supreme Court arrvived in
‘alentta 3 that when  eriminal proceedings were first institu-
ted the complaint was enquired into by two Judges of the
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Supreme Court (not including Impey) acting as justices of the
peace before the cage was committed to the sessions presided
over by Sir Elijah Tmpey 5 and the trial wus held not only
before him, but before him and the other Judges of the
Supreme Court.

The facts of the case are briefly as follows. The civil
suit just rveferred to had heen instituted against Nuncomar
by Gungabissen, the executor of Bollakey Doss, a banker,
It had in fuct Feen instituted earlier in the Judicial Cuteherry
and was transtforred to the Dewani Adalut on its estublish-
ment in 1772, A sum of over a lakh and o quarter was
claimed as *duae to the extate for Company’s honds.”” Nun-
comar denied the elaimyalleging thatalter adjustment of ac-
counts, there was o <mall-balance in his favour.  The account
set. up had been signed by the plaintiff and his attorney,
Mohun Pershal, but they denied that it was an account with
Nuncomar. In the course of the defence, Nuncomar set up
thres bonds alleged to have been executed in his favour
hy Bollakey Duass, upon the steengih of which Nuncomar
claimed to retain  the  Company’s bonds. The court re-
commended arbitration for several reasons. Nuncomar at
first  raized a  difficnliy, boat afterwards  consented.  The
parties, however, could not agree about arbitrators, and
whilst matters were in this suspense, the Supreme Court of
Judicature arrived in Bengal (October 19, 1774). The plaintiff,
who believed the honds to be fictitious, was advised by his
client to institute a criminal prosecution for forgery against
Nuncomar, now that a competent und independent Court was
available, No proceedings could be instituted, however, before
the plaintiff could get access to  the oviginal papers which
were not obtwned till after many applications had been made
from time to time.  On the 6th of May 1775 Nuncomar was
brought before Le Maistre and Hyde and was committed
to the common gaol to he tried on a charge of felonious-

ly uttering a forged writing obligatory with intent to
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defrand the executors of Bollakey Doss. Those Judges in
a letter to the Court of Directors, August 2, 1775, say:
“ When the charge of the forgery was exhibited against the
Maharaja Nuncomar, Mr. Justice Le Maistre happened to
be the sitting magistrate.  He requested the assistance of
Mr. Justice Hyde, who attended with him the whole day upon
the examination, which lasted from nine in the morning till
near ten at night ; when, no dowbt of his guilt remaining in
the heart of either of wus, upon the cvidence on the part
of the Crown, n commitment in the uzual form was made
out.”

“ The importance of thesedetails,” says Sir J. F. Stephen,
¢ lies in the fact that they show that whatever connection
Hastings and Impey, ot either of them, may have had with
the prosecution of Nuncomar, it originated in the usual way.
There had been a litigation of long standing, in which an im-
putation of forgery had heen cast apon Nuncomar. His an-
tagonist decided to prosecute him criminally, and tried to do
so many months before the Supreme Court was established,
but was unable at that time to get the necessary materials,
When the Supreme Court was cstablished these efforts
were renewed, and succeeded ;s and ax soon as the forged
document wax obtained, Nuncomar was brought before
the magistrates and committed for trial in the ordinary
course.”

The purposes of this book do not require a more elabo-
rate statement of the facts of the case. The most complete
and the most searching and systematic account of the case
and of all facts connected with it i= to be found in Sir J. F.
Stephen’s work, to which it is impossible for any writer
on this chapter of Indian History to avoid incurring a
very large obligation. There is no occasion here to discuss
the merits of the case or the impartiality of the tri-
bunal, Tt is sufficient to consider the evidence given by
Nubkissen,
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The following is an extract from a published authentic
report of the trial! : -
~ Raraw Noskwssks.
@—Do you know whose zeal this is? [ Paper prodnced.
A.—~The nanie apon the seal is Maha Rajah Nundocomar,
appears to be his seal ; T cannot tell who fixed it.
The paper of which the following is a translate vead by Mr. Elliot.

NUNDCOMAR
HAHADUR,
Mana Raran.

Formerly the jewels belonging to me were deposited with Seat
Bollakee Doss.  In the Bengal year, 1172, e gave me a bond as the
valae thereof, for the sum of rupees forty-eight thousand and twenty-
one, and a premimn. [ having deliveved-over the said bond to Gunga-
bissen, who is the nephew and manager of the business of the afore-
said Seat, Lie paid all togetlior the sum of current rupees sixty-nine
thousand six hundred and thirty, in bonds of the English Company,
which is the ataount of my demand, as principal, premium and batta.

Written on the fourth of Mungh, in the Beagal year 1176,

Court.—Ix the affixing a seal, the manner in this country of authen-
ticating paper< !

Ad.—There are three sorts of customs in this country. Aurst, for
miany watters, merchants among themselves sign and witness, but do
not seal ; that is, the Bengal'and Calettta merchants.

Second.— Among Mogul Mussulmen, who know no character
but Persian, they write Alaubd, and set their seals,

Third.~—~fovernment affairs pass by seal, without sign manual of
any kind.

o ¢. Ts the application of a seal sufficient to snch a paper ax that?
[ 8hewn receipt letter F. )

.. As one might know Nagree, and the other Persian and Ben-
gali, such a seal might be sufficient. This paper being only a receipt,
4 seal is sufficient.  The word Alaubd is not needful in this case.

¢ Ts it necessary that snch a writing as this be confirmed by

witness ¢

V The Trial of Maka Rajale Nundoromar, Bualondur, For Forgery,
Pablished by Aunthority of the Supreme Conrt of Judicature in Bengal, Londaon,
Printed for 1, Cadell, in the Styand. 1776, P. 27.
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A. Tt is not necessary. [ Translate of a bond exhibit A read.]

The prisoner desired he might ask Rajah Nobkissen guestion,

Court.—Let him consult his Counsel before he ask the question.
[ The question being overheard by Nobkissen, he said, “ Maha Raja
Nundocomar had better not ask me that question.” Upon which
Nundocomar declined asking the question.]

Court to Jury.—Yon must receive no prejudice from this; you
wust forget the conversation, and judge only by the evidence at the bar.

[The Jury said they would only judge by the evidence.]

). How long did you know before his death ?

A. T believe, three or four years, when Lord Clive was Governor.

(). What was Bollakey Doss’s business?

A. He was not then in any business in Caleutta.

©. Wasg you intimate with him ?

A, T was very well acquainted with him.

(). What was his general character ?

A. A very honest man.

@, Did you know Pudmohun Doss?

4, I did.

(. Do you know anything of Bollakey Doss’s cirenmatances ?

A. He was reckoned a monied man.

§. Ave you acquainted with Bollakey Doss’s manner of executing
honds ?

A.~— T know nothing about it.
Again : ' Rajah Nobkissen.

).—Did you know Sillabut ?

A.—Yes; he was a Vakeel and Munshy of Bollakey Doss,

Q.—Are you acquainted with his handwriting ?

AT am ; 1 have seen him write many times.

{ Bond shewn him. ]

Q.—1s this the handwriting of Sillabut ¢

A.-—The words “Sillabut, Vakeel of Bollakey Doss,” are not of
his handwriting ; it is not his common writing: | have seen several
papers of his handwriting.

{.—Can you take upon you to swear it s not his handwriting?

A.—S8illabut wrote several letters to me and Lord Clive, and has
wrote several thinga Defore me: this is not the kind of writing
T have seen him write ; but God knows whether it is his handwriting
or not.

! Tdem, Tp. 30, 31.M




Manaratan NepkisseN BARADOUR, 131

@.—Whas is your opinion about it ?

A.—The prisoner is a Brahmin ; T am a Coit;it may hurt my reli-
gion ; it is not a trifling matter ; the life of a Brahmin is at stake.

@.—Do you, or do you not, think this the handwriting of Silla-
but? Rememler, you arve upon your oath, to tell the truth, and the
whole truth.

A.—1 eannot. tell what is upon my mind on this oceasion about it.

(».—Why not?

#.—This voncerns the life of a Bralin, L don’t chose to say what
is 'n my mind about it. :

.—Did Sillabut write a better, or worse, hand than this?

iA.-—The Jetters on this paper are well formed : those of Sillabut
are not badly formed, but are not so good as these.

The papers are shewn him which were shewn to the former
witness, for the purpose of selecting those which were the hand-
writing of Siliabnt: he immediately fixes on the three papers before
proved to be tlie handwriting of Sillabut.

WWitness.—'These three ave the handwriting of Sillabut: 1 can
find no other papers of his writing among these,

.—Did you ever see these papers before?

A.—Never in my life: [ never was in sucha cause : T would
rather lose a great sum of money than be in such a cause.

That ix all the evidence that Nubkissen gave in the case,
and it might have heenlett to speak for itself if it had not
been very much misunderstood and misrepresented.  Siv
Elijah Tmper in his charge to the jury refers to it in the
following tering -

“Rajah Nobkissen, on the paper being shewn him, swore posi-
tively, thai it was not the handwriting of Sillabut ; bnt afterwards
retracted the positiveness of his opinion : but the circumstance of his
immediate fixirg on the three papers, which were before proved to be
of Sillabut’s writing, is a stronger proof of the knowledge of his
handwriting, than any positive oath. T mnst again cantion you
against veceiving any impression unfavourable to the prisoner, from
the hesitation wnd doubts or exclamations of this witness, or from
any other eircuristances except what lie actually deposed to,”

This is an acknowledgment that, in <pite of his hesitation,
doubts and erelamations, the evidence given by Nubkissen
was absolntely true, judged by a very practical test. There
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was no attempt at crossexamining him.  Nir James Stephen’s
comment on hix evidence ix:—¢ Both the reluctance and the
obvious convietion with which he spoke are very remarkable,””!
In another passage that writer has oceuasion to refer to
Nubkizsen's * reluctance to  give evidence on Nuncomar’s
trial,” 2

The reluctanee 1= eapable of being understood in two
ways, either as an artful means ol expressing the very thing
whwh it appeared to suppress, or as a genuine unwillingness
to sy a thing which would endanger a Brahmin’s life,
Rules of charity and common sen=e alike tell ux to presume
an honorable purpose in preference to a perverse one where
hoth are equally possibles. "Apart from all principles of pre-
sumiption, however, there ure certain facts to be borne in
miud in eonnection with Nubkizsen's evidence, The truth of
it is indisputable. MHis hesittion cannot therefore he regard-
ed as the prevarvication of a perverse wimess who conceals
his ignorance of a fact by answers rthat simulate knowledge,
who in spite of his ignorance is bent on ruining a prisoner
by mere suggestions of guilt. hut who dares not make posi-
tive affirmations for fewrof exposing hiz mendacity,  Nub-
kissen showed that he really did know Sillubut’s handwriting,
and was satisfied in his own mind that the signature shown
to him on the bond was not in Sillabut’s handwritmg,  No
eross-exanination could have diseredited his evidence, If
he still hesitated, it ix elear that it was a fond-fide hesitation,
It can never he pretended that he knew nothing of the
matter on which he was called upon to give evidence,
or that he knew the reverse of what he chose to sav, and
that out of spite against the prisoner or to help the pro-
secution, he, by his hesitation, merely put on a knowing
axpect. What he did know wus against the prisoner, and there
was nothing to provont hix ‘nl\l”“ it outright, saying it with

' Nuweomar (qu IIN[)t i. Val 1, p. 120,
dem, Vol T1, p. 287, TFootenote,
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eagerness, and saying it with emphasis, exaggeration and  or-
nament, if his purpose was to help the prosecution and dam-
age the defence. The hesitation was displayed in a Court of
Law and not in a drawing-room. Nubkissen was giving evi-
dence and not eoguetting with a friend.  Why then was he
so modest, so sweetly reluctant, so importunate not to be press-
ed *  Obvionsly he was indulging in no affectation, hut was
sincerely unwilling fo bear ovidence against a Brahmin
whom he always regarded with kindly feelings and whose
life was now at stake.

The trinl commenced on the th of June and lasted for
seven consecutive days.  The jury returned a unanimous
verdiet of guilty.

A motion in arrestol judguient was made by the prisoner’s
counsel, Mr. Farrer, apd rvejected. The Court pronounced
the sentence of death. A petition for leave to appeal was
rejected, A petition to the Judges, to which the signatures
of the Jury were sought to be abtained, praying for a respite,
had to be abundoned, because only ene juryman consented to
sign it.  Nuncomar prepared a petition to he presented to the
Governor-General in Council.  Before submitting it he wrote
a letter to Francis carnestly soliciting his intervention. In
the course of the letter he wrote :—

“ All my hopes under God Almighty is in you, therefore most
humbly entreat, in the name of God, you will be pleased to intercede
for me and procure a respite till His Most Gracious Majesty’s pleasure
is known...... As T entirely rely onYour Worship's endeuvour to do me
all the good you van, T shall not, according to the opinion of the
Hindoos, accuse you in the day of judgment of neglecting to assist me
in the extremity 1 am now in.”

Sir James Stephen reprints the letter,dated the 31st July,
1775, from Merivale’s Life of Francis. Francis acted as Ma-
caulay’s Bengalee would have done.  As Siv J. Stephen
remarks ;-

“There ix un ominous tone in the concluding words which wmust
at least have given Fraucis an uneasy twinge in after life, when he
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thought, if he ever did think, that esruestly and unsuceessfully as
lie had laboured for years to wveak his deadly malice on Hastiugs
and Tmpey, he had left Nuuncowar to die when he could have saved
him with a word, and was as false and treacherous to his friend as
he was persistent in his malignity agaivst his enemies.”

The prayer of Nuncomar’s petition to the Governor-
General was “ to intercede with the Judges on your petition-
or’s behalf for a respite on such conditions as might be
thought proper.” Hustings suggested that the Council
<hould endorse the petition to the Court. General Claver-
ing und Colonel Monson opposed the idea, und the matter
was dropped.  This contemptuous rejection by the mujority
of the Council, of Nuncomar’s petition to them, forms the
subject of some strong hut well-deserved remarks by Sir
James Stephen :— On the Lst of Augnst 1775, writes e,
« they had it in their power to suve Nuncomar’s life by
simply voting in their capaeity of amajority of the Council,
to send to the judges, in the nune of the Governor-General
and Council, the letter which Farrer had drawn......If at that
time they really did believe that he was an innocent man, on
the point of being judicially murdered, they made themselves,
by their conduet, accomplices in the murder which they be-
lieved to be in the course of 'being committed.”

(lavering, Monson and F rancts were cruelly indifferent.
The petition was unot sent on to the Judges s no respite
waz granted ; and on the 5th of Augnst 1775 Nuncomar wax
hanged.  The extreme severity of the sentence has made
Nunconar, and will probably continue to make him, an object
of general sympathy. It is impossible not to agree with
Mucaulay. A sentence falling short of the capital would
have commanded universal approval, for not only was there
no doubt of Nuncomar’s guiltin the case in which he wux con-
vieted, but no man could be in worse repute than he was ux
to his goneral character and behaviour., Tt would scem that
in spite of this severity of the sentence, the convietion was
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regarded with approval by various classes of people. In the
course of July four addresses were presented to the Judges
approving of their conduet. The first wax addressed by the
grand jury to Tmpey personally ; the second was also addressed
to Impey per-onally by Europeans calling themselves ¢ the free
merchants, free mariners, and other inhabitants of the town
of Caleutta ;” the third was signed by forty-three Armenians
and addressed to all the Judges ; and the fourth was signed hy
about a hunidred leading natives of C‘aleutta and the neigh-
hourhood, headed by Maharaja Nubkissen.  The last address
states that the King of England has formed a new law ; that
their © hearts were filled with varions douhts concerning the
manner in w hich the new law would operate, but by the manner
in which it had been adwinistered these doubts had been re-
moved, and confidence and joy gprang ap in our hearts; and
we ure thoroughly convineed that the country will prosper,
the bad be punished and the good be cherished.” It was not
the influence of the Court which elicited this address of the
native citizens, for it was over-shadowed by the influence of
the Couneil.  The address rather gave strength to o Court
lacking influence. With reference to it Impey wrote :—
“The uddress from the Hindoos T thought no ingenuity could
divert from proving the sense of the natives in this town, but it seems
it is signed by black banyans, Every gentleman who has heen in
Caleutta will inform your lordship that there is scarcely one Hindoo in
the settlement except the banyans of General Clavering, Colonel Mon-
son and My. Francis, and oue named Cossinant, who has not sub-
geribed to that paper. Cossinaut was one of the first that proposed the
address ; he had afterwards a dispute with the Governor-General and
Couneil about some allowance on account of a farm as will appear on
the records of the Council, and declined signing the address.”
1t would thus appear that public opinion, European as
well as native, was expressed in an ummistakable way in the
nature of a vote of ~confidence in the Court. It is very
likely that the masses of the Hindoo population were espe-
cially shocked by the hanging of a conspicuous Brahmin, but
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it seems to be clear that all citizens, in whom the sense of
legal justice prevailed over other sentiments and who had in-
telligently followed the course of the trial. loyally accepted a
result which, il lamentable, the law rendered inevitable,
Thus closed a career to which the scaffold has heen a real
clevation.  Tf Nuncomar is an object of xvmpathy to any class
of men, it is beeause he was hanged.  And scarcely has a
criminal heen more fortunate. He hrought charges againgt
Mahomed Reza Khan. and though that oficer had to he
acquitted because the charges were proved to be false, sus-
picious men looked upon the vesult us proof positive of the
corruption of Hasting=. He hrought charges of corruption
against Hasting=, but thongh the evidence in support of them
was of the feeblest, and competent judges to-day look upon
them ax wholly unfounded. Husting= has been presumed
to have, with a natwral  malicer instigated  and seeretly
managed the prosecution of =~ hix antagonist and  accuser.
The Chief Justice of the Court which tried him has been
roundly charged with unfairness on mere suspicion for no
other reason than that he was o fricnd of Hastings. Nun-
comar with indiseriminate spite threw mud at many, and
something of it has stuek to each. For himselt he posed as
an injured innocent, and the mere cmphasis and persistency
of his protestations have in the eves of . good many invested
his stories with an air of truthfulness.  When, however, he is
judged ax he was, and not ax he ov hix sentimental champions
have made bim out to be, lie cannot but come to be recognis-
ed as 1 monumental villuin, compared to whom Cethegux was a
simple citizen and Titus Oates u man of houour.
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NunkrsskN had long heen in possession of the Talook of
Hichapur (written also Btchapur, Ttchapur or Hitchapur).
On the ith of January 1774, the President laid before the
Board 243 gold coins which were delivered to him by Nub-
kissen ax a Royalty, having bheen found in that talook. Tt
was ordered that they should be delivered to the Treasury of
the Khalsa, reserving such as had the fairest impression to be
sent home to the Court of Directors ax they scemed to be
very ancient and curiousx.

In the same year Nubkissen offered Rs, 500 for the farm
of the Soubah Bazar to he continued to him in perpetuity.
He solicited the wsual sanad. oo Its jumme in the previous
year was Rs. 230, The bazar’s contiguity to the Raja’s
dwelling house made hinm desirous of the grant, but it had
heen the custom to let the bazars of Calcutta for one year
only at the commencement of encli year. The Raja’s pro-
posal for farming the Noubalt Bazar in perpetuity was accept-
o, Next vear one Raghw Nath Mitter wanted to establish
a rival bazar on hix own ground wdjoining Soubah Bazar.
Nubkissen made a complaint.  Raghu Nath Mitter’s attempt
was foiled.  He had obtuined no =anad from the President,
and it wax contrary as well to the general regulations as to
the custom of the country that a bazar, hat, or ganj should
Le established withont such 2 =unad. Nubkissen’s petition
and the orders passed thereon are inserted below.

Brtract of the Proceedings at « Convnitlee of Revere, held at Fort
Williwm, the Tth Decendier 1775,
Lead the tollowing Avzee from Nabokishen :—
I beg leave to represent that Rughu Nath Miter
being evil disposed towards me wants to ruin Seubah
Bazar and to establish a new bazar on his own ground

Persian

Seal,

adjoining to the other. I have been farmer for a long
time and am possessed of a supnad in perpetuity. If
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you will please to take the matter into consideration, you will find no-
thing but vieiousness and erroneous conduct in Rugoo Mitre. Some
time ago Ram Behary Seet whose land is near the bazar applied to the
Superintendent of the Calsa for leave to establish a bazar on his own
ground. It was not granted to him. The then Superintendent is
now in Caleutta. There are many persons possessed of ground here-
abouts, Should Rogonat succeed, all these persons will on the same
principle apply. T therefore request that you will reprove Rugoo
Mitre and order him to lay aside his project.

The President's information thercon :—

Nubkissen Maharajah made to me a regular complaint against
Rugoo Mitre, before he preferred it to the Board, my interference
alone having been found insufficient. On the receipt of it, knowing the
erection of a bazar was contrary to the established custom of the
country until a sannad should fiest be obtained from Government to
authorise it, T sent for Ragoo Mitre and enquired the truth of the
circumstance which he confivming and promising to destroy it if I
thought proper to direct it, T gave him a verbal order to put it down
immediately ; as he did not comply with this, Nubkissen preferred to
the Doard this representation.

SENTIMENTS OF THE COMMITIEE.

Lt is particularly forbid by the General Regulations, and is con-
trary to the custom of the country thatany person shall establish
bazars, hauts, or gunjes without sannads from the President, and it
seems from the vicinity of the situations of the Sobah Bazar and
Rugoo Mitre's house that no bazar can be established there without
prejudice to the grant lautely made by the Government to Nobkissen.

Agreed therefore that Rugoo Mitre be obliged to enter into a
Mochalaca to destroy the bazar he has erected and desist from such
undertaking for the future, and ordered Le or his vakeel do attend at
the next meeting.

Batract from the Droceedings at a Committer of Levenue, held «t Fort
Williwm, the 8th January 1776,

The vakeel of Rugoo Metre attends the Committee, being
asked, if Lie has any sunnad for establishing a bazar, replied he has
not ; he is then made acquainted with the Committee’s Resolution of
the Tth ultimo and directed to give a Machalaka that he will not esta-
blish a bazar without previvusly obtaining a sannad from Government.

In 1777 a question arose as to the precise limits and con-
tents of the village or mahal granted to the Raja.  1In the
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sanad, it i worthy of note, Nubkissen i3 deseribed as ‘the
high and powerful Maharaja Nobkissen Bahadre.” Tn a pe-
tition, which was considered in December 1777, Nubkissen
stated that he had not been put in possession of Ram Bazar,
Soubah Bazar, Charles Bazar, Raje Bazar and the sayer of
Bang Bazar. An inquiry was made and it was found that
the land-rentx of Rum Bazar, Soubah Bazar, Charles Bazar,
and Raje Bazar were included in the mahal of Sootanytty.
Tt was decided, however, that the jumma of Ram Bazar and
Raje Bazar was to be deducted from the malguzarry to be
paid by Rajn Nubkissen as those grants were still to be held
by Clossinaut [ Kashi Nath] and Rauje Bullub [Raj Bullubh]
respectively. The following ure the original papers.

Ordered that the Resolution be also transmitted to the Khalsa
with orders to the Superintendent to conform to it.

Ar A Covvun ( Revenue DEPARTMENT ), December 16th, 1777,

Ordeved that the Secretavy doapply to the Secretary to the Caleutta
Committee to know whether the Aumildary Perwannah has been deli-
vered to Condrop Dass for the farm of part of the Hidgelee Districts,
if Rajuh Nobkissen has becn put in ‘possession of the lands ordered
him by the Board, and if he lias received the Aumildary Perwannah.
In case the Perwannal have not been delivered to Condrop Dassand
Rajah Nobkissen, that he will immediately order them to be drawn out,
s0 that they may be laid befove the Board before they break up.

Ar a CouvoilL (ReveNUE DrrawTMmest), Decomber 19th, 1777.

Read the following Petition from Rajah Nobkissen, delivered
in Ly the Governor-General, together with a Note from
the President of the Caleutta Committee.

Translatior. of a Petition from Rajah Nobkissen.

The Council having been graciously pleased to approve of my
request, the geatlemen of the Commiittee yesterday (the 17th day
of December) granted me an order of possession under English signa-
tures and the seal of the Company. Ram Bazar, Soubah Bazar, Charles
~ Dazar, Raje Bazar, which have from of old been under SBootalutty
and yield a revenue of about two thousand rupees, as also the sayer
of Baug Bazar, which is at present desolate and pays no jomma, have
not, however, been included in the above order ; and 1 have to pray
therefore that ovders may Lo given Lo the Committee to put me in
possession of these muhuly agreeable to the terms of my request,
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Nore rrom Mre, Howme,
To ruw Mox'sLs Wanres Hasmives, Esq.,

, Governor-General.
HoN'pre Sk,

Upon inquiry 1 find that the land rents of Ram Bazar, Soobah
Bazar, Charies Bazar, and Raje Bazar (being a gunge granted to
Rajah Rauje Bullub) ure included under the Mahal of Sootanooty,

Annual Revenue :

Rs.
500 ... Soobah Bazar, held by sunnad to Nobkissen.
700 ... Ram Basar, do. do. Cossinaut.

850 (1184) ... Charles Bazar, farmed out annually by the
Compuny.
150 ... Raje Bazar, held by sunned to Rauje Bullub.
I understand from Nobkissen that he wants to have the fixed
rents of the three bazars held by sunnadas above to be paid to him,
the sunnads to continue as heretofore. - Also that the jumma of Charles

Bazar should be comprised in his gyant,
I am, with respect, ete,,

(Signed) J, Horusn.
19¢h December 1777,

Agreed that the Caléutta Committee of Revenue be written

to as follows 1 —

To Mg, Jonxy HowLms, [resident, dc., Provincial Council sf Re-
venue at Calculic.

GENTLEMEN,

As we understand that Bam Bazar and Raje Bazar are in-
cluded in the wmahl of Sootanutty, lately granted to Rajah
Nobkissen, we divect that you deduct the amount of their jumma
from the malgazarry to be paid by Rajah Nobkissen, as these grants
must still be held by Rajah Raje Bullub and Cossinaut, who have
sunnuds for them, and who must pay the rent of them direct to
Government.

We are, ete.

Forr WiLLiam,

The 19th December 1777.

In the list of amilnamaslaid before the Committee on the
23rd October 1777, by the President, Nubkissen i described
as Zemindar of Hunehapore. And in a list of perwanas to the
talookdars of the Zilla Calcutta, laid before the Comnmittee
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on 24th October 1777, Nubkissen is mentioned ax talookdar
of village Mahinderpore,

In 1778 there were fresh attempts to set up a vival hét
in Sootanutty. They were made by an influential gentlenian,
Madan Dutt, and a comparatively inzignificant person, Jug-
mohun Sooree, hut these attempts also failed.  The original
papers in this case ave rather long and they may be left to
speak for themselves,

Petition.
Gth November 1778,
To ™ie Hov'sur Warrey Hastives, Esq.,

(foveraor Genoral, de., Membepsof the How'ble the Supreine Council
of Fope William.
‘The Humble Petition of Rajah
Nabo Krishna, Calcutta Inhabitant.
MosT HuMBLY SHEWETH :-—

That in the Village of Sootalusty Haut and Bazar there was for-
merly & Moorish Tdgah (a place where the Moormen in general, in-
habitants of this settlement, nsed to go to. worship every vear) oune
Madan Dutt of Caleutta by =ome meang or other possessed himself
of the said ldgah without hwving obtained any pattahs from the
Collector's oftice for that place or paying any attention to the Taws
of Mahomed., The said Madun Dutt with a view to his own emao-
luments have erected on this apot of ground a new bazar without
anthority which bazar greatly injured the vents of your Petition-
er's bazar and haut of Sootanlooty. Your Petitioner finding himself
thus injured complained to the Calcutta Committee, who were
pleased to ovder an ammin and four peons with a parwannah to de-
stroy the said new bazar. But the said Madan Dutt and his people
paid no attention either to the parwannah or the anmin and peons
but beat and drove them away. Since which he the said Madan Dutt
established on the same spot a new haut which greatly prejudiced the
Malguzarry of Sootanlooty hauts and bazar, the rents of which
formerly amounted to the sum of 3,350 rupees as will appear by the
Collector's books :—

Also the Subah Bazar in the Districts at Scotanlooty belong to
the Talookdary of your petitioner ; your Petitioner having had the
Subah Bazar sunnud from-the Government granted him a long time
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ago in perpetuity. Now one Juggomohan Sooree, finding Madan
Dutt had taken such steps of erecting bazar and hauts of his own with
impunity, raised a body of sepoys with firelocks and bayonets and
by force of arms erected a bazar in the main road, which is also under
your petitioner’s talook and in his golah barry by which your Peti-
tioner is greatly prejudiced and sustains heavy losses.

Your Petitioner has heard that it has been represented to the
Council by the bazar people that be has made uncustomary ecollections
from them. Thisis utterly void of truth, as willappear from the caboo-
liets of the people to whom he rented the tobaceo and betel leaf mahals,
and if on enquiry it should appear that he has received anything
beyond what has been usually paid for the three years prior to the
date of his grant, your Petitioner is ready to forfeit three times the
value agreeably to the tenor of his sunnud. The shop-keepers and
bazar people are poor ignorant men who know not how to write, and
the petition given in their names is well known to have been fabri-
cated by Madan Dutt from motives of enmity to your Petitioner,
thereby hoping to avail himself of necessary time for enquiry into this
circumstance to establish his own bazar and hauts, The bazar people
and shop-keepers request permission to erect a new haut and hazar;
this has never hitherto been permitted to the prejudice of the
eatablished ones. If they were dissatisfied with coming to your Peti.
tioner’s bazar, they ought to go to other established bazars, in which
case your Petitioner could make no objection.

Your Petitioner therefore now humbly requests that the Hon'ble
Board will be pleased to depute an ammin to the said old haut and
bazar of Sootanlooty to examine the shop-keepers and bazar peoples
on cath, when should it be found that he has over collected anything
he is willing to repay it three times. Your Petitioner further requests
that people on the part of Government may be sent to destroy the bazar
and hauts newly erected by Madan Dutt and Juggomohan Sooree as
likewise that Negabans may be stationed to prevent the re-establish.
ment of this bazar and hauts, as also to prevent any further disputes,

And your Petitioner as in duty hound
shall ever pray, &e.

P.8.—~The gentlemen of the Committee having on a former occa-
sion defined and assisted the rights of Government, it waay not be
improper to annex to my representation, the formal decree on which
the prayer of my Petition is grounded to shew the equity of such
prayer and that T am warranted in making it by the usage of the
country repeatedly and formally declared by Government.
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PRroOCEEDINGS.
To Mr, Joux EveLyy,

Acting Preudent, ., Memhers of the Caloutte Commitice of Revenue.
(IRENTLEMEN,

inclosed we transmit you the copy of a petition which has been
presented to us in behalf of Rajah Nobkissen.

We desire vou will refer to our former orders on this snbject, and
we recommend it to you, if you have not already decided upon that
reference, to summon Madan Dutt to shew cause why you shall not
proceed to the abolition of the bazars erected by him, and if he can
produce no authority for them, they st be abolished.

We are, &ec.,
(8d.) WarreN HasTiNes,
(8d.) P. Francis.
(8d.) Eow, WHELER,

Fort WiLLrAM,

The 8th November 1778,

To Mr, Enwarp GoLDINgG,
President, de., Provincial Council for the Division of Calcutta.
({ENTLEMEN,

We have received your letter of the 16th ultimo, accompanying
your proceedings on the subject of the complaints of Rajah Nobkissen
acainst Madan Dutt.

We have in consequence resolved to abolish the bazar erected
by Madan Dutt and we have issued onr instructions for this purpose
to the Supevintendent of the Khalsa Records.

We are, &c.,
(8d.) Wanrnrrxy HasTiNas,
(8d.) Ru D, Barwrri,
(8d.) P. Frawcs.
(8d.) Epwo, WhEeLkR.
Forr WILLIAM,
The 8th Janwary 1779.

Mr. Vansittart'’s Minute on the Bazar is somewhat
tediously long, but it contains many points of general and
historic interest and may, therefore, be inserted,
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Mer. VANSITTARTS MINUTE.

As the dispute between Rajah Nobkissen and Moden Dutt has
not only long employed the attention of the Committee, Wut also
engaged the notice of the Board who have issued to us vepeated
orders on the subject, T think we shall best discharge our duty and
fulfill their expectations by presenting it in evot’y‘pnint‘ of view and
discussing the various objects, which are contained in its compass, for
it is not a concern which affects only two individnals, but involves
public and political questions, which greatly interest and merit the
consideration of CGiovernment. Tt is our daty to explain and the
province of a superior power ‘o judge, assisted by such information as
we may be able to supply.

T shall record my opinion, previously to the general resolution
of the Committee, that it may be more compact and full than any
which I could possibly blend with tlie sentiments of the other members,
however unanimous we might be.

In ovder to make the subject entive, - T must unite the two points
on which we have received the orders of the Board. The first is,
Rajah Nobkissen’s complaint against Moden Dutt for erecting a bazar
in Sootanatee without the sanction of Government, and by this
unauthorized proceeding injuring a public bazar which he (Rajah Nob-
~ kissen) holds in its vicinity by virtue of a sunnnd. The second is
" the complaint of the tahibeezarries or hucksters of Calcutta against
Rajah Nobkissen for exacting more than the authorized duties and by
his oppressious necesgitating them to quit his talook.

With respect to the first complaint Moden Dutt has denied that
he has-erected a bazar, alleging that the test of a bazar is the collec-
tion of duties and making the weights and scales, neither of which he
has ever practised, but has taken ground rent.

To deny the right of Government to establish public bazars, is
to deprive it of part of the resources which qualify it to perform the
fanctions of supremacy by controlling and protecting its subjects and
providing for the exigencies of the State. To deny the exclusive
privilege of public bazars, is to frustrate this right of Government and
to commit injustice towards the talookdar or farmers to whom the
faith of Government is pledged and who is promoting in a subordinate
capacity the public good. To ercct a private bazar is not only to
create all the evils stated in the foregoing proposition, but to destraoy
pre-eminénce of Government and to assume the powers which it dele-
gates to others.
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If such be the right of Government and if the force of it be so
strong as to be felt by the individual who is now accused of having
erected a private bazar, shall any person be suffered to invade it by
indirect methods and by subtle reasoning ? However, T will examine
the arguments which have been produced. The first is that Moden
Dutt has only taken ground rent.

A spot of ground, before almost, if not entirely, uninhabited,
becomes on a sudden a public mart, and is crowded with thoge very
persons who used to resort to the public bazar held by Rajah Nob-
kisgen. The market days are observed, and Rajah Nobkissen's bazar
and hauts of Sootanotee have been desolated.

This is incentrovertible evidence that Moden Dutts bazar is
used instead of Raja Nobkissen’s, that it is frequented by the same
persons, and that it has been so effectually appropriated to the same
purposes as to render the other useless,

However, 1 shall consider the distinction pointed out by
Moden Dutt that he has only received rent, or, in other words, T will
endeavour to mark the limits which divide the natures of dwelling
honses and markets. I think it may be adivitted that the tenant of
a dwelling house may set up & shop in it and maintain himself
by his sales. T would admit also that three or four or more dwelling
houses of this kind might be collected together and would not be
taken notice of. But should an individual step forth, and encourage
the tenants of public bazars to relinquish the protection of Govern-
ment and place themselves under his patronage ; should he assign
them ground and exempting them from duties, charge them with
house rents which will be proportionably enhanced, as the bazap
tlourishes, will the Government tamely suffer such an injury, alarm-
ing in its immedinte consequences and more dangerous in its future ?

There are various kinds of markets in this town, a bazar is one, .
which is open every day, and a haut is frequented on particular days,
There are two kinds of shop-keepers in the bazars. The moodies who
keep a shop in the houses, in which they reside, and the tahbuzarries
who expose their goods on stalls or in temporary shops in the day time
and return to their own houses in the evening; the utmost indul.
gence, to which an individual can have any pretentions, is to let his
ground to moodies, who are his tenants in the same manner as any
other persons who miay inhabit his houses. However, Government
may certainly restrain such shop-keepers, should they increase to too
great a number and injure the revenue, particularly if they have
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one general landlord and patron, as no individual has a right
to convert to his own use, or to suppress the duties which appertain to
Government. But the tahbuzarries arve to be regarded in a very
different light. They come to a spot of ground appropriated to the use
of a market and with no other intention than to vend their articles
which are usually of a perishable nature and must be sold within
the day, such as fish, greens, &e.

The public bazars are so necessary that they claim the care of
Government. They should not be left to chance or to the pleasure of
individuals, but Government should provide them and place them
under proper regulation, The ease, nay the very existence of the
people, depends upon them, as they circulate the conveniences and
necessaries of life throughout the country.

I wish that the custowms of bazars had been more fully explained
in the answer, which has been delivered by the canongoes. We are,
hOV'VeVEI‘, informed that the duties are at first fixed and cannot be
altered afterwards. DBut I presunie, although it is not expressed, that
the rule for fixing them is the custom of the spot, which varies in
every part of the provinces,

The tahburzarries relate some circumstances peculiar to Calcutta,
which do not apply to bazars in other places, such as the establishment
of the Custom House, the appointment of Negabanns, &c.

A nation gradually establishing their influence, and exercising
authority under various forms, may have created changes, I may say
some confusion in the principal seat of their residence by blending
customs and acting at different times from different principles, our
records give us no insight into the Regulations of the Custom House,
nor are they of any importance. We are to look to the present system
of letting the bazars to farm which commenced from the last change,
and established duties, if none were collected before. The bazars
have yielded a revenue to Gtovernment and the duties have formed
the assets which have enabled the farmers to fulfill their engagements,
The duties are now a customary branch of the revenue, and the
collection of them is anthorized by the practice in all other parts
of the country, as well as by the increase of population and wealth
which so0 amply supplies Calentta with the means of paying them,

A market is a place where authority must be exercised to regu-
late the weights and scales, to preserve order, and to afford protection
to the persons who frequent it ; can such authority exist independent-
ly of the Government? Moden Dutt argues that the assemblage of
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shops in his ground is not a hazar, because there ave no officers of the
market, and because no mark is aflfixed to the weights and scales.
But it is not a plain inference from these premises that a market
ought not to be entrusted to an individual who cannot station in it the
officers necessary to regulate and control it.

A talookdar is dependant upon the Government which can fix
or reduce the duties, but can the Government fix or reduce the rent
which an individual is to receive from his own tenants ? The truth
of the assertion of the Vakeel of the Moden Dutt cannot be denied
that a person has a right to let his gronnd for the most he can.
What then will ensue from the toleration of such bazars? The pub-
lic bazars will be desolated and their revenue entirely lost, the
inhabitants, who have been nsed to depend upon them for provisions,
will be left at the mercy of .individuals, who are proprietors of
ground, What disturbances ~will arise ‘hetween landholders who will
mutually oppose each other and sometimes use force to support their
respective bazars? The evil will be still greater if a powerful man
should acquire an extensive influence, or a number of men should
combine to enrich themselves by oppressing their fellow-subjects ;
an income might grow from the spoils of the abolished duties of
Government, under the name of rent to an amount considerably
above the duties. The shop-keepers can have no remedy except
from changing their situation and private influence or combinations
might deprive them of that.

I cannot avoid taking noticeof an alteration in the second peti-
tion of the dokandars. In the first they style themselves takbuzariies
and say they have been used to sell divers articles in several bazars in
Calowtta and to refurn home in the evenang with the proceeds. 1In the
second petition they style themselves dokandars ; and in the petition,
which they delivered to the Board, shop-keepers. I am inelined to think
this change was suggested to them, as it agrees with the means which
have been made use of to prove that the shop-keepers in Madan Dutt’s
ground are vesidents and not takbuzarries.

Another argument adduced by the dokandars is, that there are
many private lazars. The interposition of Government therefore is
the more necessury to suppress the evil in the present instance; as the
abolition of all other private bazars will follow, whenever the talook-
dars or farmers who suffer by them shall lodge complaints,

An argument: lately adduced by Moden Dutt is, that some mer-
chants who reside in the bazars have settled some shop-keepers under
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their verandahs or in the ground adjoining to their houses, which
shop-keepers pay no duties to the talookdars or farmers who lold the
bazars. Upon this principle Moden Dutt claims a right to settle
shop-keepers on his ground. If sucha custom does exist, the only infer-
ence from it is that a respect is shewn to those merchants by the
talookdar, which cannot extend to one who in open opposition to him
has erected a building purposely to contain shops, and, by enticing his
shop-keepers from him, desolated his bazars,

The complaint of the tahbuzarries against the talookdar is very
regular and will be enqguired into. They have two modes of relief,
whenever oppressed; one is by settling in some other authorized bazar,
and the other by petitioning Government, the healing influence of
whose care is spread through every order of men, and will equally
protect the shop-keepers and talookdar.

The Committee have endeavoured to ascertain the standard by
which the duties ought to be regulated. “But the Duan can find only

the following :—
Each Tahbuzarry stand per diem.

For Negabans <. 13 Cowries.
For Chowkeydarry ... v v 6 Gundas, 3 Cowries.
For Birt . e 2 w2 ”

He, however, thinks that the proper rule is the collections of the
five past years. Raja Nobkisgen represents that should it appear that he
has received more than was usua ly paid in the three years prior to the
date of his sunnud, he will forfeit three times the value agreeably to his
sunnud. There ig a stipulation in the English articles of agreement
that should the Raja collect more duties than what have been always
customarily received or at ary time heveafter might be lawfully
received by, or on the part of the Company, he shall pay three times
the amount by way of fine. But, as it will be almost impossible to
ascertain either the amount of the collections of the five or of the three
past years, I think that some equitable standacd should be immediately
formed, to which the talookdar and farmers should be absolutely
and unalterably restricted.

But as we have not yet taken this last subject into our considera-
tion, I shall dwell upon it no longer. T shall conclude by expressing my
opmion with respect to the new bazar erected by Moden Dutt that it
ought to be abolished, even if he should establish all the points which
he is now contending for. For as it requires no more than common
penetration to pierce through the disguise, so it needs no more than the
exertion of the ordinary powers of Government to rescue its rights
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from an actnal though artful violation, which would create endless
mischief by the contagion of its examples.

The above was written before T came to the Committee to-day. 1
shall therefore subjoin a few lines in answer to the President’s questions.

To the Ist Question.—T am of opinion that Moden Dutt has
erected a bazar and that circumstantial evidence on this subject fully
establishes this point. But as the cvasion of Moden Dutt is new, I
think that it should be represented to the Governor-General and
Council both that they may be apprized of the practice and decide
themselves on the fact.

To the 2nd Question.—I do not think Moden Dutt has shewn
sufficient cause why it should not be abolished, though perhaps it may
be found proper to abolish it under some limitations.

(Sd.) HeNRY VANSITTABT.
The last public office of importance that Nubkissen held
has now to he mentioned.  As far back as 1776, he had
been entrusted with the management of the affairs of the
Burdwan Réni, the Rani of Ambooah, and he stood security
for her debts, as the following papers will show :—
At A CounciL (ReveNuk DEpAwTMENT), on April 25th, 1777,

Secretary submitted following better from the Provincial Council
of Burdwan.

“ The Buperintendent of the Adawlut has represented to usthat
he finds many difficulties in sunimoning persons complained against,
who are connected with the Ranny of Ambooa or her officers, and
particularly in complaints of debts against the Ranny herself he has
not been able w0 persuade her to send a vakeel properly authorized to
answer for her to such complaints. That the Vakeel at Burdwan, in
reply to his remostrances, has in general informed him that Rajah
Nolkissen in Caleatta would answer to any complaints against the
Ranny for debt as the management of her affairs had been intrusted
tohim.....

[Answer.—The Council don't understand the difficulty. Proceed
in the Rani’s case as in other cases; she must send a vakeel properly
authorized or suffer judgment in default.]

oUNciL, REVENUE DePARTMENT, May 30th, 1780.
Letter from Burdwen Couneil (Mr. William Marriott, de.,) dated
August 9th, 1779.

“We bave received your letter of the 13th ultimo containing

orders relative to the claims on the estate of the late Ranny (-Rani) of
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Amboah, and to propose some means of liquidating the same, also
directing us to enquire and report to you who had charge and manage-
ment of the collections of Amboah during the period of Rajuh Nob-
kissen’s securityship. . . . . .

Tn reply to your directions respecting who had the charge and
management, of the collections of Amboah during the period of Rajah
Nobkissen’s securityship, we must observe that we are wholly igno-
rant to what period the said securityship extended, but we have learnt
from an examinativn of Kissenram Metre [ 7==Mitter] that he, Kissen-
tam Metre, has had the entire management of the collections at
Amboah from the commencement of the Bengal year 1183, when
Nobkissen hecame security, to the present time ; thut by order of the
late Ranny of Amboah, until the time of her death, which happened on
the 20th Augun 1184, he remitted the amount of the collections, except-
ing the Ranny’s expenses, to. Rajah Nobkissen in Caleutta, and after
her death and by order of the present Ranny of Burdwan, he remitted
the collections in the satc manner during the remainder of the year
1184 ; and that, during the whole late year 1185, he vemitted the
whole of the collections to the Ranny of DBurdwan ; and he avows
himself solely a servant of the two Rannys.”

Nubkissen in consequence of his ability and special ex-
perience of the affaivs of Burdwan was appointed to the
Sezawulship or control of the revenues of that district in
1780. The old Rani of Ambooah died in 1777. The lady,
who was Rani on the occasion of Nubkissen’s appointment
as Sezawul, and who was mother of the infant Raja, put
every obstacle in Nubkissen’s way, and stringent measuves
had to be taken to enforee her obedience to orders, as the
tollowing paper will show :—

dth August 1780.

The Board taking into consideration the petition of Raja
Nobkissen and the report of the Superintendent of the Khalsa
Records thereupon—

Resolve, that whereas Rajah Nobkissen was furnished with a
perwannah from Government to the Rajah and Ranny of Burdwan,
dirvecting them to act in concert with him as Sezawul for the year 1187,
in farming the settlement of the current year, making the collections,
&e., her refusal to proceed to Burdwan, her not permitting Nobkissen
to see the Rajah, and her sending for the zemindary officers from
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Burdwan to Tansbariah, are acts of direct disobedience and contumacy,
and highly detrimental to the authority of Government.

That the delay which is oceusioned by this disobedience in hold-
ing the Mofusil Pooneah and making the collections and remittances
of the revenue, is not only attended with great present inconvenience
to Govenment by retarding the payment of such part of the public
revenue as has become due, but may eventually be the cause of actual
loss to Government. .

That it is highly incumbent on the Board, not only to take effec-
tual measures to prevent the above consequences, but to support their
authority in the present instance.

Agreed therefore that the Superintendent of the Khalsa Records
Le directed to proceed immediately to Bansbariah, and that the
Sezawul do accompany hin thither. That he read again to the Ranny
of Burdwan the perwannah appointing the Sezawal, and require her
immediate return to Burdwan with the Bajah and zemindary officers,
and thav she give an assurance that she will punctually obey the
Board’s orders contained in the perwanna relating to the appoint-
ment of the Sezawul.

That in case of her refusal to comply with these orders, or shew-
ing any tendency to evade them, the Superintendent do then peremp-
torily insist on seeing the Rajah of Burdwan, and acquaint him that
the Board have thought proper on account of the contumacy shewn
by the Ranny, his mother, and her refusal to yield to obedience to their
orders, to divest her of all authority and control in the management
of his zemindary.

That he is required by the Governor-General and Council to pro-
ceed to Burdwan to take upon himself the charge and management
of the zemindary and to make the collection of the revenues in con-
junction with the Sezawul of Government, and in the manner pointed
out in his perwannah, and to appoint proper ofticers to conduct the
business of hiz zemindary in his own name and independent of the
Ranny.

That the Superintendent of the Khalsa Records proceed with all
possible expedition with the Rajah to Burdwan, and on his arrival
there, proclaim the Rajah's authority over the province, require him
to appoint proper officers for the management of the business of the
zemindary, to hold the Mofusil Pooneah, and make the collection in
conjunction with the Sezawaul.

That the Superintendent be empowered to call on the Command-
ing Officer at Chandernagore for the assistance of an officer with two
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or three companies of sepoys, if he judges it necessary, to attend
the Rajah to Burdwan, as well to prevent any insidious attempts on
his person in the way thither, as to announce his return and the
authority vested in him with greater dignity to the inhabitants of
the province.

That the necessary orders be given to the Commanding Officer at
Chandernagore in consequence of the preceding resolution.

Nubkissen'’s administration during the first year of his -
oftice was remarkably successful. He managed the collec-
tion of the revenues so well that he paid the demands of
Government in advance without any trouble or embarrass-
ment to the Board, It wag, therefore, determined that he
should continue in the office of \ Sezawul for the next year,
On this occasion also his powers were defined and
enlarged and steps taken to help him in the due discharge
of his duties. The following document bears testimony to
his services and throws light on the situdtion of affairs at
Burdwan at that time.

26¢L January, 1781.

Read again the Supcrintendent of the Khalsa's letter under
date 26th of August last, entered in consultation the 12th of Sep-
tember,

The Board taking into consideration the subject of the above
petition of Rajah Nobkissen are of opinion that the Rhanee has
acted very improperly in taking away the Rajah, farmers, or public
gervants at this season of the year, and during the heavy collections,
without the smallest intimation given to Government or permission
received from them.

That the absence of the Rajah and public officers at this time
from the Sudder Cutcherry of the district may not only contribute
to prejudice the collection, but to spread an unnecessary alarm
amongst the inhabitants of the district, and induce them to leave
their habitations and neglect the culture of the lands for the future
year.

That at the present crisis, when Bengal itself may become the
seat of troubles, and when this Government will have occasion for
all their resources, it behoves them to take special care of the
revenues of so valuable a province as Burdwan, amounting to near
40 lacks of rupees, and that the continuing the management to the
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Rhanee, a woman, and maintenance of her influence in the district
during the present crisis is impolitical and improper.

That it iz the opinion of this Board that, in order to preserve
the tranguility of the Burdwan Province to prevent the operation
of any intrigues on the part of the Rhanee and her adherents, she
be required to reside at Amboa in the same manner as the mother
of the former Itajah used to do until the further orders of the Board,
but that the Hajah and public officers be directed to return to
Burdwan immediately.

That as the Rhanee has on many oceasions shewn her backward-
ness to comply with the orders of the Board, and may in the presen
instunce endeavour to evade them by returning to Burdwan, that
the Nazir or Naib Nazir of the Khalsa be directed to proceed to
Amboa, and place proper chokeys 'of peons round her house with
strict directions not to suffer the Rhanee to return to Burdwan, nor
any covered dooly or conveyance to pass without their being properly
satisfied that the Rhanee is uot in it, but not to enter her house
or otherwise molest her, than by preventing her return to Burdwan
till they have orders from the Board, and that the Supeintendent of
the Khalsa Records do furnish the Nazir or Naib Nazir with a proper
Warrant for executing this order by the sanction of the Board.

That as Rajah Nobkissen appears to have managed the collection
of the revenues of this zemindary with so much success during the
past year, and has paid the demands of Government in advance
without the smallest trouble or embarrassment to the Board, he be
continued in the office of Sezawul during the ensuing year, and
directed to proceed with the Superintendent of the Khalsa Records
to Burdwan immediately to take the most effectual measures under
his zontrol for securing such part of the revenues of the current
year as may remain outstanding and for promoting the cultivation
of the district, and enabling the Rajuh and zemindary to afford a
competent aid to Government in the following year.

That as it appears from the letter of the Superintendent of the
Khalsa Records that an improper use has been made by Ram Caunt
and others of their influence with the Rhanee, and that the property
of the Rajah has been wasted and dissipated during his minority
which is a fact of most public notoriety.

That Rajali Nobkissen be vested with authority to examine into
the present state and accounts of the Rajah’s household under the
control of the Superintendent as above, and to use his endeavours
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to discover and bring to account any property or effects of the Rajak
which may have been secreted or embezzled by Ram Caunt or others
of the Rhanee’s officers during her management, and that if the
Superintendent shall from the information he may receive have reason
to think thatRam Cauunt or any other persons employed by the Rhanee
have embezzled or secreted any of the Rajah’s property, that he
shall Le empowered, and is hereby directed by this Board for the se-
curity and recovery of the said p operty to take the persons suspected
as above into custody and to set guards over their houses, or any other
places, where the Superintendent may believe such property to be
concealed in order to prevent its being conveyed away or misapplied.

That for the purpose of carrying the above orders and resolu-
tions into exceution, the Superintendent of the Khalsa Records be
directed to proceed as soon asg-he conveniently ean with Rajah Nob-
kissen to Amboa, and notify “them to ‘the Rajab and Rhanee, and
that he from thence conduct the Rajah and such farmers, or public
officers as may be at that place to Burdwan, and that any of the
farmers or officers refusing to attend him thither, be forthwith dis-
possessed of their farms or officess  That on his arrival at Burdwan
he publicly notify the discontinuance of the Bhanee’s authority in
all matters relating to the management of the zemindary collection
of the revenues, or the Rajah’s houschold.

That the Superintendent form an estimate of the necessary ex-
penses for the maintenance of the Rajah’s houschold with the assis-
tance of Rajah Nobkissen, and transmit the same to the Board for
their approbation.

That the Superintendent do continue to reside at Burdwan till
the further orders of the Board, and be directed to give every aid
and support in his power to the Sezawul to enable him to comply with
the foregoing resolutions of the Board.

Nubkissen applicd himself with a will to his new duties
and exhibited rare powers of industry and finaneial administra-
tion. Mr. G. G. Ducarel, Commissioner at Burdwan, wrote
to suy that the Sezawal had since his arrival been taken up
in making the mofussil settlement.  The following papers
give some evidence of the kind of work he did :—

Courcrr, REvENUE DErARtTMENT, H2h Jitne, 1781,

Read the following translation of a letter from Rajah Nobkissen,
Sezawal of Burdwan :—

“In consequence of an order from the Supreme Council, T have
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discovered from the accounts upwards of 18 lakhs of rupees was the
Mohasil or profit of Burdwan, &c., in the years 1185 and 1186, ex-
clusive of the Ranny’s dowry money borrowed from Mahajans and
the expense of despatching the Government’s revenue. Six lakhs of
rupees are fnlly sufficient for the expenses of Maimmjnh Deraje
Tejh Chund Bahadur; the Ranny, and Ram Caunt, are answerable
for the remainder.”

Ordered that a copy of the above letter be transmitted to Mr.
Ducarel at Burdwan, that the Sezawal be required to bring before
him the profits [ ? proofs } and vouchers of the amounts therein
alluded to, that Mr. Ducarel be directed to enter into a winute in-
vestigation of them and examine the evidences upon oath which the
Sezawal shall produce in support of his charges, and to grant him
such assistance as he may require for apprehending the persons of
his evidences.

Couxcin, Revente Degvagensse, 26t4 June, 1781,
Letter (20th June) from My Duearel, Commissioner at Burdwaun :

“T have been honoured with your letter of the 5th instant en-
closing a perition from Rajah Nobkissen, Sezawul of Burdwan, and
shall be particularly attentive to the execution of your commands con-
tained therein. The Sezawul and Zamindarry Amlah have singe
their arrival at this place been entirely taken up in making the
nwofussil settlement, which has prevented their attending me for the
purpose of proceeding on the investigation divected.

In order to enable me to atford the Sezawul the assistance directed
in your lettsrin apprehending the persons of this evidence, I beg
leave to represent that it is necessary Captain Long should be fur-
nished with authovity to supply Sepoys on my written requisition in
the customary form.”

[ This letter (dated 20th June) was circulated on 22nd June,
and at the meeting of Council on 26th June *the Board agreed that
the order requived by the Commissioner should be immediately issued
to the Commanding Officer at that station ” (Burdwan). }

Councit, Revesue DEPARTMENT, Bth July, 1781

Letter (4th July) from My, Ducarel :

“In conformity to your letter of the 5th June ultimo, Rajah
Nobkissen, Sezawul of this province, has brought before me the
following persons, servants and officers of the Rajah of Burdwan’s

houschold ax evidences in support of the charges contained in his
petition delivered to your Board :
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Budden Chund Mojumdar, Carkon,

Sumboo Churn Ghose, Mohrir of the Dewan Dufter,

Kishencaunt Doss, Mohrir of the Treasury,

Ramjoy Burrall, Jumma Khurch Nuvrees of the Cansamany,

Juggut Bullub Roy Mitter, Cansamany Seristadar,

Juggut Narain Mitter, Naib of the Cansamany,
from whom T have received the accounts, receipts, and disbursements
of the Zemindary of Burdwan for the two years of the Ranny's
management, iz, 1185 and 1186, the original of which in the
Bengalee language, together with their respective translations, I
have now the honour to lay before the Board. The purport of the
said accounts together with the order in which they are arranged
will appear from the Abstract H.

Agreeable to your directions contained in the above mentioned
letter, T have examined the evidences which the Sezawul has pro-
duced in support of his charges upon ovath, who have attested the
accounts in the manner which will appear at the foot of each
respectively.”

The Board, taking into ‘consideration the above report of the
Commissioner at Burdwan, and accounts accompanying it, find that

. the sum of 11,19,570-1-14 Sicca rupees appear due from the Ranny
to the Rajah for the period of her management.

Resolved that the Sezawul be dirvected to attach the profits of
the Dowry, and hold them sequestered in satisfaction of this demand.

Resolved that the Commissioner inconjunction with the Sezawul
do proceed in the business directed by his former commission, and
give the Rajah and his officers every assistance required by them in
recovering the amount of the above balance from those persons who
may appear to have embezzled it. -

Nubkissen for his consistent support of Inglish interests is
highly unpopular witha certain clasz. Theirherois Nuncomar;
their authority is Bolts, un Fnglish Thersites in the early
days of English supremacy in the East. They are eager to
grasp at every bit of scandal that the tongue or pen of a
malicious imagination may have invented about Nubkissen.
It has been said or suggested by some of this class that
Nubkissen as Sezawul of Burdwan was guilty of much
oppression and many malpractices.  There does not seem,
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however, to be a record of any. In March, 1781, it appears
there was a complaint against him of false imprisonment.
The person imprisoned was one Gocul Chunder Chowdhry ;
and on his behalf his Gomastah, Abhai Churn Ghose, insti-
tuted proceedings by an aflidavit ou the Crown side of the
Supreme Court of Judicature at Fort William in Bengal.
The complaint was false, and therefore it proved as abortive
as the complaints of Gocul Sonar and Ramnaut. Gocul
Shunder Chowdhry had indeed been imprisoned by the Ma-
haraja, but upon a just cause and in the exercise of his
legal rights a~ Sezawul. To leave no doubt as to the facts
and the history of the case the following original papers
are inserted in full :—
Councir, Law Departaent, March 23rd, 1781.

AFF1DAVIT-—In the Supreme Court of Judicature at Fort William
in Bengil, Crown Side. The King vs. Rajah Nubkissen.

Abhai Churn Ghose, Cash-keeper and Gomastah for Gocul Chunder
Chowdry, the plaintiff above named, maketh oath and saith :—

That from the fourth day of Phalgun last past (answering nearly
to the 12th day of February last) until the 11th day of the said month
of Phalgun, he, the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry, was confined against
his will and consent in a dwelling house of Rajah Nobkissen in the
chucklah of Burdwan in the Province of Bengal, and from the said
11th day of Phalgun until the fourth day of Choite (which answer
to the 14th day of March instant), and which is the last day this
deponent saw the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry, he, the said Gocul
Chunder Chowdry, has been kept a prisoner and still is kept a prisoner,
as this deponent believes, in his own house by the order of the said
Rajah Nobkissen without any legal authority or warrant for that
purpose obtained by the said Rajah Nobkissen as this deponent is
informed and believes, but merely to compel the said Gocul Chunder
Chowdry to pay to him a large sum of money as rent for certain
tands which he, the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry, holds under the
Rajah of Burdwan and under the Ranny (mother of the said Rajah),
and which rent this deponent or cash-keeper and gomastah for the
said Gocul Chunder Chowdry has already paid to the said Rajah and
Ranny, to whomn the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry is bound to pay
it, and this deponent saith that the said Rajah Nobkissen is Sezawul
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or Collector of Revenue in the service of the United Company of
merchants of England trading to the East India for the chuchlah or
districts of Burdwan aforesaid and therefore is subject to the Juris-
diction of this Hon'ble Court as this deponent is advised and believes.
Sworn before me this 20th day of March 1781,
J. Hype.

WRIT.

Crowy S1DE.—On reading the within affidavit 1 do order that
a writ of Habeas Corpus in the usual formt do issue from the Office
of the Clerk of the Crown directed to the within named Rajah
Nobkissen commanding him to bring up the body of G. C. (,
confined in his custody (unlawfully as it is said), together with day
and cause of taking and detaining the said G. . (. immediately
before me or the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Judge at
Fort William in Bengal orany other-Justice of the same Court
at the Court House in Calcutta at Fort Willilam aforesaid. Dated
this 20th day of Macch 1781,

(Signed) J. Hypr,

[ Mr. George Wroughton, Attorney for the Hon'ble Clompany,
writes (March 21st) to the Secretary to the Doard of Revenue, Mr,
Izaac Baugh, enclosing the above papers and asking instruetions,

He says :—% At the same time inform them (the Board) that T
have enquired of Rajah Nobkissen, to whom the Habeas Corpus is
directed, the reason of prisoner’s confinement, from whom T learn
that he is the farmer of the purgunnahsof Bhant Ghauzee, Badepoorea
and Dhauzy in the District of Burdwan, and that he is imprisoned fora
balance of revenue due to the Hon’ble Company on account of the
aforementioned pergunnahs, amounting to about the sum of 4,500
gicca-rupees.”]

OrpERED—(March 23rd) that the Company’s Attorney do instruct
the Company’s Counsel to plead that G.C.C. is in the District of
Burdwan, a farmer of ths public revenue, of which Rajah Nobkissen,
igin virtue of his office of Sezawul, the Collector on the part of
(GGovernment, to whom the said Chowdry being now in balance, Raja
Nobkissen has in consequence, by virtue of his office, and the
power delegated to him by the Governor-General and Council,
a right to demand payment of such balance from the said farmer,
and to confine him, and to use such other means as the law and
usages of this country do warrant for enforcing the recovery of it;
and further, that the plaintiff having confessed the defendant isin
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possession of the office of Sezawul on behalf of the Company, and
he himself a farmer of the revenue, the vight of the defendant
to proceed with the plaintifi as he has done is thereby proved ;
and that the Company’s Attorney do also instruct their Counsel not
to enter any further than here specified into the merits of this cause
but to rest the issue of it upon the facts abovementioned.

The opinion delivered by the Chief Justice in the cause whersin
Radha Govind Sing was plaintiff and Mr. Hosea and other defendants
applying directly to the present case.

Orperrb—That the following extract from it, as it already stands
recorded on the Consultation of the 20th of February last, be here
entered,

Extract from the speech delivered by the Chief Justice :

“ T thought it was understood that the right of the Company,
axecuted by their Provincial Council, of getting lands for debts, due
to the Government, was meant to be contested in this action, The
t'ounsel for the defendant disclaimed controverting that right, and
as far as the Court can judge by what has already passed in it, it
entertaing no doubt whatsoever of that right. In the judgment
given in the case of Camaul-ul-Dien, the final opinion of the Court
wag that, in matters of Revenue, by which I mean the settling of
the quantum of the debt due to Government, the Provincial Council,
or those officers to whom the trust was committed, bad full and
complete jurisdiction, exclusive of the interference of this Conrt.
We have given sanction to their judgment.” . . . . .

CouxciL, Law Derauwrment, Moy 22ad, 1781,
Range 166 Vol, 84.

The following letter from the Company’s Attorney to the Secre-
tary with the return proposed to be made to the Hubeals Corpus
issued to Rajab Nobkissen having been sent in ecirculation for the
orders "of ths Board, the Governor-General delivered the opinion
thereafter entered, to which Mr. Wheler having subscribed, orders
were signed accordingly.

GroraE WRoUGHTON,
dttorney to the Tow'ble Company.
Ta Tsaac TBaven,
Secretary to the Roard of Revenue.
Darep Fort WiLLIAM,
April 6th, 1781.
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“1 request you will lay before the Hon’ble Board for their approv-
al the enclosed copy of the return intended to be made to the
Habeas Corpus issued to Rajah Nobkissen at the instance of Goeul
Chunder Chowdry provided it meets with their sanction. The return
. has been revised and approved by Mr. Newman, Mr. Davies, and
Mr. Lawrence on a meeting yesterday evening, and has since
received the sanction of the Advocate-General, subject, however, to a
circumstance whereon I must request you to procure me the advice
and direction of the Hon’ble Board.

The return states the acts complained of to have been committed
by Rajah Nobkissen in the performance of his office of Sezawul in
the District of Burdwan, the duty of which office is stated on the
return “to have been at and before the passing the Act of the
thirteenth of George the Third to enforce payment of the revenues due
to the Hon'ble Company within that district and to imprison persons
owing the same without bail, &.” It has been thus formed under the
idea that the office is not a new institution, and that it has been the
usage in some places within the Provinces to collect the revenues by
Sejawuls, and to imprison in case of non-payment, at least some short
time previous to the time of passing the before-mentioned Act. The
doubt which now arises is whether the nature of Rajah Nobkissen’s
office be as above stated, or whether extraordinary powers have not
been superadded to those considered as incident to the office of Seja-
wul. Should the latter prove the case, the gentlemen seem to he of
opinion it will be more advisable to alter the return in that respect
and to state in leu thereof that Rajah Nobkissen has confined the pri-
soner by virtue of his office of Sejawul, an appointment recently made

- by the Governor-General and Council, they having judged it an office
requisite to be instituted for the better managing the territorial acqui-
sitions and revenues entrusted to them by the before-mentioned Act.”

Enclosure in Company’s Attorney's Letter,

The Schedule to which the annexed writ refers.

“In obedience to the command in the annexed writ contained
I do hereby humbly certify and return to the Hon'ble John Hyde,
Esquire, one of His Majesty's Justices, and to other, His Majesty's
Justices of the Supreme Court of Judicature at Fort William in
Bengal, that in the District of Burdwan in the Province of Bengal
there is a farm commonly called or known by the name of the Per-
gunnahs of Bhaul, Ghawzee, Bundepore, and Dhawree Mundelka,
which farm now is and at the time of passing a certain Act made
in the thirteenth year of the reign of His present Majesty King
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Gleorge the Third, entitled “An Act for establishing certain regu-
lations for the better management of the atfairs of the East India
Company as well in India as in Burope,” was part and parcel of the
territorial acquisitions in such Act mentioned, and the rents and
profits of the said farm now .are and at such time as aforesaid were
parcel of the revenue of the said Province of Bengal. That at the
time of passing the Act aforesaid the said farm wes and still is remain-
ing in the possession of the said United Company as part and parcel
of the said territorial acquisitions and revenues and at the time when
the debt hereinafter mentioned accrued due was held in farm by
the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry in the annexed writ mentioned
under the said United Company at a certain annual rent payable to
them, the said United Company. That on the 12th day of February
last, there then was and still is justly due and owing by and from
the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry to the said United Company for
rent and revenue in arrear of the said farms the sum of 4,520 sicea
rupees, and for which he was and is imprisoned by and under the
authority hereinafter mentioned, That the late President and Council
and Select Committee of Forte William aforesaid in the said Act
nientioned previous to and at the time of passing the same Act
exercised by themselves or their officers the whole management or
government of the said farm (so being part of such territorial ac-
quisitions) and also of right exercized a power by themselves or
their officers to adjust and settle the accounts of farmers indebted to
the said United Company for rents and revenues in arrear and of
enforcing the payment of such revenue in arrear by imprigoning such
farmers so being debtors as aforesaid without bail or mainprize for
non-payment thereof, and which mode of procedure at the previous
to tha time of passing such Act was the known usage and custom in
the Province of Bengal, Behar and Orissa in the enforcing the pay-
ment of such rent and revenue.

That the accounts of the said farm having been settled and which
were actually settled by the proper officers of the said United Com-
pany, the said Gecul Chunder Chowdry on such settlement, to wit,
on the said 12th day of February, was found in arrear the said sum
of sicca rupees 4,520, the justness of which upon such settlement
allowed and confessed by the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry and the
amonnt of the same debt acknowledged by him to be due to the said

Query:iftothe  United Company, and the said sum of 4,520 sicca
Company or the rupees having been afterwards, to wit, on the said
Rujeh. 12th day of February, demanded from the said Gocul
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Chunder Chowdry, and which was so demanded of and neglected by
the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry to be paid. The said Gocul Chunder
Chowdry on the said 12th day of February last was lawfully
taken and duly imprisoned by me and now is detained by me for
the same debt so due to the said United Company as aforesaid.
That at and previous to the time of such imprisonment I, the said
Rajah Nobkissen, was a known officer of the said Uunited Company,
appointed by and acting under the authority of the said Governor-
General and Council in the place or office of Sejawul in the District
of Burdwan aforesaid, the duty of which office is and at such the time
aforesaid was to enforce the payment of all revenue due, owing and
in arrear to the said United Company in the district aforesaid and to
imprison the person owing the same without bail or mainprize, in case
of non-payment thereof until the full payment of such revenuve in
arrear. That in the matters aforesaid, I have acted only according
to the duty of my office ag Sezawul for the district aforesaid and
which authorizes me according to the laws and usages of the Pro-
vince of Bengal to keep and detain the said Gocul Chunder Chowdry
in confinement without bail until the debt aforesaid shall be discharged.
But in obedience to the command in the said annexed writ contained
I now have the body of the said Goeul Chunder Chowdry before His
Majesty’s said Justices of the said Supreme Court of Judicature to do,
receive aud be subject to what His Majesty's said Justices shall consi-
der of him in this behalf. Given under my hand this day of March
1781,
GOVERNOR-GENERAL's OPINION,

Governor-General :--* It does not appear for what reason the ex-
traordinary powers given to Rajah Nubkissen, if any such have been
given, in cases which have no reference to the imprisonment of a
farmer of the public revenue should be inserted, since as a Sezawul
he possesses the power to imprison a farmer of the public revenue,
May it not be proper to insert the clause proposed for amendment in
addition to that which states the regular powers of the Sezawul ¢

The following further letter, having becn received by the Secr‘etary
from the Company's Attorney, was circulated on 13th April and is
now recorded :-- '

WrovaHTON To Baueh.
Dated April 111k, 1781,
“ I request that you will communieate to the Hon’ble Board that
1 have just received official information from the Attorney of (focul
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Chunder Chowdry that the matter in contest between his client and
Rajah Nobkissen is adjusted, and that therefore he does not intend
to call for the return to the writ of Habeas Corpus issued some
time ago.” '

Here ends this episode. In August or September 1781,
hoth the Rajah of Burdwan, Maharajadhiraj Tej Chund
Bahadur, and Maharaja Nubkissen, the Sezawul, made com-
plaints in writing against certain acts of Mr. Austin, Judge
of the Dewanny Adawlut at Burdwan. Those acts, they
alleged, were beyond his legitimate authority and thoy had the
offect of hindering them in the collection of the revenue.
The Committee of Rovenue cxpressed an opinion on the
complaints, which was accepted by the Couneil and which ran

as follows 1——

1st.—The Committee are of opinion that such servants as have ac-
cepted assignments of the balances of rents in lien of wages may un-
doubtedly demand payment of the same, and if coercion is necessary,
shey are to apply for assistance of the Revenue Cutcherry, and the collec-
tion to be enforced as a balance of rent, which in fact it is. It appears
to the Committee that by the 8th Article of the Judicial Regulations,
the Judge of the Dewanny Court has no right to interfere in these
cases. The nature of the interfercnec asserted to be made by the
Judge of the Dewanny Adawlut is not particularized, it appears,
however, to the Committee.

2nd.—That the Aymadars of Burdwan having been subjected to
the payment of rent, they are to be considered as Talookdars and sub-
ject to the same jurisdiction, as pointed out in that article of the
Judicial Regulations.

$rd.—By the 14th Article of the Judicial Regulations the enquiry
into the right and title to lands, as well as to the limits of the same, is
within the jurisdiction of the Judge of the Dewanny Adawlut with-
out any exception. Further experience may, however, suggest the
propriety of some modification in this Article. The Committee of
Revenue exercise the power of resuming grants of Baza Zemin,
gither where they have been collusively made or granted after certain
periods, and delegate the same power to Zemindars, Farmers, and other
officers employed under them in the collections. The exercise of the
same powers by two distinct establishments will create confusion,
and interference, of jurisdiction. The Committee of Revenue will
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direct the Sezawul to report to them such instances of the interfer-
ence of the Judge of the Dewanny Adawlut as occur, and will lay
the same before the Supreme Board, who, from these instances,
will be enabled to ascertain the proper rule to be laid down in such
cases. In the interim it does not appear necessary to the Committee
to issue any particular orders, as the vacation of the provincial Courts
of Adawlut has taken place and will continue some time.

4th.—The mode of conduct prescribed to the Judge in the 31st
Article of the Regulations with respect to Zemindars, Talookdars,
Chowdries, and Landholders, or persons employed in the collections
under what name soever immediately under the Committee of Revenue,
or any Collector of the Revenues directs “that he is not to issue a
summons to compel such person, being defendant in any cause, to
appear, but in lieu thereof to issue a summons requiring such person,
being a defendant, to appear personally, or by vakil, at a certain
time.” An attention to this Regulation on the part of the Judge
will remove the inconvenience complained of in this Article.

In November of the same year a fresh complaint was
made by Nubkissen against Further illegal interferences of
Mr. Hugh Austin, and the Council, in the Revenue Depart-
ment, rebuked that officer for his illegal acts. The following
was their decision :—

The Zemindar by ryats and farmers against farmers for encroach-
ments and the like, their revénues are never realised until such
disputes are settled. The officers of the Zemindarry in conjunction
with those of the Sezawul determine such disputes and collect the
tevenues, Now Mr. Austin, paying no kind of attention to the usage
of the country, opposes us, and has sent his peons to summon my
brother, who is Tahsildar to Burdwan, and disgraced him in the
presence of the farmers, &. As none of the customs of the country
are hidden from you, you must be sensible how much the re.
venues will suffer, when the Tehsildar is unable to support his
consequence. I now hope that, as what has happened cannot be
recalled, orders will be issued from the Council to Mr. Austin that
in future he do not, by disgracing the officers, interrupt the collections,
and, as the Zemindar's vakil is always in waiting, I request he may
be directed to transact what business he may have with us through
him, and, in case any of our officers should act contrary to the orders
of the Huzyoor, that he be directed to represent it to the Council
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for their determination, by which means all dxsputes and disturbances
in the mofussil may be prevented.”

Orperen.—That a copy of the representation from the Sezawul of
Burdwan accompanying the Committee’s letter of the 26th of Novem-
ber, be transmitted to the Judge of the Dewanny Adawlut at that
station and that he be directed strictly to attend to the Board's
orders of the 11th of September last, and positively forbid any further
interference with respect to the Tannabhdars and Pykes than what
immediately relates to his Foujdarry jurisdiction.

OrDERED—Als0 that he be informed that, as by the 18th Article
of the Judicial Regulations the Tehsildar of Burdwan is exempted
from the process of the Court, as well as from being compelled to
personal appearance to the hurt of his credit among the farmers, the
Board highly disapprove of the summons issued to him by the Judge.

Couvxcil, REvENUE DEPARTMENT, January 3rd, 1782,

Extract from the proceedings of the Committes of Revenue of the
24th December, 1781,

Petition of Teej Chund Bahadur ¢

« Chutt{a]r' 8ing, the Etmaumdar of Boagree, has not sent a single
cowry of revenue for the last three months, but has removed with
all his people into the jungles,

« A Tehsildar resides on the spot to which be is retired who has
no control over him, nor does he pay any attention to my letters, He
owes an immense balance to Government, which he will not liguidate.
Tillook Sing. his uncle, prays he may be appointed in his place and
engages to pay his revenues regularly.

«I hope you will comply with this request, and that two com-
panies of Sepoys may be sent to put Tillook Sing in possession, and
to lay hold of Chutter Sing that measures may be taken for the
recovery of his arrears to Government,”

Couwcit, REvExvE Departuexr, October 23rd, 1781

Letter from Mr. Hugh Austin, Judge of the Burdwan Dewanny
Adawlut, dated September 18th, 1781, replying on the points in Arti-
cles 1, 2, and 4, in respect of Maharajah Nobkissen's complaints,
1t does not seem necessary to quote more than the final sentence :—

“ How far the representation of the Sezawul is just, respecting
my having occasioned impediments in the business of the revenue,
I submit to your Hon'ble Board and request that in any future com-
plaints that may be made against my conduct he may be directed

' Later, called Ohitter Sing.
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to state specifically what he has to charge me with and not by a vague
and general detail of circumstances, wholly unsupported, prevent me
from entering into a clear justification of my conduct.”

Tt would seem that Nuobkissen as Sezawunl of Burdwan
was the head and the complete representative of that district.
If any person required anything to be done even by the Raja
of Burdwan, he would have to work through the Sezawul.
In September 1781 one Gunganarain Gose [Ghose], the
farmer of gunge Murshedpore, commonly called thana
Cutwa, complained that the Zemindar of Burdwan had lately
erected a gunge within a distance of two or three kosh trom
his, and prayed that o perwannah might be sent to Maharaja
Nubkissen desiring him to' order the Zemindar to abolish
his gunge. The Council, in the Revenue Department, re-
solved that the following amswer might be written to the
Committee of Revenue: “ We desire you will issue a per-
wannah to the Sezawul of Burdwan, requiring him to abolish
the gunge erected by the Rajah contiguous to that of Gunga-
narain Gose, the farmer of thana Cutwa. This order we
have communicated to the Commissioner of Customs.”

There is abundant testimony to the success of Nubkissen
as the Sezawal of Burdwan;  The following is one :—
Couxcir, REvENUE DrrarTMENT, November 27th, 1781.

Letter from the Committee of Revenue giving “an account [ of
the] settlement of all the districts of Bengal and Behar ” for April
1781 to April 1782 in Bengal, and September 1781 to September 1782
in Behar. ' :

“, .+ 8 Rajah Nobkissen had the charge of ‘the collec-
tions of Burdwan when this Committee was established. The merit
of his management in that capacity can only be estimated from facts.
In the course of a few months he not only relieved the Zemindary
from the incumbrance of an enormous debt, but discharged the revenues
of Government with great punctuality. A very large portion of the
surplus rents which epabled him to pay such considerable sums has
been added to the public revenues as an increase this year, and he has
been united in the management with the young Zemindar. He still
preserves the office of Sezawul, but is at the same time responsible for
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the amount of the ehga.gements of the Zemindar. A comparison be-
tween his conduct and that of his predecessors in the management of
the business will, we imagine, point out the propriety of this mode of
settlement.”
CounciL REVENUE DrpartMENT, December 18th, 1781,
Letter from Committee of Revenue (November 26th, 1781).

“ We have the honor to lay before you a representation which has '
been made to us by Rajah Nobkissen, the Sezawul of Burdwan, stating
instances of the interference of the Judge of the Dewanny Adawlut in
matters which we apprehend are not within the line of his jurisdiction.”

“QOn the 3rd of September last we had occasion to address your
Hon'ble Board on a similar representation from the Sezawul, and we
hoped that the orders you then issued to the Judge of Adawlut would
have prevented his making further claims to the superintendence of the
lands appropriated to the maintenance of Tannahdars and Pykes in
that Province, who, though they are immediately employed in collect-
ing the revenues from the ryots and are in fact servanta of the Zemin-
dars are likewise subject to obey all orders of the Judge in phous-
darry matters. As we are of opinion his jurisdiction extends no fur-
ther over the Tannahdars and Pykes, we request you will please to
repair to Burdwan within s limited and convenient time and account
for the amount of the revenues paid to them, and may contain an
assurance that they shall not be confined or ill-treated upon their
appearance. If one or the other should appear according to the sum-
mons, you will call upon them to pay what is due from them, in which
should they fail, we shall propose to the Fon'ble Board to comply with
the request of theRajah to investTillook 8ing in the management of the
district upon his making good the present engagements. We shall also
propose to them to adopt the same alternative in case neither Chutter
Sing or Jadoo Sing should appear agreeable to the summons. . . . .. »

There is equally good testimony in regard to his work
of a later date.

Agreed that the following answer be written to the Committee of

Revenue ;-—
“ We approved your proceedings respecting the
Etmaumdar of Buggry and of the measures you propose for the secu-
rity of the revenues of that District.

CousciL, REVENUE DEPARTMENT, January 29th, 1782.
General account of collections of revenue, from Committee of
Revenue. Mr. Shore’s report on the balances of Aughun.
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“ Burdwan. The former of these districts is under the manage-
Dinagepore. ment of the Sejawul, Rajah Nobkissen, the latter
under Rajah Deby Sing., Both these persons have been punctual in
their payments through the whole course of the year, and there is no
reason to apprehend any failure on their parts. Rajah Nobkissen is
very forward in his payments for the month of Poos, and the pay-
ments of Dinagepore are completed for the same month.”
Couveir, Revenug Derarrtuent, March 19th, 1782,
Letter from Mr, Austin, dated February 4th, 1782,
¢“T have had the honour to receive your letter under date the
18th of December enclosing the copy of a representation which has
been made to the Committee of Revenue by Rajah Nobkissen,
Sezawul of Burdwan, charging me with interfering with the Tannah.
dars and Pykes by requiring the papers concerning them, and sum-
moning and disgracing his brother in the eyes of all the farmers,
in consequence of which' your: Hon'ble Board highly disapprove of
the summons isgued to him by me. In answer to these charges, I beg
leave, in justification of my conduct as well as to expose the misre-
presentations of the Sezawul, to inform you that, in pursuance of a
letter from the Hon’ble the Governor-General under date 3rd of July,
placing all the Tannahdars and Pykes employed in the foujdary
jurisdiction under my charge, I thought it necessary to request a list
of them from the Zeminday, that I might obey my orders in stationing
them so as to protect the peace of the districts, and which I have
been hitherto unable to obtain. .
T beg leave to assure you that I have never in any instance inter-
fered in the appointment, payment, or dismission of the Tannahdars.
It is not possible to fix the date when Maharaja Nub-
kissen ceased to be Sezawul. There is evidence to show,
however, that he declined to undertake the management for
the Bengali year 1189, declaring the impossibility of realis-
ing the jumma [the assessed revenue] of the preceding year.
The office of Sezawul was apparently the last public office that
Nubkissen held. Henceforward his life appears to have been
one of ease and dignity. He had given proofs of his capacity
not only asa diplomat, but also as a statesman and an adminis-
trator, and he could afford to rest on his laurels. He gave
himself to the discharge of social functions with an undistracted

mind and soon came to prove himself a king in that sphere,



CHAPTER IX,

MaHARAJA NUBKISSEN IN SOCIETY.

THE social position of Maharaja Nubkissen was unique.
It arose not from his wealth or his status and importance in
public life. Position in Hindu society does not depend on
wealth or official rank or intellectual eminence or public
services. It depends on caste and on behaviour in social life.
(Caste does not mean in modern Indian life the pursuit of any
particular trade or calling. It is an inheritance of ages. The
four leading castes or divisions of society, Brahman,
Kshetriya, Vaisya, and Sudra, are of ancient, indeed of im-
memorial origin.  Sub-division of these classes, especially of
the last, has brought into existence a multiplicity of castes in
Bengal, and that is a step attributed to the Hindu king,
Bullal Sen. The caste system, so far as it is a modern creation,
is founded upon a distinetion, not only of occupations, but of
character and capacity, such as they existed in the days of its
origin, The original division, that into the four castes, rests
more clearly upon a distinetion of moral temperament than
upon a distinction of pursuits., Classification by calling is
indeed recognised, is, in fact, apparent on the face of the divi-
sion, but it arises out of and is dependent on the former
principle, namely, that of classification by temperament and
character. The castes constitute a hierarchy, and their divid-
ing lines are rigidly fixed. The caste of an individual is the
caste of his fathers. Whatever might have happened in ancient
times, when Hindun kings reigned and »/shis made and applied
the law, it is certain that to-day no one can be transferred
or can transfer himself from one caste to another. He can
neither be promoted to a higher caste for his virtuous acts
or qualities, nor degraded for his sins, The caste of a man
is supposed to be a necessary consequence of his actsipa
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previous existence ; and the life that he now lives, will, it is
believed, determine his caste in his next birth. The penalty
for un-Hindu behaviour is not degradation from one caste to
another, but repudintion by society, that is, excommunication.
A man who violates essential rules of religion or society will
not be relegated to any infetior caste, but will be put out of
society altogether as having ceased to be a Hindu. It is im-
possible to enumerate all the essential rules, all the restric-
tions of caste as they are sometimes called. One or two may
be mentioned as illustrations, It is considered improper for
the higher castes to dine with men of lower castes or to eat
food cooked by them. The Brahman, in particular, has to
observe special purity in this respect. Then, again, no
marriage is permissible between one caste and another. As
regards social practices, it is certain that the performance of
the sacraments in a non-Hindu way, or the omission to per-
form some of them, will not be tolerated. Amongst the
sacraments may be mentioned marriage, Sraddha (oblation to
the dead), and, in the case of Brahmans, Upanayana (investi-
ture with the sacred thread). The highest caste is that of the
Brahmans, of whom, of course, as of the other castes, there
are rapks and grades, The next in order is the Kshetriya
caste, in - which the Kayasthas are included.

Maharaja Nubkissen was a Kayastha by caste. The
Kdyasthas are divided, in point of rank, primarily into
Kulins and Mouliks, the former being the higher ; and, in
point of local distribution, into the Uttara Rahri class and
the Dakshina Rakri class. The Kulins consist of only three
families, classes or clans, namely, the Ghoses, the Boses, and
the Mitters, Nubkissen was a Moulik, and a member of the
Dakshina Rahri Somaj. He came, however, to be the head
of the Kdyastha community of Calentta, that is, of the
Dakslin Ralri section of it, and that is a fact worth explain-
ing in view of the acknowledged ascendency of the Kulins.
The fact of his leadership is not disputed. A writer, who
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will not be suspected of blind admiration of Nubkissen and
his family, has observed :—

Navakrishna's social importance was perhaps greater even than
hig political. All his other glories were outshone by the glory which
attached - to the chief of the Hindoo community of Caleutta. In the
theatre of public affairs, he had many equals and a few superiors.
Omichand, Whwaja Wajid, Runjeet Roy, Rajballab, and others we
could name were scarcely behind him in diplomacy. Nundcoomar
wag a bolder and all along, except in his last fatal move, a successful
intriguer. Mahomed Reza Khan had been Prémier, and so had
Nundeoomar in reality during the nominal administration of his son.
But in the social kingdom of his city he was the very monarch, As
he owed his fortune to his own enterprize, sagacity and genius, so his
social pre-eminence was purely of his own acquiring.!

This is a frank acknowledgement of Nubkissen’s social
position, but the writer’s explanation of it ignores facts and
runs counter to reason. It is only a eynical sort of speculation,

“ Where everybody is an upstart, an upstart head is no scandal.
Navakrishna had no traditions to back him, but none else was better
situated, On the other hand Navakrishna possessed one important
advantage above others. He possessed substantive power in Hindoo
sociebty in Calcutta. He was the Judge of the Caste-tribunal. The
post implied his being in the eyes of Government the most respectable.

The official citizen-chief of the Hindoo corumunity, he easily became its
leader.”

All founders of families, all architeets of fortunes are
upstarts, Nobility has always its origin in some individual.
And in Hindu society the mere age of a family or its wealth
or official distinction will not give it a leading position.
Brahmins are leaders over Kaydsthas, Kulins are leaders
over Mouliks. 1tis not true that the Kayastha community of
('alcutta consisted only of upstarts, and if it was so constitu-
ted, what then? It certainly included a number of the
highest Kulins; and how came it that a Moulik came to be
the head of u body so constituted ¥ The official position as
Judge of the Caste-tribunal or Jdtimdld Cutcherry will

! Mookerjee's Magazine,
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explain nothing. As has been observed already more
than once, social position in this country does not depend
upon official rank. And the Judge of a caste-tribunal will
no more become the social head of the Hindu community
than an English Judge who has to decide mercantile cases
will become the head of the mercantile community. The
functions of the caste-cutcherry are thus described by Mr.
Verelst :—

“All nations have their courts of ecclesiastical jurizdiction distinct
from the administration of civil justice, in some with a more limited,
in others with more extensive authority., The followers of Brama in
Bengal have their caste-cutcherries or courts to take cognisance of all
matters relative to the several castes, or tribes of the Hindu religion.
Their religious purity depends on the constant observance of such
numberless precepts, that the anthoriry of these courts enters into
the concerns of common life, and is, consequently, very extensive. A
degradation from the caste by their sentence is a species of excom-
munication attended with the most dreadful effects, rendering the
offender an outcast from society. But as the weight of the punish-
ment depends merely upon the opinion of the people, it is unnecessery
to say that it cannot be inflicted by the English Governor (as Mr.
Bolts asserts, p. 83) unless the mandate of a Governor could instantly
change the religious sentiments of & nation. Neither can a man once
degraded be restored, but by the general suffrage of his own tribe, the
sanction of the Bramins (who are the head tribe) and the superadded
concurrence of the Supreme Civil power !

It is casy to see from this description that Maharaja
Nubkissen’s functions as President of the Caste-cutcherry
were of a judicial character. His social position must have
been the cause of his office, not the effect of it. The Caste-
cutcherry, it may be presumed, was analogous to the Pun-
chayet. Authority in such an office could not invest one
with leadership, the explanation of which is to be sought in
wholly other circumstances. The inquiry is worth pursuing
if only to ascertain the calibre of Nubkissen’s mind. In

), “A View of...... The English Government in Bengal.” London, 1772,
Pp. 27, 28,
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social life, as in political, he exhibited his thorough grasp of
the situation, his insight into realities, he felt the necessity
of evoking order out of chaos, of organising loose elements
into a consistent whole, and he saw with unfailing certainty
the means that were best adapted to the end. His method
may be simply described: Not to fight against the laws of
nature or society, not to attempt to stem the irresistible tide
of events, but to watch and utilise the available forces that
make for order, to reject effete and jarring elements, to
waste no power, to submit to the inevitable, but with a
single-minded aim to march with steady steps and slow,—that
was his method. The Kulins were the natural leaders of the
Kayastha community. Nubkissen did not work against them,
but with them, He did not seck to bear them down by the
weight of his wealth and official position or to snatch from
them the authority which was rightfully theirs, But he
put himself into co-operation with them. He invited and
encouraged high-class Kulins to settle in the town ; he helped
them with funds ; he showed them every respect ; he united
his family with theirs by bonds of matrimony. They soon
came to look upon him as a patron, as one of their nearest
kith and kin, Through him also they came to feel a power
they had never known before. They had never been organised
for social purposes. He gave them an organisation and
secured for them a general recognition of their status. With
the aid of the G'hataks he had a compilation made, called the
Kulagrantha (3M81%) or a systmatic social record, of the Kulins
in particular. The Ghataks are the men who keep registers
of pedigrees, of marriages, of important social events, even of
important incidents in the history of families, and they declare
the social status of men. They are thus something more than
heralds. They are no more chroniclers of pedigrees, but as they
are authorities on some of the social practices, like marriage,
and on the way in which families are affected by them, they
come to be in effect the makers of the position of men. It is
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tor them to declare, for instance, the degencration a family
may have undergone by a marriage or some other social act.
If they are mischievounsly inclined they can do mischief by
raking up everything untoward in the antecedents of a man.
If they are propitious they can render a service by bringing
into prominence points of superiority, They had, as men, their
weaknesses, especially as they had to depend for a living on
private gencrosity. But it is unquestionable they rendered a
very useful service to socicty. They maintained social dis-
cipline and kept men straight in the path of customary social
practices. It will be an ovil day for Hindu society when they
shall have become extinet, for there will be none to register
the social lapses of men. or fix with definitencss the position
of men in society. Nubkissen was a patron of the Ghataks
and by the aid they gavein the compilation of the Kulagrantha
they made him appcar in the eyes of the Kulins as their bene-
tactor. Nubkissen’s position was improved by his known ear-
nestness in religion, his intense piety as a Hindu, He lived
according to Hindu rules, belicved in the Shastras (religious
and social works) and was zealous in sccuring a proper inter-
pretation of them and their application to life. These circum-
stances tended to raise Nubkissen in the estimation of men,
Kulins included, and marked him out as entitled to social
leadership by his virtues and services to society. His office
in the Caste-cutcherry had made him fully acquainted with
social practices and the rules governing them. Added to that
qualification there were his religious disposition, his knowledge
of works on religion and life, his services to the Kulins,
his union with them, his cheerful acceptance of their supre-
macy and of the authority of Brahmans as interpretors of
social and religious duty. Iis crowning claim was the Ekja:
(q%12) he held.

This was a gathering of the caste people, to which
Nubkissen invited Kulins of all ranks. The concourso was
a grand one, especially us most of the Kuwlins were present
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in person and not by Ghataks. They were reccived with
fitting honours and paid the fees due to their rank and
station (FAWYTIM). Brahmans were present, Ghataks in
particular, All social claims were considered, pedigrees
cxamined, family history ransacked, and ultimately by uni-
versal consent Maharaja Nubkissen was recognised as the
Gosthipati (¢N819{®) or head of the Dakshin Rahri section
of the Kayastha community. It is said that even the former
Gosthipati of the Singha family of Gopinagar recognised
his leadership by a distinct act, by marrying, that is to say,
a daughter of the family to his grandson Sir Raja Radha
Kanta Deb, contrary to the rule observed by the Gosthipati
of never marrying a daughtier of the family to a Moulik.
The recognition of Nubkissen as the head of the Kayastha
community of Calcutta need cause no surprise, He had
brought the community into cxistence. The scattered units,
whatever their individual importance, had been welded into
a society by him. He paid them due honour ; he formed
alliances with them ; he maintained the purity of social prac-
tices and Hindu worship ; he was in touch with the Pundits
and the Ghataks and was their most munificent and illustri-
ous patron, Before he was formally invested with the rights
of a social leader, the responsibilitics of leadership had fallen
on him. Not only had he made large rcligious endowments,
but his private charity and his gifts for public purposes were
liberal and catholic. Religious and social ceremonies were
celebrated by him on a grand scale, and the entertainments
which accompanied them were for the benefit of rich and
poor alike. Learning and religion had in him the most en-
thusiastic and liberal supporter, and society its most en-
lightened and illustrious representative. We hear a great
deal to-day of ¢ bridging the gulf” between the races.
The idea had occurred to Nubkissen in those carly days and
he reduced it to practice. Many werc the parties in his
house to which he invited the ¢lite of the European and the
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Native community. He was at home in both communities,
knew the ways of both, and was popular with both, He
was as much loved and respected by the Mahomedan com-
munity as by his own, He was the first “interproter” of
British rule and rulers to the people. In every way he
had become the uncrowned king of Hindu society before
the consent of the Kulins and the declaration of the Ghataks
formally conferred on him the sovereignty.

All the works of Maharaja Nubkissen’s charity can-
not now be traced. But it is well known that he con-
structed a road thirty-two miles long from Behala to Kulpi,
on the north of Calcutta. He excavated several tanks in
different parts of his zemindaries and made many improve-
ments in them. In Ganga Mandal he excavated a large canal
more than twelve miles long. He crected two bathing
ghats on the banks of the Ganges and constructed a house
for the free accommodation of those who long to die on the
banks of that sacred river, and are taken there in their
last moments. His charity was not confined within the
limits of his religion or race. In December 1783 he
¢ presented, in addition to the old DBurying Ground, six
bigahs and ten biswaes of the adjoining land in Mowzah
Dhee Calcutta. This was the spot on which the old magazine
stood, and which, with the old Burying Ground, forms the
present cemetery of St. John’s, The ground given by
[Maha] Raja Nobkissen was then valued at above 30,000
Rupees,”!

There is the authority of Warren Hastings for the
statement that Nubkissen gave him the sum of Rs. 3,00,000
for the establishment of a Madrassa for the encouragement
of learning in Persian and Arabic.

This is cosmopolitan charity., And it was inspired by
the true spirit of charity and not by any motives of personal

Sketches of Bengal since the Foundation of Calcutta. Calcutta: 1818,
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advantage, The charity of our times is very often a species
of investment, a bid for titles or some other sort of recogni-
tion by Grovernment, If roads are constructed, tanks and
canals excavated, or colleges endowed, the inspirer of those
works of beneficence is generally the Government in its con-
crete manifestation as a District Magistrate. Charity that
springs from either sympathy or a sense of duty has become
almost extinct. A people constitutionally charitable, chari-
table by instinet, by tradition, by the impulses of religion
and the standards of society, has somehow or other come to
be demoralised, and in most cases it is either a dread of
official penalties or a hope of official rewards that is
the spur to munificence. ~The meanest of gifts must be ad-
vertised or the donor will not be satisfied. In Nubkissen’s
time the demoralisation had not begun ; the Hindu conscience
had not been deadened, and Nubkissen mixed with the
greatest of Englishmen as a friend., His charity sprang
from the heart.

As might be expected, Nubkissen’s expenses on religious
ceremonies were on a princely scale, The Durga Pujn was
celebrated in 4 style which made it a public rather than a
private ceremony. It was for the whole town. And the
genuinely religious character of the performance was not lost
in mere grandeur, in a display of the vanities of the world. So
attentive was the Maharaja to worship in proper form and so
apprehensive was he that the priests might be ignorant or
careless, that he had the whole ritual carefully compiled by
competent men, with translations in Bengalee of the mantras.
He performed his own part in the ceremonies with serupulous
accuracy, submitting to privations and going through the
forms with perfect cheerfulness. And the Durga Puja was
only one of several Pujas celebrated by him. Every one of
them was performed with eclat, in complete conformity to the
directions of the authoritative religious books, and with a
due regard to the expectations and demands of Hindu society.
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On a visit to the shrine at Kalighat in Calcutta he
expended not less than one hundred thousand rupees on
the worship of the Goddess. Amongst the offerings
were a gold necklace valued at Rs, 10,000, and besides
other ornaments, a rich bed, silver plates, dishes and
bdsons, sweetmeats and other food sufficient for the entertain-
ment of a thousand persons, and trifling presents of money to
near two thousand of the poor? He endowed the temple of
Radha Ballabha at Ballabhpore, about 12 miles north of
Calcutta, with lands, houses, &c., to the annual amount of
Rs. 3,000 which is divided among sixteen families of Brah-
mans.? Religion was with him not a thing of show, not a fitful
gleam, not a periodical performance dependent upon regula-
tion, but the ruling principle of his heart. A good and devout
Hindu, he never omitted the daily religious ceremonies, and
it was not simply in the peace of hig quiet home, but in the
busiest moments of his eventful life, when his mind was
agitated by issues of grave public moment, religion was the .
abiding sentiment and impulse, Tt was the ever burning
flame. It will be rememhered he went to the North-West
and was employed——he was the only native so employed-—
in the several negotiations with the Emperor 8hah Alam, the
Vizier of Qudh, the Maharaja of Benares and others when
the grant of the Dewanny was made to the East India Com-
pany. It was at such a time that Nubkissen visited tem-
ples at Benares, performed ceremonies, made offerings and
presents. Benares is one of the chief shrines in India, one of
the oldest and holiest cities. To die in Benares is one of the
aspirations of the pious Hindu. To live there in retirement is
the highest bliss on earth. To make some endowment for
worship, to repair or adorn a temple, to establish a charity in
that sacred city, is one of the best uses of wealth. The
temple of Bishweshwar in Benares is the holy of holies, and

' Ward's History of the Hindoos. Vol T, pp. 160-161,
2 12,Vol 1L, p. 9.
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Nubkissen longed to do good to his soul by the establishment,
in his own name, of a special worship of Siva in witness of
his faith, Much was the jealousy excited by his proposal.
But Nubkissen’s ardour and faith, and, it may be added,
his tact and humility, conquered all opposition. The gods
were propitious to the good Hindu. The Hindu public
and the Pdndds (ministers of worship) came to support his
idea ; and under the auspices of the then almost independent
Maharaja of Benares, was established within the temple a
symbol of Siva under the name of Sri 8ri Navakrishneshwar.
This was an unprecedented act, and it has not been allowed
to form a precedent itself. The Maharaja spent a large sum
on the occasion and made an endowment for the permanent
Sheba or service of the idol he hiad established. Great was
the sensation in Benares and among almost the entire Hindu
population, for the act was unique. To this day the Puja
of Sri 8ri Navakrishneshwar is regularly performed every
day within the temple of Sri Sri Bishweshwarji. The
Maharaja’s piety turned his political visit into a pilgrimage.
The circumstances under which he established the family
idol Sri Sri Gopinathji are worthy of record. It is said that
on the occasion of his mother’s srad/ ho spent a large sum
of money in bringing established idols ( fgs1€ ) which were
best known and most largely worshipped. From Agradwipa
within the possessions of Maharaja Krishna Chundra of
Nuddea he brought the idol ( faslg ) Sri Sri Gopinathji,
He returned the other idols after the ceremony, and endowed
their shrines with lands, &c., but retained the last. The
family tradition is that Maharaja Nubkissen dreamt a dream
which determined him to keep the idol in his family at any
cost. He was prepared to give up for the sake of this idol
a sum of three lakhs of rupees which he had lent to Maha-
rajo Krishna Chundra. A friendly dispute developed into
a regular quarrel and Maharaja Krishna Chundra brought
a suit in a court of law for the restoration of the idol.
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Nubkissen was not to be baffled however. He had an image
made exactly resembling the idol from Agradwipa ; he sent
this copy and retained the original. Such a substitution
would be unpardonable if it was a piece of furniture or any
other article of property that was in dispute. But in retain-
ing the original idol he felt that he was obeying a divine
command communicated to him in a dream, that the spirit
that was represented by the ido] had elected to be with
him, and he would be offending God and conscience by
a literal submission to the legal rights of Maharaja
Krishna Chundra. The fact is noticed in Ward’s Ilistory
of the Hindoos in the following way':—

“Raja Nabakrishna of Calcutta once seized this image (Gopee
Nath of Agradwipa) for a debt of throe lakhs of rupees, due to him
from the owner Raja Krishna Ghandra Rai (of Krishnagore). The
latter afterwards regained the image by a suit at law; but not till
Nabakrishna had made another Gopee Nath exactly like it.”

It is no great certificate to such a man to say of him
that he was kind and generous to his relations. He erected
for them pucca [brick-built] bnildings; he awarded them
maintenance. In his mative village, Punchagram, he gave
lands extending about three miles, to his distant kinsmen,
free of rent for their habitation and other uses. He was
invariably kind to his dependents, and courteous, generous
and even reverential to his poor kinsfolk. He looked up
to his elder brother with the respect due to a father. To his
guru (spiritual preceptor) and his purolit (priest) he gave
lands free of rent.

Popular tradition credits Maharaja Nubkissen with
having spent nine lakhs of rupees on his mother’s Sraddha.
According to another account, however, “Gunga Govinda
Singh, a person of the writer caste, head servant to Mr. Has-
tings, expended, it is said, 1,200,000 rupees at his mother’s

'Vol 1. pp. 205-206. Seealso The Caleutta Review. Vol, VI, 1846,
Article : ¢ The Banks of the Bhagirathi.”
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Shraddha ; and Raja Nobokissen of Calcutta nearly as much
in the Shraddha for his mother. His expense was principally
incurred in presents to the Brahmins, such as bedsteads, at
two or three hundred rupces each ; waterpitchers of silver
and gold, some worth a thousand, and others two thousand
rupees, dishes of silver and gold at five hundred, two hundred
and one hundred ; silver and gold cups and lamp-steads, at
two hundred, one hundred, &c. ; covered bowls for betel-nuts,
and gold and silver waterjugs at from five hundred down to
one hundred, and cloths at ten or fifteen rupees a piece.”!

It is impossible to know with definiteness the expendi-
ture of a private person on a private ceremony unless he
chooses to deelare it or to place adequate materials before the
public. The different’ estimates  that have been made of
Nubkissen’s expenditure on his mother’s Sraddha are all in
the nature of reckless speculation. The only thing which is
definitely known is that the celebration was on an imperial
scale. For the distribution of alms and entertainment of
guests the districts were divided into a number of thanas
with superintendents placed over them. They were called
Darogas and were provided with stores and funds. The
almsgiving and the entertainments continued for a number
of days and pussed oft to the satisfaction of all.  Men on all
sides were heard to suy: “This is more than a Sraddha cere-
mony, it is like the Marut Yajna of the Kali Yuga.” Marut
Yajna was the sacrifice which had been celebrated in the
Satya Yuga by the class of Vedic gods called Maruts, on
which as a prototype the Raj-Suya Yajra of king Yudhisthira
was solemnised in the next age, the Dwapara Yuga. The
following is a good account of tho popular reminiscences of
the celebration as they have come filtered down to the present
generation :—

“There wers full thirty days between the death and the Srad/ day,
and Navakrishnu's countrymen made good this advantage, At first

' Ward's History of Hindeos, Vol 11, p. 145,
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the professional beggars, Bhats and Pariahs, undertook the journey.
Next those whose condition oscillated between decency and beggary,
who hitherto wavered between going and not going, decided in the
affirmative. Lastly men even in competent circumstances, tempted
by large expectations, and urged by greedy wives, coupled with the
small chance of being distinguished in the crowd, followed. Those who
had to come from great distances, necessarily carried their homes
about with them like the Bedouins., As presents are given per head,
the very babies were brought, and when many of them died of suffoca-
tion, their parents preserved them for the occasion and exhibiting
them as if they were alive, added to their income,—the distributors of
the presents, bewildered with the crowd and attacked by the army
of beggars, each demanding and endeavouring to wring his share out
before the others, had not the time nor the wits left to examine the
recipients, and even dolls immersed in a heap of rags were passed
upon them for infants. It was as it were an exodus of the moffusil
to the metropolis, The very hazars of the zillahs, rendered unne-
cessary for the time by the depopulation in the villages, were trans-
planted into Caleutta and the Suburban Districts.

“ All the Pundits of Bengal and many even of Benares were in-
vited, and came. Navakrishing with all his wealth could ill afford
accommodation for this host.  But in all cases where he failed, the
Hindoo inhabitants of the city and of the surrounding villages opened
their hospitable doors. The beggars slept in the fields, under trees
and on the roadside. The dietetic resources and the confectioneering
skill of the whole country were invoked to feed the motley mass of
humanity, The entire pottery of the country was exhausted. All
the plantain trees of the land were laid under contribution for plates
for the eatables. The confectioners had begun their labours the day
following ‘the last of danger and distress,’ and the result in time well
indicated that a nation was to be fed for days. Piles of spices, the
produce of all the betel-topes of Bengal disposed of in heaps, pottery
that rivalled Babel, Himalayas of brass vessels and Alps of gold and
silver things, all the shawls and broadeloth and other cloth of Burra-
Bazar, vast pyramids of sweetmeats and lakes of liquid sweets, kheer,
dohiee and milk, wore an imposing aspect. Everything bespoke bar-
baric profusion. Thearrangements were as perfect as human foresight
and wisdom could make, but the contest was unequal. A nation
besieging Navakrishna was too much for him, even though the military
were called to his assistance, Navakrishna, with the soldicrs trying -
to preserve order among that swarm of locusts, was like Dame
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Partington with her mop repelling the Atlantic. The presents to the
Great Uninvited were unequally distributed. Some who had travelled
a fortnight or twenty days received nothing at all ; others who were
plundered of all they possessed to booy heavily retraced their steps
homewards, or, for want of the wherewithal to do 8o, settled near
Calcutta ; while the presents and plunders reaped by a third number
amounted to the annual income of many a big keranee. Rather better
fared the invited Pundits and relations of Navakrishna. But the
Amlah literally made fortunes, A fabulous sum was spent
in this Sradh. Popular estimation reckons that sum at nine lacs of
rupees.”’

This was of course a unique celebration in the history
not ounly of Nubkissen but of the country. But the festive
gatherings held in his houwse on ordinary occasions were
many and varied. Apart from the Puja entertainments,
parties were especially held for bringing together represen-
tatives of the European and Native communities. Those
held in commemoration of the battle of Plassey wero gener~
ally honoured by the presence of Clive so long as he was
here, of the Governor-General of the time, of members of
Counneil and of other leading Englishmen, official and non-
official. That Nubkissen was in touch with the English
community and mixed on familiar terms with it, appears from
an account in Mickey’s Dengal Gazelte, of a party held in his
house in celobration of the birthday of a Miss Wrangham,
Mr. H. K. Busteed in his Zechoes from old Caleutta devotes a
chapter to that journal which he calls the *first Indian News-~
paper,”  Miss Emma Wrangham was, according to this writer,
probably sister of one John Wrangham who entered the
Indian Civil Service, Madras, in 1783, She was the * social
star’”® *who came in for the most prominent notice from
the contributors to Hickey’s paper.” Mr, Livius, who is
mentioned in the report of the entertainment, was a protégd
of Francis who had got him made Military storekeeper. The
Guazette had an existence of only about three years, and

bV Movkerjee's Magazine, April 1801, pp, 166—169,
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its editor and itself had an unfortunate fate. The report
runs :—

From Hickey's Dengal Gazette, from Saturday, August 18th, to
Saturday, August 25th, 1781,

On Monday night Rajah Nobkissen gave a nautch and magni-
ficent entertainment to several persons of distinction in commemora-
tion of Miss Wrangham’s birthday. As the ladies arrived, they were
conducted by the Rajah through a grand suite of apartments into
the Zenana, where they were amused until the singing began, which
was so mellifluous as to give every face a smile of approbation, The
surprising agility of one of the male dancers occasioned loud acclama-
tions of applause. The principal female singers called the nymphs
and swains to celebrate the festivity of the day and spoke a few com-
plimentary lines suitable to the occasion. After supper there was a
ball, which was opened by Mr, Livius and Miss Wrangham, who were
dressed in the characters of Apollo and Daphne, When the minuets
were ended; country dances struck up and continued till past three
in the morning, when the company departed highly pleased with the
elegant festival. And when the Rajah was attending Miss Wrangham
to her carriage, he thanked her in very polite terms for h¢v1ng illu-
minated his house with her bright appearance.

Maharaja Nubkissen was the Maccenas of Bengal. There
never was in this province a more munificent or more en-
thuasiastic patron of letters and the fine arts. His home wag
the favourite resort of men of learning. His Sudha (Associa-
tion) of Pundits was pre-eminently the first in the land, It
has been popularly compared to the famous Council of
Vikramaditya. Tt included men like Jagannatha Tarka-
panchanan, Vanessur Vidyalankar, Radhakanta Tarhabagish,
Sreekantha, Kamalakanta, Balaram and Shankar. The pundits
of his 8abha more than once saved the honour of Bengal by
the triumph they achieved in disputations with champion pun-
dits from north and south. A pundit of thosc times, named
Ramnath Tarkasiddhanta, was distinguished as much for his
learning as for his cynical pride and independence of character.
It is said of him that when Raja Ishwara Chandra of Nuddea
paid a visit to him in his humble dwelling, he spoke to that
nobleman, in response to a kind enquiry about the pundit’s
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wants, with the lofty dignity and stubborn pride of Diogenes
answering Afexander. But this same pundit, hewn from the
block out of which the best of Greeks were made, accepted
an invitation of Nubkissen’s and entered into an intellectual
combat with a southern pundit whom he easily laid prostrate,
He declined, however, everything in the nature of a present
that Nubkissen offered to him.

The Maharaja gave large and frequent presents to
learned pundits. To Pundit Jagannath Tarkapanchanan he
gave a taluk yielding a decent income and also the cost of
erecting hi~ house. The Maharaja had made to the pundit a
very rich offer, namely, of a zemindary ylelding a lukh of
rupecs a year, but the pundit declined it on the ground that
riches were demoralising and his descendants, if they were
wealthy, would not care for learning and would give them-
selves up to luxury. A smaller gift he accepted. It was
through the Maharaja’s influence that he was appointed by
Government as the Court Pundit and Compiler of Hindu
Law. He gave to Pundit Radhakanta Tarkabagish 1,200
bighas of revenue-free land and obtained for him the title of
Pundit Pradhan from the Emperor of Delhi. He built for
Pundit Vaneshwar Vidyalankar a house in Sobha-Bazar.
Learned moulvies also received handsome encouragement
from him. He was himself a great Persian scholar and
was well versed in the history and literature of the Mussul-
mans. In bhis own family he encouraged the reading of
English and Persian. His collection of books and manu-
scripts, Sanskrit, Arabic and Persian, was large and valuable,
It included many rare and original works, and the Sanskrit
and Persian manuscripts in particular appear to have been
compiled at great cost and with the most laborious and
discriminative research. They bear evidence of the univer-
sality of his tastes and of his general appreciation of learning,
No private person’s library in this country could be com-
pared to Nubkissen’s in respect of the value of ancient
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manuscripts. His appreciation of the fine arts, of music in
particular, was in every way worthy of himself. Haru
Thakur and Nitai Dass, well known as composers of songs,
were his protéyds ; and he introduced into Calcutta society
and popularised the nautch which Englishmen believe to be
the chief of our public amusements, It is Bai Nautch. The
songs of Kabis ( %fq) were a favourite entertainment of
Hindoo society. They were a curious illustration of the
blended powers of metrical composition and of controversy.
Songs composed by one person or party and sung before an
assembly were then and there answered by another. The
answer brought a reply and so the song-duel went on till one
side was fairly exploded. The full name of Haru Thakur
was Hurray Kristo Dirghangi. He was called a Thakur
because he was a Brahmin among kabis. 1t was in Nubkissen’s
house that this species of entertainment had its origin, its
first exhibition. Haru Thakur was so attached to Nubkissen,
that after the Maharaja’s death he gave up his profession.
Of another kind of musical entertainment known as Akhrds,
the Maharaja was a distinguished, probably the first patron.
Kului Chandra Sen, who was not only competent in Akhrai,
but probably its founder, received great encouragement, A
cousin of Kului,—Ram Nidhi Gupta,—popularly known
as Nidhoo Babu, made great improvements in the art.
Distinguished musicians—singers and players on instru-
ments—came to him, attracted by his fame as a votary of
the Muses, and none went disappointed. All had their due
appreciation and reward. The writer who has been already
quoted more than once thus delivers himself on Nubkissen’s

encouragement of letters :—

“ Navakrishna's abilities, Persian scholarship, public spirit and
liberality rendered him greatly respected in the English community.
His vices were the vices of the age, of both Natives and Europeans,
of whatever rank ; but none of his contemporaries, except Clive,
approached him in the better parts of his nature . . . . . Nund-
coomar, a better Persian scholar than Navakrishna, at the height of
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his power merely lived in royal state. The name of Gunga Gobind
Singh is preserved in tradition by a single act of magnificent expendi-
ture ; and of Canto Baboo, a boor, by only his unexpected good for-
tune, Navakrishna, on the contrary, was an able official, an accom-
plished gentleman and a munificent nobleman. A warm patron of letters,
his palace was the centre of association of all the learned of the
surrounding districts, and the resort of those of distant parts of Jndia
who chanced to come to Caleutta. In accordance with a hoary-headed
but most unexceptionable custom of this country, great men are attend-
ed by a number of pundits who give them the benefit of their opi-
nion on all oceasions and often discuss logical and metaphysical
topics before them. Navakrishna’s council of the learned was splen-
did, as the names of two of its distinguished ornaments, Jagan-
nath Tarkapanchanana and Vaneswar Vidyalankara, will indicate,
and discussions in it were always encouraged by large presents
to the wranglers. His wealth and "influence procured him many
rare Persian and Sanskrit mapuscripts. Nor did music receive
from him a jess hearty welcome. Whoever, player on instrument
or songster, came from Delhi, Gwalior, Lucknow, Benares or other
seats of the art, as far down as Moorshedabad, was sure to be attracted
by the fame of Rajs Navakrishna’s fostering care of whatever was
good or beautiful. The letters of retired civilians to him from home
show the great confidence they reposed in him. Most young civilians
desirous of attaining a knowledge of the Persian tongue were referred
by their elders to him . .. . The couple of dwelling houses he
has left to his descendants are living monuments of the grandeur
of his taste. They are, in Oriental estimation, perhaps the only two
specimens of palatial buildings in a city styled the City of TPalaces;
and the nauteh-room in one of them is the best in Calcutta.”

As the pundits have been so often referred to, it may be
necessary to say a few words in rogard to their character,
functions and place in society. The pundits are Brahmins
learned in the lore treasured up in Sanskrit works, They are,
most of them adhyapaks or teachers. The institutions in which
they impart learning are called tols in the vernacular of
Bengal. They take no fees from pupils, but, on the contrary,
offer them free board and lodging. They are maintained by
gifts from the community, or, rather, from the higher castes
thereof. Inthe days of Hindu kings they could count on being
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maintained by the king also. Though their work of teaching
is wholly honorary, wholly a sclf-assumed labour of love,
they may be in a certain sense called professional teachers.
They have no other occupation than learning and teaching.
They have no other ambition. Tf ever the ideal of plain
living and high thinking has been realised it is in their case.
They form a class or community by themselves. Very often
pundits enter into family connections with pundits alone, and
the succeeding generation has pundits for ancestors, hoth
on the father’s and the mother’s side. The world has not
seen another class like them, Plato and Aristotle, Abelard,
Averroes and Avicenna, Duns Secotus and Thomas Aquinas,
Usher and Selden, Grotiug, Puffendorf and Erasmus, Bopp
and Bentley bave beon great as scholars, as devotecs of learn-
ing, but which of their ancestors and descendants have lived
the same life as they ? Therace of scholars is kept up in other
parts of the world, not by a succession of them in the same
families, but by fresh recruits from families never previously
distinguished for learning, In India fresh recruits are not of
course excluded, but many are the families that have furnish-
ed pundits for generations extending over centurics. There
has been, soto say, a caste of pundits, and a caste that has
justified its existence not by a mere name but the suceessful
pursuit of its own special calling. And the wonder is that
the calling which has secared such steady votaries is so little
remunerative, Next to the Sanyasis and Sadhus the pundits
are the most notable class in India, Ancient works have
not till recently existed in the form of published books, and
they are written in a style so condensed and elliptical as to
be scarcely intelligible without the aid of well instructed or
rather duly initiated teachers, Hence the value of oral
teaching in India, and the works would have been of little
value ag instruments of education if the class of pundits had
disappeared or collapsed. The intellectual development of
the country came to be arrested under Mahomedan rule, but
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there was one clags that in the midst of poverty and perse-
cution contrived through the dark centuries to keep burning
a modest flame of ancient Aryan knowledge, It was the
pundits. Progress was out of the question. But these pundits
rendered the only service that was possible, the saving from
utter extinction the learning of ancient India. A fragment of
it only remains, and for that we are indebted to the pundits.
It is not merely that they have preserved the works, but
they have kept up the cultivation of the subjects by the read-
ing and interpretation of the works and the teaching of them
to their sons and pupils, Owing to various reasons, however,
they are now an ill-nourished, declining class.

Several of the pundits, especially those who cultivate the
Sinritis, or the books dealmg with law and custom, are
recognised as authorities on social practice and as the auntho-
ritative interpreters of those hooks. Society changes, and
law and custom must change with it. The Riskis, who in
ancient times had the power to make and declare the law and
custom, had also the power to change them. After the era
of the Ristis, Hindu kings entrusted to the most learned
pundits (deluirjyas) or to associutions of them the task of inter-
preting the law and custom as they existed in books or in
practice, and of compiling codes of them from time to time.
The Hindu »dgime has now passed away. Inthe early days
of British rale, judges in administering Hindu law took the
opinions or wvyavasthas of competent pundits; and those
opinions are still recognised as good law. Judicial adminis-
tration has now become independent of the opinions of pundits.
In matters of religious or social usage, however, no authority
exists for interpretation except the pundits. They cannot
very well be vested with official authority, for Government
is pledged to a policy of non-interference in social and reli-
gious matters. Socicty, however, by a tacit and universal
consent recognises that authority as existing in the pundits.
Tt is obvious that the authority must exist somewhere, for
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neither on the one hand can essential social practices, bound
up with religion, be left to be determined by the caprice oi
individual opinion, nor on the other can an old, nnchanging
code he left to govern absolutely an ever-changing society.
Expansion or modification of the law is possible only by
legislation or by interpretation. We have no Hindu legisla-
ture now, and recourse is possible only to interpretation. The
laws of ancient Rome were interpreted by judges and juris-
consults ; the common law of England is made up of judicial
decisions, of custom, long-standing and prevalent, and of the
opinions of great commentators, like Granville, Bracton or
Britton ; ecclesiastical law and practice are interpreted by
courts of ecclesiastical jurisdiction ; and reason, tradition,
analogy and expediency would alike suggest that in the
present social and political condition of India, the interpreters,
the adapters, the improvers of the social law and custom of
the Hindus—always more or less mixed up with religion—
are the pundits versed in the learning of those subjects.
There is no other class competent for the purpose, nor can
the task of anthoritative interpretation be avoided. Hindu
social questions do not mean questions of dress and fashion,
but questions which affect the very framework of society,
its existence or its integrity.

Maharaja Nubkissen, not so much with the prudence
of a social philosopher as with the instinets of a Hindu,
patronised the pundits and submitted to their patronage.
If there are any social legislators to-day amongst the Hindus
it is the pundits, And as Nubkissen was the patron of his
illustrious Sabla of Pundits, people felt that he was their
rightful head. His relations to the pundits were exactly
analogous to those of a Kshetriya king of old times and his
council of social legislators, relations at once of supremaey
and subordination, of political supremacy and social subordi-
nation. From this among other things arose the social ascen-
dency of Nubkissen. If the Kayasthas of Bengal bave a
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higher social position, a more clearly recognised status than
that of the Kayasthas of any other part of Indis, it is because
Nubkissen gave them strength and coherence in C‘a]cutta,
which soon came to be imparted to the same community in
the mofussil, that is, the interior of the province. Calcutta,
which in those days wasa city of mere traders and shop-
keepers, came under the influence of Nubkissen’s magie,
social wand to be the home and nursery of a powerful, well
organised Kayastha community. Whatever of dignity or
social power it has now, is traceable to the impulse that he
communicated to it. Even now Calcutta is the only place in
Bengal where organised social divisions (##) exist, having
recognised leaders ( maf® ). Nubkissen’s division was
the largest and most influentinl.  And it is worthy of note, as
a proof atonce of Nubkissen’s position and popularity, that
even Brahmins cheerfully ranged themselves under his banners
in his division. To this day manya Brahmin acknowledges
membership of that division. And time has not wrested from
the hands of Nubkissen’s deseendants the social sceptre that
he wielded. Their leadership is universally acknowledged.
They receive like him their marks of honour—the wreath
round their necks and thesandalwood paste on their foreheads—
in the true order of precedence. They will undoubtedly retain
that position if they have the suavity and humility of Nub-
kissen, his ardent religious temperament, his readiness to bear
the social burdens, his sympathy with society, his submission
to the shastras, his respect for the Brahmans, pundits in
particular, and for the Kulin Kayasthas. And the sambe is
true of Hindu Society in general. Its existence will depend
npon its coberence, its submission to discipline, its recognition
of leaders, its respect for tradition.
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CHAPTER X.
NoTES AND QUERIN,

THE style in which Nubkissen celebrated his mother’s
sraddha was much discussed at the time. The question,
whence did he get so much money, oxercised men’s minds
at least as much then as it does now, IHis contemporaries,
who were staggered by the dixplay, began to speculate, and
several of them in their speculations treated him with little
charity, It was reported to Mr. Verelst by some influential
men that the Maharaja, having spent all his money on the
celebration of his mother’s funeral rites, distributed in
alms many lakhs of rupees belonging to the Hon’ble Com-
pany’s Treasury in his charge.  After the completion of the
sraddha, when the Maharaja went to visit Mr. Verelst he
told him in jest : “I am informed that you lost your sense
and expended the whole of your wealth, as well as several
lakhs of rupees belonging to the Company’s Treasury, in the
performance of your mother’s obsequies,” Nubkissen, as
soon as he heard this, locked up the Treasury (then ealled the
Money Godown) and left the key on the table of Mr. Verelst,
soliciting him to remove his doubts Iy sending for the person
who had accused him and for one of the members of the
Council, and desiring them to examine and receive the cash
in balance at the Treasury. Mr. Verelst sought to pacify
him, spoke to him in the gentlest manner, and assured him
of his unshaken confidence. The Governor said he had no
doubt the cash was all right in the Treasury. The Maha-
raja, however, remained inflexible. He <aid his honour had
been assailed, and he begged and insisted that, for his own
sake, as well as the Governor’s, the cazh in the Treasury
might be examined. Mr. Verelst vielded. He sent a member



194 NOTEs AND QUERIES.

of the Council to the Treasury, who examined the cash
and found a surplus of seven lakhs of rupees belonging to
the Maharaja, Mr. Verelst on receiving the information
offered apologies, and pressed the Maharaja to take back
the key. The Maharaja thanked him for his kindness and
for the confidence reposed in him, but refused to take back
the key. If he had been slandered once he might be slan-
dered again, and he did not think it proper to retain any
longer any public office. He resigned all the high and im-
portant posts he held under the Company and removed to
the house of the Governor the offices which had so long
been held in his own. Thus porished a scandal of the
times, A positive and definite charge of misappropriation
had been made agninst the Maharaju, and he found it easy to
disprove it. A charge of a vague, hypothetical character is not
easily rofuted. That Nubkissen had made his fortune by loot-
ing the inner treasury of the Nawab is a charge which cannot,
in the very nature of things, be demonstrated to be false,
for such a demonstration would mean the proof of a negative
and would be impossible by a simple experimental process
like examination of cash in a Treasury. In judging of the
honesty of a man what are tho canons to be followed ?
Must we call upon him to account for every pice he made,
and, in defuult, pass judgment against him? If such a
trial was to be held, few would come unscathed out of
it. No man publishes hig account books, and the speculations
of others about his gains and savings are generally worth-
less. The rational principle of judgment would seem to be
not to hold a man dishonest till something conld be proved
against him. And taking the world as we find it, it is not
always possible to draw the line which divides honesty from
its opposite. 1t is not easy to say how much of the gains
even of a lawyer or a doctor is honest, and how much is not.
The world’s standards are not the moralist’s.  All rising to
great fortune, like ““all rising to great place,” ‘“is by a
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winding stair,” and nothing can be more inconsistent than
to worship worldly success and yet to be fastidious about
the means of attaining it. Nubkissen had, in addition to
his salaries, at least as many undefined and elastic sources of
income as a lawyer. And if he left property worth only
about a crore of rupees, there is no use racking the imagina-
tion to discover possible sources of that wealth. Lawyers,
doctors and tradesmen, even in this poor country, and in
these days of exhaustion, have accustomed us to that figure.
The story of the substitution of one idol for another, as
given in the last chapter, upon the authority of Ward and
some other writers, does not seem to be accurate in all its
details. It is extremely unlikely that Raja Krishna Chundra
would have been satisfied with an image which was
professedly and notoriously a copy and not the original,
A Hindu values the idol he worships not as so much
property, Where it is made of a precious metal and is artis-
tically constructed, it has of course a money value. But it
has also a higher value not expressible in terms of money of
any denomination. It is a spiritual treasure, the sacred
abode of the Divine Spirit. It is possible Nubkissen gave
the substitute and not the original, but Krishna Chundra
could hardly have consented to take an idol that he knew to
be a substitute. If he was ready to accept a substitute he
would be equally content to take its material value in money
or bullion, and that can hardly be believed. It is consecration
that gives its specific value to an idol. If the general public
were aware of the substitation made—and the historical
character of the accounts seems to show that they were—
then the Raja must also have been aware of it. And as the
Raja’s knowledge is extremely improbable, the historical
accounts themselves should be received cum grano. What
appears most likely is that Nubkissen had a copy of the idol
made and offered both the original and the copy to Krishna
Chundra to make his choice out of ; and the latter, depending
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wholly upon chance, chose, unfortunately for himself, the
wrong idol. There have been similar instances of choice or
mischoice in analogous cases, and that seems to be the
practice generally followed in that class of cases. There is
a reason for it. It has an aspect of fairness about it, and it is
believed that the Divinity that is immanent in the idol really
rules the choice. In the present case, for instance, the fact of
Raja Krishna Chundra making a wrong choice would be
regarded by Hindus as a proof that Gopinath elected to reside
with Maharaja Nubkissen. When the wrong choice had in
fact been made and the fact published to the world, it is
likely that Englishmen who came to hear of it, or vead of it,
presumed that only the substitute had been offered and had
been accepted by the Raja with the full knowledge of its
supposititions character.  Hence the error or the unlikely ele-
ment in the historical accounts.

A biography of Nubkissen would not be complete with-
out a reference to Burke’s impeachment of Warren Hastings
and the charge brought against him of receiving a bribe
from Nubkissen. To satisfy the curious, all that Burke said
is here reproduced. He opened the charge in the following
terms :—

“ We shall remove any degree of uneasiness from your lordships’
minds and from our own, when we show you, in the charge which we
shall bring before you this day, that one bribe only received by
Mr. Hastings, the smallest of his bribes or nearly the smallest, the
bribe received from Rajah Nobkissen, is alone more than equal to have
paid all the charges Mr. Hastings is stated to have incurred.” !

The speech on the charge runs as follows :—

“Mr. Hastings has told you that he wanted to borrow money for
his own use, and that he applied to Rajah Nobkissen, who gener-
ously pressed it upon him as a gift, Rajah Nobkissen is a banyan ;
you will be astonished to hear of generosity in a banyan ; there néever
was & banyan and generosity united together ; but Nobkissen loses
his banyan qualities at once the moment the light of Mr. Hastings's
face beams upon him. Here, says Mr. Hastings, I have prepared

! Burke at the trinl of Warren Hastings, Tuesday, 21st April, 1789,
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bonds for you ! Astonishing! How can you think of the meanness of
bonds : you call upon me to lend you £34,000 and propose bonds ! No;
you shall have it ; you are the Governor-General, who have a large and
ample salary : but I know you are a generous man, and I emulate
your generosity. I give you all this money. Nobkissen was quite
shocked at Mr. Hastings’s offering him » bond. My lords, a Gentoo
banyan is a person little lower, a little more penurious, a little more
exacring, a little more cunning, a little more money-making than a
Jew. There is not a Jew in the meanest corner of Duke’s Place in
London that is so crafty, so much a usurer, so skilful how to turn
money to profit and so resolved not to give any money, but for profit,
as a Gentoo broker of the class I have mentioned. Buat this man,
however, at once grows generous, and will not suffer a bond to be
given to him : and Mr. Hastings, accordingly, is thrown into very
great distress.” :

“In every transaction: of Mr., Hastings, where we have got a
name there we have got a crime.  Nobkissen gave him the money, and
did not take his bond, I believe, for it; but Nobkissen, we find,
immediately afterwards enters upon the stewardship or management
of one of the most considerable districts in Bengal. We know very
well, and shall prove to your lordships, in what manner such men
rack such districts, and exact from the inhabitants the money to
repay themselves for the bribes which had been taken from them .. ..
And we shall prove that Nobkissen, within a year from the time
when he gave this bribe, had fallen into arrears to the Company, as
their steward, to the amount of a sum, the very interest of which,
according to the rate of interest in that country, amounted to more
than this bribe, taken, as was pretended, for the Company’s service.” !

After the defence had been made, the speech in reply
was as follows :—

“In the settlement of his public account before he left India,
he takes credit for a bond which he had received from Nobkissen
upon some account or other. He then returns to England, and what
does he do? Pay off ¥ No. Give up the bond to the Company ? No.
He says, T will account to the Company for this money ; and when
he comes to give this account of the expenditure of this money, your
lordehips will not be a little astonished at the items of it. One is for
founding a Mahomedan college. It is a very strange thing that Raja
Nobkissen, who is a Gentoo, should be employed by Mr. Hastings to

1 Burke's speech on the sixth charge. Tuesday, 5¢h May, 1789,
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found a Mahomedan college. We will allow Mr, Hastings, who is 4
‘Christian, or would be thought a Christian, to grow pious at last ; and
as many others have done who have spent their lives in fraud, rapacity
and peculation, to seek amends, and to expiate his crimes by charitable
foundations. Nay, we will suppose Mr. Hastings to have taken it
into his head to turn Mahomedan (Gentoo he could not), and to have
designed by a Mahomedan foundation to expiate his offences. Be it
80 3 but why should Nobkissen pay for it 27!

In answer to the accusation Warren Hastings stated as
follows in his written defence :—

“The last part of the charge states that in my letter to the
Court of Directors of the 2Ist February 1784 I have confessed to
have received another sum of money, the amount of which is not
declared but which from the application of it could not be less than
£34,000 sterling, ete. In the year 1783, when I was actually in want
of a sum of money for my private expenses, owing to the Company
not having at that time sufficient cashin their treasury to pay my
salavy, 1 borrowed three lakhs of rupees of Raja Nobkissen, an in-
habitant of Caleutta, whom I desited to call upon me with a bond
- properly filled up ; he did so, but at the time I was going to execute it
he entreated I would rather accept the money than execute the bond.
I neither accepted the offer, nor refused it ; and my determination
upon it remained guspended between the alternative of keeping the
money as a loan to be repaid and of taking it and applying it, as T
had done other sums, to the Company’s use ; and there the matter
rested till I undertook my journey to Lucknow, when I determined to
accept the money for the Company’s use; and these were my mo-
tives :—Having made disbursements from my own cash for services
which though required to enable me to execute the duties of my
station, I had hitherto omitted to enter into my public account, I
resolved to reimburse myself in a mode most suitable to the situation
of the Company’s affairs, by charging these disbursements in my
Durbar accounts of the present year and crediting them by a sum
privately received, which was this of Nobkissen’s. If my claim on
the Company were not founded in justice and a bond fide one, my accept-
ance of three lakhs of rupees from Nobkissen by no means precludes
them from recovering that sum from me. No member of this honor-
able House suspects me, I hope, of the meanness and guilt of present.
ing false accounts.

! Burke, Eighth day of reply, Saturday, 14(h June, 1794,
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In regard to this accnsation, implicating both Warren
Hastihgs and Nubkissen, it has to be observed that no proof
was given in snpport of it ; that it rested wholly on suspicion,
and that eventually it fell through. The assumptions of
fact made in support of the charge are wholly erroneous and
unfounded, The urgument for the prosecution was briefly
as follows. All banyans are usurers: Nubkisseu was a
banyan : therefore, Nubkissen was a usurer. No usurer
would lend moncy without a bond and without interest :
Nubkissen was a usurer : therefore Nubkissen would not
lond money without interest. Therefore the money he gave
was a bribe. The conclusions are all logically drawn, but
every one of the premises i3 wrong in fact. All banyans
were not usurers, und Nubkissen was not ““a banyan,” but
the Political Banyau. Banyans were Head Assistants, Head
Clarks, Private Secretaries, or * Hoad Baboos” of Governors
or other highly placed Englishmen. A man was never a
banyan out of relation to others, and by himself. One could
be a banyan only of somebody olse. In a later time men
_ carrying on particular trading or mercantile operations were

called banyans, but the banyans of Nubkissen’s time were
only personal Assistants of this or that Sakib. They may
have lent money, but their business was not money-lending.
And Nubkissen was ncver a banyan of any Sakib. He was
the Company’s Political Banyan, His functions were pub-
lic and political, not private and personal. The Political
Banyan no more resembled the ordinary personal banyan
than the Indian * Civil Servico” resembles the “ Home Civil
Service,” of which two the former meuans a body of rulers
and judges, and the latter a body of clerks. But whatover
banyans might have been or might have done, it is certain
that Nubkissen was never a professional money-lender. His
worst cnemies have nover charged him with possessing
that character. IFrom all that is known of his public
life, or even of his privato life, usury would seem to he
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incompatible with his character. A man of imperial ambi-
tion and statesmanlike gifts, who lived in princely ¢ style,
made princely donations and patronised learning and the
arts, who was religious and reverential to the core of his
heart, would pot be likely to deal in bonds, in interest, in
penalties and forfeitures, The usurer is made of far other
stuff. The lion does not crawl on the earth or burrow
under ground; the cagle does not hop from grass to
grass.

This loan of three lukhs of rupees does not degrade
Tastings, but it exalts Nubkissen. [t shows the genorosity
of which a Hindu is capable. Probably Burke’s astonish-
ment would have been less if he had known that by the
tenets of at least one oriental rveligion, that of Islam, the
taking of interest is prohibited. Nubkissen did what was
specially befitting in a Hindu of his wealth and position.
Burke could not understand why a Gentoo should care to
found a Mahomedan college. Ilerc was, however, a Gentoo
of a very extraordinary type. How was Burke to explain
his gift of land for the' crection of a Christian Church?
Catholicity like Nubkissen'’s is rare, and it is no wonder that
it elicited warm praisc from the Christian community at the
time. The following records !are a proof :—

The 8th January 1789.
To THE PrINTER OF THE Calcutta Gazette.

Sir,—As the following conveys an instance of liberality snd public
spirit in a native of this country, which in Europe would have done
honour to His Grace of Northumberland, 1 beg your public insertion
of it asa tribute to truth and justice, and for the right information
of the settlement.

1 am, Sir,

Your constant reader and a schigribe.
(Signed) W. W,

1(Selections from the Culeutta Guzettos of the year, 17389 to 1797, &e,, &e,,
&c.,y by W. 5, Seton Ky, C. 8. Vol 1, puge 198).
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Letter of thanks from the gentlemen of the Church Committee to
Mgharaja Nobkissen Bahadur of Calcutta.
S,

The Committee of gentlemen appointed by the Subscribers, for
erecting a church to carry into effect the purposes of their subscription,
have received from the TIon’ble the Governor-General and Council
a copy of your durkhast, in which you give and make over to the Hon’ble
Warren Hastings, Esquire, Governor-General, in order that a church

may he erected thereon, six beegahs and ten biswas of land purchased
by you for your own use in Caleutta.

This gift i¥ a most liberal instance of your generosity, dnd has
afforded to the English settlement in general a great and most season-
able aid towards giving effect to their wishes for building a place of
public worship, and I am desired, Sir, to render you the thanks of the
Committec for it.

I am also to acquaint you that the Hon’ble the Governor-General
and Council entertain the same sense of your liberality, and have parti-
cularly marked it in a letter which they have lately written to the
Hon'ble the Court of Directors,

I am, Sir,
Your most obedient humble Servant,
(Signed) By THE SEORETARY To THE COMMITTEE.

Nubkissen had more reason to be in sympathy with the
intellectual and spiritual advancement of the Mahomedans
than with that of Christians, Therc was no necessity in
those days for founding a college for Europeans in India.
The Mahomedans were backward in education and would be
benefited by a colloge. Nubkissen was intimate with the
highest Mahomedans in the land, was familiar with their
court life, was in touch with their society, and, above all,
was learned in their court language, Persian. Nothing so
much develops sympathy with a people as knowledge . of
their language. The European scholar who is learned in
Sanskrit or Arabic has never been known to have had any
but the most kindly feelings towards the people whose classics
they arc. And Nubkissen as a Persian scholar might be
presumed to be naturally appreciative of Mahomedan learning.
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The most wonderful part of the bribe-theory is, that
shortly after his advance of the three lakhs Nubkissén was
appointed Sezawul of Burdwan. The story of that appoint-
ment has already been told.  Tho appointment was no jobbery.
It had become necessary in the interests of the state. There
was difficulty in collecting the revenues ; arrcars had accu-
mulated, and Nubkissen was universally believed to be the
fittest person for the oftice. His success justified the choice.
It was an irksome and embarrassing task that he had to per-
form, but he did it to the complete satisfaction of the autho-
ritics, and he ultimately resigned the office of his own free
will.  Probably Burke’s only authority for the charge of
oppression and exactiou by Nubkissen as Sezawul was a
statement by Mr. Peter Moore at the trial. That gentleman
said : “His conduct is said to be very irregular, and his oxac-
tions very great, and it clearly appears so, from his pay-
ments boing so much greater in wmount the second year than
they were in the first.” There could not be evidence more
flimsy than this. The first portion of it is only hearsay, and
the rest is only a presumption arising from increased pay-
ment. Collections, however, may be made without exaction,
and tho only case that camo to- court of alleged oppression,
completely broke down from want of ovidence. Nubkissen
had been legally armed with some powers of a coercive
character for the realisation of dues, and he nover appears
to have cxceeded those powers. The accounts that he sub-
mitted have never had their veracity questioned, and there
never was any circumstance that could even raise a pre-
sumption that he had made any illicit gains by his seza-
walship. Burke flung charges broadcast of which he
could give no proof. No one will question or under-value
his sense of justice, his love of liberty, or his sympathy with
the Indian people. It is preciscly those vory feelings which
made him so earnest in his impeachment of Hastings, and
as Hastings was in his eyes a great criminal, he suspected
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everybody who had done a service to that ¢ Captain-
Geperal of Iniquity,” or received a service from him.
Nubkissen was tainted by an unholy association.
Nubkissen had six wives-—Heramoni, Bhowani, Kunja-
nee, Shaokari, Sukee and Bilasi. They could read and
write Bengalee,—u raro accomplishment of Hindu ladies in
those days. Polygamy is an institution so repugnant to the
Western mind, indeed so hateful to the Western taste, in
itself it is an institution so littlo defensible, that a word in
explanation of Nubkissen’s multiplicity of wives will not
probably be wasted. The Hindu marriage is not a contract,
but u sacrament ; and the tio s indissoluhble. Divorce or
judicial separation is wnkwown. If therefore it becomes
necessary, on any ground, for n man to take a second wife,
while the first is alive, he has to take her in addition to the first.
One of the grounds on which it may become necessary to
take a second wifo is the absence of a male child by the first.
According to tho injunctions of religion, the normal period of
a Hindw’s life is divided into several stages or dsramas as they
arecalled. One of these iy that of marricd life and houskeep-
ing. It ix grikastha dsrama. The last is the stage of retire-
ment and religious meditation.  The real, that is, the
religious purpose of marriage iy the birth of sons. It
is the son that confers spiritual benefit on the manes of
the deceased parent. It is tho son that porforms the
sraddha and offors pinda to the departod soul, The son
is the spiritual suviour of the parents, and torments are
reserved in the noxt world for the sonless. One son at least
is wanted for spiritual functions, and marriage is necessary
for getting a son. All the Hindu’s duties in life are re-
gulated by religion, and a man’s duty to marry arises from
the necessity of having a son. If the already married wife
or wives ure barren or bear only females, a fresh marriage
is held, onr cligious grounds, to be justifiable, Nubkissen
treated all his wives well and gave them liberal allowances,
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but up to a rather advanced age he had not the good fortune
—for such the Hindu deems it—to be blest with a son. . His
last marriage, that with Srimati Bilasi Dassee, took place in
1775. Up to that year he had only a female child born
(in 1772) unto Ranoe Heramoni Dassee. Tt is true he
had adopted a son, Gopi Mohan Deb, in 1768. That at any
rate was stated by some witnesses before the Supremo Court-
of Calcutta in the suit of Gopi Mohun Deb vs. Raja Raj-
krishna Deb Bahadur. But he had uot at tho date of his last
marriage a son sprung from his loins, After that marriage
he had two more daughters by two Ranees, and in August
1781 he had the supreme satisfaction of having a son born
to him—Iaja Rajkissen.

Nubkissen had a piece of ground at Ghyretty, near
Chandernagore, which, though small, deserves notice for the
manner in which it had come into his possession. It was
contiguous to the house and gardens of Nabob Cossim -Ally
Khan, who had made a grant of it to Sir Eyre Coote, who
commanded the Army in Bengal in 1762. That General
disposed it off to Nubkissen, who had for a time some
difficulty in obtaining quiet possession of the proporty.

Nubkissen’s social lendership has been ulready referred
to. Tt may be uoted as a matter of detail that the Kayastha
commuity of Calcutta had at first two divisions (%), one led
by Madan Datt and the other by Nubkissen, The division .
Jed by Nubkissen secms to have been formerly led by
Kristo Churn Mitter., It rapidly grew in numbers and
influence under him.

In Caleutta Nubkissen had more than once to change
his residence as he advanced in life, as his family (in the
Hindu sense of the word) expanded, and as his circum-
stances improved.  Calcutta consisted originally of three
villages—Sutanati, Kalikata and Govindpur. The chief
of these was known as Sutanati Hat, literally * Cotton
Thread Mart.” Tt grew up on the eastern bank of
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the river for the sale of country-made yarns and cloths.!
“Bobhahazar was then a jungle, though when Nobokissen,
Clive’'s Munshi, settlad there after the battle of Plassey,
it rose rapidly in buildings and population. Mention
is made of it in 1780 as frequented by sailors and of a great
fire having occurred there when Jack was very active in
rescuing the natives’ property from the flames.” ? Tt was
Nubkissen that made Sobhabazar. A word may be said
about the name Sobhabazar. There have been learned
discussions about its origin. It has been said by some
that it means literally a bazar of beauty and is derived
from the Bengalee words (%@ and qi&{a. By others it has
been traced to the words 7wl and 91517 and has been taken
te mean the locality where the great gathering or %S} on the
occasion of the sraddha of Nubkissen’s mother was held.
It is easy to see from several records that have been quoted
that both these etymologies are wrong, that the name was
originally written as Soubah Bazar which explains itself.
Sham Bazar appears to have been Charles’s Bazar, Some
of the localities known as ¢ bazars’ appear to have been
called by the names of particular Englishmen. ¢ The house
generally known by the name of Sankar Ghosh’s is the paitric
or family inheritance which on the death ot their mother de-
volved on the three brothers, the said Raja Navakrishna,
Ram Soonder and Manik Chunder ; and- that people de
generally cull the house Chota Baree and Puratan Baree.
That the western wing or range of apartments of that house
was formerly occupied by Maharaja Navakissen before he had
built and removed to another house on the Seat’s ground
culled Burra Buree”™  The families of Ramsoonder Bewarta,

' Bee History of Dritish India by 8ir W, W. Hunter, I, page 225,

t Peeps into Sveial Life in Culeutta. a century ago. By the Rev, J.
Long, page 8.

 Deposition of Radhamohun (those in Gopimehun Deb vs. Raja Raj-
kyishna Deb Bahadur.
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Manick Chandra Bewarta and Raja Nubkissen all dined or
messed together until the year 1180 (B.S.) when in conse-
quence of the incroase of members in each family they
found it inconvenicnt to continue this practice any longer
and accordingly agreed to dine separately, cach in his own
apartments. That Raja  Nubkissen also lived in apartments
allotted to him in the paitric, or family house which he had
enlarged by purchasing ground adjoining to it and orecting
other buildings and joining them to his side of the apart-
ments in the paitric house.!” ¢ The house in which
Ramsoonder Bewarta and his family lived was built by
Raja Nubkissen ; but the ground on which it was built was
purchased by the mother of Nubkissen:?” Nubkissen began
to build & Thakoorbaree, but death prevented him from
completing it. After his death Raja Raj Kissen pulled down
some parts of the structure and rebuilt it on a different plan.
It was intended to be dedicated to the service of Gopinathji
and Govindji. It was the wish of Maharaja Nubkissen that
the sum of Rs. 30,000 should be spent on the building.
In 1789 the Maharaja with his wife Sukee Dasse and his son
Rajkissen retired from the old family house to the new house,
taking with him the greatest part of his moveablo property.
The other members of his family and the remaining wives
of the Maharaju remained with Gopimohun Deb in the
old family house. Nubkissen made his last will on the 13th
May 1791 and died on the 22nd November 1797, corres-
ponding with the 10th of Agrahayan, 1204 (B.S.)

A brief reference to some of the most conspicuous
men that lived in or about the time of Nubkissen will not be
out of place. Maharaju Doorlub Roy enjoyed the highest
distinction and power at the Court of Seraj-ud-Dowlah beforo
Lord Clive had sct foot in Bengal. He was the first lord
of the Treasury and maintained no inconsiderable army

' Deposition of Kristo Mohun Deb,
2z Deposition of Mohon Tall Bose,
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of his own to support his dignity and to shield himself from
danger, He commanded the troops which were sent to the
encampment at Plassey though he does not appear to have
been engaged in that battle. Under Meer Jaffer, he still
continued to preside over the exchequer; and so great was
his wealth, that the Nabob and his execrable son, Meeran,
employed every engine of Government for more than a twelve-
month to pillage and destroy him ; and this they would have
inevitably effected but for the active interference of Clive.
Maharaja Shetab Roy was one of the Ministers at the
Court of Moorshedabad, where he appears to have held a
command in the army. Tle was the only Hindoo of Bengal
who in that stirring period oxhibited the faintest spark of
military courage. We find him commanding a body of
notive troops in the battle which Knox fought under the
walls of Patna in 1759 ; "and the English commander bore
the most honorable testimony to his boldness and skill,
The author of the Seer Mutakhereen, who witnessed the
battle from the walls of the city, says: * Knox came in the
evening, with Shetab Roy in his company. They were both
covered with dust—and sweat. The Captain passed the
greatest encomiums on Shetab  Roy’s zeal, activity and
valour. He exclaimed several times, ¢ This is a real Nabob.
I never saw such a Nahob iu all my life.””  After the acqui-
sition of the Dewanny by the English, he was associated with
Mahomed Reza Khan in the management of the finances.?
The Setts of Moorshedabad are too well known to
need any detailed notice. They were the imporial bankers
for the three provinces ;—second in importance only to the
Soobadar himself. No political event transpired during
the fifty years preceding the downfall of the Mahomedans
in which they did not bear a prominent share. It was of
them that Burke said in the House of Commons that their

Y The Friend of India, 1888,
4 Ditta,

19y
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transactions wero as extensive as those of the Bank of
England. It was in consequence of the vast power svhich
their commercial negociations gave them, that they received
from Delhi the titlo of “Jugut Sett” or the Bankers of the
world. Cossim Aly put two of the brothers to death in his
flight to Monghyr, and the transfer of the Exchequer from
Moorshedabad to Calcutta completed their decay.!

Rajah Raj Bullub was selected for his talents as the Naib
or D;puty Grovernor of the province of Ducca by Aly Verdy,
twenty years before the journey of Lord Clive to the Upper
Provinces, A few months before’the doath of Aly Verdy,
Raj Bullub’s master, tho Governor of Dacca, paid the debt
of nature. Aly Verdy, then cighty years of age, was lying
on the couch from which he never rose, and Seraj-ud-
Dowlah, his profligate grandson, scized the helm before he
had breathed his last, and procceded forthwith to imprison
Raj Bullub, who happened to be at Moorshedabad, that he
might press out of the sponge some portion of the wealth
which had been absorbed in the long administration of a
wealthy province. Kissen Das, Raj Bullub’s son, on hearing
of his father’s confinement, immediately embarked with his
family and the immense wealth which his father had accumu-
lated, and under pretence of going on a pilgrimage to
Juggernath, stopped at Calcutta, where he obtained refuge.
It was chagrin at the escape of so much wealth from his
hands, that induced Suraj-ud-Dowlah, as soon as he had
ascended the throne, to march down and attack Calcutta in
1756. But such is the caprice of power, that the young
Soobadar had no sooner entered Fort William than he ordered
his palanqueen to be set down in the square, and command-
ing Kissen Dass to be brought before him, bestowed an
honorary dress on him! Within three hours after this event
commenced the tragedy of the Black Hole, *

U The Friend of India. 1838,
¢ Ditto.
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Nubkissen’s career, as has been shown, was unigue.
“ Nawakrishna was a representative man, In himself he
holds up to us the mirror of his age. He lived in one
of the most important and eritical periods of our history-—to
some extent he acted that history. He was one of the lead-
ers of our revolution, a revolution little less glorious and
momentous in its results than the English Revolution of
1688, and his never-failing fidelity to the English shows
that he was immeasureably above his age in political saga-
city and perhaps too that he was warmed by a degree of
patriotism.  Put he possesses a greater historical interest.
With him passed away the gengration of natives who held
the highest posts under the English in India and exercised
power and influence little infevior to the Governor-General,™

v Mackerjed's Magasine.  April 1861






CHAPTER XI.
NUBKISSEN AND rTHE ENeLIsE CONQUEST.

ScARCELY any nation in the world has followed, as closely
or us conxistently us the English, the principles which were
laid down by a great English philosopher and man of the
world, in regard to the use that rulers have to make of their
counsellors and the degree of public recognition that is to be
given to them, Bacon wrote :(—*“'The anecient times do set
forth in figure both the incorporation and inseparable con-
junction of Counsel with Kings, and the wise and politic use
of Counsel by Kings : the one, in that they say Jupiter did
marry Metis, which signifieth Counsel; whereby they intend
that sovereignty is marricd to Counsel ; the other, in that
which followeth, which was thus: they say, after Jupiter
was married to Metis, she conceived by him and was with
child ; but Jupiter suffered not to stay till she brought forth,
but ate her up : whereby he hecame himself with child, and
was delivered of Pallas armed, out of his head. Which
monstrous fable containeth a secret of empire, how Kings
are to make use of their council of state ; that first, they
ought to refer matters unto them (which is the first begetting
or impregnation) ; hut when they are elaborate, moulded,
and shaped in the womb of their Council, and grow ripe
and ready to be brought forth, that then they suffer not their
Council to go through with the resolution and direction, as if it
depended on them, hut take the matter back into their own
hands, and make it appear to the world that the decrees and
final directions (which, becausc they come forth with prudence
and power are resembled to Pallas armed) proceeded from
themselves. and not only {rom their authority, but (the more
10 add reputation to themsclves) from their head and deviee.”

In this respect Englishmen havo been Baconians before
Bacon. They have always known how to refer matters unto
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counsellors, and, when they have been “ eluborate, moulded
and shaped,” to take the matter back into their own* hands
and make it appear to the world that the decrees and final
directions proceeded from themselves, “and not only from
their authority but from their head and device.” And
whether formally initiated in these principles or not, they have
invariably acted according to them by a sort of instinct in
administering the affairs of this country. They huve observed
those principles most systematically in dealing with native
Counsellors. The native of India is indispensable to the ruler.
Often he is his best adviser, his only informant He not only
carries his master’s messages or obeys his orders, but warns
him, instructs him, fights his battles; saves his life or honour,
and even governs for hiw. - But the native, whatever his
services, receives as little recognition in any history of India as
the American in a history of Knglish literature, The country
is studded with memorials of Fnglishmen who in civil or mili-
tary life have in any way aided tu the cstablishment or main-
tenance of British rule, hut material monuments or historical
notices of native hielpers of the English cause are hard to find.
Need we wonder at the omission of native names from works
by Englishmen, when there 'is scarcely a history of India
or even a biography of Clive or Hastings that mentions even
Maharaja Nubkissen who was the triend, philosopher and guide
of the hero ot Plasscy, and to whom the English are indebted
for services which can scarcely be repaid ¥ The English habit
is never to recognise the individuality of the native, but always
to merge him in some Englishman or other. The Englishman
by virtue of his position in India is always the superior
officer. Some subordinate may not only be his right hand
but his brain, but anthority takes precedence of ability, the
subordimate is sunk in the superior, and though a resolution
in a gazette may bestow compliments on a few fortunate
natives, the writers of the more elaborate official documents
or books of history do not scem to think it worth their while
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to disfigure their pages by native numes, The history of
[udin, as written by BEnglihmen- -und no others care to
write it—is a history of KEnglish soldiers und KEnglish rulers.
Which hisiory of India during the Mutinies mentions Hurrish
Chunder Mookerjen, and yet who could be more fitly called
the right hand of Lord Canning at the time ?

“The most wonderful things,” suys Burke, “are brought
abont in many instances by means the most absurd and
ridiculous ; in the most ridiculous modes ; and, apparently,
by the most contemptible instruments.”  Again: “It is often
impossible, in these political enquiries, to find any proportion
between the apparent force of any moral causes we may
assign, and their known ‘operation......A common soldier, a
child, a girl at the door of un inn, have chunged the face of
fortune, and almost of Nature.” Nubkissen rendered services
to the founders of the English Empire in the East which
cortainly make him out to be an * instrument.” He was no
“ econtemptible ingtruuent ”’ however, for his services were
not merely of the mechanical, accidental sort. They were
not confined to any speeial; single oceasion.  They ave not
to be compared to the guarding of a gate or the defence of a
bridge, They were systemutic, long-continued and deliberate,
giviﬁg evidence of various intellectual and moral qualities.
He was an instrument in the same sense in which Clive was
himself an instrument, Both were founders of the empire,
ths one by his sword, the other by his diplomacy. As has
bean observed in a previous chapter, the inspiration of empire
came into the soldier’s mind from the diplomat. Both were
alike instruments, for neither was, by his birth, education or
surroundings. drawn in any necessary way to imperial tacties,
Neither had reeccived any training for his work, yet each
was fittest, among the men of the time, for the purpose he
accomplizhed.

The English acquisition of Indin is one of the most
marvellous fucts of history. The cirenmstances that led to
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the establishment of the English power aud the character of
the revolution that wax accomplished, have been deseribed
with remarkable accuracy and soundness of judgment by
Profesor Secley. “ Ounr acquisition of India,” writes the
learned historian, ¢ was made blindly. Nothing great that
has ever been done hy Englishmen was done so unintention-
ally, so accidentally as the conquest of India. There has
indeed been little enough of caleulation or contrivance in our
colonisation. When our irst settlers went out to Virginia and
New England, it was not intended to lay the foundations of
& mighty republican statc. But here the event hax differed
from the design only in degree, We did intend to cstablish
a new community, and we even knew it would be republican
in its tendency; what was hidden from us was only its
immense magnitude. But in Indin we meant one thing, and
did quite another. Our object was trade, and in this we
were not particularly successful. . War with the native states
we did not think of at all till 0 hundred years after our first
settlement, and then we thought only of such war as might
support our trade ; after this time again more than half a
century passed before we thought of any considerable terri-
torial ucquisitions ; the nineteenth century had almost begun
before the policy of acquiring an ascendency over the native
states was entered upon ; and owr present supreme position
eannot be said to have been attained before the Governor-
Greneralship of Lord Dalhousie, little more than a quarter of
a ceatury ago. All along we have been looking one way and
moving another, "

What was the condition of the country at the time the
English came into power ? Let the historian answer :-
“ When we began to take possession of the country, it was
already in a state of wild anarchy, such as Europe perhaps
has never known. What government it had was pretty
invariably despotic, and was generally in the hands of military
adventurers, depending on a soldiery composed of bandits
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whoze whole vecation wasg plunder.  The Mabratta Power
covered the greater part of India and threatened al once
Delhi and Caleatta, while it had its head-quarters at Pognah,
and yet this power was but an orgunisution of pillage, Mean-
while in the North Nadir Shah rivalled Attila or amerlane
in his devastating expeditions, It muy be said this was only
o pussing anarchy produced by the dissolution of the Mogul
Fmpire. Even so, it would show that India is not a country
which ean endure the withdrawal of Government, But
have we not a somewhat exaggerated idea of the Mogul
Empire ¥ Its greatness was extremely short-lived, and in
the Deccan it seems never really to have established itself,
The anarchy which Clive and Hastings found in India
was not so exceptional a state of things as it might seem.
Probably it was much more intense at that moment than ever
before, but a condition of anarchy seems almost to have
heent chronic in India since Mahmoud, and to have been but
suspended for a while in the Northern half by Akber and
Shah Jehan. ”

India, Professor Seeley goes on to say, was never con-
quered by the English. The word “conquest " refers to some
action done to one state by another, There is war between
two states : the army of the one state invades the other and
overturns the government of it, or, at least, forces the govern-
ment to such humiliating terms, that it is practically deprived
of its independence. Nothing of this sort happened between
England aud India. India had no nationality, the people
had no national feeling, and Indian powers were overthrown
by the aid of the Indians themselves. “ Now this is not a
foreign conquest, but rather an internal revolution, In any
country when government breaks down and anarchy sets in,
the genernl law is that a struggle follows between such orga-
nised powers as remain in the country, and that the most
powerful of these sets up a government. In France, for in-
stance, after the fall of the House of Bourbon in 1792 a new
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government was set up chiefly through the influence of the
Municipality of Paris ; this Government having fullen into
diseredit a few years luter wax superseded by a military Govern-
ment wielded by Bonuparte,  Now India about 1750 was in a
condition of anarchy caused by a deeay in the Mogul Empire
which had begnn at the death of Aurungzebe in 1707, The
imperial authority having everywhere lost its force over so
st a territory, the general law began to operate.  FEvery-
where the minor organised powers began to make themselves
supreme, These powers, after the fashion of India, were
most commonly mercenary bands of soldiers, commanded
either by some provincial governor of the falling empire, or
by some adventurer who  seized “an- opportunity of rising
to the command of them, or, lastly, by some local power
which had existed before the establizhment of the Mogul
supremacy and had never completely yielded to it. To give
an example of each kind of power, the state of Hyderabad
was founded by the satrap of the great Mogul called the
Nizam, the state of Mysore was founded by the Mussulman
adventurer Hyder Ali, swho rose from the ranks by mere
military ability, the greal Mahratta confederacy of chief-
tains headed by the Peishwa, & Brahminical not a Mussulman
Power, represented the older Tndia of the time hetore the
Mogul. But all these powers alike subsisted by means of
mercenary armics, theyv lived in a state of chronic war and
mutual plunder such as, I suppose, has hardly been witnessed
in Europe escept perhaps in the discolution of the Carlo-
vingian Empire.”

Macaulay, who belongs to a very different school, cumes
to the same conclusion as Professor Sceley in regard to the
political situation in India af fthe time that Nubkissen lived
and worked, Ha writes: * The history of the snceessors of
Theodosing bears no small analogy to that of the successors
of Aurungzebe. But perhaps the fall of the Carlovingians
farnishes the nearest parallel to the fall of the Moguls......
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A succession of nominal sovereigns, sunk in indolence and
lebawchery, suuntered away life in sccluded jalaces, chew-
ing bang, tondling concubines, and listening to buffoons. A
suceession of ferocious invaders descended through the
Western passes to prey on the defenceless wealth of Hindos-
tan... Wherever the Viceroys of the Mogul retained anthority
they hecame sovereigns. They might «till acknowledge in
words the ruperiority of the house of Tamerlune ; as a Count
of Flanders or a Duke of Burgundy might have acknow-
ledged the superiority of the most helpless driveller among
the later Carlovingians, They might occasionally send to
their titular sovercign a complimentary present, or solieit
frormt him a title of honour. In teuth, however, they were
no longer Lientenants removable at pleasure, but independent
hereditary princes. In this way originated those great Mus-
sulman houses which formerly ruled Bengal and the Carnatie,
and those which still, though in a state of vassalage, exercise
some of the powers of royalty at Lmcknow and Hyderabad,
In what was this confusion to end? Was the strife to con-
tinue during centuries 2 Was it to terminate in the rise of
another great monarchy ¥ ‘Was the Mussuliman or the Mahratta
to be the Lord of India ¥ Was another Baber to descend from
the mountains and to lead the hardy tribes of Cabul and
Chorasan against a wealthier and less warlike race ? None of
these events seemed improbable.”

What loarned historians have been able to observe after
along and careful observation Nubkissen saw at once with
the shrewd cye of a practical statesman. His attachment
to the English was formed, as has been seen, not after
the Company had acquired power and importance, but in
the days of their helplessnoss and depression. Persecuted,
expelled from the town, and driven to take secret refuge
on the banks of the river at Fulta, they received information,
provisions and other assistance from none but Nubkissen.
At unspeakable risk to himself he came to their aid. As
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his relations with the Company became more intimate and
his insight into English character deeper, the scntimental
attachment ripened into a genuine esteem. He came to be
convinced of the strength, the talents, the righteousness
of the small band of foreigners. When false charges were
brought against him they were inquired into with serupulous
care and pronounced to be false. When by an error of the
authorities, rights to certain lands were conferred on him
which legally belonged to another, and a complaint was made
by that person, the grant was revoked after a due inquiry and
compensation made. In spite of their feelings of kindness
towards him and their appreciation of his services, they
administered strict justice between him and a stranger. The
recorded examples of English firmness, courage and justice ave
as nothing compared to the many experiences which Nubkissen
must have had in his daily relations with them. The edifice
of Mahomedan supremacy was crumbling and it was hopeless
to buttress it up. It was suffering not from the violence of
a sudden shock, but from the dry rot which nothing could
cure, and the inevitable consequences of which were decay
and ruin. The soul had departed from the rule with the
justice of Akber. Righteousness exalteth a nation, Tt
alone sanctifies a rule. Aurungzebe substituted force for
justice, and though the strength of hix military arm kept
up a good show asx long as he lived, the handwriting
on the wall had already manifested itself. The toftering
frame lingered on through a few more reigns, but its
doom had been sealed by the policy of reaction which had
commenced. The Hindu power was extinet beyond the hope
of a revival, The scattered forces were not strong enough,
and they wanted coherence and a leader, There were no
materials in the country out of which a new order could be
evoked, The deliverance was provided from a foreign soarce.

Nubkissen, so far as he helped the consummation, did
g0 out of the same necessity which compelled Englishmen to
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invite William of Orange to occupy the throne rendered
vacant by the constructive abdication of James I[. An
independent, patriotic, homogencous nation like the English
had in the circumstances of that epoch no alternative but
to look to a foreign source for relief from the threatening
anarchy. The necessity was clearer in India in the circam=~
stances of the times in which Nubkissen lived.

The hand of Providence is no mete metaphor. The more
closely we look into the lives of individuals and nations and
into the way in which epoch-making events occur, the
more are we liable to be convinced that a force not ourselves
cules the affairs of men. It is not.a blind force, but a Will,
And it is a Will that is not capricious, but that operates through,
it it is not identified with, a Law which is the very standard
and type of Righteousness. There have been some times
palpable manifestations of the Will, - What was that fairy-
like female figure that stimulated to heroic exertion the
€ireek seamen whose arms were faltering at the commence-
ment of the battle of Salamis? It seems easy for a certain
class of thinkers to dispose of, on «« priori grounds, all such
incidents or reports as fiction. i properly examined they can-
not be lightly dismissed ; and their number is not insignificant-
What theory of natural causation or necessary law will explain
the visions that Joan of Arc saw, the capacities she suddenly
aequired, the results she achieved ? How did the simple
village girl come to be a commander of armies and the
winner of battles against veterans? Tt is worthy of note
that several of the most remarkable men of history, men
whom the world is content to credit with extraordinary
merits as the real cause of their achievements, felt
themselves to be nothing more than the instruments of a
Divine Purpose. The English commanders who put the
Spanish Armada to flight deserve credit no doubt for their
courage and strategy, but several of them were conscious of
the help they received from the elements, and the Sovereigns
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concernod saw and felt deeper,  Philip II. said that he had
never counted on being called upon to fight God and man,
and Queen Flizabeth, neither imbecile in intellect, nor un-
willing to claim credit for her ofticers, expressed her con-
vietion in the memorable words of her medal.

~ Of Cromwell’s faith the evidence i overwhelming. In
his despatch addressed to the speaker of the House of Com-
mons after the battle of Naseby he writes :~—* This is none
other but the hand of (God, and to flim alone belongs the
glory, wherein none are to share with him,” Again: * Thus
I have given yon a true, but not a full account of this great
business ; wherein he that runs may read, that all this is
none other than the work of God. e must be a very
Atheist who does not acknowledgeit.” * Sir,” he wrote on the
battle Held of Preston, * this is nothing but the hand of God.”
Writing to Colonel Hammond in November 1648 he notices
his own victories in the following terms:—“ We have not
heen without our share of heholding some remarkahle provi-
dences and appearances of the Lord.” My dear friend,” he
goes on, “let ns look into providences ; surely they mean
somewhat. They hang =0 together +have been so constant, so
clear, unclouded,”  Referving o the Hrd September 1651
he says in a despateh ;- = This day twelvemonth was glovious
at Dunbar, this day hath been glorions at Worcester, The
word then was ¢ The Lord of Iosts” and so it was now ; and
indeed the Lord of Hosts was wonderfully with us.”  Are
assertions like these to be taken in a conventional sense, as
the expression of a mere cercmonial humility ? Most em-
phatically no. They represent his deepest convictions, They
were the result of his inspirations and experiences. His
contemporary, Milton, whose lot was cast in another sphere
of life, felt like him that he was working ever under the Task-
master’s eye, and was conscious, from an early period, of his
being destined to Jeave some work that posterity would not
willingly let dic. Napoleon’ faith in the occult arts or, rather,
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in the oceult forces of nature has become proverbial. He said on
a certain gceasion, “ My presentiments have never deceived
me.” Presentiments are inspirations and not the results
of experience. But expericnce has often tended to confirm
antecedent taith. The circamstances under which William 111,
landed in England convinced him that Providence had directed
his movements for the delivorance of the English people.

As God is the one Cause cf the universe, His is the one
Purpose which rulesin life. The Divine Will does not destroy
human freedom, but directs it. Some of the greatest of men
Lave felt this gnidance and have regarded themselves as
favoured and glorified by it. When three successive at-
tempts to commit suicide tailed, Clive i said to have observed
that he must be reserved for something great.  He may have
had no direct inspiration, but in nearly cvery military opera-
tion in which he was engaged ho was helped by “accidents, ”
The so-called accidents play a great part in life, but what the
vulgar judgment regards as an aceident is often only a
special dispensution of Providence.  The world is ot ruled
by aceidents, nor by physical force, nor by law if it means
mechanical necessity or arbitrary sequeunce. * Through the
ages an increasing purpose runs, . And if at times false-
hood seems to triumph over truth, or right to give way to
might, the fact is to be regarded in no other light than the
sufferings, in private life, of a righteous man or the‘pros-
perity of u rogue, Unseen conditions are at work which
interfere with a proper reading of the facts, and it has
to be remembered that for the settlement of accounts there ix
all eternity at the disposal of the Most High, **The Moral
Law is written on the tablets of eternity.” In accordance
with that law great men (or women) arise for the deliver-
ance—-political, intellectual or religious—of mankind or a
section of it. These persons, whether political rulers or not, are
possessed of a true Divine Right. They are instruments of
the Divine Will. Their ability gives them only fitness as
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instruments, The circumstances which conduce to the suceess
of their mission are moulded by an unseen hand. And there
is a Divinity that shapes their ends,

The English conquest of India, if conquest it can be called,
is, more than any other cvent of equal importance, a Divine
dispensation, There wns a manifest disproportion between
means and results, The unexpected happened every day during
the period of transition, The old »dzime passed away like the
baseless fabric of u vision. Armies and empires seemed to
melt into thin air hefore the very eyes of men. The English
came into the country as traders; they found themselves
rulers. Clive’s triumphs have a magical character abont them,
almost us marked as those of La Pucelle. They read like
table. The English did not fight their way to the musnud,
hut were wafted to it as by a propitiou= breeze, of which none
can say whence came it or how blew it.

Nubkissen was carried along the tide ; at the same time
he was one of the chief forces that contributed to the con-
summation. Posterity bas no reason to regret his policy or
his actions ; on the contrary, it should be grateful for his
services, Experience had shown that not only no indi-
genous power was fitted to restore peuce, order and good
government to the country, but that no western power
except the English was equal to the task. It was not superior
strength so much as superior wisdom and justice which placed
the country in the hands of the English, Strength would
have been displayed in conquest, but the English obtained
their power not s0 much by conquest as by cession und
agreement. Knglish management of possessions was often
welcomed by powers and peoples.

The empire which was acquired by wisdom and justice will
be retained by the same qualities and by them alone. Justice
even more than wisdom is the strength of a Government,
and when it fails, the powers of righteousness make it go.
The heavens themselves “ arm against perjured kings,” There
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comes 1 time when the load of iniquity is too heavy to be borne
and the empire sinks under the weight, 1tisdifficult toconceive
even the possibility of FEnglish rulers abandoning justice or
lowering the standard of it. The Proclamation made by Her
late Majesty Queen Vietoria in November 1858, on assuming
the direct sovereiguty of India, is « remarkable document forits
pronounced and emphatic affirmation of principles of justice,—
equal rights, religious toleration, a fair field to intelligence
and character. That Proclamation cunnot fail to be a perpet-
ual guide to Indian rulers. At any rate, it will always remain
as an ideal which (Governments, in spite of occaxzional lapses,
will generally strive to realise,

There is no fear of any honest-minded ruler going wrong
it he rcmembers the prineiples of that  charter, and it in
carrying out innovations he follows the method which in
England has proved so suceessful; the method not of Revolu-
tions but of Evolution. About the worst evil of foreign rule is
its tendency to arrest the natural and spontaneous development
of a people. Not all the imported blessings that a conquer-
ing race can offer, cun compensaute for the loss of u healthy,
natural growth. Art never supplies the want of Life, England
cannot he charged with any econscious attempt to interfere
with the free development of the intelligence, the character
and the institutions of the Indiun people; on the contrary,
she deserves their gratitude for her endeavours to aid that
development, Some deterioration may arise, however, in
consequence of the inevitable conditions of the new life.
At least one such instance was discovered long ago. A
remarkable passage occurs in a minute by Philip Francis
recorded in the proceedings (Public Department) of the 4th
November 1776, and suid to be “in consequence of the
Governor-(ieneral’s minute of the 28th April last on the
subject of the trade to Suez.” It runs :—

“The consumption of foreign commeodities by the natives of
Bengal is very inconsiderable. Cotton, the chief article of import, is
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the material of manufacture for exportation. But the productions of
Bengal have been in request in alost every part of the world. The
returns were received in specie. The parsimonious industry of a
simple unenlightened people imposed a natural tribute on the in-
dolence or luxury of the most powerful and polished nations. In
these circumatances the growing balance of trade accumulated and the
country flourished under a despotic Government.

“ 1t is material to the present inquiry to observe that there iz no
period of time at which the foreign trade has been conducted by any
Lut foreigners ; consequently its continuing to be so is not an assign-
able’ cause of the decline of the country. The Hindu is attached
to the soil which gave him birth, by the plan and principle of his
religion. Nothing but external violence can remove him from it,
Nature has encouraged him by every prospect of advantage to be a
husbandman or a manmfacturer.. Tt is no more compatible with his
interest than with his genius, coustitution and habits of life to be
a mariner, or an adventurer, in the retail of commerce. The foreigner
must come home to him and purchase at his door. 1o this sense, if
seliing be the essential property of commerce, Bengal was a commercial
nation of the first order ; other nations were but the agents of her
fundamental industry and the retailers of her original produce.
Before the introduction of the British dominion, these were truths un-
questionable. The wonderful mass of wealth we found here proves
without argument the actual lenity of the ancient Government and
the simple unerring wisdom of its institutors, Bengal Las changed
its masters : does this single change, o1 any consequences attending
it, imply a necessity of altering the whole political and economical
gystem under which it formerly prospered ¢ . . . The happiness
of a nation—connected, perhaps, with prejudices and indifferent
to the Governing Power—their long-established constitution, is a
dangerous subject for politicul experiments. The object wastes under
the attempt to improve,”

The evil referred to is serious.  There are reasons to
fear that similar other cvils may have arisen in spite of the
intention of the Government and the people to avert them. Tt
is not eaxy to prevent by conscious effort the operation of
zocial and cconomic laws, Tt is enpugh it Development-—and
Progress has no better meaning than as the development of
Order—is steadily kept in view as the end. Education is
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another nawae for development, and if Kngland's mission to
the East is to be descrihed in one word, it is education. The
cducation which the country expects at the hands of Govern-
ment is twofold, Tt is, first, an intellectual training, such as
is given and received in academies of various kinds, literary,
or technical, and, secondly, it is politicul and civic education,
which can Le given and received only through political insti-
tutions by the exercise of rights and the discharge of duties.
Self-Government and Trial by Jury are institutions which
have their value in this country, not so much as satisfying
popular demands as tending to educate the people,

Tudia has been learning much [rom her western rulers
and has still a great dealfo learn, She has to acquire the
treasures of western science and the methods of science. She
has to learn the value of order and system, of classification
and analysis, of criticisin and questioning, She has to acquire
the scientific spirit. She hasg to acquire the western arts of
political life, the arts of organisation, the western notions of
individual right, of public duty, of the responsibilities of
power and wealih, of legal and political equality, She has
to acquire the western virtues of industry and self-rcliance,
But she has not only to receive, but to give, and there is a
great deal that she is very well fitted to give. The East
has always been the spiritual instructor of the West, and her
occupation is not yet gone.

The East is the land not of mere asceticism, but of every
form and varety of spiritual thought. * Thought” is probably
not the correct word. This land of the sun is pre-eminently
the land of Vision, Revelation, Eestusy. It is the land of
seers and saints. In contrasting the Xuropean and Asiatic
temperaments Mr. Meredith Townsend observes —The
truth is the Europcan is cssentially secular—that is, intent
on securing objects he can see; and the Asiatie essentially
religious—that is, intent on obedience to powers which he
cannot sce, Lut can imagine.” He is essentially right, but
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the Asiatic claims that the powers he obeys can not only be
imagined by him, but uve, us he thinks, often seen bye him,
The visions of the forms in which the Deity is believed to
have manifested Himself, are, very largely at any rate, the
origin of the idolatry which prevails. It is no information
to the Hindu that God is one, but he believes that this one
God is not only present in everything but has manifested
Himself in many forms, and he therefore thinks it fitting to
worship Him in one or other of these forms. Hinduism does
not mean idolatry, ritual and polygamy, any more than
Christianity means courtship, divorce, re-marriage of divorced
wives, frauds in diplomicy and brutality in war. No religion
ought to he judged by the beluviour in private or social
life of its lutter-day votavies. The purest metals are covered
with dross or rust in course of time ; and actual life seldom
illustrates ideals.

The prospect of the Hindu race is uncertain, even
gloomy. It will veceive no recruits {rom other religions,
but can lose members to them. Tt will be extinct by the
digintegration of its society. Union by marriage with any
other race will also tond to extingunish it. Instead of
acquiring greater cohercnce every day and tending to nutional
unity, it is splitting up into more and more classes and sects.
The breeze of materialism has been unscttling the minds of
men and disturbing their faith through western learning und
contact with western lite. In the absence of a Hindu rdyime
there are no agencies possessed either of moral or civie power
for effecting the necdful reforms, re-adjusting society, evoking
order out of chaos and breathing new life into the Hindu
people. Regeneration appears to be impossible, dissolution
pretty certain. What then is the hope of the Hindu ? Searce-
ly anything but this, that the creed which dies with the Hindu
may live on in the European. Tf the Hindus, before they pass
away, can conunicate’to some at least of the sons of the West
all that is best in their religion, their philesophy and their



ManakaJAH NuBKisskN BAHADUR. 227

ideals of life, they way die content. The principles, the ideas,
the hebits will remain ; their possessors alone will be changed,
The new possessors will probably cherish them with more
carnestness, defend them with greater zeal and energy, develop
and propagare them in a more effective way. The hope of the
devout Hindu is in the Buropean. He may well fear that he
will leave ne other heir in the spiritual sphere.

There is little in the way of moral principles that the
Hindu has to teach to the Kuropean. But Hinduism is
not only a code of morals, but an interprotation of the
unseen. It has something very distinctive to tell us about
man’s origin and destiny ; it points out to us the means
of getting at spiritual realities, and of placing ourselves
in contact with the world beyond this. The Hindu’s faith
is based uot so much on the scriptures as on experience—
on inspiration, on vision, on positive proofs of the Divine
will. The Hindu Yogi or Sannyasi is the mainstay of
the Hindu religion. It is he that accounts for the wonderful
vitality of the Hindu creed. “For, quite independently of the
seriptures, it is he that has given proofs, from generation to
generation, of direct relations hetween God and man. He is
a living proof himself, of the possibility, by the Hindu
method, of knowing God, of ascertaining His will and
receiviug His favours, Daily proofs are given in this land,
of the reality of the Hindu faith, of the cfficacy of Hindu
worship, prayer and devotion. The Hindu, therefore, does
not very much care to discuss his faith with others, for he does
not rest his faith merely on authority or logic. He may lose
many a battle on the logical arena and yet his faith is
unshaken, for he cannot get rid of the personal experiences of
himeelf or of others that he comes in contact with. His sheet
anchor is mot a single ancient Revelation, but daily and
hourly revelations on many an occasion of danger, difficulty
and doubt. His scriptures ure a guide for the solution
of difticulties of & metaphysical or theological kind, but his
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chief resource und consolation is in the exploration of the
oceult,

He does not claim a monopoly of Divine favour or of
the capacity of holding communion with the Divine. If others
share the advantages he will not be jealous. It is enough for
him as 2 member of a dependent, despised, and waterially
backward race to vindicate his own position as a seeker of
spiritual truth. And he can only regret the course of thought
by which, in other countries than his own, the spiritual adept,
the open-eyed scer, the recipient of inspiration, should have
come to be called a mystic.

Hinduism as a religion is not so much a creed as a
capacity, not so much a_doctrine as a discipline. Hence is
bound up with it a system for the regulution of life. T the
discipline and the capucity eould he communicated to the sons
of the West, the Hindus would be glad to hand down to them
their country and their traditions. While they themselves
would be advancing in objectivity and industrialism, the
balance of the world’s forces would be maintained by the
communication of their inwardness and delicacy of spiritual
fibre to the Aryans of another clime. Already the Eastern
light has penetrated and illumined a few select minds in
England, on the western continent, und even in the New World,
and if over-crowded England should ever establish a colony in
this land, the exchange of services between the East and the
West would receive signal fucilities. A colony is not essen-
tial, however, for the communication of influences, Jven
under existing conditions the forces of Europe and Asia
would act on each other. The Asiatic would be seculuarised,
the Buropean would be spiritualised, The education of both
would be complete, for the truest culture is that which does
not over-weight the existing capacities, but supplies their
defects.  And not till that edncation has come about, can the
mission of the English Conquest be taken as realised. The
Hindu may be pardoned if he flatters himself that it was
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a providential regard for Hindu interests that made Britain’s
banners flout on Indiun soil. He would have been swept
away under the old rule ; he was saved under the new, God
had listened to his prayers. And if he was coming to be
feeble and his society effete, the same benign Destiny also
provided that all that was bhest and highest in his ereed,
his constitution and his life, would pass, before his extinction,
to a new, more healthy and move vigorous race, better fitted
to keep it alive, His creed and his country had been saved,
and he might well be persuaded that the political revolution
that he hud lived to witness was one more triumph of his

religion.
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1740,
1756,
1757,
1760,
1763.
1765,
1766,
1770,
1783.

APPENDIX 1L
NABOBS OF BENGAL
(1740-1798).

Ali Verdy Khan,
Seraj-ud-dowlah, grandson, by daughter, of the preceding.
Meer Jaffer.
Cassim Ali Khan.
Meer Jaffer,
Nudjum-ud-dowlah, son of the preceding.
Syef-ud-dowlah, brother of the preceding.
Mobarik-ud-dowlah, brother of the preceding.
Nazir-ul-Mulk, son of the preceding,
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Durbar, 18,

Durga Puja, reference to, 177.

Dutt, Anund, 100,

. Bujao Kissen, 100,
»  Juggmohan or Juggamoan, G4,
97, 98, 99, 100, 101.
,» Madan, his quarrel with Nub-
kissen, 141 149, reference to,
84, 204,
» Manick, 100.
» Monoo, 100,
s Nilmoney, 99.
» Ram Mohan, 99,
, Ramnaut, 99,
yw Roy Chura, 99,
,  Bumn, 100.
s Sanker, 84.
Dwapara Yuga, referenge to, 181,

E.
fast Tndia Company, refcrenae to
its Charter, 7; Nubkissen was
appointed Moonshee to, 10, 11;
loyalty of Nubkissen to the, 14;
the grant of the Dewani obtained
from, 25; reference to the affairs
of, 29 ; 161 ; reference to a war
with, 48 ; referense to its Per-
gunnahs, B0, 52 ; 24-Pergunnahs
granted to the, 84 ; reference to the
servants of the, 112; reference to
the Government of, 122 ; reference
to the Attorney of, 158 ; refercnec
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to the Treasury of, 193 ; referenac
to, 46, 59--02, 72, 82, 88, 95, 96,
118—115, 119, 128, 125, 148, 197.

Fehoes from Old Caleutta, reference
to, 188.

Ekjai, 174,

Elizabeth, Queen, her belief in Divine
intervention, 220.

Elliot, Mr., reference to, 129,

English Revolution of 1688, refer-
ence to, 209, 219,

Englishmen, reference to, 204,

Ephialtes, reference to, 16,

Erasmus, reference to, 188,

Evelyn, Mr, John, 143,

Buropa, 49.

Fridenee of Froneis Sykes, Bsq., T0.

Evidence given by Nubkissen in
Nuncomar’s Trial, 129.

Rvidence, Law of, 125

F.

Fakhar Tojjar, & merchant, 5.

Favier, Mr,, 133, 184.

Fifth Report, 320, 71.

Flanders, reference to Count of, 217,

Floyer, Mr. Charles, 58, 62,

Founders of the Indion
Clive, reference to, 19n,

Forrest, Mr., reference to, 103,

Fort William, built by Clive, 6 ; re-
ference to the meeting of the Com-
mittee in, 33; a Committee in, 72 ;
reforence to the Supreme Cowrt af,
140, 141, 143, 157, 168 ; reference
to, 56, 75, 82, 86, 93, 100, 113, 137,
188, 208,

Fowke, Mr, Joseph, reference to, 124,

Francis, 8ir Philip, his malice towards
Hastings and Impey, 134; reference
to, 86, 88, 89, 97, 98, 123, 124 134,
184, his minute on the industrial
decline of Bengal, 223, 224,

Friend of India, reference to, 32n,
207n, 208n.

Falta, 13,

Ewmpire,

G,

Gangamandal, 176,

Ganges, reference to the, 12, 60, 176,

Gangoolce, Nemoo, 55, 57, 66, 67,
69.

{icntoo, reference to, 12, 197,

George IT ,reference to, 7,

George I11,, reference to, 161,
Ghataks or gencalogists, 4: their
services to Suciety, 173, 174, 176,
Ghosal, Gocul, 27, 28, 57, 70,

Ghose, Abhai Churn, 157,
,+  Gunganarain, 160,

INDEX.

Ghose, Radhamoban, reference to
his deposition, 205n,
Saum, 84.
5 Sumbhochurn, 156.

Ghosh, Sankar, reference
house, 205,

Ghyretty, 204.

Gocul Sonar, 157,

Golding, Mr, Edward, 143,

Good old days of Honorable John
Company, by W. H, Carey, refer-
enoe to, 14n,

Gooroodas, Raja, son of Nuncomar,
118, 124,

(iopimohan Deb 5. Raja Raj
Krishna Deb, Bahadur, reference
to a case of, 204, 206n.

Gopinathji and Govindji, idols of
Raja Nubkissen, 180, 206.

Gosthipatis, 175,

Govindpore, in Calcutta, reference
t0, b, 6, 204,

Grant, Lieutenant, reference to, 43.

Gray, Mr, George, reference to, 59,
63 69, 70,

Greeks, reference to, 185,

Grotius; reference to, 188,

Gupta Ram Nidhi, known as Nidhoo
Baboo, 186.

to his

H.

Hajee Saaudut, 69,

Halsibag, 15,

Harem, reference to, 18,

Haru Thakur or Hurray
Dirghangi, 186.

Hastie, Dr,, his reference to Nub-.
kissen, 33,

Hastings, Warren, was born in 1782,
7 ; his arrival at Oalcutta in 1750,
9; appointed Nubkissen as his
Persian Tutor, 9 ; was commercial
agent at Moorshedabad, 18; refer-
ence to his appointment of Nub-
kissen, 14; his trial, 24 ; hatred
of Nuoncomar against him, 116 ;
was appointed member of the
Couneil, 116 ; was appointed to
preside in the Counncil at Caleutta,
117 ; his letter to the Directors,
119 ; his power was reduced, 112 ;
Nuncomar brought charges of cor-
ruption against him, 116, 123 ; his
knowledge of Nuncomar, 119;
abolished the post of Naib Shaheb,
112 ;declared the Council dissolved,
124 ; his abetting the prosecution
of Nuncomar, 134 ; charge against
him by Burke of his receiving
bribe from Nubkissen, 196 ; his

Kristo
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gtatement, 198 ; reference to, 1, 2,
7, 11, 81, 86, 89, 95, 97, 104, 118,
148,

Hickey's Bengal Gazettr, refercnce
to, 183, 184,

Hidayet Ali Khan, reference to, 108n,

Higly or Hidgly, 5, 107, 109, 139,

Himalayas, reference to, 182.

Hindoo Jdolatry, reference to, 32n.

Yindoo Patriot, The, reference to, 7.

Hiramani Dasee, Rani. 304.

History of Renyal, By Rev, J.C.
Marshman, reference to, 20,

History of British  India, by Sir
W, W, Hunter, 205n,

History of the Military Transactions
of the Rritish Nations in Indostan
reference to, 12n,

Hoissard, Mr., reference to, 27. 28,

Holkar, reference to, 1.

Holme, Mr. John, reference to, 89, 990,
01, 139 ; reference to his note; 140,

Hope Hall, reference to. 7.

Hosea, Mr., refcrence to, 159.

Hossein Cooley Khan, 12,

Iouse of Bourbon, reference to, 215,

flugli, reference to, 12, 17, 108,109,
113, 114,

Hunehapore, 140,

Huzzoor Novesy, reference to, 114,

Hyde, Mr. Justice, 127, 128, 158

Hyder Ali, reference to, 216,

) 8
Impey, Siv Klijah, reference to, 104,
126, 127, 128, 131, 184, 135,
Indar Jat Perkhee, 110,
Ingham, Dr,, reference to, 27,
Ishwara Chandra, Raja, reference to,
184,
Islam, 200,

J.

Jagat 8ett, killed by Nabab Kassim«
aly, 44 ; reference to, 83, {3, 50,
111, 117, 208.

Jagheers, 114,

Jafferaly Khan, Nahob, reference to,
48, 44, 58,

Jatimala Kaelari, 53,

Jelingeer River, 12,

Jessore, reference to, 33,

Joan of Are, her visions, 219.

Johnson, Mr,, reference to his
friends, 26.

Johnston, John, Governor, 24, 60,

Journal of the Asiatic Sveiety, vo-
ferenge to, 19n.

Judges, reference to, 29, 126,

198,
135, 163, 164,
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Judicial kuatchery, 129,

Juggernath, reference to, 12; re-
ference to the pagoda of, 12:
reference to the pilgrimage of, 208.

Jupiter, reference to, 211.

K.

Kabis, 186,

Kamala Kanta, 184,

Kénsond, a village, referenee to, 4.

Kassimaly Khan or Nabob Mir
Cossim was appointed 8nbadar, 44 :
removed from Moorshedabad to
Monghyr, 44; treacheronsly
killed the English, 44 ; his Bight
to Monghyr, 208 ; was defeated at
Oody Nullah, 44 ; his eseape, 44 ;
was reinstated by Clive as Subadar.
44 : his war with Meer Jaffer, 110 ;
his flight, 111 ; reference to his
letter, 114 : refercunce to his house
and gardens, 204; put to death
two Bett brothers, 205,

Anyastha, veference to, 71 ; division
into Aulins and Mawliks, 170, 171,
173, 191,

Relsall, Mr., veference to, 27,

Kerrill Chand, Rajah, 84,

Khalsa, extract from the Proceedings
of the, 79 ; reference to the records
of. 85, 138, 189, 148, 150, 151, 153,
164 ; reference to the ontchery of,
107 ; veference to the treasury of.
137 ; reference to, 82, 88, 83, 114,
152,

Khelat, 45, 46, 60,

Kilta, 69.

King vs. Rajah Nubkissen, refercnge
to the case of, 157,

Kishen or Kissen Dass, son of Rajn
émjbullabuh, referenge to, 12, 13

08.

Kissan de buss, 67.

Kigsen, 58.

Kissen Ram Bow, 109,

Kisgnaram, Rajah, 84,

Knott, Mr, John, 26.

Km;tt, Captain George, reference to,
27,

Knox, Uaptain, reference to his battle
of Patna, 207,

Krishna Chundra Rai, Maharaja,
reference to, 179, 195, 196, '

Kehetriya, 169,

Kulagrantha, 173,

Aulins, reference to,
division inte Uttara
Daskina Rarhi, 170-175,

Kunj;mi, Rani, a wife of Nubkissen,
203, '

170
Rari

their
and
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L.

Lalla Sevuelk Bam, Mahratta Vikeel,
98, 99,

Lawrence, Mr. refercnge to, 160,

I.e Maistre, Mr, Justice, 127.

Levett, Mr., reference to, 28,

Livius, Mr., reference to, 183, 184,

Life of Franris, Merivale's, reference
to, 133.

Life of Robert Lord (live, reference
to, 12n, 18n,

Life of Warren Hastings, reference
to, 106,

Long, Captain, referenge to, 155.

Lobg, Rev, J., reference to. 13. 21,

Luoknow, 217.

M.

Macaulay, Lord, reference to his
remarks of Englishmen about
India, 1 ; his referencge to Thurlow,
7 ; hig reference to Clive's work
in India, 51 ; his remarks on King
Bhah Alum, 51 ; reference to him,
108. 128, 182, 134 ; hig estimate of
Nuncomar's character, 105, 107 ;
his sondemnation of Bengalee and
Asiatic eharacter, 122 ; his descrip.
tion of Nuncomar's mind, 120 ; his
view of the English conquest, 216,
2117.

Madras, 15,

Maecenas, 184,

Magooa, taken by Clive, 15.

Mahabat Jung, see Ali Verdi.

Mahinderpore, 141.

Mahishadal, 5, 107,

Mahmoud, reference to, 215,

Mahratta Power, reference to the,
215,

Mal Adlaat, 53,

Malcolm, 8ir John, reference to, 219 ;
his reference to Seraju-ud-dowlah,
11.

Malguzary, 80, 108, 141,

Malleson, Colonel, his reference tothe
capture of Chandernagore, 17 ; his
remarks about Clive, 20, reference
to,19,108; hisrecord of Nuncomar's
intrigue, 106,

Manick Chunder Bewarta, brother of
Nubkissen, 5, 84, 205, 206 ; got the
title of Roy, 45,

Manick Chunder Bewarta, Raja,
appointed Governor of Caleutta,
15 fled to Moorshedabad, 15,

Mantras, 177.

Maroshman, Rev, J. C., refercnee to,
20,

INDEX,

Marriott, My, Willium, referenceto, 149,

Marut Yogna, 181,

Masnad or musnud, 8, 14, 53.

May, Robert, reference to, 25.

Mayor's Court, reference to, 28,

Juggut Narain, 156,

Meer Hootechullee, 108,

Meer Jaffer, Mir Mahomed Jafar or
Jafar Ali Khan, reference to his
elevation to Bubadar, 2 ; formed an
alliance with Clive, 16 ; went with
Clive to Moorshedabad, 18 ; Clive
placed him on the masnad, 18 ;
reference to the sums granted
by him towards restitution and
donations, 82; ecxtortiop by the
English, 33 ; Nuncomar's attach-
ment to him, 105; his quarrel
with Doolubram, 109, 110 ; his war
with  Mir Cossim, 110; was
auceeeded by Najim-ud-dowlah, 111;
veference to his widow, Munny
Begum, 118, 124 ; reference to his
son, Meeran, 207 : reference to his
exehequer, 206.

Menere-ul-Dowlah, Nabob, 55.

Merivale, reference to his work,

Life of Francis, 133.

Mectis, reference to, 211,

Metre, GGovinram, 72, 78.

s Juggutbullubh, Roy, 156,

«  Juggutnarain, 156,

i Kissenram, 105,

A Kristo Churn, 204,

»+  Radha Churn, 204,

, . Raghunuth, 137, 188.

. Dr, Rajendra Lalla, 7,
Middleton, Mr., reference to, 31, 118,
Midnapore, 5,

Mihinder, Maharaja, 54.

Mill, reference to, 2, 108,

Milton, his faith in Providenece, 219,

Mohun Pershad, 127,

Mojumdar, Budden Chund, 156.

Moneer-ud-din Xhan, 5, 45.

Monghyr, 44,

Monson, Colonel reference to, 97
124, 134.

Mookerjea, Hurrish Chunder, refer«
ence to, 218,

Maokerjie's Magazine, reference to,
54n, 171n,

Moolajore, 52.

Moonshee or Muunshi, 10, 13.

Moore, Peter, Mr, 98, 100, 202,

Mooragacha, 14.

Moorshedabad or Muxadabad, refer.
enoe to, 4, 5, 10, 13, 14, 15, 80,
36, 44, 49, 80 97, 108, 113, 118 ;
was taken by Clive, 16,
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Mortagile, 30.

Mozuffer Junyu, reference to, 17, 14,

11’
Moulicks, reference to, 170,
Muchulka, 90, 138,
Mujmoondar, Devidas, referende to, 4.
Mullick Abdul Wayed, 79, 81, 82,
88, 89,
Mullick Bung, 181,

Munny Begum, referenoe to, 118, 124,

Munshikhana, 114,
Munsoor-ul-Malack, 69,

Munro, Major, reference to, 30, 40,
Muradabad, 75,

Mushi Daftur, 53.

Mushrefee, 114,

Mustapha khan, 107,
Mustofygurry, 114,

Mutsuddies, reference to, 90, 103.
My=ore, refcrence to, 216,

Nadir 8hah, reference to, 215,
Nagree, 129,

Napoleon, his belicf {n presentiments,

221,
Narry Hurry, reference to, 29,
Nautches, reference to, 15,
Nazar or Nizar, 64, 65.
Nazim Nabob, reference to, 18.
Neuman, Mr.,, reference to, 160,
New England, reference to, 214.

Newagis, Mahomed, Governor of
Dacca, reference to, 12 ; reference

to his widow, 13.

Nidhoo Baboo, reference to, 186,

Nitai Dass, reference to, 186.

Nomencelature, the, reference to, 53.

Nowpara, 79, 86, 80, 90.

Nubkissen, Maharaja  Bahadoor,
reference to his  services by
Governor Verelst, and Lord Thure
low, 2 ; his ancestry, 8 ; the place of
his birth, 6 ; his father, 5; his
brothers, 6, 45; the place and
the date of his birth, 6; carly life,
9; first. event of his life, 9 ; his
appointment as Moonshee to
Hastingg, 10 ; refcrence to him as
Persian  preceptor to Hastings,
3,6, 9, 49; appointed Moonshee
to the East Indin Company, to
Clive, 10, 11, 49: supplicd the
Englisit with provisions at the risk
ol hislife, 14, 49 ; he ¢ast his lot
with the Bnglish, 14; waited upon
Clive and resmmed bis oftice, 16
his serviee to the English before
the battle of Plassey, 15 ; settled
the torms of Subadari agreement
with Mr. Jaffer, 16 ; won high-
vst esteem from the English for

the faithful discharge of public
duties, 17 ; a [alse charge of loot.
ing the private treasury of Scrajud-
daulah, 18, 194 ; his petition, 20;
his versatility of intellect, 21 ;
his serviees to the Company, 24,
28 ; his funetions in the service of
the Company, 24; his petition to
the Qouncil of Revenue, 24; his
work under Clive, 80 ; his scrviges
to Clive and Major Adams, 81;
attended Major Adams, 2; was
Banian to Major Adams, 49;
attended Major Adams during the
war with Cossim Ally, 49; foun-
dation of his great wealth, 32 ; his
acoount of the Treaty of Restitution
33 ; his declaration about the do-
uation to the army, 38 ; appointed
ug banian to Major Munro, 40 ; his
appointment as Nabob's Vakeel,
43 ; aceompanied Major Adams at
the battie of Oody Nullah, 44;
accompanied Clive to Allahabad,
44, Bl ; obtained the dignity of
Munsub Punjhazaree and of Raja
Bahadoor from King Shah Alum,
44, 45; went to Benares and
Azimabad with Clive, 45 ; effected a
settlement of Benares and Behar,
46 ; “appointed Political Dewan or
Banian to the Company, 46, 47,562 ;
received from Bhah Alum a Firman
of Munsub Shush Hazaree and
the title of Maharaja and from
Clive various khelats, also a medal
and an elephant, 46, 57 ; assumed
the title of Maharaja, 52; was an
able conveyancer, 50 ; appointed
Faunzdar of Chandunanagor, 50 ;
assisted Clive in purifying the
administration, 61 ; secured for the
Nuddea Rajas their titles, 52 ; his
petition for the same, 52; held
seven offices, 53; had charge of
Munshi Dajtar, Arabegidaftar,
Jutimala Kachari, Money Godown,
Mal Adalut, Tahsil Daftar, b3 ;
was half the Government, 54 ; his
influence and position in 1770,
6t ; n false charge against him of
extortion and violation, 55, 111; his
memorial to Verelst, 56 ; his pecu-
niary condition, 74; appointed
Talukdar of Nowpara, 79 ; his petis
tion to Barwell, 79 ; his petition,
complaining of an order of the
Board in 1772, 82 ; his petition for
adequnte compensation for the
Talttk of Nowpara, 86 ; acquisition



238 INDEX

of Sootanutty, Baghazar and Hogul-
koondee, 88 ; his petition praying
for a sunnud for the mouzah of
Hootanutty, 89 ; appointed a mem-
ber of the Committee of Inquiry
in Bow Begam’s case, %7 ; appoint.
ed to make an inquiry into a con.
piracy against the English, 97
nature of his relation to Mabaraja
Nuncomar, 103 ; his ambition was
for political posts, 122 ; evidence
given by him in the trial of Nun-
comar, 129 ; his reluctance to give
evidence at the trial, 132; his
possession of the Taluk of Hitcha-
pore, 137 ; was granted the farm
of Soubah Bazar, 137 ; arzee of
Nubkissen, 137; ag zaminder of
Hunehapore, 140 ; as Talookdar of
Mahinderpore, 141 ; his complaints
against Madan Dutt for erecting a
rival Bazar at Sootanutty, 141
entrusted with the management of
estates of Burdwan Rani and Rani
of Ambooah, 149 ; appointed to the
Sezawulship of Burdwan, 150 .
his unpopularity with a certain
cluss for his support of English
interests, 156 ; false complaint
against him of imprisonment, 1537 ;
his complaint against Mr. Austin,
163 ; bis capacity as o statesman
and administrator, 168 ; his posi-
tion in society, 169; was a Aayastha
Ly caste, 170 ; was the president
of the Caste Tribupal, 171 ; his
encouragement of the Kulins, 173
his intense piety as a Hindoo, 174 ;
recognised as the Gosthipatd, 176 ;
was patron of Ghatacks and
Pundits, 175; his cosmopolitan
charity, 176 ; his expenses on religi-
ous ceremonies, 177; his visit to the
shrine at Kalighat, 178; his pil-
grimage to Benares, 178, 1795 his
gonduat towards his relatives, 180
reference to his mother’s Sraddha,
20 ; his mother's Sraddha, 180,
193 ; was an enthusiastic patron
of letters and arts, 184; and a
votary of the Muses, 186 ; the story
of his substituting an idol, 195 ; his
loan of three laks of rupees to Has-
tings, 200 ; Burke’s accusation of
his bribing Hastings, 202 ; hisgrant
of land for a Christian Church, 200 ;
his donation for a Mahommedan
College, 200 his wives, 203; his
children, 204 ; his premises, 205 ;
his will, 206; his death, 206;

reference to hig career, 209; rela-
tions with Clive, 213.

Nungomar, Roy, Maharaja, betrayed

the Governor of Chanderndgore,
17; referenee to, 30 ; his statement
in Meer Jaflir's case, 33 ; his state-
ment abont the donation to the
English army, 37 ; was appointed
Dewan to Meer Jaffir, 38, 49 ; his
jealousy of Maharaja Nubkissen,
oty ; instigated and forged accusa-
tions against Nubkissen, 56, 68 ;
regard tor him of some Bengalee
writers, 104 ; his character as
estimated by various writers and
historians, 105, 106 ; his attach-
ment to Meer Jaflir, 105 ; was
not a typical Bengalee, 107; his
father, 107 ; hiy early life, 107;
appointed Amin, 107; his op-
pression of zamindars, 107 ; con-
fined“in chains, flogged and beaten,
107 ; ‘'was sent a prisonetr to Roy
Rayan, 108; his escape to Calontta,
108 ; his appearance at Moorshed-
abad ; obtained the collection of
Sutsutra, 108 ; lived a life of ad-
venture, 108; confined at Hooghly,
108 ; severely bastinadoed with a
bamboo by Seraj-ud-Dowlah, 108 ;
reduced to utmost poverty, 108
appointed a Vakeel to Maharaja
Doollub  Ram, 108; appointed
Dewan to Mahomed Ameer Beg
Khan, 109 ; appointed Governor or
Agent. for the gollection of revenue
of Hooghly, 17, 109 ; brought on
a'dispute between Doollub Ram
and Meer Jaffir, 109 ; his conduct
to Ameer Beg Khan, 110; his.
unfairness, 110; his treasonable
conduct towards the Company,
110 ; his imprisonment, 110; ob-
tained the title of Maharaja from
King Shah Alum, 110; his capture.
111; his escape due to Nubkissen.
111 ; was furthersaved by Nubkis.
sen, 111 ; was ungrateful and got
up a false charge against Nubkisgen,
111 ; his duties as Collector, 113 ;
his intrigue with the Company’s
cnemies, 113, 115 ; his oppression
at Hoogly and his malversa-
tion as Tahsildar, 114 ; offices held
by him, 114; his hatred of
Hastings, 116 ; his forgery against
Doollub HBam, 116; hig endeavour
to ruin Nubkissen, 116 ; reference
to his son, Raja Gooroodas, 118
his personal aggrandisement, 120,
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122 ; planned vengeance against
Hastings, 122; his attempt to
crush Hastings, 132; brought
charyes of corruption against Hast.
ings, 123, 136 ; assisted Hastings
in prosecuting Reza Khan and
Shitab Boy, 123; brought false
charges against Reza Khan, 136 ;
ageused of a charge of conspiracy
against Hastings and Barwell, 126;
his trial for forgery, 126 ; the fatcs
of the case, 127; his seal, 129
his sentence of death, 133; was
hanged, 13+; the estimate of his
charagter by the author, 136.

Nudjum-ul-Dowlah, Nabob, reference
to, 25, 69, 70, 72, 111.

Nwdtah, 14.

Nuncomar and  Impey,
to, 132,

#luzzurannal, 52,

Nudden, 52, 77, 109, 174,

0.

Ohdadar or Revenue Farwer, 4.
Omichand, reference to, 17, 171,
Qody Nullah, battle of, 144.
Qrme, referende to, 2, 12,
Qrissa or Orixs, 12, 67, 101,
Qude, reference to, 1.

P.

Pallas, reference to, 211,

Pandas, 179,

Padlab Roy, 107.

Punchagram or Panchgay, 4, 14 4Y,
180.

Pariphs, 182

Paris, reference to the Municipality
of, 216.

Palit, Babooraw, reference to, 76.

Patna, massacrs of, 1; reference to,
1, 33, 44, 57,.64, 109, 114, 118,

Poeps into Social Life in Calewtta
a eentury age. By Rev. J. Tong,
reference to, L4n, 21n, 2050,

Peishwa, reference to, 216.

Persian Langunage, reference to as
ourt language, 9 ; as the language
of diplomacy, 21 ; reference tv, 20
Seriptures, reference to, 97; cn-
couragement of, by Nubkissen, 176,

Persian Department, reference to the
letters of, 80, 31, 19 ; reference to
the proceedings, 54, Hi

Philip 11, of Spain, 221.

Pinda, 203,

Plato, reference to, 188,

Plassey, battie of, refercuce to, 15,
107, 207.

referenae

Pondicherry, 115,

Poonah, referenge to, 215,

Poornea, 114,

Punchcote or Puchet, 6.

Pudma Lochun, 76.

Pudmohun Doss, reference to, 130.

Puffendort, refercnce to, 138,

Puyja, 179,

Punchayet, reference to, 172.

Pundits, reference to, 175, 182, 184
their functions and place in
society, 187 ; reflections on, 187.

R.

Radha Churn, reference to, 126.

Radha Kanta Deb Bahadur, Raja
Bir, K.O.4.1, reference to a
manuseript probably written by
him, 3 ; reference to, 16, 175,

Rai, Ram Jeeban, reference to, 84,

Rajbullabba, Raja, a Vaidya by caste
of Dacea, reference to, 10, 84, 139,
140 ; was the Dewan of the Nabob
of Dacea, 12; succeeded Hossein
Cooly Khan, 13; killed by Nabob
Kagsimaly, 44; was appointed
Deputy Governor of Dacca, 208;
reference to his son, Kissen Dass,
208 his oonfinement by the
Nabob, 208,

Raj Kissen, Raja, reference to, 204,
206,

Raj Suya- Yagna, reference to, 181,

Ham Bazar, 187, 189.

Bam Caunt, 153, 154.

Ram Chand, Dewsn, reference to, 18,

Ram Churn, Dewan, appointed Oh-
dadar of Mooragacha, 4; Dewan
of Cuttack, 5; fought against a
Mahratta incursion, b ; reference
to, 45,

Ramchurn Hoy, Banian to Vansit-
tart, 37, 38, 83, 50, 84, 115.

Bameswar, reference to, 4,

Ramnarain, Maharaja,
Nabob Kassimaly, 44.

Ram Sunder Bewarta, a brother of
Nubkissen, reference to, & ; became
an Ameen, 6; title of Roy was
conferred on him, 45 ; reference
to, 203,

Rupid Sketeh of the life of Ruja
Radhakanta Deva Bakadur, refer-
ence to, 3, 4, 6, 9, 10,

Ray Chaudhuri, Keshub Ram, a
zamindar, reference to, 4.

Raylayan, 80,

Raze Bazar, 137, 139,

Renault, Governor of Chandernagor,
reference to, 17.

killed by
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Reza Khan, Nubob Mahomed, refer-
ence Lo, 2,.28, 31, 50, 54, 70, 117,
118, 120, 121, 123, 136, 171, 207.

lishis, reference to, 164, 189,

Royrayan Chain Loy, refereunce to,
4, 5,107,

Royrayan Ommed Loy, Lilled by
Nabob Kassimaly, 144,

Roy, Runjeet, reference to, 171.

Rukmini Kanto Vyavabarta, re.
ference to, 4.

s,
Sabda Kalpadruma, an cneyclo-
predia of  Sanskrit learning,

refercnce to, 4.

Sabha, reference Lo, 151, 100,

Sadakulla, Moonshee, 1038,

Sadlus, reference to, 188,

Suhib, refercnee to, 9, 199,

Sala Odeen Qawn, reference {o, 84,

Salamis, battle of, 219.

Sanyosis, reference to, 1588,

Sutya Yuga, reference to, 181,

Sayyid Ali, reference to his writings,
18.

Selden, reference to, 185,

Beeley, Professor, reference to, 214

Beet, Ram Behary, reference to, 138.

Select Committee, refcrence to the
procecdings of, 25 ; refercnce to an
enquiry by, 32; reference foits
sittings, 37, 3%, 43 ; reler¢ence to
the lasy meeting of, 72 ; reference
to the appendix to the proccedings
of, 15un; reference to, 50, 62, 56,
56, 60, 74, 75, 76, 112,120, 12L

Selections  from  the Records of
Government of India, Rev, Long's,
reference to, 44,

Selections from the State Papers,
Forrest's, reference to, 52n,

Selectiona fromthe Calentia Gazelle,
reference to, 200n,

gen, Chandi Chutn, refercnce to his
Bengali work on Maharaja
Nuncomar, 12n,, 121n,

fen, Kului Chandra, reference to, 186,

Berampore, reference to, 52,

seraj-ud-dowlah, Nabob, reference to,
17, 110 ; his tyrannical conduct,
10 ; excuses of his guarrel with the
English, 12 ; Orme’s account of his
quarrel with the FKnglish, 12; his
letter to the President of Calcutta,
13 ; the conspiracy of his officers
with the Council at Caleatta, 133
expelled the Kunglish Government
from Caloatta, 13 ; his prohibition
to supply the English with fowd,
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14 ; his atlack on Calcutta, 15;
his return to Moorshedabad, 15 ;
his preparations for a  econd
attack on Calcutta, 15 ; Clive blew
up his camp, 15 ; followed by Clive
to Plassey, 15; his defeat ot
Plassey, 255 ; his intrigue with the
Krench, 14 ; deposed, 16 ; a charge
of looting his treasury by Nub-
kissen, 18 ; the reported wealth in
his treasury, 1Y; hastinadoed
Nuncomar with a bamboo, 103 ;
appuinted two Foujdars of Hooghly,
109 ; reference to his court, 206 ;
was grandson. of Aliverdy, 208 ;
cause of his attaek on Calcutta,
208,

Bcits of Mooishiedabad, reference o
the, 207 ; Burke's reference to the,
208 ; their titlc of Jugat Bett, 208.

Sezawul of Burdwan, Nubkissen was
appointed, 150-168,

Shah Alum, King, reference to, 25,
44, 16, 51, 115, 116,

Shahmnll, reference to, 30.

BShah Jehan, reference to, 215,

Shankar, 184,

Shankari, a wile of Nubkissen, 203,

Shastras, reference to, 174, 191,

Shitab Roy, Maharaja, reference to,
45,117,120, 123 ; a Minister to the
Mussalman Court, 207 ; reference
to his military courage, 207.

Shirlock, Major, reference to, 43,

Shore, Mr., reference to, 167,

sillabut, reference to, 130, 131, 132,

Bing, Cheetar or Chitter, 165, 167,

» (anga Govinda, 180, 187,
Judoo, 167,
Radha Gobind, 159,

,, Tillook, 145, 167.

Siyyar-ul-Mutagherin, refercnee to,
1006,

Sketehes of Bengal since the foundas
tion of Caleutta, reference to, 176n,

skinner, Mr., reference to, 44,

Smaitis, reference to, 188,

Sotta, 46,

Sooree, Jugmohun, reference to, 141,

soubal Bazar or Sovabazar, reference
to, 137, 139, 205, 207,

dootanutty or Chutanutty, English
settlement at, 9 ; reference toy 87,
88, 8y, wo, 91.94, 204 ; reference
toa hat ot, 141, 142, 204,

Spencer, My, John, reference to,
83-37, 41-43, 72, 112,

Sreddha of Nubkissen's mother, re-
ference to, 120, 170, 174, 180, 181,
193, 203,
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Hree Rhut, reference to, 114,

Sree Kanta, reference to, 184,

Srihari Deva, reference to, 4.

Sri 8ri Bishweshwarji and Sri Sri
Nava Krigshneswarji, idols, reference
to, 179.

Stephen, Sir James, reference to, 108,
103, 125, 124, 182, 188.

Stirling, A., Persian Secretary to the
Government, reference to, 3.

Strachey, Mr, Henry and Mr.
Edward, reference to, 26, 27, 47.

Subahs, reference to, 18,

Sudra, reference to, 169,

Sujah-ud.dowlah, Nabob, reference
to, 1 ; Clive's treaty with him, 44 ;
levied an army, 111,

Bukea, a wife of Nubkissen, reference
to, 203,

Smpaner, Mr,, veference to, 52, 69, 70,

12

Supreme Court, reference to, 29, 126,
127, 128, 157, 204,

Byfe-ul-Dowla, reference to, 84.

8vkes, Mr, Franeis, reference to,
32, 54, 69, 70, 75

T,

Tabheezaries, referenae to, 144, 146,
147, 148,

Tacoor; Harikissen, reference to, 85,

Tacoor Shewah, reference to, 80,

Tajuddin, & Company's Moonshee,
reference to, 10,

Tamerlane, reference to, 215 ; refer-
ence to the house of, 217,

Tana, the fort at, taken by Clive, 15.
Tarkabagish, Radhakanto, Pundit
Pradhan, reference to, 184, 185,
Tarkapanchanon, Jagannath, refer-

ence to, 184, 185, 187,
Tarkasiddhanta, Ramnath, reference
to, 1944,
Tarikh i- Menguri, reference to, 18,
Tahsil Dafter, reference ro, 53.
Tejechand Bahadur, Maharaj Dhiraj,
reference to, 155.
Terraneau, reference to, 13,
Theodosius, reference to, 218,
Thomas Aquinas, reference to, 188.
Thurlow, Lord Chancellor, his refer-
ence to Nubkissen in the House of
Lords, 2; reference to him by
Macaulay. 7; his description of the
proceedings against Hastings, 126,
TPitus Oates, 1eference to, 136,
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Zuls, reference to, 187, .

Townsend, Meredith, 225,

Travaucore, reference to, 1.

Treaty of Restitution, reference to,
33.

Trial of Maha Raja Nundocomar,
Bahadnr, for Forgery, reference
to, 124n, 1300,

Tumlook, reference to, 5.

u

Upunayana, reference to, 170,

Unpublisghed Records of Gurern.
menty Seleotions from, veference to,
14n, 113n, 114n, 1156a,

v

Vaidya, 10.

Vaisya, 169,

Vansittart, Mr, refercnee to, 33-41,
110, 116, 172 ; appointed Governor
of Calcutta, 48 ; his departure to
Lngland, 44, 49; his Minute on
the bazar, 143-149,

Verel t, Governor, does justice to
Nubkissen's services, 2; his mar.
riage, 27, 193 ; reference to, 27,
46, 54, 66,

Vidyalankar,
to, 184, 187,

View of the English Guvarament of
Bengal, referenge to, 172,

Vikramaditya, reference to, 184,

Vyarastha, reference to, 189,

w

Waddadar, reference to, 79.

Ward's History of the Hindoos, re-
ference to, 178n, 180, 161xn,

Watson, Admiral, reference to, 15,
88,

Watts, Mr., the Chief of Cossimbazar.
reference to, 12, 19,

Wheeler, Mr, reference to, 115, 143,
159.

William of Orange, 219, 221.

Wrangham, Miss, sister of John
Wrangham, reference to her birth-
day festival, 184,

Wroughton, Mr,, George, reference
to, 1568, 169, 162,

Y

Yar Beg Khan, Mahomed, Foujdar
of Hooghly, reference to, 108, 109,
Yudhisthira, reference to, 181,

Vaneswar, reference

22721
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